
 

For requests for further information 
Contact: Frances Handley 
Tel: 01270 371378 
E-Mail: frances.handley@cheshireeast.gov.uk with any apologies 

 
 

Environment and Communities 
Committee 

 

Agenda 
 

Date: Thursday, 27th March, 2025 

Time: 4.00 pm 

Venue: The Capesthorne Room - Town Hall, Macclesfield SK10 1EA. 
 

 
The agenda is divided into 2 parts. Part 1 is taken in the presence of the public and press. 
Part 2 items will be considered in the absence of the public and press for the reasons 
indicated on the agenda and at the foot of each report. 
 
It should be noted that Part 1 items of Cheshire East Council decision making meetings 
are audio recorded and the recordings will be uploaded to the Council’s website 
 
 
PART 1 – MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PUBLIC AND PRESS PRESENT 
 
1. Apologies for Absence   
 
 To note any apologies for absence from Members. 

 
2. Declarations of Interest   
 
 To provide an opportunity for Members and Officers to declare any disclosable pecuniary 

interests, other registerable interests, and non-registerable interests in any item on the 
agenda. 

 
3. Minutes of Previous Meeting  (Pages 3 - 8) 
 
 To approve as a correct record the minutes of the previous meeting held on 30 

January 2025. 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

mailto:frances.handley@cheshireeast.gov.uk


 

 

4. Public Speaking/Open Session   
 
 In accordance with paragraph 2.24 of the Council’s Committee Procedure Rules and 

Appendix on Public Speaking, set out in the Constitution, a total period of 15 minutes 
is allocated for members of the public to put questions to the committee on any matter 
relating to this agenda. Each member of the public will be allowed up to two minutes 
each to speak, and the Chair will have discretion to vary this where they consider it 
appropriate. 
 
Members of the public wishing to speak are required to provide notice of this at least three 
clear working days’ in advance of the meeting. 
 
Petitions - To receive any petitions which have met the criteria - Petitions Scheme Criteria 
and falls within the remit of the Committee. Petition organisers will be allowed up to three 
minutes to speak. 

 
5. Service Budgets 2025/26 (Environment & Communities Committee)  (Pages 9 - 

50) 
 
 To receive the allocation of approved budgets for 2025-26. 

 
6. Cemeteries Investment Programme  (Pages 51 - 106) 
 
 To consider the report seeking approval of the Cemeteries Design guide to progress 

cemetery development in  accordance with the principles of the adopted Strategy and the 
Cemeteries Investment Programme for 2025/26 and 2026/27. 

 
7. Local Plan Next Steps: Local Development Scheme Update and feedback from 

the Issues Consultation (2024)  (Pages 107 - 404) 
 
 To consider a report which seeks approval of an updated Local Development Scheme which 

sets out proposed next steps to support the preparation of the new Local Plan. 

 
8. Heritage and Local List Supplementary Planning Document  (Pages 405 - 458) 
 
 To consider the report which seeks approval to consult on an update to the SPD, including on 

the proposed selection criteria and methodology for designating a locally listed building. 

 
9. Work Programme  (Pages 459 - 460) 
 
 To consider the Work Programme and determine any required amendments. 

 
 
Membership:  Councillors L Braithwaite (Vice-Chair), J Bratherton, M Brooks, T Dean, 
S Gardiner, D Jefferay, B Posnett, H Seddon, L Smetham, M Warren (Chair) and 
H Whitaker 
 
 

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council_and_democracy/your_council/constitution.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/pdf/council-and-democracy/constitution/december-2024/petitions-scheme-council-updated-december-2024.pdf


CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL 

 
Minutes of a meeting of the Environment and Communities Committee 

held on Thursday, 30th January, 2025 in the The Capesthorne Room - Town 
Hall, Macclesfield SK10 1EA 

 
PRESENT 
 
Councillor M Warren (Chair) 
Councillor L Braithwaite (Vice-Chair) 
 
Councillors J Bratherton, M Brooks, T Dean, S Gardiner, H Moss, B Posnett, 
H Seddon, L Smetham, H Whitaker, G Marshall and J Place 
 
OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE 
 
Tom Shuttleworth, Interim Director of Planning and Environment 
Tracey Bettaney, Head of Regulatory Services 
Rick Hughes, Trading Standards and Community Protection Manager 
Ralph Kemp, Head of Environmental Services 
Emma Williams, Carbon Manager 
Tom Evans, Strategic and Environmental Planning Manager 
Steve Reading, Principal Accountant  
James Thomas, Principal Solicitor  
Josie Lloyd, Democratic Services Officer 

 
10 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors A Farrall and D 
Jefferay. Councillors J Place and G Marshall attended as substitutes.  
 

11 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
In relation to item 7 (Review of CCTV Service), Councillors Bratherton, 
Gardiner, Marshall, Seddon, Warren and Whitaker declared that they were 
members of Town Councils which were financial contributors to the CCTV 
service. 
 

12 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 27 November 2024 be agreed as 
a correct record. 
 

13 PUBLIC SPEAKING/OPEN SESSION  
 
Ms Debbie Jamison addressed the committee in relation to the work 
programme and queried why the Strategic Leisure Review report had been 
deferred to the March meeting. Ms Jamison requested an update on this 

Page 3 Agenda Item 3



report and that it be amended on the work programme to include the 
requirement for an investment plan for Poynton, Knutsford and Alsager as 
agreed in March 2024. Ms Jamison also queried how leisure centre 
customers had been engaged in the investment planning following the 
consultation, whether there had been any changes to the arrangements 
between Cheshire East Council and Everybody Health and Leisure since 
March 2024, and whether the officers involved in the review were aware of 
monies available through the Community Infrastructure Levy. It was 
agreed that a written response would be provided.  
 
Cllr Kay Wesley, Congleton Town Councillor, spoke in relation to the 
Review of the CCTV Service and expressed support for maintaining the 
current levels of CCTV coverage in Congleton and asked the committee 
not to consider any option which would reduce this service. Cllr Wesley 
highlighted its importance in both preventing crime and supporting law 
enforcement and stated that 95% of Congleton residents supported the 
use of CCTV.  
 
Mr Robert Brunt spoke in relation to the Wider Borough Carbon Action 
Plan and highlighted the role of farming in controlling carbon through 
managed grassland and the challenges farmers would face as a result of 
inheritance tax. Mr Brunt asked members to support the Notice of Motion 
to oppose inheritance tax budget changes. The Notice of Motion would be 
received at the March meeting of the Economy and Growth Committee. 
 
Cllr Robert Douglas, Congleton Town Councillor, addressed the committee 
in relation to the Review of the CCTV Service. Cllr Douglas expressed 
concerns about reducing or removing the service and emphasised the 
importance of CCTV in public safety. Cllr Douglas urged the committee to 
reject options do something 3 and 4 and consider negotiating additional 
income from the Police and Crime Commissioner.  
 
Mr Richard Yarwood spoke in relation to the Wider Borough Carbon Action 
Plan and supported the points raised by Mr Brunt. Mr Yarwood asked for 
the committee’s support for the Notice of Motion against inheritance tax 
budget changes and emphasised the role of farming in achieving carbon 
neutrality.  
 

14 THIRD FINANCIAL REVIEW 24/25  
 
The committee received the report which provided the current forecast 
outturn for the financial year 2024/25 based on income, expenditure and 
known commitments at the end of October 2024. The report also identified 
actions that were being taken to address adverse variances to urgently 
address financial sustainability. 
 
It was queried why the table providing commentary on the progress 
against budget change items contained some items which were not colour 
coded. Officers would clarify this following the meeting and confirm in 
writing. 

Page 4



 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Environment and Communities Committee:  
 

1. Review the factors leading to a forecast adverse Net Revenue 
financial pressure of £18.3m against a revised budget of £390.5m 
(4.7%). To scrutinise the contents of Annex 1, Section 2 and review 
progress on the delivery of the MTFS approved budget policy 
change items, the RAG ratings and latest forecasts, and to 
understand the actions to be taken to address any adverse 
variances from the approved budget. 

 
2. Review the in-year forecast capital spending of £144.7m against an 

approved MTFS budget of £215.8m, due to slippage that has been 
re-profiled into future years. 

 
3. Note the available reserves position as per Annex 1, Section 5. 

 
4. Note the Capital Virements above £500,000 up to and including 

£5,000,000 as per Annex 1, Section 4, Table 4 will be approved in 
accordance with the Council’s Constitution. 

 
15 MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY CONSULTATION 2025/26 - 

2028/29 PROVISIONAL SETTLEMENT UPDATE (ENVIRONMENT & 
COMMUNITIES COMMITTEE)  
 
The committee received the report on the development of the Cheshire 
East Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2025/26 to 2028/29 in relation to the 
responsibilities of the Environment and Communities Committee. 
 
It was queried whether the Local Government Settlement would increase 
the base rate for calculating future Council Tax as it would be included in 
the Core Spending Power total. Officers advised that it would not affect the 
base rate as the funding was to offset the pressure of the National 
Insurance change to staff costs. It was requested that this assurance be 
provided in writing. 
 
It was proposed and seconded that a recorded vote be carried out. The 
following results were recorded: 
 
For: 
 
Councillors Braithwaite, Bratherton, Brooks, Marshall, Place, Seddon and 
Warren 
 
Against: 
 
Councillors Dean, Gardiner, Posnett, Smetham and Whitaker 
 

Page 5



Abstentions:  
 
Councillor Moss 
 
RESOLVED (by majority): 
 
That the Environment and Communities Committee:  
 

1. Recommend to the Corporate Policy Committee, for their meeting 
on 6 February 2025, all proposals within Appendix A, as related to 
the Committee’s responsibilities, for inclusion on the Council’s 
budget for 2025/26 

 
2. Identify any further budget change proposals, as related to the 

Committee’s responsibilities, that could assist Corporate Policy 
Committee in presenting an overall balanced budget to Council for 
2025/26 

 
3. Note the capital growth items listed in Appendix B and the revenue 

implications noted in paragraph 23. These will be reviewed by the 
Capital Review Programme Board in January before a final list is 
brought to Corporate Policy committee in February 

 
4. Note the contents of Appendix C – Provisional Local Government 

Settlement 2025/26 (Finance Sub Committee) 
 

5. Note the contents of Appendix D – Council Tax benchmarking and 
scenarios (Finance Sub Committee) and consider what the impact 
of any requests for a change of Council Tax policy would be 

 
16 REVIEW OF CCTV SERVICE  

 
The committee received the report which sought approval to undertake a 
public consultation exercise on the proposed options for the CCTV delivery 
model.  
 
An amendment was moved and seconded which sought to remove options 
do something 2, 3 and 4. This was carried unanimously. 
 
It was noted that the only remaining option (do something 1) would be 
operational and therefore not require committee approval or a public 
consultation to be carried out. 
 
Officer engagement with stakeholders and potential partners would, 
however, take place with an update report being brought to the committee, 
with the aim of the June 2025 meeting. 
 
The Chair highlighted that the committee would undertake a visit to the 
CCTV service to further understand the scope of services offered both 

Page 6



internally and to external partners. Officers undertook to set up this visit at 
an appropriate future time. 
 
RESOLVED (unanimously): 
 

1. That options do something 2, 3 and 4 be rejected, leaving option do 
something 1 to be carried out as an operational matter 
 

2. That the committee endorses an approach to the Police and Crime 
Commissioner and Chesire Constabulary specifically in regards to a 
permanent revenue funding contribution towards the service, noting 
the level of service currently provided free of charge 

 
17 WIDER BOROUGH CARBON ACTION PLAN 2025-2030  

 
The committee considered the report on the Wider Borough Carbon Action 
Plan 2025-2030. 
 
There was a full debate during which it was acknowledged that there were 
many challenges within the global context and some members felt that the 
plan did not provide sufficient detail on how targets would be met, meaning 
they were unable to support the plan in its current form. Other members 
felt that the plan provided a good framework for action. 
 
 
RESOLVED (by majority): 
 
That the Environment and Communities Committee: 
 

1. Approve and adopt the Wider Borough Carbon Action Plan 2025-30 
and delegate authority to the Head of Environmental Services to 
make necessary modifications to the Plan, subject to annual status 
updates to the committee 

 
2. Specifically to agree and endorse the overarching 

recommendations within the plan, namely: 
 

a) All strategies, plans and policies created or refreshed by the 
council to incorporate carbon reduction and climate change 
considerations as a key element of their outcomes 

b) A member of each service area (and teams where relevant), to 
have carbon reduction as an element of their key roles and 
responsibilities. These officers to then form together an ongoing 
Carbon Board chaired by the council’s Head of Environmental 
Services 

c) Cheshire East Council will continue to use its influence to 
encourage and enable carbon reduction activity to take place 
across the borough of Cheshire East and throughout the 
council’s own procurement supply chain 

Page 7



d) Cheshire East Council will consider the impacts to vulnerable 
groups for any policy or action that will be taken and where 
applicable target interventions and advice at affected groups 

 
3. Approve that a Climate Change Member Working Group be 

constituted under the remit of the Committee in accordance with the 
Terms of Reference contained at Appendix 4 

 
4. To note the progress made towards the council’s target to reach 

operational carbon neutrality by 2027 as detailed in Appendix 5 
 

18 LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME UPDATE  
 
The committee considered the report which sought approval for an update 
to the Council’s Local Development Scheme. 
 
RESOLVED (unanimously): 
 
That the Environment and Communities Committee approve that the 
update to the Local Development Scheme, included at Appendix A to this 
report is published to the Council’s website and that a copy is sent to the 
Minister of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government by no 
later than 6 March 2025 
 

19 WORK PROGRAMME  
 
The committee considered the work programme. 
 
Members were asked to use the work programme to identify further areas 
of scrutiny that the committee could be involved in, such as policy 
development. A small group of members would be involved in the 
development of any policies at an early stage through a Task and Finish 
Group, with their recommendations being brought back to the committee 
for approval. The committee were asked to send suggestions to the Chair 
or Democratic Services outside of the meeting. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the work programme be noted. 
 
 
 
 

The meeting commenced at 10:00 and concluded at 12:56 
 

Councillor M Warren (Chair) 
 

 
 

Page 8



    

 

 
OFFICIAL 

 

             

       

 Environment and Communities 

Committee 

 27 March 2025 

Service Budgets 2025/26 (Environment 

& Communities Committee) 

 

Report of: Adele Taylor, Interim Executive Director of Resources 
(s151 Officer) 

Report Reference No: EC/27/24-25 

Ward(s) Affected: All Wards 

 

For Decision or Scrutiny: Scrutiny  

 

 

Purpose of Report 

1 This report sets out the allocation of the approved budgets for 2025/26 
to the Environment and Communities Committee. 

2 The report contributes to the commitment of being an effective and 
enabling Council. 

Executive Summary 

3 The Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) for Cheshire East Council 
for the four years 2025/26 to 2028/29 was approved by full Council on 
26 February 2025. 

4 Service committees are being allocated budgets for 2025/26 in line with 
the approved MTFS. The financial reporting cycle will provide regular 
updates on progress on delivery of the budget change items, the 
forecast outturn position, progress on capital schemes, movement on 
reserves and details of any supplementary estimates and virements. 

OPEN 

Page 9 Agenda Item 5



    

 

 
OFFICIAL 

5 The financial reporting timetable for 2025/26 was approved by Finance 
Sub-Committee on 10 March 2025 and is included at Annex B. 

6 Following on from the implementation in 2024/25, in addition to the 
usual comprehensive reporting at First, Second and Third Financial 
Reviews (September, November and January cycles) and in recognition 
of the Council’s continuing challenging financial position and the 
importance of achieving a balanced outturn, service committee 
meetings during 2025/26 will continue to receive an update report on 
the delivery of the approved budget change items. This will be based on 
the Section 2 items shown in Annex A, for each respective committee, 
and will include RAG-rating and accompanying commentary in respect 
of each item. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
The Environment and Communities Committee is recommended:  

1. To note the decision of the Finance Sub-Committee to allocate the approved 

revenue and capital budgets, related budget changes items and earmarked 

reserves to the Environment and Communities Committee, as set out in Annex 

A. 

2. To note the financial reporting timetable for 2025/26 set out in Annex B as 

approved at Finance Sub-Committee on 10 March 2025. 

 

 

 

Background 

7 All councils are legally required to set a balanced budget each year. 
The MTFS for 2025-29 was approved by full Council on 26 February 
2025. 

8 The MTFS includes a Report from the Chief Finance Officer in line with 
the Section 25(1) of the Local Government Finance Act 2003. This 
report confirms that the MTFS is balanced for 2025/26 with the use of 
Exceptional Financial Support. The report also highlights the factors 
taken into account in arriving at this judgement including relevant 
financial issues and risks facing the Council during the medium term. 

9 Finance Procedure Rules set limits and responsibilities for movement of 
funds, treating reserves as part of this overall balanced position. Any 
movement within this balanced position is treated as a virement. To 
increase the overall size of the MTFS requires a supplementary 

Page 10



    

 

 
OFFICIAL 

estimate, which must be backed with appropriate new funding and 
approved in-line with the Finance Procedure Rules. 

10 To support accountability and financial control under the committee 
system the 2025/26 budget is being reported across the service 
committees based on their associated functions. This report sets out the 
allocation of the revenue and capital budgets and earmarked reserves 
to the relevant service committee in accordance with their functions.   

11 Each committee function has been associated with a Director budget.  
Budget holders are responsible for budget management. Where a team 
supports multiple Directorates (most notably in Corporate Services) the 
budget remains with the Service Director and is not split; for example, 
Governance and Democratic Services budgets are aligned to the 
Corporate Policy Committee even though the activities of the team 
relate to services provided to all Directorates of the Council. 

12 The financial alignment of budgets to each Committee is set out in 
Table 1 with further details in Annex A. 

Table 1:  Revenue and 
capital budgets allocated 
to service committees as 
per the approved MTFS 

 

Revenue Budget Capital 

Budget 

Total 

Revenue 

and 

Capital 

Budget 

Service Area 
Expenditure 

£000 
Income  

£000 
Net Budget 

£000 
 

£000 
 

£000 

Adults and Health 252,154 -92,705 159,449 389 159,838 

Children and Families 107,383 -10,095 97,288 37,723 135,011 

Corporate Policy 108,802 -66,014 42,788 12,745 55,533 

Corporate Policy – Council Wide 
Transformation 

-12,702 -750 -13,452  -13,452 

Economy and Growth 38,144 -9,703 28,441 36,081 64,522 

Environment and Communities 68,964 -23,263 45,701 19,357 65,058 

Highways and Transport 28,370 -11,469 16,901 66,782 83,683 

Finance Sub – Central  54,012 -3,492 50,520  50,520 

Total Cost of Service 645,127 -217,491 427,636 173,077 600,713 

Total Funding  -402,375 -402,375   

Exceptional Financial Support -25,261  -25,261   

Net Position 619,866 -619,866 -   

 

Page 11



    

 

 
OFFICIAL 

13 The MTFS 2025-29 includes a net revenue budget of £402.4m and an 
approved capital programme of £173.0m for the financial year 2025/26. 
Further details on the schemes within the capital programme are 
provided in Annex A. 

14 Annex A sets out the list of budget change items that were approved as 
part of the MTFS. All budget changes must be successfully delivered 
during 2025/26 to avoid a further overspend in the coming financial 
year. Detailed monitoring of these items will continue at every reporting 
opportunity and the Council’s reporting ‘masterplan’ and committee 
work programmes will reflect reporting on the monitoring and delivery of 
all MTFS change items, including matters requiring consultation and/ or 
decisions. This will ensure regular reporting to Corporate Leadership 
Team and all service committees on implementation of the MTFS and 
achievement of savings, throughout the coming year. In addition to 
reporting at the formal ‘financial review’ points in the year, other 
progress reports will be scheduled for reporting to particular service 
committees, on their items as appropriate. 

15 Annex A sets out the capital programme tables by committee. The four-
year capital programme includes investment plans of around £0.6bn. It 
is proposed that it will be funded through a mixture of Government 
grants, contributions from other external partners and Council 
resources. During 2024/25 all schemes requiring borrowing as part of 
their funding have been subject to review with a view to reducing their 
impact on the revenue budget and this has mainly been achieved 
through reprofiling and some budget reductions. There remains a 
significant amount of borrowing required to fund the programme in 
2025/26 and the Capital Programme Board will provide review of and 
challenge to projects with a view to reducing the revenue cost impact. 

16 The 2025/26 budget was approved at full Council in February 2025 
including the use of up to £25.3m of Exceptional Financial Support to 
balance the overall budget, as expenditure outweighed the income 
forecast. Further information on this can be found in the MTFS, 
Appendix A, Section 2. 

Transformational savings  

17 During 2024/25, in developing this MTFS, the Council has worked with 
an external partner, Inner Circle, to develop a Transformation Plan. The 
Transformation Plan is designed to ensure that Council can deliver 
sustainable services and support infrastructure projects that reflect 
‘whole life’ costs. The production and implementation of a 
Transformation Plan to deliver key Council objectives and secure the 
medium-term financial position is also a pre-condition of MHCLG 
approving the Council’s bid for Exceptional Financial Support.  

Page 12



    

 

 
OFFICIAL 

18 The Transformation Plan will support the delivery of approved/proposed 
savings, cost avoidance, cost mitigation and identify new savings for the 
coming years. There are six programmes within the plan agreed in 
2024/25, each containing a range of projects and other initiatives 
across: 

• Workforce  
• Social Care  
• Place 
• Early Intervention and Prevention  
• Digital 
• Special Projects 

The approved Transformation Plan can be accessed here: 
https://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/ecminutes/documents/s119437/Transf
ormation%20Plan%20V1%20Final%20CPC%20003.pdf 

19 The revenue and capital implications for growth, investment and 
savings associated with the above initiatives have been reflected in the 
MTFS 2025-29. For the financial year 2025/26, there are 19 
Transformation projects which are also MTFS approved budget 
changes; in total these will deliver net budget savings of £24.4m for 
2025/26. Within this total budget saving, there are £13.452m of Council 
wide cross cutting savings which are held centrally; work is continuing 
to refine how these savings will be delivered in detail and these savings 
will be allocated to service committee budgets as soon as possible. 

20 Progress on the delivery of Transformation projects and their associated 
budget savings will be reported on a monthly basis to the Council’s 
Transformation Board. In addition, all Transformation savings will form 
an integral part of the Council’s existing comprehensive financial 
reporting process which is set out in paragraph 13. 

21 The headline reserves table, as included in the MTFS, is shown below: 

 

Opening 
Balance 
2024/25 

Forecast 
Closing 
Balance 
2024/25 

Forecast 
Closing 
Balance 
2025/26 

Change from 
closing 
2024/25 

 £m £m £m £m 

General Reserves 5,580 3,696 5,000 1,304 

Earmarked 
Reserves** 

32,277 11,539 9,386 -2,153 

Total Revenue 
Reserves 

37,857 15,235 14,386 -849 

* Closing and Opening balances are dependent on outturn at 31 March 2025.  

Page 13

https://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/ecminutes/documents/s119437/Transformation%20Plan%20V1%20Final%20CPC%20003.pdf
https://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/ecminutes/documents/s119437/Transformation%20Plan%20V1%20Final%20CPC%20003.pdf


    

 

 
OFFICIAL 

** All remaining Earmarked reserves, excluding those held for ring-fenced purposes or forecast for use in 

2025/26, are being transferred into the General Fund reserve during 2024/25 to support the forecast deficit 

position.  

22 The detail behind the earmarked reserve balances included in the table 
above, for the Environment and Communities Committee, is set out in 
Annex A. 

23 Further background information on the reserves balances is available in 
the Reserves Strategy and the S.25 statement which was approved as 
part of the MTFS for 2025/26 at the Council meeting on 26 February 
(MTFS - Appendix A, Annex 8 (Reserves Strategy) and Page 42 (S.25 
statement)). 

24 The table below summarises the estimated four-year position, as 
included in the MTFS. Early work on business planning for 2026/27 and 
future years will continue, as part of the Transformation Programme. 

 
Approved 

Net Budget 
2025/26     

£m 

Estimated 
Net Budget 

2026/27     
£m 

Estimated 
Net Budget 

2027/28    
£m 

Estimated 
Net Budget 

2028/29     
£m 

Total Service Expenditure 377.1 362.6 356.3 366.1 

Central Budgets:     

Capital Financing 35.0 38.8 41.9 43.2 

Income from Capital Receipts -1.0 -1.0 -1.0 -1.0 

Bad Debt Provision (change) -0.1 -0.1 -0.1 -0.1 

Contingency Budget 16.0 30.9 42.8 55.7 

Risk Budget 0.0 3.8 2.0 0.8 

Pension adjustment -0.7 -0.7 -0.7 -0.7 

Use of Reserves 1.3 5.0 8.9 8.9 

Total Central Budgets 50.5 76.6 93.7 106.9 

TOTAL: SERVICE + CENTRAL  427.6 439.3 450.0 473.0 

Funded by:     

Council Tax -307.3 -325.6 -345.0 -365.5 

Business Rates Retention -57.1 -57.1 -57.1 -57.1 

Revenue Support Grant -0.8 -0.8 -0.8 -0.8 

Specific Unringfenced Grants -37.1 -34.1 -34.1 -34.1 

TOTAL: FUNDED BY -402.4 -417.7 -437.0 -457.6 

Exceptional Financial Support 
- Capitalisation Direction 

-25.3    

FUNDING POSITION 0.0 21.6 13.0 15.4 

Note – table may not add across/down due to roundings 

Page 14



    

 

 
OFFICIAL 

Consultation and Engagement 

25 The annual business planning process involves engagement with local 
people and organisations. Local authorities have a statutory duty to 
consult on their budget with certain stakeholder groups including the 
Schools Forum and businesses. In addition, the Council chooses to 
consult with other stakeholder groups. The Council continues to carry 
out stakeholder analysis to identify the different groups involved in the 
budget setting process, what information they need from us, the 
information we currently provide these groups with, and where we can 
improve our engagement process. 

26 The Medium-Term Financial Strategy has been developed during 2024 
and an online budget engagement survey was published on 19 
December 2024. 

Reasons for Recommendations 

27 In accordance with the Cheshire East Plan and the Policy Framework 
the Finance Sub-Committee has the responsibility to co-ordinate the 
management and oversight of the Council’s finances, performance and 
risk management arrangements. 

28 The Sub-Committee is responsible for allocating budgets across the 
service committees. This responsibility includes the allocation of 
revenue and capital budgets as well as relevant earmarked reserves. 

29 The Sub-Committee has responsibilities within the Constitution to 
approve, or recommend for approval, virement and supplementary 
estimates that will amend the MTFS. Such requests are brought to the 
Committee as they arise. 

Other Options Considered 

30 Not applicable. 

Implications and Comments 

Monitoring Officer/Legal 

31 The legal implications surrounding the process of setting the 2025 to 
2029 Medium-Term Financial Strategy were dealt with in the reports 
relating to that process. 

Section 151 Officer/Finance 

32 Contained within the main body of the report. 

Policy 

Page 15



    

 

 
OFFICIAL 

33 The Cheshire East Plan sets the policy context for the MTFS and the 
two documents are aligned. Any policy implications that arise from 
activities funded by the budgets that this report deals with will be dealt 
within the individual reports to Members or Officer Decision Records to 
which they relate. 

Commitment 3: An effective and enabling council 

 

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion 

34 Under the Equality Act 2010, decision makers must show ‘due regard’ 
to the need to: 

35 - Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation; 

36 - Advance equality of opportunity between those who share a 
protected characteristic and those who do not share it; and 

37 - Foster good relations between those groups. 

38 The protected characteristics are age, disability, sex, race, religion and 
belief, sexual orientation, gender re-assignment, pregnancy and 
maternity, and marriage and civil partnership. 

39 Having “due regard” is a legal term which requires the Council to 
consider what is proportionate and relevant in terms of the decisions 
they take. 

40 The Council needs to ensure that in taking decisions on the Medium-
Term Financial Strategy and the Budget that the impacts on those with 
protected characteristics are considered. The Council undertakes 
equality impact assessments where necessary and continues to do so 
as proposals and projects develop across the lifetime of the Corporate 
Plan. The process assists us to consider what actions could mitigate 
any adverse impacts identified. Completed equality impact assessments 
form part of any detailed Business Cases. 

41 Positive impacts include significant investment in services for children 
and adults (protected characteristics primarily age and disability).  

42 The Cheshire East Plan’s vision reinforces the Council’s commitment to 
meeting its equalities duties, promoting fairness and working openly for 
everyone. Cheshire East is a diverse place and we want to make sure 
that people are able to live, work and enjoy Cheshire East regardless of 
their background, needs or characteristics. 

Human Resources 

Page 16



    

 

 
OFFICIAL 

43 Any HR implications that arise from activities funded by the budgets that 
this report deals with will be dealt within the individual reports to 
Members or Officer Decision Records to which they relate. 

Risk Management 

44 Financial risks are assessed and reported on a regular basis, and 
remedial action taken if and when required. Risks associated with the 
achievement of the 2025/26 budget and the level of general reserves 
were factored into the 2025/26 financial scenario, budget and reserves 
strategy. 

Rural Communities 

45 The report provides details of service provision across the borough. 

Children and Young People including Cared for Children, care leavers and 
Children with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND) 

46 The report provides details of service provision across the borough. 

Public Health 

47 Public health implications that arise from activities that this report deals 
with will be dealt with as separate reports to Members or Officer 
Decision Records as required. 

Climate Change 

48 Any climate change implications that arise from activities funded by the 
budgets that this report deals with will be dealt within the individual 
reports to Members or Officer Decision Records to which they relate. 

Access to Information 

Contact Officer: Adele Taylor 

Interim Executive Director of Resources Services 

(Section 151 Officer) 

adele.taylor@cheshireeast.gov.uk 

 
Appendices: Annex A - Allocation of revenue and capital budgets, 

budget change items and earmarked reserves to 

service committees 

Annex B – Draft Financial Reporting Timetable 
2025/26  

Page 17

mailto:adele.taylor@cheshireeast.gov.uk


    

 

 
OFFICIAL 

Background 
Papers: 

The following are links to key background documents: 

Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2025-2029 

 

 

Page 18

https://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/ecminutes/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=239&MId=10287


1 | P a g e  
 

 

ANNEX A 

      

     

 

  

  

Service Budgets 
2025/26 

  

Page 19



2 | P a g e  
 

 

 

Contents 

Section 1: Allocation of Revenue and Capital Budgets 2025/26 ........................................................................ 3 

Section 2: Approved Budget Change Items 2025/26 ........................................................................................... 8 

Section 3: Capital Programme 2025/26 ............................................................................................................... 15 

Section 4: Reserves 2025/26 ................................................................................................................................. 24 

 

 

Page 20



3 | P a g e  
 

 

Section 1: Allocation of Revenue and 

Capital Budgets 2025/26  
 

Cheshire East Council - 
Summary 

Revenue Budget Capital 
Budget 

Total 
Revenue 

and 
Capital 
Budget 

Service Area 
Expenditure 

£000 
Income  

£000 
Net Budget 

£000 
 

£000 
 

£000 

Adults and Health 252,154 -92,705 159,449 389 159,838 

Children and Families 107,383 -10,095 97,288 37,723 135,011 

Corporate Policy 108,802 -66,014 42,788 12,745 55,533 

Corporate Policy – Council Wide 
Transformation 

-12,702 
-750 -13,452  -13,452 

Economy and Growth 38,144 -9,703 28,441 36,081 64,522 

Environment and Communities 68,964 -23,263 45,701 19,357 65,058 

Highways and Transport 28,370 -11,469 16,901 66,782 83,683 

Finance Sub – Central  54,012 -3,492 50,520  50,520 

Total Cost of Service 645,127 -217,491 427,636 173,077 600,713 

Total Funding  -402,375 -402,375   

Exceptional Financial Support -25,261  -25,261   

Net Position 619,866 -619,866 -   

 
 
 

Adults and Health Revenue Budget Capital 
Budget 

Total 
Revenue 

and 
Capital 
Budget 

Service Area 
Expenditure 

£000 
Income  

£000 
Net Budget 

£000 
 

£000 
 

£000 

Directorate 515 -8,379 -7,864  -7,864 

Adult Social Care Operations 214,610 -47,056 167,554 389 167,943 

Commissioning 17,407 -17,648 -241  -241 

Public Health 19,622 -19,622 -  - 

Total Cost of Service 252,154 -92,705 159,449 389 159,838 

 

 

Page 21



4 | P a g e  
 

 

Children and Families Revenue Budget Capital 
Budget 

Total 
Revenue 

and 
Capital 
Budget 

Service Area 
Expenditure 

£000 
Income  

£000 
Net Budget 

£000 
 

£000 
 

£000 

Directorate 6,391 -1,125 5,266  5,266 

Family Help and Children’s 
Social Care 

61,865 
-1,448 60,417 3,061 63,478 

Education, Strong Start and 
Integration 

36,365 
-7,491 28,874 34,662 63,536 

Commissioning, QA and 
Partnerships 

2,762 
-31 2,731  2,731 

Total Cost of Service 107,383 -10,095 97,288 37,723 135,011 

 

 

Corporate Policy Revenue Budget Capital 
Budget 

Total 
Revenue 

and 
Capital 
Budget 

Service Area 
Expenditure 

£000 
Income  

£000 
Net Budget 

£000 
 

£000 
 

£000 

Resources (Finance) 58,887 -47,831 11,056 1,021 12,077 

Governance and Compliance 
Services 

15,499 
-4,155 11,344  11,344 

Resources (People) 6,022 -461 5,561  5,561 

Resources (Digital) 24,414 -12,719 11,695 11,724 23,419 

Assistant Chief Executive 3,980 -848 3,132  3,132 

Total Cost of Service 108,802 -66,014 42,788 12,745 55,533 

 

 

Corporate Policy – Council Wide 
Transformation 

Revenue Budget Capital 
Budget 

Total 
Revenue 

and 
Capital 
Budget 

Service Area 
Expenditure 

£000 
Income  

£000 
Net Budget 

£000 
 

£000 
 

£000 

Transformation Programme - 
Council Wide 

-12,702 -750 -13,452  -13,452 

Total Cost of Service -12,702 -750 -13,452  -13,452 

 

 

Page 22



5 | P a g e  
 

 

Economy and Growth Revenue Budget Capital 
Budget 

Total 
Revenue 

and 
Capital 
Budget 

Service Area 
Expenditure 

£000 
Income  

£000 
Net Budget 

£000 
 

£000 
 

£000 

Directorate 303  303  303 

Assets 3,078 -2,587 491 2,250 2,741 

Growth and Enterprise 
Management 

147 
 147  147 

Facilities Management 17,702 -270 17,432 5,927 23,359 

Farms 437 -785 -348  -348 

Economic Development 1,985 -551 1,434 12,854 14,288 

Housing 3,996 -414 3,582 6,893 10,475 

Rural and Cultural Management 165  165 8,157 8,322 

Tatton Park 5,653 -4,445 1,208  1,208 

Green Infrastructure 2,124 -302 1,822  1,822 

Cultural Economy 1,113  1,113  1,113 

Visitor Economy 558 -349 209  209 

Pay Inflation 883  883  883 

Total Cost of Service 38,144 -9,703 28,441 36,081 64,522 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 23



6 | P a g e  
 

 

Environment and Communities Revenue Budget Capital 
Budget 

Total 
Revenue 

and 
Capital 
Budget 

Service Area 
Expenditure 

£000 
Income  

£000 
Net Budget 

£000 
 

£000 
 

£000 

Director of Environmental and 
Neighbourhood Services 

143  143  143 

Development Management 4,471 -2,767 1,704  1,704 

Building Control 1,222 -918 304  304 

Local Land Charges and 
Planning Support 

748 
-407 341  341 

Strategic Planning 1,436  1,436  1,436 

Neighbourhood Planning 283 -220 63  63 

Environmental – Commissioning 
ANSA* 

45,037 
-1,745 43,292 14,217 57,509 

Environmental – Commissioning 
Orbitas* 

2,094 
-2,927 -833 600 -233 

Environmental – Management 
Services 

2,207 
-12,290 -10,083 3,540 -6,543 

Regulatory Services 4,050 -1,228 2,822  2,822 

Libraries 3,329 -297 3,032  3,032 

Leisure Commissioning 948 -420 528 1,000 1,528 

Emergency Planning 237 -61 176  176 

Head of Neighbourhood 
Services & ASB/CEO 

648 
17 665  665 

Pay Inflation 2,111  2,111  2,111 

Total Cost of Service 68,964 -23,263 45,701 19,357 65,058 

*The companies are coming back in house in 2025/26 therefore commissioning budgets will be realigned 

to the correct service area 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 24



7 | P a g e  
 

 

Highways and Transport Revenue Budget Capital 
Budget 

Total 
Revenue 

and 
Capital 
Budget 

Service Area 
Expenditure 

£000 
Income  

£000 
Net Budget 

£000 
 

£000 
 

£000 

Car Parking 2,266 -7,446 -5,180 83 -5,097 

Strategic Transport 8,700 -503 8,197 2,964 11,161 

ANSA Transport Commissioning 
(Management Fee)* 

1,235 
 1,235  1,235 

Highways 14,625 -2,820 11,805 30,971 42,776 

Integrated Rail and Transport 
(formerly HS2) 

450 
 450  450 

Highways and Infrastructure 
Director 

145 
 145  145 

Infrastructure 776 -700 76 32,764 32,840 

Pay Inflation 173  173  173 

Total Cost of Service 28,370 -11,469 16,901 66,782 83,683 

*The companies are coming back in house in 2025/26 therefore commissioning budgets will be 
realigned to the correct service area 
 

Finance Sub – Central Budgets Revenue Budget Capital 
Budget 

Total 
Revenue 

and 
Capital 
Budget 

Service Area 
Expenditure 

£000 
Income  

£000 
Net Budget 

£000 
 

£000 
 

£000 

Capital Financing 37,531 -2,492 35,039  35,039 

Income from use of Capital 
Receipts 

 
-1,000 -1,000  -1,000 

Pension Cost adjustment -727  -727  -727 

Contingency Budget 15,953  15,953  15,953 

Transfer to/(from) Reserves 1,304  1,304  1,304 

Bad Debt Provision adjustment -50  -50  -50 

Other Income/Expenditure 1  1  1 

Total Cost of Service 54,012 -3,492 50,520  50,520 

 

 

 

Page 25



8 | P a g e  
 

 

Section 2: Approved Budget Change 

Items 2025/26 
 

MTFS 
Ref 
No 

Detailed List of Approved Budget Changes – 
Service Budgets 

2025/26  
£m 

2026/27 
£m  

2027/28 
£m  

2028/29 
£m  

 Adults and Health +21.494 -2.204 +1.516 +1.480 

1 Client Contributions -5.182 -0.879  -1.654  -1.706  

2 Revenue Grants for Adult Social Care -0.220    

3 Pensions Cost Adjustment -0.517  -1.019 -0.171 -0.184 

4 Demand in Adult Social Care +5.000  +5.000  +5.000  +5.000  

5 Pay Inflation +2.251 +1.142  +1.171  +1.200  

6 Funding the staffing establishment +3.800     

7 
Fully Funding current care demand levels 
2024/25 

+24.500     

8 
Remodel extra care housing catering 
service 

-0.270     

9T Prevent, Reduce, Enable - Older People -1.500  -2.830  -2.830  -2.830  

10T Learning Disability service transformation -2.500  -2.500    

11T 
Commissioning and brokerage 
transformation 

-0.500  -0.250  
  

12T Preparing for Adulthood -0.868  -0.868    

13T 
Health and Social Care Partnership Case 
Review 

-2.500   
  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 26



9 | P a g e  
 

 

MTFS 
Ref 
No 

Detailed List of Approved Budget Changes – 
Service Budgets 

2025/26  
£m 

2026/27 
£m  

2027/28 
£m  

2028/29 
£m  

 Childrens and Families  +8.659 -0.064 -0.201 -0.258 

14 Pension costs adjustment -0.537 -0.923 -0.155 -0.167 

15 
Growth to deliver statutory Youth Justice 
service, and meet Safeguarding Partnership 
duties 

+0.203 +0.167 +0.031 +0.034 

16 
Growth in School, SEND and Social Care 
Transport budget   

+1.501 +1.548 +0.476  

17 Pay Inflation +2.624 +1.096 +1.124 +1.152 

18 
Fully Funding current care demand levels 
2024/25 

+3.295    

19 Court Progression Improvement +0.023    

20 
Growth for annual contribution to the 
Regional Adoption Agency   

+0.213 +0.048 +0.048 +0.048 

21 
Growth for Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking 
Children due to emerging pressures 

+0.500    

22 
Reversal of a one year policy change for 
traded services   

+0.120    

23 Schools Improvement +0.175    

24 Funding the staffing establishment   +2.739  -1.000 -0.600 

25 Safe Walking Routes to School   -0.250    

26T 
New accommodation with support offer for 
16-25 young people   

-1.100 -0.700   

27T Birth to Thrive -0.500    

28T Right Child, Right Home -1.320 -1.300 -0.725 -0.725 

29 Extended Rights to Free Transport +0.388    

30 
Children’s Social Care Prevention Grant – 
Expenditure 

+0.905    

31 
Children’s Social Care Prevention Grant – 
Grant Income 

-0.905    

32 Foster4 +0.114    

33 
Foster Carers uplift of National Minimum 
Allowance (NMA) 

+0.471    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 27



10 | P a g e  
 

 

MTFS 
Ref 
No 

Detailed List of Approved Budget Changes – 
Service Budgets 

2025/26  
£m 

2026/27 
£m  

2027/28 
£m  

2028/29 
£m  

 Corporate Policy  +1.078 +4.396 +1.890 +1.485 

34 
Enforce prompt debt recovery and increase 
charges for costs 

-0.077    

35 Pension costs adjustment -0.396 -0.685 -0.115 -0.124 

36 Pay Inflation +1.494 +1.531 +1.570 +1.609 

37 
Shared Services Review - Move to Hybrid 
Model for ICT 

-0.733    

38 
The achievement of additional Registration 
Service income, over and above that which 
is currently identified as required 

-0.350    

39 
Recognising the annual receipt of £45k of 
Police and Crime Panel grant income   

-0.045    

40 
Remove unspent element of phones 
budgets in corporate services   

-0.060    

41T Digital Acceleration Revenue Growth   +1.150   

42T Digital Blueprint Revenue Growth   +2.400 +0.435  

43 
Transactional Shared Services stabilisation 
plan 

+0.270    

44 Additional cost of External Audit Fees   +0.265    

45 Reduce Members Allowances budget -0.100    

46 
Additional Cost of Bank Charges from 
2025/26 

+0.120    

47 
Reverse reduction in leadership and 
management costs as posts are being 
retained 

+0.540    

48 
Reinstatement of a one-off saving of 
£150,000 from election budgets for 2024/25 

+0.150    

 Council Wide Transformation  -13.452 -20.730 -11.030 - 

49T Digital Customer Enablement Invest to Save -0.750 -0.750 -0.700  

50T Digital Acceleration Invest to Save   -0.600 -6.250 -5.250  

51T Digital Blueprint - Invest to Save   -4.000 -6.000 -4.500  

52T Target Operating Model (TOM) -3.000 -7.000   

53T Agency Staffing -0.352    

54T Workforce Productivity -1.000    

55T Fees and Charges -0.750 -0.040 -0.040  

56T Third Party Spend -3.000 -0.690 -0.540  

 

Page 28



11 | P a g e  
 

 

MTFS 
Ref 
No 

Detailed List of Approved Budget Changes – 
Service Budgets 

2025/26  
£m 

2026/27 
£m  

2027/28 
£m  

2028/29 
£m  

 Economy and Growth +0.534 +0.695 +0.432 +0.328 

57 Office estate rationalisation -0.150    

58 Pension Costs Adjustment -0.164 -0.313 -0.053 -0.057 

59 Tatton Park ticketing and EPOS upgrade +0.001 +0.001 +0.001 +0.001 

60 CEC Archives +0.014 +0.093 +0.004  

61 Rural and Visitor Economy Electricity costs -0.021    

62 
Minimum energy efficiency standards 
(MEES) - Estates - Revenue Adjustment 

+0.023  -0.055 -0.047 

63 Pay Inflation +1.064 +0.429 +0.440 +0.450 

64 
Maintenance and operation of new assets in 
Crewe town centre 

+0.205 +0.279 +0.118 +0.006 

65 

Land Fill Site Assessments Revenue 
Adjustment - Estates – Review and Risk 
Assessment of Council owned Landfill sites 
(53 sites) Review and Risk Assessment 
completions 

+0.010    

66 Tatton Park Estate Dwellings Refurbishment +0.015    

67 
Improving Crewe Rented Housing 
Standards 

+0.188 -0.188   

68 
Maximise potential of Countryside Access 
Management System 

+0.020 -0.018   

69 Assets - building and operational – Energy -0.860    

70 
Assets - building and operational – 
Maintenance 

+0.465 +0.533   

71 Tatton Park - Increase Fees and Charges -0.126 -0.021 -0.023 -0.025 

72T Corporate Landlord Model Refresh -0.050    

73T Asset Strategy Refresh -0.100 -0.100   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 29



12 | P a g e  
 

 

MTFS 
Ref 
No 

Detailed List of Approved Budget Changes – 
Service Budgets 

2025/26  
£m 

2026/27 
£m  

2027/28 
£m  

2028/29 
£m  

 Environment and Communities -2.741 +3.269 +0.982 +6.792 

74 Strategic Leisure Review (Stage 2) +0.403 -0.203 -0.166  

75 Libraries Strategy - Stage 1 -0.100    

76 
Reduce revenue impact of carbon reduction 
capital schemes 

+0.171    

77 Pay Inflation +2.270 +1.380 +1.409 +1.436 

78 Pension Costs Adjustment -0.159 -0.315 -0.053 -0.057 

79 
Explore a Trust delivery model for Libraries 
and other services 

-0.150    

80 Land Charge Income Adjustment +0.147    

81 Local Plan Review +0.315 -0.090 +0.005 -0.005 

82 
Review of CCTV service - service 
efficiencies and income generation from 
existing services 

-0.040    

83 
Environmental Services Growth 2025/26 
onwards 

+3.041 +1.882 +0.690 +0.710 

84 
Environmental Services Savings 2025/26 
onwards 

-2.366 -2.580 -1.181 -0.549 

85 Environmental Services Growth - Pensions    +0.727 -0.395 -0.066 -0.071 

86 
Environmental Services – expected income 
from Extended Producer Responsibility for 
packaging    

-7.000 +3.590 +0.344 +5.328 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 30



13 | P a g e  
 

 

MTFS 
Ref 
No 

Detailed List of Approved Budget Changes – 
Service Budgets 

2025/26  
£m 

2026/27 
£m  

2027/28 
£m  

2028/29 
£m  

 Highways and Transport +1.061 +0.152 +0.068 +0.030 

87 Increase parking charges -0.450 -0.186 -0.191 -0.197 

88 Safe Haven outside schools (Parking) +0.010    

89 
Parking PDA / Back Office System contract 
- fall out of one off set up cost 

-0.030    

90 
Parking - Part-year effect of strategy 
changes 

-0.720    

91 Parking - Staff and member parking -0.250    

92 
Transport and Infrastructure Strategy Team 
– Restructure 

 -0.150   

93 Local Bus +1.545    

94 
FlexiLink Service Improvement Plan - invest 
to save 

+0.592 +0.294 -0.003 -0.135 

95T 
Advertising Income. Initial project scoping 
work being undertaken to understand 
scale/complexity and resourcing needs 

-0.025 -0.075 -0.050  

96 Pension Costs Adjustment -0.055 -0.108 -0.018 -0.020 

97 Pay Inflation +0.228 +0.111 +0.114 +0.117 

98 
Flood and Water Management Act 2010 
SuDS and SABs Schedule 3 
Implementation 

 +0.050 +0.050 +0.100 

99 Highways: Revenue Service +0.216 +0.216 +0.216 +0.216 

100 Highways: Depots     -0.050  -0.051 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 31



14 | P a g e  
 

 

MTFS 
Ref 
No 

Detailed List of Approved Budget Changes – 
Service Budgets 

2025/26  
£m 

2026/27 
£m  

2027/28 
£m  

2028/29 
£m  

 Finance Sub (central budgets) +35.294 +26.123 +17.082 +13.104 

101 
Capital Financing - Minimum Revenue 
Provision 

+3.387 +3.719 +3.102 +1.388 

102 Creation of Contingency Budget +15.953 +14.908 +11.922 +12.926 

103 
Risk of unachievable budget savings or 
growth demands exceeding estimates   

 +3.800 -1.840 -1.210 

104 
Pension adjustment – linked to E&C growth 
item 

-0.727    

105 
Use of Earmarked Reserves (reversal of 
2024/25 one off use of central EMRs) 

+3.723    

106 Top up of Earmarked Reserves   +3.898  

107 
Use of General Reserves (reversal of one 
off use in 2024/25) 

+11.654    

108 
 

Top up General Reserves 
+1.304 +3.696   

 Finance Sub (funding budgets) -26.666 -15.285 -19.391 -20.515 

109 Council Tax increase % growth -14.326 -15.290 -16.204 -17.214 

110 Council Tax increase base growth -5.852 -3.037 -3.187 -3.301 

111 Business Rates Retention    -0.495    

112 Unringfenced general grants change -3.012 +3.042   

113 National Insurance increase contribution -2.981    

 

 

Page 32



15 | P a g e  
 

 

Section 3: Capital Programme 2025/26  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Scheme Description

Total 

Approved 

Budget

Prior

 Years

Forecast 

Budget 

2025/26

Forecast 

Budget 

2026/27

Forecast 

Budget 

2027/28

Forecast 

Budget 

2028/29

Total 

Forecast 

Budget

2025-29

Government 

Grants

External

Contributions

Revenue 

Contributions

Capital 

Receipts

Prudential 

Borrowing

Total 

Funding

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Committed Schemes

Adult Social Care                                                                                                

Electronic Call Monitoring System 389 0 389 0 0 0 389 0 0 389 0 0 389

Total Adults Social Care Schemes 389 0 389 0 0 0 389 0 0 389 0 0 389

Adults and Health CAPITAL

CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2025/26 - 2028/29

Forecast Expenditure Forecast Funding

P
age 33



16 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Scheme Description

Total 

Approved 

Budget

Prior

 Years

Forecast 

Budget 

2025/26

Forecast 

Budget 

2026/27

Forecast 

Budget 

2027/28

Forecast 

Budget 

2028/29

Total 

Forecast 

Budget

2025-29 Grants

External

Contributions

Revenue 

Contributions

Capital 

Receipts

Prudential 

Borrowing

Total 

Funding

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Committed Schemes 

Childrens Social Care

Children's Home Sufficiency Scheme 1,404 904 500 0 0 0 500 0 0 0 0 500 500

Crewe Youth Zone 4,826 2,420 2,406 0 0 0 2,406 1,559 0 0 0 847 2,406

Family Hubs Transformation 236 131 105 0 0 0 105 105 0 0 0 0 105

Foster Carer Capacity Scheme 534 484 50 0 0 0 50 0 0 0 0 50 50

Total Children's Social Care 7,000 3,939 3,061 0 0 0 3,061 1,664 0 0 0 1,397 3,061

Strong Start, Family Help & Integration

Childcare Capital Expansion 749 449 300 0 0 0 300 300 0 0 0 -                  300

Early Years Sufficiency Capital Fund 1,036 957 79 0 0 0 79 79 0 0 0 -                  79

Total Strong Start, Family Help & Integration 1,785 1,406 379 0 0 0 379 379 0 0 0 0 379

Education and 14-19 Skills

Adelaide Academy 903 155 748 0 0 0 748 578 0 0 0 170 748

Basic Need Grant Allocation 7,569 5,127 2,442 0 0 0 2,442 2,442 0 0 0 0 2,442

Congleton Planning Area - Primary (1) 2,209 179 2,030 0 0 0 2,030 764 1,266 0 0 0 2,030

Congleton Planning Area - Primary (3) 7,504 54 0 2,200 5,250 0 7,450 4,250 3,200 0 0 0 7,450

Devolved Formula Grant - Schools 1,533 893 330 310 0 0 640 640 0 0 0 0 640

Energy Efficiency Grant - Schools 672 672 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Gainsborough Primary - Flooring 304 50 254 0 0 0 254 254 0 0 0 0 254

Handforth Planning Area - New School 13,002 103 400 4,000 8,499 0 12,899 126 12,773 0 0 0 12,899

Macclesfield Planning Area - Secondary New places 730 5 725 0 0 0 725 725 0 0 0 0 725

Macclesfield Planning Area - New School 4,001 1 0 0 4,000 0 4,000 0 4,000 0 0 0 4,000

Children and Families CAPITAL

CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2025/26-2028/29

Forecast Expenditure Forecast Funding

P
age 34



17 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Scheme Description

Total 

Approved 

Budget

Prior

 Years

Forecast 

Budget 

2025/26

Forecast 

Budget 

2026/27

Forecast 

Budget 

2027/28

Forecast 

Budget 

2028/29

Total 

Forecast 

Budget

2025-29 Grants

External

Contributions

Revenue 

Contributions

Capital 

Receipts

Prudential 

Borrowing

Total 

Funding

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Committed Schemes 

Mobberley Primary School 1,207 37 609 561 0 0 1,170 870 0 0 300 0 1,170

Nantwich Planning Area - Kingsbourne Primary Academy 

(New school)

9,061 1,233 7,328 500 0 0 7,828 5,308 2,520 0 0 0 7,828

New AP Free School 500 0 500 0 0 0 500 500 0 0 0 0 500

New Satellite school - 2 9,000 50 950 5,000 3,000 0 8,950 8,950 0 0 0 0 8,950

New SEN places - Springfields Wilmslow /Dean Row 

Community Centre 

1,089 339 750 0 0 0 750 750 0 0 0 0 750

New SEN Free School 998 5 745 248 0 0 993 993 0 0 0 0 993

Poynton Planning Area - Vernon Primary 1,500 113 1,387 0 0 0 1,387 584 803 0 0 0 1,387

Provision of Sufficient School Places -  SEND (Springfield 

Crewe)

7,183 6,861 322 0 0 0 322 0 0 0 0 322 322

Schools Condition Capital Grant 7,828 3,828 2,000 2,000 0 0 4,000 4,000 0 0 0 0 4,000

SEN/High Needs Capital Allocation 4,827 327 2,000 2,500 0 0 4,500 4,500 0 0 0 0 4,500

Shavington Planning Area - Basford New Primary School 8,040 256 1,000 6,784 0 0 7,784 5,449 2,335 0 0 0 7,784

Springfield Satellite Site - Middlewich 6,000 500 5,500 0 0 0 5,500 5,500 0 0 0 0 5,500

Tytherington High School 2,800 272 2,528 0 0 0 2,528 2,528 0 0 0 0 2,528

Wheelock Primary School 2,411 1,201 1,210 0 0 0 1,210 1,210 0 0 0 0 1,210

Wilmslow High School BN 14,179 13,654 525 0 0 0 525 0 477 0 0 48 525

Total Education & 14-19 Skills 115,050 35,915 34,283 24,103 20,749 0 79,135 50,921 27,374 0 300 540 79,135

0

Total Committed Schemes 123,835 41,260 37,723 24,103 20,749 0 82,575 52,964 27,374 0 300 1,937 82,575

Total New Schemes 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Children and Families Schemes 123,835 41,260 37,723 24,103 20,749 0 82,575 52,964 27,374 0 300 1,937 82,575

Children and Families CAPITAL

CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2025/26-2028/29

Forecast Expenditure Forecast Funding

P
age 35



18 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Scheme Description

Total 

Approved 

Budget

Prior

 Years

Forecast 

Budget 

2025/26

Forecast 

Budget 

2026/27

Forecast 

Budget 

2027/28

Forecast 

Budget 

2028/29

Total 

Forecast 

Budget 

2025-29 Grants

External

Contributions

Revenue 

Contributions

Capital 

Receipts

Prudential 

Borrowing

Total 

Funding

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Committed Schemes 

ICT Services

Accelerate Digital 1,460 760 700 0 0 0 700 0 0 0 0 700 700

Care Act Phase 2 6,314 5,234 1,080 0 0 0 1,080 0 0 0 0 1,080 1,080

ICT Device Replacement 1,912 1,412 500 0 0 0 500 0 0 0 0 500 500

IADM (Information Assurance and Data Management) 

Programme

19,465 18,065 1,400 0 0 0 1,400 0 0 0 0 1,400 1,400

Infrastructure Investment Programme (IIP) 34,429 31,796 1,804 830 0 0 2,634 0 0 0 0 2,634 2,634

Vendor Management 1,006 788 218 0 0 0 218 0 0 0 0 218 218

Total ICT Services Schemes 64,586 58,054 5,702 830 0 0 6,532 0 0 0 0 6,532 6,532

Finance & Customer Services

Core Financials 11,317 10,362 662 293 0 0 955 0 0 0 0 955 955

Vendor Management  - Phase 2 99 24 25 50 0 0 75 0 0 0 0 75 75

Total Finance & Customer Services Schemes 11,417 10,386 687 343 0 0 1,030 0 0 0 0 1,030 1,030

Total Committed Schemes 76,003 68,440 6,389 1,173 0 0 7,562 0 0 0 0 7,562 7,562

New Schemes

Finance & Customer Services

Core Business Systems 1,826 0 334 492 800 200 1,826 0 0 0 0 1,826 1,826

ICT Services

Accelerate Digital – (Digital efficiencies) Capital 4,259 0 1,532 1,350 1,377 0 4,259 0 0 0 0 4,259 4,259

Digital Blueprint - Capital 6,530 0 3,490 1,663 1,377 0 6,530 0 0 0 0 6,530 6,530

ICT Device Replacement 0 1,000 250 200 400 1,850 0 0 0 0 1,850 1,850

Total New Schemes 12,615 0 6,356 3,755 3,754 600 14,465 0 0 0 0 14,465 14,465

Total Corporate Policy 88,618 68,440 12,745 4,928 3,754 600 22,027 0 0 0 0 22,027 22,027

Corporate Policy CAPITAL

CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2025/26 - 2028/29

Forecast Expenditure Forecast Funding

P
age 36



19 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Scheme Description

Total 

Approved 

Budget

Prior

 Years

 Forecast 

Budget 

2025/26 

 Forecast 

Budget 

2026/27 

 Forecast 

Budget 

2027/28 

 Forecast 

Budget 

2028/29 

Total 

Forecast 

Budget 

2025-29 Grants

External

Contributions

Revenue 

Contributions

Capital 

Receipts

Prudential 

Borrowing

Total 

Funding

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Committed Schemes 

Culture & Tourism

Countryside Vehicles 1,579 790 355 217 217 0 789 0 0 0 0 789 789

Culture & Tourism S106 Schemes 509 97 385 5 5 17 412 0 412 0 0 0 412

Green Infrastructure Structures Investment 384 0 271 113 0 0 384 0 0 0 0 384 384

New Archives Premises CTC1 7,115 442 6,433 240 0 0 6,673 0 0 0 0 6,673 6,673

PROW CMM A6 MARR 103 74 29 0 0 0 29 29 0 0 0 0 29

Tatton Park Investment Phase 2 2,843 1,434 684 725 0 0 1,409 0 0 0 0 1,409 1,409

Total Culture & Tourism Committed Schemes 12,533 2,837 8,157 1,300 222 17 9,696 29 412 0 0 9,255 9,696

Economic Development

Crewe Towns Fund - Mill Street Corridor 4,027 3,229 798 0 0 0 798 798 0 0 0 0 798

Crewe Towns Fund - Crewe Youth Zone non-grant costs 351 188 163 0 0 0 163 163 0 0 0 0 163

Crewe Towns Fund - Repurposing Our High Streets 1,132 625 507 0 0 0 507 507 0 0 0 0 507

Crewe Town Centre Regeneration 32,293 31,293 1,000 0 0 0 1,000 0 0 0 0 1,000 1,000

Connecting Cheshire Phase 3 8,000 928 2,000 2,200 2,000 872 7,072 0 7,072 0 0 0 7,072

Connecting Cheshire 2020 9,250 6,265 0 0 0 2,985 2,985 2,985 0 0 0 0 2,985

Handforth Heat Network 13,219 680 50 450 12,039 0 12,539 1,924 7,428 0 0 3,187 12,539

History Centre Public Realm & ICV (Crewe Towns Fund) CTC1 580 210 370 0 0 0 370 370 0 0 0 0 370

Leighton Green 2,096 1,618 478 0 0 0 478 0 0 0 0 478 478

South Macclesfield  Development Area 34,630 3,359 100 0 0 31,171 31,271 10,000 10,000 0 11,271 0 31,271

Macclesfield Indoor Market Refurbishment (MIMR) 2,213 1,713 500 0 0 0 500 500 0 0 0 0 500

Nantwich Town Centre Public Realm Improvements 100 0 100 0 0 0 100 0 100 0 0 0 100

North Cheshire Garden Village 57,866 12,287 6,588 17,285 21,706 0 45,579 15,044 0 0 21,700 8,835 45,579

Handforth Garden Village s106 Obligations 6,841 0 0 2,740 0 4,101 6,841 0 0 0 0 6,841 6,841

UK Shared Prosperity Fund - Core 1,150 950 200 0 0 0 200 200 0 0 0 0 200

Total Economic Development Committed Schemes 173,748 63,345 12,854 22,675 35,745 39,129 110,403 32,491 24,600 0 32,971 20,341 110,403

Economy & Growth CAPITAL

CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2025/26 - 2028/29

 Forecast Expenditure Forecast Funding

P
age 37



20 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 

Scheme Description

Total 

Approved 

Budget

Prior

 Years

 Forecast 

Budget 

2025/26 

 Forecast 

Budget 

2026/27 

 Forecast 

Budget 

2027/28 

 Forecast 

Budget 

2028/29 

Total 

Forecast 

Budget 

2025-29 Grants

External

Contributions

Revenue 

Contributions

Capital 

Receipts

Prudential 

Borrowing

Total 

Funding

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Facilities Management

PSDS - 3B - Lot 1 1,028 904 124 0 0 0 124 124 0 0 0 0 124

PSDS - 3C 1,672 324 1,348 0 0 0 1,348 1,159 0 0 0 189 1,348

Septic Tanks 636 310 75 251 0 0 326 0 0 0 0 326 326

Schools Capital Maintenance 8,315 7,271 1,044 0 0 0 1,044 1,044 0 0 0 0 1,044

Premises Capital (FM) 39,690 36,053 2,488 1,149 0 0 3,637 0 0 0 0 3,637 3,637

Poynton Pool Spillway 1,380 744 636 0 0 0 636 0 0 0 0 636 636

Total Facilities Management Committed Schemes 52,721 45,606 5,715 1,400 0 0 7,115 2,327 0 0 0 4,788 7,115

Estates

Corporate Landlord - Non-Operational 1,336 0 1,336 0 0 0 1,336 0 0 0 0 1,336 1,336

Malkins Bank Landfill Site 1,360 777 583 0 0 0 583 0 0 0 0 583 583

Farms Strategy 2,910 1,744 331 209 209 417 1,166 0 0 0 1,166 0 1,166

Total Estates Committed Schemes 5,606 2,521 2,250 209 209 417 3,085 0 0 0 1,166 1,919 3,085

Housing

Crewe Towns Fund - Warm and Healthy Homes 2,126 858 1,268 0 0 0 1,268 1,268 0 0 0 0 1,268

Disabled Facilities 22,025 13,761 2,664 2,800 2,800 0 8,264 8,264 0 0 0 0 8,264

Green Homes Grant 3,105 2,427 339 339 0 0 678 678 0 0 0 0 678

Home Repairs Vulnerable People 1,338 936 402 0 0 0 402 0 0 0 0 402 402

Home Upgrade Grant Phase 2 4,409 2,740 1,669 0 0 0 1,669 1,669 0 0 0 0 1,669

Local Authority Housing Fund 742 433 309 0 0 0 309 309 0 0 0 0 309

Total Housing Committed Schemes 33,746 21,156 6,651 3,139 2,800 0 12,590 12,188 0 0 0 402 12,590

Total Committed Schemes 278,355 135,466 35,627 28,723 38,976 39,563 142,889 47,035 25,012 0 34,137 36,705 142,889

New Schemes

Culture & Tourism

Green Structures investment (Public Rights of Way) 512 0 0 126 195 191 512 0 0 0 0 512 512

Housing

Disabled Facilities 3,360 0 242 106 106 2,906 3,360 3,360 0 0 0 0 3,360

Facilities Management

Septic Tanks 949 0 0 149 400 400 949 0 0 0 0 949 949

Premises Capital * see note 1 7,163 0 212 1,551 2,700 2,700 7,163 0 0 0 0 7,163 7,163

Total Economic Development New Schemes 11,984 0 454 1,933 3,401 6,197 11,984 3,360 0 0 0 8,624 11,984

Total Economy and Growth Schemes 290,339 135,466 36,081 30,656 42,377 45,760 154,873 50,395 25,012 0 34,137 45,329 154,873

Note 1 : Approval for this scheme is for 2025-26 only. Future years to be considered for approval in 2026-30 MTFS

Economy & Growth CAPITAL

CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2025/26 - 2028/29

 Forecast Expenditure Forecast Funding

P
age 38



21 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 

Scheme Description

Total 

Approved 

Budget

Prior

 Years

Forecast 

Budget 

2025/26

Forecast 

Budget 

2026/27

Forecast 

Budget 

2027/28

Forecast 

Budget 

2028/29

Total 

Forecast 

Budget 

2025-29 Grants

 External

Contributions

Revenue 

Contributions

Capital 

Receipts

Prudential 

Borrowing

Total 

Funding

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Committed Schemes

Environment Services

Booth Bed Lane, Goostrey 140 40 100 0 0 0 100 0 100 0 0 0 100

Bosley Village Play Area 20 10 10 0 0 0 10 0 10 0 0 0 10

Carbon Offset Investment 568 268 75 75 75 75 300 0 0 0 0 300 300

Carnival Fields 42 0 42 0 0 0 42 0 42 0 0 0 42

Closed Cemeteries 152 50 102 0 0 0 102 0 0 0 0 102 102

Fleet EV Transition 6,897 1,596 2,974 327 1,000 1,000 5,301 0 0 0 0 5,301 5,301

Fleet Vehicle Electric Charging 585 305 140 140 0 0 280 0 0 0 0 280 280

Green Investment Scheme (Solar Farm) 4,150 3,944 51 155 0 0 206 0 0 0 0 206 206

Household Waste Recycling Centres 860 270 590 0 0 0 590 0 0 0 0 590 590

Jim Evison Playing Fields 161 0 161 0 0 0 161 0 161 0 0 0 161

Litter and Recycling Bins 208 136 25 25 22 0 72 0 0 0 0 72 72

Macclesfield Chapel Refurbishment 429 29 400 0 0 0 400 0 0 400 0 0 400

Park Development Fund 846 723 36 87 0 0 123 0 0 0 0 123 123

Review of Household Waste Recycling Centres 1,000 100 900 0 0 0 900 0 0 0 0 900 900

Carbon Neutral 2030 Investments 13,980 101 300 300 4,400 8,879 13,879 0 0 0 0 13,879 13,879

The Carrs Improvement Project 61 15 46 0 0 0 46 0 46 0 0 0 46

Weekly Food Waste Collections 2,712 80 2,132 500 0 0 2,632 2,632 0 0 0 0 2,632

Woodland South of Coppice Way, Handforth 89 73 16 0 0 0 16 0 16 0 0 0 16

Wybunbury St Chad's Closed Cemetery 219 0 219 0 0 0 219 0 0 0 0 219 219

Total Environment Services Schemes 33,119 7,740 8,319 1,609 5,497 9,954 25,379 2,632 375 400 0 21,972 25,379

Neighbourhood Services 0

Crewe Towns Fund - Valley Brook Green Corridor 3,339 1,699 1,640 0 0 0 1,640 1,640 0 0 0 0 1,640

Crewe Towns Fund - Cumberland Arena 3,093 2,268 825 0 0 0 825 825 0 0 0 0 825

Crewe Towns Fund - Pocket Parks 1,481 1,088 393 0 0 0 393 393 0 0 0 0 393

Strategic Leisure Review 3,400 1,750 1,000 650 0 0 1,650 0 0 0 0 1,650 1,650

Total Neighbourhood Services 11,313 6,805 3,858 650 0 0 4,508 2,858 0 0 0 1,650 4,508

Total Committed Schemes 44,432 14,545 12,177 2,259 5,497 9,954 29,887 5,490 375 400 0 23,622 29,887

New Schemes

Environment Services

Weekly Food Waste Collections - Additional Capital Requirement 5,497 0 5,497 0 0 0 5,497 0 0 5,497 0 0 5,497

Macclesfield Cemetery Second Chapel - Additional requirement 200 0 200 0 0 0 200 0 0 200 0 0 200

Parks 1,483 0 1,483 0 0 0 1,483 0 1,483 0 0 0 1,483

Total New Schemes 7,180 0 7,180 0 0 0 7,180 0 1,483 5,697 0 0 7,180

Total Environment and Communities Schemes 51,612 14,545 19,357 2,259 5,497 9,954 37,067 5,490 1,858 6,097 0 23,622 37,067

Environment and Communities CAPITAL

CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2025/26 - 2028/29

Forecast Expenditure Forecast Funding

P
age 39



22 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

Scheme Description

Total 

Approved 

Budget

Prior

 Years

Forecast 

Budget 

2025/26

Forecast 

Budget 

2026/27

Forecast 

Budget 

2027/28

Forecast 

Budget 

2028/29

Total 

Forecast 

Budget 

2025-29 Grants

External

Contributions

Revenue 

Contributions

Capital 

Receipts

Prudential 

Borrowing

Total 

Funding

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Committed Schemes 

Strategic Infrastructure

A500 Dualling scheme 89,456 11,131 950 0 0 77,375 78,325 74,025 4,300 0 0 0 78,325

A500 Corridor OBC Update 1,705 150 1,555 0 0 0 1,555 1,555 0 0 0 0 1,555

A50 / A54 Holmes Chapel 603 100 0 0 0 503 503 0 503 0 0 0 503

A54 / A533 Leadsmithy Street, Middlewich 563 176 0 0 0 387 387 0 387 0 0 0 387

A6 MARR Technical Design 473 279 194 0 0 0 194 70 124 0 0 0 194

A556 Knutsford to Bowdon 504 417 87 0 0 0 87 0 87 0 0 0 87

Peacock Roundabout Junction 750 52 500 0 0 198 698 0 698 0 0 0 698

Congleton Link Road 83,991 72,837 1,254 1,279 1,000 7,621 11,154 316 10,838 0 0 0 11,154

Crewe Green Roundabout 7,500 7,057 443 0 0 0 443 0 443 0 0 0 443

Flowerpot Phs 1 & Pinchpoint 5,519 1,609 588 336 337 2,649 3,910 3,187 723 0 0 0 3,910

Future High Street Funding - Flag Lane Link 1,558 1,249 309 0 0 0 309 309 0 0 0 0 309

Highways & Infrastructure S106 Funded Schemes 4,701 1,790 1,179 494 0 1,238 2,911 107 2,804 0 0 0 2,911

Transport & Infrastructure Development Studies 350 60 290 0 0 0 290 290 0 0 0 0 290

Middlewich Eastern Bypass 96,599 27,268 22,140 22,876 19,848 4,467 69,331 45,747 14,611 0 0 8,973 69,331

Mill Street Corridor - Station Link Project 1,534 992 542 0 0 0 542 0 242 0 0 300 542

North-West Crewe Package 51,367 50,167 300 300 300 300 1,200 0 1,200 0 0 0 1,200

Old Mill Road / The Hill Junction 1,324 187 1,137 0 0 0 1,137 0 1,137 0 0 0 1,137

Poynton Relief Road 54,848 48,906 1,096 1,146 1,435 2,265 5,942 0 2,751 0 1,000 2,191 5,942

Sydney Road Bridge 10,502 10,137 200 165 0 0 365 0 365 0 0 0 365

Total Strategic Infrastructure Schemes 413,847 234,564 32,764 26,596 22,920 97,003 179,283 125,606 41,213 0 1,000 11,464 179,283

Highways

Alderley Edge Bypass Scheme Implementation 60,611 60,384 227 0 0 0 227 0 0 0 0 227 227

Integrated Block - LTP 8,012 0 2,003 2,003 2,003 2,003 8,012 8,012 0 0 0 0 8,012

Incentive Fund - LTP 5,800 0 1,450 1,450 1,450 1,450 5,800 5,800 0 0 0 0 5,800

Maintenance Block - LTP 25,275 0 7,878 5,799 5,799 5,799 25,275 23,196 0 0 0 2,079 25,275

Managing and Maintaining Highways 4,712 0 4,712 0 0 0 4,712 0 0 0 0 4,712 4,712

Pothole Funding 23,196 0 5,799 5,799 5,799 5,799 23,196 23,196 0 0 0 0 23,196

Programme Management 1,548 1,515 33 0 0 0 33 33 0 0 0 0 33

Road Safety Schemes Minor Wks 6,423 6,323 100 0 0 0 100 0 0 0 0 100 100

Traffic Signal Maintenance 1,095 835 260 0 0 0 260 260 0 0 0 0 260

Ward Members Local Highway Measures 872 357 515 0 0 0 515 139 0 0 0 376 515

Winter Service Facility 958 772 97 89 0 0 186 0 0 0 0 186 186

Total Highways Schemes 138,502 70,186 23,074 15,140 15,051 15,051 68,316 60,636 0 0 0 7,680 68,316

Highways and Transport CAPITAL

CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2025/26- 2028/29

Forecast Expenditure Forecast Funding

P
age 40



23 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 

Scheme Description

Total 

Approved 

Budget

Prior

 Years

Forecast 

Budget 

2025/26

Forecast 

Budget 

2026/27

Forecast 

Budget 

2027/28

Forecast 

Budget 

2028/29

Total 

Forecast 

Budget 

2025-29 Grants

External

Contributions

Revenue 

Contributions

Capital 

Receipts

Prudential 

Borrowing

Total 

Funding

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Committed Schemes 

Strategic Transport &  Parking Services

Active Travel Fund 3,100 1,680 1,420 0 0 0 1,420 1,420 0 0 0 0 1,420

LEVI Capital Fund 23/24 2,172 0 543 543 543 543 2,172 2,172 0 0 0 0 2,172

Sustainable Travel Access Prog 2,438 2,238 200 0 0 0 200 200 0 0 0 0 200

Local Access - Crewe Transport Access Studies 400 188 212 0 0 0 212 212 0 0 0 0 212

Local Access - Macclesfield Transport Access Studies 300 161 139 0 0 0 139 139 0 0 0 0 139

LTP Development & Monitoring Studies 901 480 200 221 0 0 421 421 0 0 0 0 421

Digital Car Parking Solutions 140 113 27 0 0 0 27 0 0 0 0 27 27

Car Parking Improvements (including residents parking) 322 266 56 0 0 0 56 0 0 0 0 56 56

Total Strategic Transport & Parking Services Schemes 9,773 5,126 2,797 764 543 543 4,647 4,564 0 0 0 83 4,647

Total Committed Schemes 562,122 309,876 58,635 42,500 38,514 112,597 252,246 190,806 41,213 0 1,000 19,227 252,246

New Schemes

Highways 

Highways Maintenance Capital 41,846 0 7,340 11,502 11,502 11,502 41,846 27,773 0 0 0 14,073 41,846

Highways: Depots  (Macclesfield) 2,386 0 411 750 1,225 0 2,386 0 0 0 0 2,386 2,386

Highways: Depots (Wardle) 696 0 146 458 92 0 696 0 0 0 60 636 696

Strategic Transport &  Parking Services

Strategic Transport Model 750 0 250 250 250 0 750 0 0 0 0 750 750

Total New Schemes 45,678 0 8,147 12,960 13,070 11,502 45,679 27,773 0 0 60 17,845 45,679

Total Highways & Transport Schemes 607,800 309,876 66,782 55,460 51,584 124,099 297,925 218,579 41,213 0 1,060 37,072 297,925

Highways and Transport CAPITAL

CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2025/26- 2028/29

Forecast Expenditure Forecast Funding

P
age 41



24 | P a g e  
 

 

Section 4: Reserves 2025/26 
 

Adults and Health  

 

Reserve Account 

Opening 
Balance 
01 April 

2024 
 
 

£000 

Transfers 
to 

General 
Fund - 
MTFS 

Feb 2024 
£000 

2024/25 
Net 

Movement 
on 

Reserve 
 

£000 

Transfers 
to 

General 
Fund 

Feb 2025 
 

£000 

Closing 
Balance 

Forecast 
31 March 

2025 
 

£000 

2025/26 
Net 

Movement 
on 

Reserve 
 

£000 

Closing 
Balance 

Forecast 
31 March 

2026 
 

£000 

PFI Equalisation - 

Extra Care Housing 
2,857 (2,795) 0 (62) 0 46 46 

Public Health Reserve 2,369 0 9 0 2,378 (1,025) 1,353 

Adults and Health 

Reserves Total 
5,226 (2,795) 9 (62) 2,378 (979) 1,399 

 

 

Children and 

Families  

 

Reserve Account 

Opening 
Balance 
01 April 

2024 
 
 

£000 

Transfers 
to 

General 
Fund - 
MTFS 

Feb 2024 
£000 

2024/25 
Net 

Movement 
on 

Reserve 
 

£000 

Transfers 
to 

General 
Fund 

Feb 2025 
 

£000 

Closing 
Balance 

Forecast 
31 March 

2025 
 

£000 

2025/26 
Net 

Movement 
on 

Reserve 
 

£000 

Closing 
Balance 

Forecast 
31 March 

2026 
 

£000 

Domestic Abuse 

Partnership 
131 0 (131) 0 0 0 0 

Troubled Families 

Initiative 
1,593 0 (1,593) 0 0 0 0 

Children and 

Families Reserves 

Total 

1,724 0 (1,724) 0 0 0 0 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 42



25 | P a g e  
 

 

Corporate Policy and 

Central Reserves 

 

Reserve Account 

Opening 
Balance 
01 April 

2024 
 
 

£000 

Transfers 
to 

General 
Fund - 
MTFS 

Feb 2024 
£000 

2024/25 
Net 

Movement 
on 

Reserve 
 

£000 

Transfers 
to 

General 
Fund 

Feb 2025 
 

£000 

Closing 
Balance 

Forecast 
31 March 

2025 
 

£000 

2025/26 
Net 

Movement 
on 

Reserve 
 

£000 

Closing 
Balance 

Forecast 
31 March 

2026 
 

£000 

Corporate Directorate 

Reserve 
1,164 (935) 0 (229) 0 0 0 

Collection Fund 

Management 
8,154 (1,235) (2,933) 0 3,986 3,469 7,455 

Capital Financing 

Reserve 
4,530 0 (4,530) 0 0 0 0 

MTFS Reserve 2,914 (741) 255 (2,428) 0 0 0 

2025/26 

Transformation 
0 0 3,500 0 3,500 (3,500) 0 

Brighter Futures 

Transformation 

Programme 

490 (470) (20) 0 0 0 0 

Section 31 Revenue 

Grants 
14 0 0 (14) 0 0 0 

Insurance Reserve 3,098 (3,098) 0 0 0 0 0 

Elections General 132 0 0 0 132 0 132 

Brexit Funding 13 (13) 0 0 0 0 0 

HR 59 (59) 0 0 0 0 0 

Pay Structure 54 0 0 (54) 0 0 0 

Digital Solutions 

Architect 
150 0 (150) 0 0 0 0 

Corporate Policy and 

Central Reserves 

Total 

20,772 (6,551) (3,878) (2,725) 7,618 (31) 7,587 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 43



26 | P a g e  
 

 

Economy and 

Growth  

 

Reserve Account 

Opening 
Balance 
01 April 

2024 
 
 

£000 

Transfers 
to 

General 
Fund - 
MTFS 

Feb 2024 
£000 

2024/25 
Net 

Movement 
on 

Reserve 
 

£000 

Transfers 
to 

General 
Fund 

Feb 2025 
 

£000 

Closing 
Balance 

Forecast 
31 March 

2025 
 

£000 

2025/26 
Net 

Movement 
on 

Reserve 
 

£000 

Closing 
Balance 

Forecast 
31 March 

2026 
 

£000 

Place Directorate 

Reserve 
1,164 0 (612) (306) 246 (246) 0 

Investment 

(Sustainability) 
610 0 (21) (40) 549 (549) 0 

Legal Proceedings 212 0 (104) 0 108 (108) 0 

Investment Portfolio 534 (534) 0 0 0 0 0 

Homelessness & 

Housing Options - 

Revenue Grants 

129 0 (129) 0 0 0 0 

Tatton Park Trading 

Reserve 
128 (128) 0 0 0 0 0 

Economy and 

Growth Reserves 

Total 

2,777 (662) (866) (346) 903 (903) 0 

 

 

Environment and 

Communities  

 

Reserve Account 

Opening 
Balance 
01 April 

2024 
 
 

£000 

Transfers 
to 

General 
Fund - 
MTFS 

Feb 2024 
£000 

2024/25 
Net 

Movement 
on 

Reserve 
 

£000 

Transfers 
to 

General 
Fund 

Feb 2025 
 

£000 

Closing 
Balance 

Forecast 
31 March 

2025 
 

£000 

2025/26 
Net 

Movement 
on 

Reserve 
 

£000 

Closing 
Balance 

Forecast 
31 March 

2026 
 

£000 

Strategic Planning 568 (281) (287) 0 0 0 0 

Trees / Structures Risk 

Management 
139 (55) (30) 0 54 (54) 0 

Air Quality 36 0 (5) 0 31 (31) 0 

Licensing Enforcement 8 0 0 0 8 (8) 0 

Flood Water 

Management 

(Emergency Planning) 

2 0 (2) 0 0 0 0 

Neighbourhood 

Planning 
82 (41) 0 0 41 (41) 0 

Spatial Planning - 

revenue grant 
13 (13) 0 0 0 0 0 

Street Cleansing 22 0 (4) 0 18 (18) 0 

Environment and 

Communities 

Reserve Total 

870 (390) (328) (0) 152 (152) 0 

 

Page 44



27 | P a g e  
 

 

Highways and 

Transport  

 

Reserve Account 

Opening 
Balance 
01 April 

2024 
 
 

£000 

Transfers 
to 

General 
Fund - 
MTFS 

Feb 2024 
£000 

2024/25 
Net 

Movement 
on 

Reserve 
 

£000 

Transfers 
to 

General 
Fund 

Feb 2025 
 

£000 

Closing 
Balance 

Forecast 
31 March 

2025 
 

£000 

2025/26 
Net 

Movement 
on 

Reserve 
 

£000 

Closing 
Balance 

Forecast 
31 March 

2026 
 

£000 

Rail and Transport 

Integration 
385 (185) (200) 0 0 0 0 

Flood Risk and 

Adverse Weather 

Events 

400 0 0 0 400 0 400 

Highways 

Procurement Project 
104 (20) (15) 0 69 (69) 0 

LEP-Local Transport 

Body 
19 0 0 0 19 (19) 0 

Highways and 

Transport Reserve 

Total 

908 (205) (215) 0 488 (88) 400 

 

 

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



Annex B - Draft Financial Reporting Timetable 
 

 

OFFICIAL 

Report  Financial 
Cycle 

Committee When 

Service Budgets 2025/26  Planning All Service 
Committees 

March/April 
2025 

Cheshire Pension Fund update Reporting Finance Sub 
Committee  

March 2025 
(available on 

Members hub)  

Medium Term Financial Strategy 
Assumptions and Reporting Cycle 
for 2026-30 

Planning Finance Sub 
Committee 

June 2025 

Financial Management Code 
update 

Reporting Finance Sub 
Committee 

June 2025 

Financial Outturn 2024/25  Reporting All Committees / 
Council 

June 2025 
 

July 2025 
(Council) 

Final Outturn and Draft Statement 
of Accounts 2024/25 

Reporting Audit and 
Governance 

July 2025 

Companies Draft Statements of 
Accounts 2024/25 

Reporting Audit and 
Governance / 
Finance Sub 
Committee 

July 2025 
 

September 
2025 

First Financial Review 2025/26 Monitoring All Committees / 
Council 

September / 
October 2025 

 
October 2025 

(Council) 

ECW (Enterprise Cheshire & 
Warrington) First Financial 
Review 2025/26 

Monitoring Finance Sub 
Committee 

September 
2025 

Companies First Financial 
Review 2025/26 

Monitoring Finance Sub 
Committee 

September 
2025 

Cheshire Pension Fund update Reporting Finance Sub 
Committee  

June 2025 
(available on 

Members hub)  

Page 47



Annex B - Draft Financial Reporting Timetable 
 

 

OFFICIAL 

Report  Financial 
Cycle 

Committee When 

Medium Term Financial Planning 
Assumptions - update 

Planning Finance Sub 
Committee 

September 
2025 

Cheshire Pension Fund update Monitoring Finance Sub 
Committee  

September 
2025 

ECW (Enterprise Cheshire & 
Warrington) 2024/25 Accounts - 
Audit & Governance Committee 

Reporting Audit and 
Governance / 

Council 

September 
2025 

 
October 2025 

(Council) 

Medium Term Financial Strategy 
Consultation for 2026/27-2029/30 
- launch 

Planning Corporate 
Policy 

Committee 

October 2025 

Second Financial Review 
2025/26  

Monitoring All Committees / 
Council 

November 2025 
 

December 2025 
(Council) 

ECW (Enterprise Cheshire & 
Warrington) Second Financial 
Review 2025/26 

Monitoring Finance Sub 
Committee 

November 2025 

Companies Second Financial 
Review 2025/26 

Monitoring Finance Sub 
Committee 

November 2025 

Medium Term Financial Strategy 
Consultation 2026/27-2029/30 - 
committees to review their 
respective Service proposals  

Planning All Committees November 2025 

Final Statement of Accounts 
2024/25 

Reporting Audit and 
Governance / 

Council 

December 2025 
 
 

Audit of Accounts 2024/25 - 
report from A&G Committee to 
Council on main items from the 
external auditors report 

Reporting Audit and 
Governance / 

Council 

December 2025 
 
 

Companies Audited Financial 
Statements 2024/25 

Reporting Audit and 
Governance / 

Council 

December 2025 
 
 

Page 48



Annex B - Draft Financial Reporting Timetable 
 

 

OFFICIAL 

Report  Financial 
Cycle 

Committee When 

Council Tax Base 2026/27 Reporting Corporate 
Policy 

Committee / 
Council 

November 2025 
 

December 2025 
(Council) 

Financial Management Code – In 
Year update 

Monitoring Finance Sub 
Committee 

January 2026 

Cheshire Pension Fund update Monitoring Finance Sub 
Committee 

January 2026 

Third Financial Review 2025/26 Monitoring All Committees / 
Council 

January / 
February 2026  

 
February 2026 

(Council) 

ECW (Enterprise Cheshire & 
Warrington) Third Financial 
Review 2025/26 

Monitoring Finance Sub 
Committee 

January 2026 

Companies Third Financial 
Review 2025/26 

Monitoring Finance Sub 
Committee 

January 2026 

Medium Term Financial Strategy 
Consultation 2026/27 to 2029/30 
plus Provisional Settlement 
update 

Planning All Committees January / 
February 2026 

Medium Term Financial Strategy 
2026/27-2029/30 - including any 
supplementary updates 

Reporting Corporate 
Policy 

Committee / 
Council 

February 2026 

Cheshire Pension Fund update Monitoring Finance Sub 
Committee  

March 2026 

Service Budgets 2026/27 Planning Finance Sub 
Committee 

March 2026 

 

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



    

 

 

 

             

        

 Environment and Communities 

Committee 

 27 March 2025 

Cemeteries Investment Programme 

 

Report of: Philip Cresswell, Executive Director – Place 

Report Reference No:  EC/18/24-25 

Ward(s) Affected: All Cheshire East Wards 

 

For Decision or Scrutiny: Decision 

Purpose of Report 

1. Is to update Members on the work undertaken following the adoption of 
the Cemeteries Strategy and Regulations at the February 2024 
Committee.  

2. It seeks Committee approval of the Cemeteries Design guide to 
progress cemetery development in accordance with the principles of the 
adopted Strategy.  

3. It asks Members to note the approach taken to prioritising the 
investment into the Council’s cemeteries estate and seeks approval to 
move forward with the first two years of that investment. 
 

Executive Summary 

4. The Cemeteries Strategy Report provides an update on the work 
undertaken following the adoption of the Cemeteries Strategy and 
regulations in February 2024. The report seeks approval for the 
Cemeteries Design Guide to progress cemetery development in line 
with the adopted Strategy's principles.  

5. The Cemeteries Strategy covers ten sites managed by the Council's 
Bereavement Services team; the vision of the Strategy is to ensure that 
the burial needs of Cheshire East residents are met by working with 

OPEN 

Page 51 Agenda Item 6



  
  

 

 

other providers to enable this provision to be located near the 
population. The Design Guide sets standards for the appearance and 
services of Cheshire East Cemeteries, guiding future site management 
plans, development, and investment priorities. 

6. The report also includes an example management plan and outlines the 
process undertaken to develop a prioritised investment programme. 

 

Background 

7. The Council’s Cemeteries Strategy (the “Strategy”) and Regulations 
(the “Regulations”) were adopted on the 1 February 2024 by the 
Committee.  

8. The Strategy covers a total of ten sites which are managed by the 
Councils Bereavement Services team.  

These sites are; 

• Alderley Edge Cemetery, Chelford Road, Chorley SK9 7TQ 

• Congleton Cemetery, Howey Lane, Congleton, CW12 4AE 

• Coppenhall Cemetery (Closed), Reid Street, Coppenhall, CW1 3DZ 

• Crewe Cemetery, Badger Avenue, Crewe, CW1 3JG 

• Macclesfield Cemetery, Prestbury Road, Macclesfield, SK10 3BU 

• Meadow Brook Cemetery, Minshull New Road, Crewe, CW1 3PP  

The Environment and Communities Committee is recommended to:  
  

 
1. Approve the adoption of the Cemeteries Design Guide, as contained at 

Appendix A to this report. 
 

2. Note the approach taken to prioritising future investment into the Council 
controlled cemetery sites and the need for this programme to be regularly 
reviewed to ensure that it remains relevant to the immediate and longer-term 
needs of the estate. 
 

3. Approve the delivery of the Cemeteries Investment Programme for 2025/26 
and 2026/27 and delegate authority to the Director Planning and Environment, 
to take all necessary steps to implement the programme, subject to funding 
and grant availability.  

 

Page 52



  
  

 

 

• Nantwich Cemetery, Whitehouse Lane, Nantwich, CW5 6HP  

• Sandbach Cemetery, off The Hill, Sandbach, CW11 1JJ  

• Weston Cemetery, Cemetery Road, Weston, Crewe, CW2 5LQ 

• Wilmslow Cemetery, Manchester Road, Wilmslow, SK9 2LE 

9. These are located as shown in Figure 1 below  

 

Figure 1 Cemetery Locations 

10. Middlewich Cemetery, Audlem Cemetery, Nether Alderley Cemetery, 
Swettenham Cemetery and Knutsford Cemeteries are out of scope of 
this report as they are not operated by Cheshire East Council.  

11. The vision of the Strategy is to ensure that the quantitative and 
qualitative needs of the people of Cheshire East for burial are met, by 
working with other providers, both existing and potential, to enable this 
provision to be located in proximity to the population, which is often 
widely dispersed across Cheshire East’s 1,166 square kilometres. 

12. Following the adoption of the strategy a Design Guide to inform future 
management and extensions of our cemeteries has been developed 
and is contained within Appendix A of this report.  

Page 53



  
  

 

 

13. The development of the Design Guide has been informed by research 
into other similar documents published by other local authorities who 
are responsible for cemetery sites. 

14. The Cheshire East Council Cemeteries Design Guide sets the 
standards for the appearance and services of Cheshire East 
Cemeteries. It guides future site management plans, development, and 
investment priorities, including site expansions.  

15. The guide addresses constraints in cemetery design, such as health 
and safety legislation, planning, and accessibility. It emphasises 
compliance with the Local Authorities’ Cemeteries Order (1977) and 
equalities legislation to ensure accessible infrastructure. 

16. Health and Safety is paramount, with the council responsible for the 

safety of all individuals (staff and members of the public) working within 

and attending these sites. All site development and operational activities 

must comply with relevant health and safety legislation, including, but 

not limited to the Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974.  

 

17. The document prioritises investment in cemetery development based on 

a hierarchy of constraints, focusing on creating a safe and accessible 

environment, and achieving legislative compliance. It also highlights the 

importance of maintaining green spaces, promoting sustainable 

development, and conserving heritage features. 

18. The Design Guide will be used in the development of management 
plans for each cemetery site.  Site management plans will inform and 
promote consistent approaches to site maintenance, safeguarding and 
unlocking capacity and future prioritised investment at each location.  

19. An example management plan (Congleton Cemetery) is enclosed with 
in Appendix B of this report. 

20. In order to inform an initial investment programme desk top reviews and 
site surveys of each cemetery have been undertaken to establish a 
baseline of asset condition and need.  This process has focussed on 
two aspects, firstly maintenance and upkeep of existing infrastructure 
and secondly requirements for future expansion of capacity. 

21. In order that all requirements identified across the ten sites can be 
considered equitably a prioritisation matrix has been developed, which 
assigns scores against pre-determined criteria as follows; 

22. Site works within the investment programme have been categorised 
using the following criteria: 
 

Page 54



  
  

 

 

• Health & Safety Management 

• Accessibility 

• Cremator Maintenance 

• Capacity 

• Inclusivity 

• Grant Support 

• Operational need 

• Business development 

• Biodiversity enhancement 

• Aesthetic enhancement 
 

23. In order to break down the investment into manageable and deliverable 
programmes of work and in the context of the Council’s current financial 
position, these have then been split into delivery time bands.  Where 
needed this has considered for instance the known timings for need for 
specific cemetery extensions for instance. 

24. The investment periods have been split into several phases that focus 
on an initial one to two year period to factor business capacity and 
safety critical works, along with a two to four and a five to ten year 
period that will align with developmental need in the longer term for 
sites where capacity issues are not of immediate concern. 

25. Clearly the prioritised investment programme is relevant at the point in 
time that it is produced however it will be necessary to undertake 
regular reviews to ensure that continues to be so, when considering the 
likes of asset condition, market forces and so forth. 

26. The focus therefore will be to consider investment programme in two 
yearly cycles, with committee approval sought to move forward with the 
first two years of investment with a further report brought back in due 
course setting out future years priorities. 

27. In 2025/26 and 2026/27 a total of £939k is proposed to be spent. 
Notable proposed priorities include: 

• Initial site extension works at Alderley Edge, Sandbach, and Weston 
Cemetery. 

• Memorial Safety works at Alderley Edge, Crewe, Macclesfield, 
Nantwich, Sandbach, and Wilmslow Cemetery 

• Drainage works at Meadow Brook Cemetery with an initial drainage 
survey at Congleton Cemetery. 

•  Road repair/ resurfacing works at Crewe and Wilmslow Cemetery. 

Page 55



  
  

 

 

28. The site management plans once fully developed will be published to 
the relevant sections of the Council’s bereavement services webpage 
so that all residents and users have a clear understanding of the current 
and future proposals for their local site. 

29. The investment programme will also be published to the same area of 
the Council’s website and annual updates will be offered as to the 
progress against its delivery.  These updates will be shared informally 
with the Committee. 

Consultation and Engagement 
 

30. The consultation on the Strategy and Regulations was undertaken 

between 24th October and 23rd December 2022 with feedback taken 

from anyone who wished to respond. Cemeteries Strategy & 

Regulations Consultation 2022 - Full report 

 

31. The Design Guide has been influenced by the consultation’s comments 

surrounding continuing to create burial provision at all cemeteries, 

ensuring accessibility and supporting environmental sustainability. 

32. All of the feedback has been used in further developing the Strategy 
and Regulations adopted at the Feb 2024 committee. 

 

Reasons for Recommendations 

33. The proposal supports the Effective an Enabling Council Commitment 

which states that we are addressing our challenges with a focus on 

delivering value for money, continuous improvement and better 

outcomes for Cheshire East’s residents. We recognise that acting with 

integrity builds trust, enabling collaboration to deliver our shared 

ambitions. 

Other Options Considered 

34. The Committee could resolve not to adopt the proposed Cemeteries 
Design Guide or move forward with a prioritised investment programme 
in which case the practical aspects of managing, maintaining and 
developing our cemeteries estate would continue without clear and 
consistent guiding principles.  

  

Page 56

https://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/documents/s114548/Appendix%20A%20Cemeteries%20Consultation%20Report.pdf
https://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/documents/s114548/Appendix%20A%20Cemeteries%20Consultation%20Report.pdf


  
  

 

 

Implications and Comments 

Monitoring Officer/Legal 

35. The management of Cemeteries is a statutory function under the Local 
Government Act 1972, and the Local Authority Cemeteries Order 1977 
which gives the Council broad powers when it comes to day-to-day 
management, layout, maintenance and erection of memorials.   

36. Regulations made for the management of Cemeteries should be 
proportionate to achieve their aim, and should not disadvantage 
particular groups, or one particular group in their application.  

37. The Regulations as drawn are proportionate and do not on the face of it 
disadvantage any one group, but in their application the Council will 
need to be alive to cultural sensitivities around memorials and what is, 
or is not appropriate in a particular setting.   Cemeteries are however 
public places where a broad cross section of society will want or need 
access, and it may be necessary to impinge upon cultural sensitives at 
a particular setting.  If required, this should be supportable by reference 
to a legitimate aim.    

Section 151 Officer/Finance 

38. The prioritised investment plan has been based on cost estimates, 
profiled over a number of years from 2025/26 onwards. Based on the 
majority of schemes requiring capital borrowing upfront, an affordable 
programme has been designed to utilise the yearly receipts from the 
environmental charge to fund the cost of borrowing.   

39. The initial four year period of investment is estimated at £0.939m, the 
cost of borrowing is £56k p.a. (assumed 4.71% interest over 25 year 
payback). The annual receipts from the environmental charge are 
estimated at £0.2m which will be used to fund the annual cost of 
borrowing.  

40. It is assumed that £124k of the investment proposals will be funded 
outright by the annual receipts of the environmental charge in 2025/26. 
Annual fee increases will take into account the additional costs of 
investment to ensure that the investment programme continues to be 
affordable.   

41. Future year capital investment will seek section 106 and grant 
contributions where available and the total investment will need to align 
with the available receipts from the environmental charge to ensure the 
borrowing costs of the programme are fully funded.  

Page 57



  
  

 

 

42.  As the scheme would be forward funded by borrowing this would need 
to be presented to the Capital Board for review and recommendation 
taken forward for approval in line with the Constitution. 

Policy 

43. The proposal primarily supports the commitments of the Cheshire East 

Plan 2025-29 as shown in Table 1: 

Commitment 1: 
Unlocking Prosperity 
for all 

We want to build on our 
strengths and maximise 
the opportunities of our 
location and connectivity; 
our industry, commerce, 
agriculture and heritage. 

 

Commitment 2: 
Improving Health and 
Wellbeing 

Cheshire East is a great 
place for children, young 
people and adults. We 
want it to be an even 
better one, enabling 
people to live a healthier, 
longer life; with good 
mental, physical and 
financial wellbeing; living 
independently; feeling 
safe and enjoying the 
place where they live. 

 

Commitment 3: An 
Effective and Enabling 
Council 

We are addressing our 
challenges with a focus 
on delivering value for 
money, continuous 
improvement and better 
outcomes for Cheshire 
East’s residents. We 
recognise that acting with 
integrity builds trust, 
enabling collaboration to 
deliver our shared 
ambitions. 

 

Table 1: Cheshire East Plan commitments 

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion 

44. A full Equality Impact Assessment has been undertaken associated with 
the Strategy and regulation updated and included with in the 
background papers of this report. 

Human Resources 

45. The delivery of the investment programme will be undertaken via 
existing staff resources supplemented where appropriate with additional 
project management and specialist technical resource. 

Risk Management 

46. Table 2 sets out the key risks to the implementation of the service 
review and ongoing mitigating actions taken; 

  

Page 58



  
  

 

 

Risk Mitigating Actions 
Lack of internal resource to develop 
site management plans and 
Investment Programme leading to 
delays 

Proposal to outsource onward 
development post Strategy adoption to a 
suitably qualified consultant. 

Adverse public reaction to adoption 
and subsequent implementation of 
updated Cemetery Regulations, in 
particular by specific communities 

Proactive and clear communications 
campaign covering all communities in 
advance of any formal implementation. 
Grace period offered for any changes 

Lack of funding for all investments 
needed across cemetery sites in scope 

Development of a long term and 
prioritised Cemeteries Investment 
Programme, informed by individual site 
management plans, to establish where 
this investment will be required and how it 
could be funded 

Table 2: summary of key risks and proposed mitigations  

 

Rural Communities 

47. The revised strategy proposes a move away from the previous position 
of having two core cemeteries at Crewe and Macclesfield to ensuring 
that more local provision is maintained for longer. The proposed 
Strategy for adoption is considered of greater benefit for rural 
communities, as it maintains current travel distances and times to their 
nearest cemetery. 

Children and Young People including Cared for Children, care leavers and 
Children with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND) 

48. There are no specific impacts on children and young people as a result 
of this report. 

Public Health 

49. There are no specific impacts on public health as a result of this report. 

Climate Change 

50. This proposal will not have a material impact on the council’s carbon 
agenda. 

  

Page 59



  
  

 

 

Access to Information 

Contact Officer: Ralph Kemp, Head of Environmental Services 

Ralph.kemp@cheshireeast.gov.uk  

Mark Darbyshire, Bereavement Services Manager  

Mark.darbyshire@cheshireeast.gov.uk  

Appendices: Appendix A – Cemeteries Design Guide (for approval) 

Appendix B – Example Site Management Plan 
(Congleton Cemetery) 

Appendix C – Investment Programme Years 1-4  (as 
prioritised) 
 

Background 
Papers: 

Cemeteries Strategy : 12-march-1-cec-cemetery-
strategy-approved-2024.pdf 

Cemeteries Regulations:  Cemetery Regulations 
Approved 2024 

Public consultation report:  Cemeteries Strategy & 
Regulations Consultation 2022 - Full report 

Equality Impact Assessment: Found alongside the 
Appendices of the Report 

 
 

Page 60

mailto:Ralph.kemp@cheshireeast.gov.uk
mailto:Mark.darbyshire@cheshireeast.gov.uk
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/pdf/bereavement-services/12-march-1-cec-cemetery-strategy-approved-2024.pdf
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/pdf/bereavement-services/12-march-1-cec-cemetery-strategy-approved-2024.pdf
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/pdf/bereavement-services/cemetery-regulation-approved-2024.pdf
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/pdf/bereavement-services/cemetery-regulation-approved-2024.pdf
https://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/documents/s114548/Appendix%20A%20Cemeteries%20Consultation%20Report.pdf
https://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/documents/s114548/Appendix%20A%20Cemeteries%20Consultation%20Report.pdf


1 
 

 

 

 

 

Cemeteries Design 

Guide 

Page 61



2 
 

Table of Contents 
1. Introduction ............................................................................................................ 3 

2. Constraints to Cemeteries Design .......................................................................... 3 

3. Prioritised investment ............................................................................................. 5 

4. Maintenance ........................................................................................................... 6 

5. Design Principles (Respect, Heritage, Sustainability, Ecology) .............................. 7 

6. Cemetery Design.................................................................................................... 7 

Pathways ............................................................................................................. 7 

Waste & Cleanliness .......................................................................................... 10 

Memorials .......................................................................................................... 10 

Seating .............................................................................................................. 10 

Wall of Remembrance ....................................................................................... 12 

Habitat Boxes .................................................................................................... 11 

Additional memorialisation offers ....................................................................... 12 

Zoning (burial plots, memorial areas, green / ecological spaces) ...................... 13 

Use of native plants and sustainable landscaping practices .............................. 14 

Water supply and irrigation systems .................................................................. 14 

Maintenance facilities and storage ..................................................................... 14 

 

  

Page 62



3 
 

1. Introduction 
 
This document has been produced to define the standard to which a Cheshire East 
Cemetery should meet and what it will deliver for residents of the borough. It will 
define how a Cheshire East Cemetery should look like which will inform the future 
site management plans for each site, or geographical grouping of sites. 
 
The site management plans will be developed, in priority order, which will guide 
future development and investment at each cemetery. This would include the 
requirement for expansion of sites and as to when it would be appropriate for this 
need to be considered. 
 
This is a live document managed in collaboration with the bereavement services 
operational leads and is subject to annual review towards continued service delivery 
improvement. 
 

 
 

2. Constraints to Cemeteries Design 
 
Before defining the desired standard of a Cheshire East Cemetery, the constraints to 
cemeteries design will be presented. The various constraints relate to health and 
safety legislation, planning and accessibility considerations.  
 
  

Page 63



4 
 

Local Authorities’ Cemeteries Order (1977)  
 
Cheshire East Council must adhere to the Local Authorities’ Cemeteries Order 
(1977) which covers different aspects of site planning and development and also 
covers the management and registration of burial rights and disinterment.  
 
Accessibility and Equality 
 
In accordance with equalities legislation, the design of built infrastructure within the 
cemetery sites must provide an appropriately accessible environment inclusive of 
pathways, parking resources and access to chapel and office infrastructure.   
Where feasible, the design and implementation of built infrastructure should align 
with current accessibility guidelines from the Department of Transports ‘Inclusive 
Mobility A Guide to Best Practice on Access to Pedestrian and Transport 
Infrastructure’.  
 
Health and Safety Guidelines 
 
Acting as the Burial Authority, the council is responsible for the safety of site staff 
and visitors to the cemeteries and within their associated built infrastructure.  All 
decision making around site development and operational activities undertaken 
onsite must comply with current UK health and safety legislation.   
 
Notable legal frameworks relevant to activities undertaken within the cemeteries 
portfolio include the Health and Safety at work Act (1974) and the Management of 
Health and Safety at work Regulations (1999).  Other notable regulatory frameworks 
to be implemented where necessary would include the Construction, Design & 
Management Regulations (2015).  
 
The council is legally obligated to ensure all parties undertaking works within the 
cemeteries portfolio cooperate towards ensuring matters of health and safety are 
managed appropriately to protect service staff and visitors alike. 
 
The safety of operational staff members and any contractual resource along with 
service users and members of the public is to be underpinned within operational 
decision making to limit the potential for accidents, injury and/or any reputational 
damage. Core areas of risk include memorial safety. 
 
Planning and permitting processes 
 
All development within the cemeteries is subject to local planning law with the 
requirement to ensure all proposals inclusive of building creation or refurbishment 
along with any proposal to extend the current footprint of a cemetery boundary to 
increase burial plot capacity are to be submitted for consideration by the council’s 
planning authority.  

Page 64

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1044542/inclusive-mobility-a-guide-to-best-practice-on-access-to-pedestrian-and-transport-infrastructure.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1044542/inclusive-mobility-a-guide-to-best-practice-on-access-to-pedestrian-and-transport-infrastructure.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1044542/inclusive-mobility-a-guide-to-best-practice-on-access-to-pedestrian-and-transport-infrastructure.pdf


5 
 

 
 

3. Prioritised investment 
 
Development within each cemetery into the desired standard will be prioritised 
according to the below hierarchy which ranks the design constraints into an order of 
importance. 
 
Ranking factors 
 
1) Health and safety / Legislative compliance 

a. Cemeteries > Risk assessed approach prioritizing severest outcomes   
i. Memorials & headstone testing 
ii. Tree risk management 
iii. Grave excavation 
iv. Traffic management 

b. Crematoria > Risk assessed approach prioritizing severest outcomes   
i. Cremator operation 
ii. Mercury abatement 
iii. Non carbon cremator options 

c. Equalities legislation 
i. Accessible infrastructure 

1. Chapels & buildings 
2. Car parks 
3. Cemetery & memorial pathways 

 
2) Commercial and reputational impact 

a. Site use and operational functionality 
i. Site orientation / plot allocation 

Page 65



6 
 

b. Service continuity and ongoing plot capacity 
i. Preserving plot capacity 
ii. Potential for expansion 

c. Customer service focus 
i. Administrative office support 
ii. Onsite facilities 

d. Conservation of heritage features 
i. Chapels & other listed buildings 
ii. Antique headstones and memorials 
iii. Topographical features 

e. Conservation of green infrastructure 
i. Veteran trees and ornamental beds 
 

3) Sustainability  
a. Operational efficiencies 

i. Crematoria equipment 
ii. Fleet & operational vehicles 
iii. Eco burial 

b. Biodiversity 
i.  Landscaping 

 
4) Public accessibility & amenity 

 

4. Maintenance 
 
All cemeteries’ grounds maintenance is to be carried out according to the council’s 
published Green Spaces Maintenance Standards Policy. The policy can be found 
here:  Maintaining our green spaces and the level of maintenance is defined within 
the cemeteries section of the policy.  This will include the maintenance of hard 
surfaces within the Cemeteries such as the footpaths. 
 

 

Page 66

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/leisure,_culture_and_tourism/parks_and_gardens/maintaining-our-green-spaces.aspx#:~:text=The%20policy%20came%20into%20effect%20on%201%20April,fields%2C%20cemeteries%2C%20and%20green%20spaces%20within%20housing%20estates.


7 
 

5. Design Principles (Respect, Heritage, Sustainability, Ecology) 
 
Integration with broader regional green space 
 
Where feasible management practices should seek to balance the aesthetic and 
operational qualities of our cemeteries to offer facilities that are visually appealing, 
clean and safe.  
 
Management practices should recognise the need to conserve and promote core 
heritage features that define the historic nature of the cemeteries alongside the 
interspersed elements of veteran tree planting and open green space that serve an 
amenity role. 
 
The presence of green spaces in urban areas perform a vital function for nature 
conservation and biodiversity enhancement and have the potential to contribute 
towards Public Health and corporate climate mitigation objectives relating to 
improved air quality, flood mitigation and diminishment of urban heat island effect. 
 
Promoting sustainable development –  
 
Where feasible operational practices throughout the cemeteries should promote 
sustainable activity in line with the council's corporate objectives around climate 
mitigation.  
 
Consideration should extend to the formulation of landscape maintenance schedules 
and other or operational procedures including the sourcing of materials utilised for 
the upkeep of site infrastructure and commercial memorialisation offers. 

 

6. Cemetery Design 
 
Pathways  
 
Pathways in cemeteries ensure visitors and mourners can navigate the space safely 
and comfortably and are to be installed to ensure effective site coverage factoring 
current and future assume need. 
 
Pathways should provide access to Chapels and offices / site operational & storage 
compounds / memorialisation & ashes plots / current grave plots / historic grave plots 
/ car parking areas 
 
The different pathway types and the criteria for when each type should be used are 
outlined below:  
 
Tarmac: Tarmac pathways offer a durable option and are suitable for high-traffic 
areas allowing inclusive access for wheelchair users or those using walking aids or 
for individuals using push chairs of buggies. Tarmac is a stark contrast to the natural 
environment which needs to be considered. 

Page 67



8 
 

Tarmac should only be used when a need exists for smooth transitional access to 
heavily trafficked areas including car parks, chapels and crematorium facilities and 
other communal remembrance spaces.   
 
Fig 1: Tarmac pathway connecting heavily trafficked route between Crewe 
Crematorium and car parking area 
 

 
 
Grit/ Limestone: Pathways comprised of a consolidated layer of finely graded 
natural stones offer a traditional and clearly defined aesthetic. Regular footfall helps 
consolidate the material to seal the path surface and suppress noxious weed growth. 
 
While a more costly option that mown grass pathways, this material offers a more 
durable surface allowing inclusive access for wheelchair users or those using 
walking aids.  This may also be suitable as an intermediary pathway type for 
designated access for site operatives to undertake operational duties. 
 
Grit/Limestone pathways should be deployed in more heavily trafficked areas at core 
facilities.  Sites with sufficient remnant burial capacity to ensure sufficient levels of 
usage to assist with consolidation and suppression of weed growth.   
 
Typical functionality to include routes to parking areas / ornamental features of 
memorial planting beds and remembrance gardens. May also include operational 
routes where the frequent passage of heavy wheeled equipment would diminish the 
surface quality of grass trackways 
 
Paved- Pathways constructed using brick or concrete pavers offer a stable and even 
surface allowing inclusive access for wheelchair users or those using walking aids 
Paved pathways are good for heavily trafficked areas at core facilities along with 
sites with sufficient remaining burial capacity to ensure sufficient levels of usage to 
justify elevated installation costs. 

Page 68



9 
 

Can be used when there is a need for ornamental features linked to memorial 
planting beds, walled gardens of remembrance and other communal remembrance 
spaces.   
 
Typical applications would include routes to parking areas, ornamental feature of 
memorial planting beds and remembrance garden kerb set features. 
 
Fig 2: Paved memorialisation area at Crewe main cemetery 

 
 
Mown Pathways- Grass pathways offer a naturalised appearance and are a cost-
effective option to provide access for less frequently utilised areas of site. These 
path types require regular mowing and have the potential to become muddy and 
slippery in wet conditions. 
 
While being a more costly variant, the addition of mesh panels should be considered 
where there is a need to enhance accessibility to the infirm or for wheelchair users 
for well utilised areas of site that are prone to excessive waterlogging or that are 
become muddy and impassable during wetter periods to enhance the utility of grass 
pathways. 
 
Mown pathways should be used in lower tier cemeteries with lower burial capacity 
and lesser expected visitor attendance.  
 
Linkage with Car Parks: Pathways directly connected to car parking areas should 
offer smooth transitions and a suitably robust surface type to accommodate users 
with mobility constraints or individuals with push chairs and prams.  
 
Where necessary ramps should be provided to counter any significant elevation 
changes and accessible parking bays should be included on site. 
  

Page 69



10 
 

Waste & Cleanliness 
 
Establish a regular schedule for waste collection to prevent overflow and maintain 
cleanliness. Increase the frequency during peak visitation times, such as holidays 
and special events. 
 
Ensure bins are kept clean and in good condition. Replace damaged bins promptly 
to maintain a tidy appearance and prevent any health hazards. 
 
Bins to be placed strategically at convenient locations throughout the cemetery, such 
as near entrances, parking areas, and along main pathways. Ensure they are easily 
accessible for visitors and maintenance staff. Sympathetic placement with the 
appropriate materials. 
 

 
 
Memorials 
 
Memorialisation offers aim to ensure that placement is undertaken in a coordinated 
manner in an effort to limit undue burden for site upkeep and maintenance whist 
being in accordance with the Cheshire East Cemeteries Regulations. 
 
There are different types of memorialisation example which can be applied to a 
Cheshire East Cemetery. 
 
Seating 
 
Wooden Memorial Seats: A wooden memorial bench with an inscribed plaque, or 
timber routed inscription. Individual benches will be utilised to place multiple 
memorialisation inscriptions.  Seats located in the Garden of Remembrance can 
have cremated remains placed nearby.  These wooden memorial benches are to be 
placed in pre-determined locations and can be leased for a set 5 or 10 year period.  

Page 70

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/pdf/bereavement-services/cemetery-regulation-approved-2024.pdf


11 
 

Existing wooden benches, when they reach end of life, will be removed and where 
possible commemorative plaques returned, with the owner given the opportunity to 
further commemorate in the cemetery. 
 
Existing Stone Memorial Seats: Due to long term stability and maintenance the 
authority is discontinuing the sale of stone benches for placement within our 
cemeteries. Existing stone benches will remain until end of life and then they will be 
removed. 
 
The individual site management plans will determine the locations for benches. 
 

 
 
Habitat Boxes 
 
Habitat boxes can be leased for 3, 6 or 10 years and are to be allocated based on a 
pre determined location throughout woodland planting. Boxes will be placed 
considering best practice factoring directional placement of the box opening, height 
of placement and proximity to other boxes to ensure an optimal nesting environment 
for the target species that choose to nest in them. 
 
The individual site management plans will determine the locations of habitat boxes. 
 
The offering could include Bat boxes, Bird boxes, Bug boxes/hotels & Butterfly 
havens.  
 
  

Page 71



12 
 

Wall of Remembrance 
 
The authority will seek to establish or maintain walls of remembrance within each of 
our cemeteries. Where possible, existing structures will be utilised. These may be in 
conjunction with areas of ash burial, sustainable interment beds and, or woodland/ 
wildflower commemorative areas. 
 

 
 
Additional memorialisation offers 
 
New initiatives in line with other bereavement service providers that aim to form a 
uniform approach to memorialisation focused on centralised locations which where 
possible shared features. These would be designed within the site layout 
management plan to determine where additional memorialisation can be located.  
 

• Cremation kerbs 

• Cremation garden 

• Rose Garden 

• Private Gardens 

• Willow & Bitch Trees: Memorials would be offered on a communal focal point, 
board or wall with linkage to a tree placed withing a pre-determined planting 
area factoring   

• Boulder memorials 

• Shrub Garden Scatterings 

• Wildflower Meadow Scatterings 

• Memorials trees and Steel Sculptures: Tree of life features 
 

Page 72



13 
 

Zoning (burial plots, memorial areas, green / ecological spaces) 
 
Individual sites are to be zoned to reflect core features that would include: 
 
a. Remaining plot capacity for traditional burials 
b. Areas assigned for ash interment 
c. Areas of communal memorialisation inclusive of  
d. Topographical constraints including drainage aspects and the presence of 

underground and/or overhead services & utilities  
e. Scope for commercial diversification to include areas to be assigned for eco 

and woodland burial 
f. Wilderness zones . Consideration will be given to improving biodiversity. 
 
Zoning Considerations 

 
Burial Plots:  Plot utilisation will require appropriate forms of pedestrian access 
along with service routes to fulfil operational needs.   
 
Cultural and religious practices of the community should be factored into this process 
to include adequate provision of any bespoke sections as necessary. 
 
Memorial Areas: Dedicated spaces for memorials and monuments offer the ability 
to localise maintenance efforts and are a more easily managed site resource.  
 
Ecological Spaces: Integrated green spaces including lawns, gardens, meadows, 
hedges, shrub beds and veteran woodland planting enhance the aesthetic appeal of 
our cemeteries and contribute to localised biodiversity enhancement within the 
cemetery through their function as habitat for local wildlife.    
 
Future site development that necessitates the loss of such features should factor the 
need for replacement ensuring areas of mitigatory planting compliment the existing 
landscape composition in terms of species and habitat type.    
 
Eco-Burial Areas and Wilderness Zones 
 
Eco-Burial Areas require allocation of designated plot aeras where biodegradable 
materials and minimal environmental impact are prioritized. These areas can be 
integrated into natural landscapes such as woodlands or meadows to promote 
sustainability. 
 
Wilderness Zones within the cemetery would offer localised biodiversity 
enhancement and contributing to a broader wildlife presence throughout the 
remainder of the site in support of the council's ecological sustainability aims.  These 
areas should be managed with minimal human intervention, allowing natural 
processes to occur and providing habitats for a variety of birds, small mammals and 
insect species. 

  

Page 73



14 
 

Use of native plants and sustainable landscaping practices 
 
Incorporate greater percentages of perennials to offer longer term planting stock with 
selective and limited addition of annual planting to offer a varied aesthetic from 
season to season and reduction in labour to replant entire beds and borders.  
 

 
 
Water supply and irrigation systems 
 
All water sources within the cemetery are accessible for all visitors who wish to water 
graveside flower arrangements and for the purpose of light cleansing of memorials or 
headstones. 
 
Water taps should be situated at convenient and accessible locations for all 
cemetery users. 
 
Water points should be clearly sign posted to guide visitors along with any relevant 
safety information. 
 
Maintenance facilities and storage 
 
Appropriate areas will be screened for maintenance and storage areas. Some 
cemeteries will have dedicated operational areas. Excess soil from grave 
excavations will be dealt with in accordance with the site managements plans for 
each site. 
 

Page 74



 
 

pg. 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CONGLETON CEMETERY  

MANAGEMENT PLAN 

2026 - 2036 

Version 1.0 

Status: Draft | Approved: TBD | Review: February 2026 

  

 

Page 75



 
 

pg. 2 

Contents 
1. Introduction……….…………………….……………………………………….3 

2. Site description & general overview………………………….……………….3 

3. Summary of residual capacity…………………………………………………5 

4. Baseline site conditioning report…………………………..…………………..7 

5. Capital Investment Plan …………..………………………………………….10 

6. Landscape maintenance ………………………………………………..….11 
       

List of figures 

• Figure 1 – Site Masterplan - proposed plot orientation & core site features 

• Figure 2 – Current extent of plot and remembrance area utilisation 

• Plate 1 - Current extent of lawn grave area utilisation 

• Plate 2 - Heavy clay soil type with observable water logging 

• Plate 3 - Site office complex and site entrance gates 

• Plates 4 & 5 - Wrought iron site gates inclusive of pedestrian access gate 

• Plate 6 - Example section of dilapidated post and rail fencing 

• Plates 7 & 8 - Site entrance signage & guidance for visitor parking 

• Figure 3 - Congleton Capital Investment plan 

• Figure 4  - Landscape maintenance typology for cemetery sites 

• Figure 5 - Extent of current landscape maintenance areas 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

CHANGE LOG & VERSION CONTROL 
This document is subject to a rolling annual review with key amendments approved 

through current schemes of delegation linked subordinated from the Head of 

Environmental Services. 

Version Approval 
date 

Author Description 

v1.0  P.Brightwell Initial release of the Management Plan 

    
    

    

    

    

1. Introduction 

 

Page 76



 
 

pg. 3 

1.1 Background to this plan 

Congleton Cemetery has been operating since May 2004 and provides a place for 

local burial and remembrance.   

This management plan outlines the council’s current strategy for the management of 

its bereavement services at Congleton Cemetery factoring the councils corporate 

aims as outlined in the current Cemeteries Strategy as adopted in April of 2024.  This 

management plans reflects the aims of the strategy to offer a management vision of 

bereavement services in the short, medium, and longer term in Cheshire East.  The 

current Cemeteries Strategy as adopted in February 2024 can be seen here: 

Cemetery and crematoria rules 

This plan outlines the current baseline position of the cemetery portfolio and 

highlights a number of recommendations to be implemented over the series of 

timescales outlined in the councils adopted Cemeteries strategy.   

The proposals contained within this Management plan are summarised in this format 

to offer a prioritised investment matrix that is aligned with the council’s medium term 

financial strategy (MTFS).   

This process ensures sustainable management practices that deliver a quality 

customer experience for the benefit of the local communities who engage with the 

council’s bereavement services. 

 

2. Site description / general overview 

Congleton Cemetery is situated on Howey Lane in Congleton and covers 

approximately 3.18 acres. The cemetery is inter-denominational and provides lawn 

graves, a children’s section and a terraced garden for cremated remains. Access to 

the site at its northern most point is via Howey Lane and is the single access point to 

the site. 

The cemetery has an open appearance owing to the predominance of the southern 

extent that is allocated as an area of lawn graves assigned for traditional burials.  

The central area adjoining of the site consist of terraced ashes garden feature with 

an adjoining Children’s burial section.  To the north adjoining the site entrance is a 

site office and visitor parking area.    

The site adjoins the older St Peters churchyard to the north that does not form part of 

the councils estate and is bordered in its entirety by semi mature hedgerows with 

sporadic deciduous tree planting.  The site is secured with a mixture of hedgerow 

along with post and rail fencing around the majority of its perimeter, with more formal 

wrought iron spear top fencing around the site entrance gates.  

The site is bordered along its eastern flank by an open expanse of grassland, with 

housing development along the southern and western boundaries.   

Page 77

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/register-office/bereavement-services/cemetery-and-crematoria-rules.aspx


 
 

pg. 4 

The site has partial development of the proposed internal road network which 

currently extends from the site entrance and car parking complex south into the 

central portion of the site in accordance with the sites development Masterplan.   

This roadway network is currently incomplete and subject to continuation to allow 

vehicular access to plot areas in the southern portion of the site that are to be used 

for further formal burials as the lawn grave area is extended.   

At the north of the cemetery adjoining the site entrance is an office and car parking 

area that includes approximately ten parking spaces for visitors, with two bays for 

staff and three marked disabled parking bays. Vehicular access to members of the 

public is restricted beyond this point by the use of moveable traffic bollards.  

Mature tree planting is present around the perimeter and are periodically monitored 

as part of the councils Tree Risk Management Strategy (TRMS) to ensure they 

remain in generally good health in an effort to minimise the risk of personal injury.  

The tree planting is comprised of a mixture of deciduous species that enhance the 

biodiversity value of the site.  

No trees are covered by tree preservation orders nor is the site within a conservation 

area.  

The cemetery is currently broadly divided into three distinct sections that include the 

Terraced gardens for cremated remains, the Children’s section and the lawn grave 

sections for conventional burials. The site Masterplan proposes that the site will 

ultimately be partitioned into approximately fifteen distinct sections as the site 

undergoes further development as burials and ashes interments progress.  

The current sections are separated by a mixture of tarmac and compacted gravel 

pathways to allow pedestrian access to the burial and interment areas, with roadway 

access partitioned with moveable bollards to allow restrictive access for site staff to 

the operational areas. 

Fig 1: Site Masterplan - proposed plot orientation & core site features 

 

Page 78



 
 

pg. 5 

3. Summary of residual capacity 

3.1 Current Provision 

The site is currently assumed to have approximately 85% remaining burial capacity 

that would take any consideration of the fill date beyond the analysis period for the 

purpose of this Management plan.   

A portion of the lawn grave area has been developed on the sites internal northerly 

facing flank along the western boundary.  This area is estimated that to have utilised 

approximately 15% of the proposed grave capacity, with an assumed 50% of the 

allocated Children’s grave plot capacity utilised to date.   

Fig 2. Current extent of plot and remembrance area utilisation 

 

Ground conditions across the lawn grave area were heavily saturated at the time of 

visiting (January 2025).  Anecdotal reports suggest the presence of historic field 

drains in this area, which may explain the current drainage issues.   

Any derelict or damaged drains that are contributing to the poor drainage in this area 

would benefit from remediation to prevent operational complications in the future. 

Plate 1. Current extent of lawn grave area utilisation 

 

Page 79



 
 

pg. 6 

3.2 Future expansion / utilisation 

The site Masterplan indicates further available plot capacity for the current lawn 

grave area and utilisation of the land beyond the extent of the current series of grave 

plots will require installation of the next phase of the roadway network that will 

provide operational access as the current grave plot area is extended eastwards.  

Current drainage issues will need resolving to address excessive ground water 

saturation that is present throughout the lawn grave area.  Anecdotal reports suggest 

the presence of field drains in this area that are suspected to have fallen into a state 

of disrepair.   

The failure of any historic drainage infrastructure would explain the observed 

saturation of the Lawn grave section in conjunction with the heavy clay soil material 

that is being disturbed at the toe of the internal flank as the grave plots are utilised 

that could further restrict watershed.  

The saturated ground presents difficulties in terms of operational access and can 

incur additional operating cost to pump accumulated ground water from freshly 

excavated grave plots.  

3.3 Lawn grave area - Recommendations 

Future plot utilisation within the lawn grave areas is contingent on resolution of 

current ground water saturation issues along with further expansion of the road 

network to provide operational access.  

The ground in this area is comprised of a heavy clay soil structure which in of itself 

has the potential to impede drainage.   

At the time of visiting (Jan 2025), the southerly extent of the site on the large internal 

northerly facing flank, the ground was heavily saturated.  Anecdotal reports suggest 

the presence of field drains in this area that are assumed would have discharged on 

the sites western flank coinciding with the area where the current phase of grave plot 

utilisation has commenced.  Ground investigation of this area is recommended in lieu 

of any supporting evidence for drainage infrastructure in this area   

Plate 2. Heavy clay soil type with observable water logging 

 

Page 80



 
 

pg. 7 

 

3.4 Terraced Memorial Garden area - Recommendations 

The terraced Memorial Garden section is nearing capacity suggesting the need to 

either consider expansion of the terracing further up the flank or for the transition to 

an alternative form of memorialisation elsewhere onsite. 

Possible alternatives to extend the offer for a communal ashes memorialisation 

feature at Congleton Cemetery could include allocation of further ashes plots onsite, 

or for a sustainable ashes plot that could perpetuate site capacity beyond that to be 

expected for traditional singular ashes interment plots. 

 
4.0 Baseline conditioning report 

Built Infrastructure 

 

4.1 Site offices 

The office building opposite the site entrance gates is in good order with no 

observable or logged maintenance issues.  The building contains a roller shuttered 

garage unit and has a wrought iron fenced compound area at the rear that are 

currently used for storage of materials and equipment by the operational site staff. 

Plate 3. Site office complex and site entrance gates  

 

 

4.2 Site chapels 

Not applicable for Congleton Cemetery. 

 

4.3 Crematoriums 

Not applicable for Congleton Cemetery. 

Page 81



 
 

pg. 8 

Peripheral Infrastructure 

4.4 Access to the cemetery and perimeter fencing 

The site is accessed through a large ornamental wrought iron gate located on Howey 

Lane, which is permanently left open.  The gates inclusive of hinges and gate posts 

appeared in overall good condition and appearance. 

Plates 4 & 5.  Ornamental site gates inclusive of pedestrian access gate. 

 

4.5 Site access - Recommendations  

The gates should be subject to routine maintenance to ensure the hinges remain 

unseized and in good working order.   

The gates would benefit from being cleansed and potentially repainted to ensure a 

professional and welcome appearance to the cemetery. 

 

4.6 Perimeter fencing  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Most of the site perimeter is ringed by an aging wooden post and rail fencing which 

in places has fallen into a state of dilapidation and is in need of repair.    

One such damaged section runs alongside the site access road beyond the visitor 

car park and represents a poor optic for site users.  It is unclear if the posts were 

disturbed by the recent earthworks in the adjoining housing development site. 

Plate 6. Example section of dilapidated post and rail fencing 

Page 82



 
 

pg. 9 

 

 

 

4.7 Perimeter fencing - Recommendations 

Damages sections of fencing are to be repaired using the same pressure treated 

softwood stakes and pales that were used in the original construction.  Damaged 

materials are to be removed from site. 

The remainder of the fence should be monitored for any further signs of 

deterioration. 

 

4.8 Pathways & Kerb edges 

The existing tarmac pathways linking the terraced garden and the Lawn grave area 

are currently in good condition.  The kerb edges show localised signs of damage in 

places that is assumed to be caused by vehicular contact.  

 

4.9 Pathways & Kerb edges - Recommendations 

There was limited evidence of cracking in places that should be monitored for further 

signs of deterioration with a cursory sum assigned for routine patchworks repairs as 

required to limit the potential for the damaged sections to present a trip hazard. 

The kerb edges warrant monitoring with an allocated budget allowing for periodic ad-

hoc repairs to limit the potential for trip hazards and to preserve the aesthetic of the 

pathway network. 

 

4.10 Site signage 

Signage is limited within the cemetery and only installed where considered 

necessary to convey helpful information and to enhance the visitor user experience.  

The site has a large decorative information sign at the cemetery entrance which 

features a plan of the initial site phasing and provides updated contact information 

Page 83



 
 

pg. 10 

for the council’s Bereavement Services team and outlines key site-specific details for 

cemetery users.  

Secondary way marking signage is also present to guide visitors to parking area and 

to advise of vehicular access restrictions to members of the public along with the 

cemetery speed limit.  

Plates 7 & 8: Site entrance signage & guidance for visitor parking.  

  

 

4.11 Site signage – Recommendations 

The current main site welcome sign has been in place for some time and pre-dates 

the formation of the current unitary authority.  The sign contains obsolete information 

and has previously had the contact information section covered over to remove 

references to the former management by the Town council.   

In the interest of uniformity and ensuring the entrance complex offers a professional 

appearance a replacement sign is proposed that contains the correct information to 

include updated contact details and logos that reflect the current transition of the 

Orbitas organisation back into the council. 

  

Page 84



 
 

pg. 11 

5. Capital Investment Plan 

The capital works proposals outlined above are presented in the table below with the 

assumed timescales detailed for the spend allocation.  Works are prioritised via a 

hierarchical urgency of need to factor aspects to include Health and Safety alongside 

commercial aspects that factor capacity and other operational considerations as 

outlined in the Design Guide. 

Figure 3: Congleton Capital Investment plan 

Item Timescale Spend 
category 

Budget 
Estimate 

Comments 

Replace site signage 
1 to 2 

Commercial 
/ Operational 

  

Drainage > field 
drain survey  1 to 2 

Commercial 
/ capacity 

  

Drainage > repairs / 
rerouting field drains 2 to 4 

Commercial 
/ capacity 

  

Pathway & kerb 
edging repairs  5 to 10 H&S  

  

Terraced Ashes plots 
- design consultancy  1 to 2 

Commercial 
/ capacity 

  

Terraced Ashes plots  
- expansion / niche 
walls 2 to 4 

Commercial 
/ capacity 

  

Repaint of site gates  
2 to 4 

Commercial 
/ Aesthetic 

  

Drainage clearance / 
jetting  2 to 4 

Commercial 
/ Operational 

  

Fence repairs 
adjoining car park 1 to 2 

Security / 
Aesthetics 

  

Implementation of 
additional access 
roads per site 
scheme 2 to 4 

Commercial 
/ capacity 

  

 

6. Landscape Maintenance 

 

6.1 Grounds Maintenance 

The site is managed in accordance with our Green Spaces Maintenance Standards 

Policy as approved by the environment and communities committee in February 

2024, following a public consultation held in autumn 2023. 

The policy came into effect in April 2024 and provides a framework for how the 

councils green spaces across Cheshire East are managed to include parks, sports 

playing fields and cemeteries. 

Page 85



 
 

pg. 12 

All Council managed green spaces are divided into a series of typologies based on 

the type of site and it’s primary function. Subject to the size and features included, 

each of these typologies could be further broken down on a zonal basis with 

maintenance standards then being set according to each zone amenity standard. 

These standards are based on a set range of annual maintenance tasks. 

For cemeteries the outline recommendations from the landscape maintenance 

typology suggest that Congleton Cemetery will be subject to the following 

management regime. 

Figure 4 Landscape maintenance typology for cemetery sites 

 

Typology – Cemeteries, Church Yards & Memorials 

Zoned 
Tasks 

Zone Definition When General  
Standard 

G
ra

s
s
 C

u
tt

in
g
 

2
  

M
e

d
iu

m
 

a
m

e
n

it
y
 

  

Accessible grassed 
areas within 
churchyards 
including grass 
pathways   

Mar - 
Oct 
 

Grass cut 8 times 
throughout the growing 
season 

3
  

lo
w

 a
m

e
n

it
y
 Areas with long 

grass and areas 
identified as 
biodiversity 
enhancement 
including grazed 
areas 

Mar - 
Oct 
 

Up to 3 cuts during the 
growing season. Areas 
are cut less frequent 
through growing season 

H
e
d

g
e

s
 

3
  

lo
w

 

a
m

e
n

it
y
 Frontage hedges 

adjacent footpaths 
and access roads 
and internal hedges 

Oct - 
Mar 
 

1 cut per calendar year. 
Tractor and flail where 
accessible otherwise by 
hand 

H
a
rd

 

s
u

rf
a

c
e

s
 

3
  

L
o

w
 a

m
e
n

it
y
 

 

Car parks and 
access footpaths / 
highways  

Apr - 
Oct 
 

1 visit for weed treatment 
and leaf blowing in 
autumn. 

 

6.2 Extent of landscape maintenance 

Congleton Cemetery consists of a large expanse of grassland within the unutilised 

area of the Lawn Grave plots, with the remaining grassland areas located within the 

extent of the utilised plots.  These areas are shown by the green highlighting in 

Figure 5 below. 

Page 86



 
 

pg. 13 

There are a small number of shrub beds onsite which are shown with the purple 

highlighting in Figure 5 below. 

Fig 5: Extent of current landscape maintenance areas 

 

 

6.3 Arboriculture maintenance & Tree Risk Management 

Trees onsite are managed in accordance with the Council Tree Risk Management 

Strategy whereby we a programme of routine inspections works are undertaken for 

the trees we own, but this excludes any routine maintenance.  

All works are carried out on the basis of balancing overall risk to public safety from 

trees against the benefits of trees and the costs of work.  

At Congleton cemetery there is semi mature deciduous planting located around the 

sites perimeter and in one of the shrub planting beds.  These trees are managed and 

monitored in accordance with the councils Tree Risk Management Strategy. 

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX C - 1-4 year prioritised list of interventions by site

Project Name
Timescale 

required
Category

 Provisional 

Total  Budget - 

£'000's 

 Provisional Total  

Budget (Years 1-4 

only) - £'000's 

 Years 1 & 2  

2025-26 

Profile - 

£'000's 

 Years 3 & 4  

2027-28 

Profile - 

£'000's 

Notes

Replace site signage 1 to 2 Operational activities 2£                   2£                           2£                    -£                   

Frontal wall repairs 2 to 4 Health & Safety compliance 10£                 10£                        -£                     10£                

Front entrance roadway repairs (Highways collaboration) 2 to 4 Health & Safety compliance 15£                 15£                        -£                     15£                

Front entrance roadway repairs 2 to 4 Health & Safety compliance 15£                 15£                        -£                     15£                

Interior memorial walls - cementing capstones 2 to 4 Health & Safety compliance 5£                   5£                           5£                    

Memorial safety  - (assumes 30) 1 to 10 Health & Safety compliance 150£               100£                      50£                  50£                
Ongoing multi-year programme of inspection and 

repair 

Site extension > Ecology surveys 2 to 4 Site capacity 3£                   3£                           -£                     3£                  

Site extension > Vegetation clearance works - extension area 2 to 4 Site capacity 10£                 10£                        -£                     10£                

Site extension > Consultancy fees / Design & planning works 1 to 2 Site capacity 15£                 15£                        15£                  -£                   

Site extension > Construction works incl 10% risk sum 2 to 4 Site capacity 244£               244£                      -£                     244£             

469£               419£                      72£                  347£             

Replace site signage 1 to 2 Operational activities 2£                   2£                           2£                    -£                   

Drainage > field drain survey 1 to 2 Site capacity 5£                   5£                           5£                    -£                   

Drainage > repairs / reoruting field drains 2 to 4 Site capacity 30£                 30£                        -£                     30£                

Terraced Ashes plots - Alternative design consultancy 1 to 2 Site capacity 10£                 10£                        10£                  -£                   

Terraced Ashes plots  - expansion / niche walls 2 to 4 Site capacity 100£               100£                      -£                     100£             

Repaint of site gates 2 to 4 Aesthetic enhancement 3£                   3£                           -£                     3£                  

Drainage clearance / jetting 2 to 4 Operational activities 10£                 10£                        -£                     10£                

Fence repairs adjoining car park 1 to 2 Aesthetic enhancement 3£                   3£                           3£                    -£                   

Impmentation of additional access roads per site scheme 2 to 4 Site capacity 35£                 35£                        -£                     35£                

198£               198£                      20£                  178£             

Replace site signage 1 to 2 Operational activities 2£                   2£                           2£                    -£                   

Waste bin screening 1 to 2 Operational activities 3£                   3£                           3£                    -£                   

Drainage clearance / jetting  2 to 4 Operational activities 5£                   5£                           -£                     5£                  

Roadway resurfacing 1 to 2 Health & Safety compliance 35£                 35£                        35£                  -£                   

Pathway repairs various surface types 2 to 4 Health & Safety compliance 100£               100£                      -£                     100£             

Crematorium exterior & mess area upgrades 2 to 4 Operational activities 60£                 60£                        -£                     60£                

Repoint cap stones on Crematorium planitng bed 2 to 4 Health & Safety compliance 5£                   5£                           -£                     5£                  

Repoint cap stones on pathway walls adjoining compound 1 to 2 Health & Safety compliance 10£                 10£                        10£                  -£                   

Wall repairs at scented garden 1 to 2 Health & Safety compliance 5£                   5£                           5£                    -£                   

Repurposing sunken garden / memorialisation 2 to 4 Site capacity 25£                 25£                        -£                     25£                

Sunken garden / R&M to internal pathways 2 to 4 Health & Safety compliance 30£                 30£                        -£                     30£                

Lighting column LED upgrade and repaint 2 to 4 Operational activities 15£                 15£                        -£                     15£                

Repaint front gate x 2 2 to 4 Aesthetic enhancement 4£                   4£                           -£                     4£                  

Engagment with Highways > Design / planning to widen main 

entrance
1 to 2 Health & Safety compliance 5£                   5£                           5£                    -£                   

Front entrance roadway repairs (Highways collab) 2 to 4 Health & Safety compliance 15£                 15£                        -£                     15£                

Parking bay amendments incl disabled space at office 2 to 4 Equalities / Inclusivity 5£                   5£                           5£                  

Crewe Main

Sub Total

Alderley Edge

Congleton

Sub Total

P
age 89



APPENDIX C - 1-4 year prioritised list of interventions by site

Project Name
Timescale 

required
Category

 Provisional 

Total  Budget - 

£'000's 

 Provisional Total  

Budget (Years 1-4 

only) - £'000's 

 Years 1 & 2  

2025-26 

Profile - 

£'000's 

 Years 3 & 4  

2027-28 

Profile - 

£'000's 

Notes

Alderley Edge
Memorial safety - (assumes 50) 1 to 10 Health & Safety compliance 250£               200£                      100£                100£             

Ongoing multi-year programme of inspection and 

repair 

Cremator upgrades  (Hearth & refractory brick repairs) 1 to 10 Cremator maintenance 165£               90£                        30£                  60£                
Ongoing multi-year programme of inspection and 

repair 

Provision of ecological / biodiversity enhacement 1 to 10 Operational activities 25£                 20£                        10£                  10£                

764£               634£                      200£                434£             

Replace site signage 1 to 2 Operational activities 2£                   2£                           2£                    -£                   

Feasibility review of alternative sites (assumes 20-25 years 

residual capacity)
2 to 4 Site capacity 10£                 10£                        -£                     10£                

Waste bin screening 1 to 2 Operational activities 3£                   3£                           3£                    -£                   

Memorial safety - (assumes 50) 1 to 10 Health & Safety compliance 250£               100£                      50£                  50£                
Ongoing multi-year programme of inspection and 

repair 

Roadway access beside Tumulus 2 to 4 Operational activities 70£                 70£                        -£                     70£                

Road scalping / top up scheme (currently budgeted for March 

25)
1 to 2 Health & Safety compliance 35£                 35£                        35£                  -£                   

Office interior - remodelling (structural support works) 2 to 4 Operational activities 60£                 60£                        -£                     60£                

Repair to site access retaining wall 1 to 2 Health & Safety compliance 80£                 80£                        50£                  30£                

Site office exterior timber fascias & gutter clear 1 to 2 Aesthetic enhancement 20£                 20£                        20£                  -£                   

Gateway refresh x 2 (1 x blast / 1 x décor) 2 to 4 Operational activities 20£                 20£                        -£                     20£                

Heritage lottery bid consultancy - chapel exterior / car park / 

Valley 
2 to 4 Grant application 10£                 10£                        -£                     10£                

Cremator upgrades  (Abatement R&M) 1 to 4 Cremator maintenance 100£               100£                      50£                  50£                
Ongoing multi-year programme of inspection and 

repair 

Cremator upgrades  (Hearth & refrctory brick repairs) 1 to 10 Cremator maintenance
150£               75£                        60£                  15£                

Ongoing multi-year programme of inspection and 

repair 

810£               585£                      270£                315£             

Replace site signage 1 to 2 Operational activities 2£                   2£                           2£                    -£                   

Empty soil bund area 1 to 2 Operational activities 10£                 10£                        10£                  -£                   

Resurface internal pathways 2 to 4 Health & Safety compliance 20£                 20£                        -£                     20£                

Light column LED upgrades / repaint 2 to 4 Operational activities 15£                 15£                        15£                  -£                   

Review drainage issues ( Consultancy / SI works) 1 to 2 Site capacity 10£                 10£                        10£                  -£                   

drainage works (limit restrictive plot access) 1 to 2 Site capacity 20£                 20£                        20£                  -£                   

Additional memorialisatoin / eco burial 2 to 3 Site capacity 40£                 40£                        -£                     40£                

Pathway linkage for eco burial 2 to 3 Accessibiity 30£                 30£                        -£                     30£                

147£               147£                      57£                  90£                

Replace site signage 1 to 2 Operational activities 2                      2£                           2£                    -£                   

Chapel repairs - cracked plaster / missing grates / roof tiles 2 to 4 Business development 40                   40£                        -£                     40£                

Spring gated access at rear of site 2 to 4 Health & Safety compliance 2                      2£                           -£                     2£                  

Meadow Brook

Sub Total

Sub Total

Macclesfield 

Sub Total

Nantwich 

P
age 90



APPENDIX C - 1-4 year prioritised list of interventions by site

Project Name
Timescale 

required
Category

 Provisional 

Total  Budget - 

£'000's 

 Provisional Total  

Budget (Years 1-4 

only) - £'000's 

 Years 1 & 2  

2025-26 

Profile - 

£'000's 

 Years 3 & 4  

2027-28 

Profile - 

£'000's 

Notes

Alderley EdgeRenovate pond area / additional ecological enhancements 1 to 10 Biodiversity enhnacement 10                   8£                           4£                    4£                  

Gateway refurbishment / repaint 2 to 4 Operational activities 5                      5£                           -£                     5£                  

Memorial safety (assumes 10) 1 to 2 Health & Safety compliance 
50                   

50£                        50£                  -£                   
Ongoing multi-year programme of inspection and 

repair 

109£               107£                      56£                  51£                

Replace site signage 1 to 2 Operational activities 2£                   2£                           2£                    -£                   

Pathway & kerb edging repairs 2 to 4 Health & Safety compliance 15£                 15£                        -£                     15£                

Pathway realigmnent to realise additional full burial capacity 2 to 4 Site capacity 10£                 10£                        -£                     10£                

Memorial safety  (assumes 10) 1 to 2 Health & Safety compliance 50£                 40£                        20£                  20£                
Ongoing multi-year programme of inspection and 

repair 

Site extension > Consultancy fees / Design & planning works 1 to 2 Site capacity 15£                 15£                        15£                  -£                   

Site extension > SI works costs 1 to 2 Site capacity 10£                 10£                        10£                  -£                   

102£               92£                        47£                  45£                

Lychgate repairs 1 to 2 Operational activities 2£                   2£                           2£                    -£                   

Replace site signage 1 to 2 Operational activities 2£                   2£                           2£                    -£                   

Extension - design and construction consultancy update 1 to 2 Site capacity 10£                 10£                        10£                  -£                   

Site extension > Reapraisal prior civils estimates 1 to 2 Site capacity 2£                   2£                           2£                    -£                   

Extension > Ecological survey 1 to 2 Site capacity 3£                   3£                           3£                    -£                   

Reapplication of planning 2 to 4 Site capacity 2£                   2£                           -£                     2£                  

Site clearance works 2 to 4 Site capacity 10£                 10£                        -£                     10£                

Site extension > Construction works incl 10% risk sum 2 to 4 Site capacity 244£               244£                      -£                     244£             

Memorial safety  (assumes 5) 1 to 10 Health & Safety compliance 25£                 20£                        10£                  10£                
Ongoing multi-year programme of inspection and 

repair 

299£               294£                      29£                  266£             

Replace site signage 1 to 2 Operational activities 2                      2£                           2£                    -£                   

SI works on saturated section (limiting burial plot capacity 

<10yrs supply)
1 to 2 Site capacity 6                      6£                           6£                    -£                   

Drainage works in unutilised plot (saturated / inaccesible) 2 to 4 Site capacity 25                   25£                        -£                     25£                

Feasibility review of alternative sites (assumes 20-25 years to 

full date)
2 to 4 Site capacity 10                   10£                        10£                

Roadway repairs / slurry seal 1 to 2 Health & Safety compliance 25                   25£                        25£                  -£                   

Kerb edge repairs 2 to 4 Health & Safety compliance 10                   10£                        -£                     10£                

Chapel weather proofing / windows / ivy removal 2 to 4 Operational activities 10                   10£                        -£                     10£                

Installation moveable traffic bollards - 3 No locations 2 to 4 Operational activities 5                      5£                           -£                     5£                  

Repair works to frontage gate posts & cap stones.  Gate travel 

stops
2 to 4 Health & Safety compliance 10                   10£                        -£                     10£                

Wilmslow

Weston

Sub Total

Sandbach

P
age 91



APPENDIX C - 1-4 year prioritised list of interventions by site

Project Name
Timescale 

required
Category

 Provisional 

Total  Budget - 

£'000's 

 Provisional Total  

Budget (Years 1-4 

only) - £'000's 

 Years 1 & 2  

2025-26 

Profile - 

£'000's 

 Years 3 & 4  

2027-28 

Profile - 

£'000's 

Notes

Alderley Edge
Memorial safety  (assumes 30) 1 to10 Health & Safety compliance 150                 60£                        35£                  25£                

Ongoing multi-year programme of inspection and 

repair 

253£               163£                      68£                  95£                

Plot box development and startup costs 1 to 2 Operational activities 120                 120£                      120£                

Altenative funeral service sites - enabling costs 2 to 4 Business development 15                   15£                        15£                

135£               135£                      120£                15£                

TOTAL 3,286£           2,774£                   939£                1,836£          

Business development inititives

Sub Total

P
age 92



 

OFFICIAL OFFICIAL 

CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL – EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM  

 

 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT  
 

TITLE:   Cemeteries strategy consultation 2022 

 

 

 

 

VERSION CONTROL 

 

Date Version Author Description of 

Changes 

26/08/22 1.0 PB Initiated 

27/7/23 1.1 PB Amended 

2/8/23 1.2 PB Amended 

4/8/23 1.2 PB Final draft 

06/02/25 1.3 PB Revised following 

adoption of 

recommendations. 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 93



 

OFFICIAL OFFICIAL 

 

 

 

 

  CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL –EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT  

 

 

 

Department Place Directorate 
Service  

 
Environmental Services 

Lead officer responsible for assessment 

 
Paul Brightwell 

Other members of team undertaking assessment NA 
Date 06/02/25 
Version  1.3 
Type of document Strategy 
Is this a new/ existing/ revision of an existing document Revision 

 

Title and subject of 
the impact 
assessment (include 
a brief description of 
the aims, outcomes, 
operational issues as 
appropriate and how 
it fits in with the wider 
aims of the 
organisation)   
 

Review following adoption of strategy documentation to updae policy needs following recommendations from 
cemeteries Members Advisory Panel (MAP).  This document defines the framework of the strategy update 
undertaken in conjunction with consulting with the broader community and key stakeholders ahead of 
commissioning the updated strategy document for approval by the Environment and Communities Committee. 
 
The draft Members Advisory Panel strategy document provided the basis from which the revised strategy was 
produced to includes; 
 
• Aims / objectives 
• Opportunities and challenges 
• Priority actions 

Stage 1 Description: Fact finding (about your policy / service / service users) 

P
age 94



 

OFFICIAL OFFICIAL 

Please attach a copy 
of the strategy/ plan/ 
function/ policy/ 
procedure/ service 

• Next steps 
 
The Strategy is underpinned by a consultation exercise to ensure adequate engagement with the broader 
community to help understand their needs as customers, visitors and neighbours of Cheshire East councils 
cemeteries and to ensure relevant feedback was reflected in the revised strategy.  
 
This process also sought feedback on the cemetery regulations to ensure public consensus as to how the 
regulation should implemented. 
 
This latest Impact Assessment covers the Committee approval of the  
 

Who are the main 
stakeholders and 
have they been 
engaged with?   
(e.g. general public, 
employees, 
Councillors, partners, 
specific audiences, 
residents) 

The main stakeholders who were contacted as part of the original outrach have been identified as follows: 
 
General Stakeholders 
 
•  General residents - Media release  
• General residents - Social media 
• General residents - Council consultation webpages 
• General residents - Digital Influence Panel 
• Funeral directors (x30) – Direct mail 
• CEC Place Environment/Cemeteries Portfolio Holder 
• Orbitas/Cheshire East Bereavement Services 
• Cheshire East Council Committee Chairs 
• The council’s Corporate Leadership Team 
• Cheshire East Members of Parliament 
• All Parish and Town Councils 
• All Council ward Members - Direct email – CEC held mailing list 
• The Archdeacon of Macclesfield - The Venerable Ian Bishop  
• Church Ministers  
• Cemetery Friends Groups  
• Adjoining residents of cemeteries facilities  
• Commonwealth War Graves Commission 
• Chairperson of the Friends of Sandbach Cemetery - ann.nevitt@btinternet.com 
• Paper versions of the survey - Library distribution 
  

P
age 95



 

OFFICIAL OFFICIAL 

EqIA outreach  
• Faith community groups 
• Ethnicity community groups 
• Protected characteristic charities / steering groups – e.g.  Cheshire Centre for Independent living, 
 Eye society, Body Positive 
 
The engagement with the above stakeholder lists took place as part of the consultation process undertaken 
December 2022. 
 

Consultation/ 
involvement carried 
out. 

Undertaken with support of Cheshire East R&C department and the Cheshire East Communities team for the face-
to-face outreach to the Gypsy, Roma and Traveller community sites December 2022. 

What consultation 
method(s) did you 
use? 

The consultation was undertaken in December 2022 by Cheshire East Council R&C department and involved a 
combination of email contact / hard copy mail outs / printed posters with QR codes, easy read materials and face to 
face meetings with the Gypsy, Roma and Traveller community contact team. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Who is affected and what 
evidence have you 
considered to arrive at this 
analysis?   
(This may or may not include 
the stakeholders listed above) 

The consultation feedback suggested the locational aspect of the two main facilities in the previous strategy 
was a concern and the transition away from the previous aim of using two core facilities suggests people 
were concerned about the travel distances and/or associated costs. 
 
This alludes to possible impacts to mourners who utilise public transport either from disadvantaged socio-
economic or age stratified groupings who experience difficulties funding such travel, or those mourners who 
experience physical impediments to engaging with certain modes of public transport. 
 

Stage 2 Initial Screening 

P
age 96



 

OFFICIAL OFFICIAL 

There was also feedback suggesting some ethnicity groups felt they might be impacted in terms of any 
visual, written or spoken engagement and also in relation to how the cemeteries regulations were formulated 
and enforced with regards certain cultural grieving practices. 
 
The evidence base from the consultation will be factored into the production of the strategy document and 
associated cemeteries regulations to ensure any equalities based aspects are given the necessary 
consideration. 
 
This document is refreshed following adoption of the Cemeteries Strategy at the February 2024 
Environment  and Communities Committee.  This update reflects the further adoption of the Cemeteries 
portfolio Design Guide, along with the series of site specific Management plans and the associated Capital 
Investment plan that were detailed in the original Strategy document. 
 

Who is intended to benefit 
and how 

It is understood that the strategy will benefit the entire community in terms of ensuring a robust and 
equitable approach to provisioning the boroughs broader burial and cremation needs. 
 

Could there be a different 
impact or outcome for some 
groups?  
 

The consultation feedback showed the previous strategy focussed upon the use of only two core facilities in 
Crewe and Macclesfield raised concerns from respondents of perceived impacts relating to travel distances / 
times and how this may present difficulties in accessing the bereavement facilities with regards to either 
elderly or disabled users who suffer from mobility issues. 
 
There were also concerns raised within the consultation as to how the cemeteries regulations would be 
defined and enforced highlighting sensitivities with regards the cultural mourning practices of some sectors 
of the community grounds on ethnicity and religious beliefs.  
 

Does it include making 
decisions based on individual 
characteristics, needs or 
circumstances? 

The current strategy proposes use of a broader range of facilities to reduce overall travel distances and 
times that should alleviate concerns raised in the consultation concerning elderly and/or disabled users who 
suffer from mobility issues and to whom the previous policy may have proven to be restrictive. 
 
The cemeteries strategy consultation feedback identified concerns raised in relation to the cultural grieving 
practices of the Gypsy, Roma and Traveller community. These concerns have been taken into consideration 
in relation to how the cemeteries regulations were updated in terms of the presence of the kinds of 
memorials that can be placed on individual grave plots and for how long.     
 
 

P
age 97



 

OFFICIAL OFFICIAL 

Are relations between 
different groups or 
communities likely to be 
affected?  
(e.g. will it favour one 
particular group or deny 
opportunities for others?) 

No – this is not anticipated. 

Is there any specific targeted 
action to promote equality? Is 
there a history of unequal 
outcomes (do you have 
enough evidence to prove 
otherwise)? 

This updated assessment document reflets the adoption of the Design Guide, Site Management plans and 
Capital Investment plan as recommended in the adopted Cemeteries Strategy.  Comments from the Dec 
2022 consultation were be taken into consideration to ensure the cemeteries strategy regulations were 
updated in a balanced and equitable manner.  
 
There is no known evidence base to either prove or disprove any history of unequal outcomes. 
 

 

Is there an actual or potential negative impact on these specific 

characteristics 

Yes/ No 

Age Yes 

Disability  Yes 

Gender reassignment  No 

Marriage & civil partnership No 

Pregnancy & maternity  No 

Race  Yes 

Religion & belief  No 

P
age 98



 

OFFICIAL OFFICIAL 

Sex No 

Sexual orientation  No 

 

 

 

Characteristic What evidence do you have to support your findings? (quantitative and qualitative) Please 
provide additional information that you wish to include as appendices to this document, i.e., 
graphs, tables, charts 

Level of Risk 
(High, Medium 
or Low) 

Age  
Concerns were raised in the consultation regarding the location of the cemeteries, with 74% of 
respondents who felt future burial provision should be made at all cemeteries across Cheshire East, by 
extending them where possible and  9% who felt future burial provision should only be available at the 
two principal cemeteries at Crewe and Macclesfield.  
 
Respondents preferred burial provision to be provided locally because they felt people should have a 
right to be buried in the town they lived in, that burial sites should be easily accessible to friends and 
family.   
 
One respondent suggested that drive time in excess of 30-minutes are not local and are too far to travel 
to from some places, especially for the elderly, disabled or those with ill health and that public transport 
is not good enough to access just the two principal cemeteries. 
 
It seems plausible that the current travel and access requirements associated with the two core facility 
approach at Crewe and Macclesfield could negatively impact older members of the community who 
suffer from impaired mobility.  
 

Low 

Marriage and 
Civil Partnership 
 

No supporting evidence offered to suggest a disproportionate or negative impact to individuals within 
this protected category grouping.  

NA 

Stage 3 Evidence 

P
age 99



 

OFFICIAL OFFICIAL 

Religion No supporting evidence offered to suggest a disproportionate or negative impact to individuals within 
this protected category grouping.  

NA 

Disability In relation concerns raised in the consultation regarding the location of the cemeteries 74% of 
respondents felt future burial provision should be made at all cemeteries across Cheshire East, by 
extending them where possible with just 9% felt future burial provision should only be available at the 
two principal cemeteries at Crewe and Macclesfield.  
 
Respondents preferred burial provision to be provided locally because they felt people should have a 
right to be buried in the town they lived in, that burial sites should be easily accessible to friends and 
family. 
 
One respondent suggested, that drive time in excess of 30-minutes are not local and are too far to travel 
to from some places, especially for the elderly, disabled or those with ill health and that public transport 
is not good enough to access just the two principal cemeteries. 
 
It seems plausible that the current travel and access requirements associated with the two core facility 
approach at Crewe and Macclesfield could negatively impact members of the community with certain 
disabilities that impact mobility. 
 

NA 

Pregnancy and 
Maternity 

No supporting evidence offered to suggest a disproportionate or negative impact to individuals within 
this protected category grouping. 

NA 

Sex No supporting evidence offered to suggest a disproportionate or negative impact to individuals within 
this protected category grouping. 

NA 

Gender 
Reassignment 

No supporting evidence offered to suggest a disproportionate or negative impact to individuals within 
this protected category grouping. 

NA 

Race Efforts have been made to engage with the borough diverse community structure, with consultation 
outreach targeted to a number of community groups to ensure diversity of opinion and feedback. 
 
The consultation highlighted that the Gypsy, Roma and Traveller community expressed views that their 
cultural mourning practices are given adequate consideration in respect of a majority preference for 

Low 

P
age 100



 

OFFICIAL OFFICIAL 

burial instead of cremation and that memorabilia and gifts on graves is an aspect of their grieving culture 
and that Gypsy Travellers should not be victimised over how they choose to bury their deceased. 
 

Sexual 
Orientation 

No supporting evidence offered to suggest a disproportionate or negative impact to individuals within 
this protected category grouping. 

NA 

 

 

 

 

Protected 

characteristics 

Mitigating action  
Once you have assessed the impact of a policy/service, it is important to 
identify options and alternatives to reduce or eliminate any negative impact. 
Options considered could be adapting the policy or service, changing the 
way in which it is implemented or introducing balancing measures to reduce 
any negative impact. When considering each option you should think about 
how it will reduce any negative impact, how it might impact on other groups 
and how it might impact on relationships between groups and overall issues 
around community cohesion. You should clearly demonstrate how you 
have considered various options and the impact of these. You must have a 
detailed rationale behind decisions and a justification for those alternatives 
that have not been accepted. 

How will this be 

monitored? 

Officer 

responsible 

Target date 

Age It is proposed to revise the current strategic approach 
to utilise only two core cemetery facilities at Crewe and 
Macclesfield in an effort to alleviate concerns identified 
in the consultation about the perception of excessive 
travel distances/ times can were suggested by one 
respondent that were suggested could impact elderly 
service users with mobility issues.  
 

Reduction of travel 

distances from using 

a broader array of 

facilities will be self-

evident 

Paul Brightwell Feb 2024 

Stage 4 Mitigation 

P
age 101



 

OFFICIAL OFFICIAL 

Marriage and Civil 
Partnership 
 

No anticipated disproportionate impact NA NA NA 

Religion No anticipated disproportionate impact NA NA NA 

Disability It is proposed to revise the current strategic approach 
to utilise only two core cemetery facilities at Crewe and 
Macclesfield in an effort to alleviate concerns identified 
in the consultation about the perception of excessive 
travel distances/ times can were suggested by one 
respondent that were suggested could impact disabled 
service users with mobility issues.  

Reduction of travel 

distances from using 

a broader array of 

facilities will be self-

evident 

Paul Brightwell Feb 2024 

Pregnancy and 
Maternity 

No anticipated disproportionate impact NA NA NA 

Sex No anticipated disproportionate impact NA NA NA 

Gender 
Reassignment 

No anticipated disproportionate impact NA NA NA 

Race There will be consideration of the cultural aspects of 
grieving for all communities in updating the existing 
cemeteries regulations.  
 

Consultation feedback 

to be incorporated 

into the revised 

cemeteries 

Paul Brightwell Feb 2024 

P
age 102



 

OFFICIAL OFFICIAL 

regulations as 

adopted in the Feb 

2024 E&C Committee  

Sexual Orientation No anticipated disproportionate impact NA NA NA 

 

 

 

 

Summary: The core impacts that have been identified are associated with perceived difficulties for elderly and disabled service users who 

have mobility issues along with perceived impact to cultural grieving practices.  These have been respectively addressed by an amendment 

to the previous policy that utilised two core facilities in Crewe an Macclesfield to offer a broader range of burial sites to help alleviate 

concerns associated with excessive travel time / distance and secondarily through factoring the concerns of any cultural discrimination in the  

update of the previous cemeteries regulations. 

 

No further knowledge gaps or requirement for additional data has been identified at this time. 

Following adoption of the strategy at the Environment and Communities Committee in Feb 2024, this assessment document has been 

refreshed to factor the adoption of the cemeteries portfolio Design Guide, the site specific Management plans and the associated Capital 

Investment plan.  Due consideration will be given to further needs throughout the Councils cemeteries sites as and will be addressed in 

subsequent iterations of the Cemeteries Strategy with adoption of any approved amendments by the Environment & Communities 

Committee. 

 

5. Review and Conclusion 

P
age 103



 

OFFICIAL OFFICIAL 

 

 

 

Specific actions to be taken to 

reduce, justify or remove any 

adverse impacts 

How will this be monitored? Officer responsible Target date 

Review of current policy that utilises 

two core facilities in Macclesfield and 

Crewe to help reduce travel times/ 

distances that will benefit disabled 

and elderly service users who suffer 

from mobility issues.  

The proposed revision to utilise additional burial facilities 

would offer shorter travel distances.  

Paul Brightwell Feb 2024 

Review of current cemeteries 

regulations to ensure they do not 

disproportionately impact any 

community, ethnic or religious groups 

subject to protections under the 

Equalities Act.  

Cross referencing the feedback received in the 2022 

consultation would help determine if this had been 

successfully implemented.   

Paul Brightwell Feb 2024 

 

Please provide details and link to full action plan for actions NA 

When will this assessment be reviewed?   Original Cemeteries Strategy adoption in Feb 2024, with proposed adoption of 

Deign Guide, Site Management plan template & outline Capital Investment plan in 

March 2025 as part of Environment and Communities Committee review process. 

P
age 104



 

OFFICIAL OFFICIAL 

Are there any additional assessments that need to be 

undertaken in relation to this assessment? 

No 

 

 

Lead officer sign off  Paul Brightwell 

Date 4/8/23 

Head of service sign off Ralph Kemp 

Date 11/02/2025 

 

Please publish this completed EIA form on the relevant section of the Cheshire East website 

P
age 105



T
his page is intentionally left blank



    

 

 

 

             

         

Environment and Communities Committee 

27 March 2025 

Local Plan Next Steps: Local Development Scheme Update and 

feedback from the Issues Consultation (2024) 

 

Report of: Phil Cresswell, Executive Director of Place 

Report Reference No: EC/15/24-25 

Ward(s) Affected: All wards 

 

For Decision or Scrutiny: Decision 

Purpose of Report 

1 The purpose of this report is to: 

• Update members on current work underway to progress the new 
Local Plan at the earliest opportunity. 

• Advise the Committee of the current government position in regard 
to transitional arrangements for local plan preparation. 

• Advise the Committee on the outcomes and analysis of feedback 
from the 2024 Local Plan ‘Issues Consultation’. 

• Seek approval of an updated Local Development Scheme which sets 
out proposed next steps to support the preparation of the new Local 
Plan. 

Executive Summary 

2 The Local Plan is a key corporate strategy aimed at achieving 
sustainable development, which includes meeting the development 
needs of the area. 

3 Plan preparation comprises multiple documents, studies, surveys and 
strategies all subject to a regulated process. Under the governments’ 
planning reform programme, a series of changes to legislation and 

OPEN 

Page 107 Agenda Item 7



  
  

 

 

guidance are currently being deployed which means the legal 
framework within which local plans are prepared is not yet clear 
(although is expected to be set out later in the year).  

4 The introduction of planning reform began under the previous 
government and presented Local Planning Authorities with a choice to 
continue to prepare ‘old style’ plans under the current legislation (the 
2004 Compulsory Purchase Act) and be subject to a time limit for 
submission, or to prepare ‘new style’ plans (under the 2023 Levelling 
Up and Regeneration Act) subject to provision of detailed regulations, 
expected later in 2025. On the basis that the time limits set out were not 
sufficient enough to prepare an ‘old style’ plan and that pursing this 
option would require an immediate review of the plan to align it to the 
LURA provisions, in November 2023 a decision was taken by the 
Environment and Communities Committee (E&CC) to prepare a ‘new 
style’ local plan and press on with work that would underpin that 
process once the legislation was published. 

5 Therefore, since then, consultation on an initial ‘Issues Paper’ and other 
key documents that help progress the plan making process has been 
carried out alongside launching multiple other workstreams that ensure 
the council is in a strong and positive position to proceed without delay 
once legislative requirements are published.  

6 This report updates on the key workstreams underway now, provides a 
summary of the feedback received to the ‘Issues Consultation’ of 2024, 
and the essential activity that will be undertaken over the next few 
months to prepare for the introduction of new local plan legislation. The 
report also highlights the intention to undertake consultation on spatial 
and policy options, at the earliest opportunity once regulations or 
guidance allow. 

7 Accordingly, this report seeks approval for an update to the Councils’ 
Local Plan timetable, via proposed changes to the Local Development 
Scheme (LDS), and proposes to prepare the Minerals and Waste Plan 
within the Local Plan programme. Given the on-going roll-out of 
planning reform, it is likely that further updates to the LDS will be 
required across 2025 to respond to publication of new regulations. 

8 On that basis further decisions will be brought back to this committee to 
both seek approval for future consultations and for further updates to 
the LDS where necessary.  

  

  

Page 108



  
  

 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
The Environment and Communities Committee is recommended to:  

1. Agree that the update to the Local Development Scheme, appended to this 
report (Appendix 2) is published on the Councils’ web site; and 

2. Agree that the Issues Consultation Report of Consultation is also published on 
the Councils’ website. 

 

 

Background 

9 In October 2023 the Levelling up and Regeneration Act (LURA) was 
enacted. This introduced the framework for further provisions to be laid 
down on how ‘new style’ local plans should be prepared. Around the 
same time the Minister of State confirmed that no local plans prepared 
under the current legal system of plan making1 (‘old style plans’) could 
be submitted to the Planning Inspectorate for examination after 30 June 
20252. 

10 Given this, in November 2023 a decision was taken by E&CC to commit 
to preparing a ‘new style’ plan. In the absence of detailed provisions on 
how ‘new style’ plans should be prepared it was also decided that 
preliminary work should be undertaken on the Councils’ new Local Plan 
in the form of consultation on an ‘Issues Paper’, call for sites, and draft 
Sustainability Appraisal. 

11 Following this, on 6 March 2024, the Committee agreed to consult on 
the Issues Paper and supporting material, and agreed to publication of 
an updated Local Development Scheme (LDS) which enables 
stakeholders to find out what local plan documents are proposed and 
the timetable for their preparation. 

12 Since then, a new government has been elected with a manifesto 
commitment to deliver 1.5million new homes during this parliament. In 
its ambition to do so, the government has now published a new National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and has advised that plans should 
take account of a national uplift in housing requirements. In Cheshire 
East the housing requirement for the borough was established through 
the current local plan at 1800 homes per annum. The nationally 
prescribed target for Cheshire East is now 2,461 homes per annum and 
is now in effect for the purposes of decision making. This increase in 

 
1 The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 
2 In December 2024, the cut off for submission of ‘old style plans’ was extended to December 2026 by 
the current government. 

Page 109

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/contents


  
  

 

 

housing requirement now means that the council can no longer 
demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing. This means that 
for decision making on planning applications, the ‘tilted balance’ is now 
engaged. This requires that decision makers give more weight to 
delivery of homes when considering the merits of planning applications. 

13 The councils’ five-year supply position is annually updated via the 
Housing Monitoring Update (HMU) prepared by the Strategic Planning 
Team. This document contains monitoring data from the previous 
financial year (the 2025 HMU updates data for 2023 – 2024) that 
records how many homes have been built in Cheshire East, how many 
have been consented and how many are expected to be delivered in 
future years (the ‘housing trajectory’). The HMU has recently been 
shared with stakeholders for feedback and proposes that the council 
currently has a 4.1year supply of housing against the newly prescribed 
requirements. Once the feedback has been reviewed and the HMU 
updated, the final version will be published. 

14 Whilst the impact of changes to the NPPF on immediate and medium 
term decision making are separate to the local plan process, the 
nationally prescribed housing requirement does set the agenda for the 
Local Plan which is required to plan ahead for at least the next 15 
years. On that basis the new housing requirement for Cheshire East, 
over the local plan period to at least 2040 will be a minimum of 36, 915 
homes3. It is the task of the local plan to articulate an ambitious local 
growth strategy for Cheshire East, understanding how employment and 
infrastructure requirements can be met whilst positively shaping 
development to secure the most sustainable and beneficial outcomes 
for the communities across the borough. 

15 Full guidance and legislation on how to do this under provisions set 
down in the LURA have not yet been published in regard to ‘new style’ 
local plans. The Minister of State has indicated guidance will be 
available in the summer/autumn of 2025. 

New Style Plans 

16 Under the 2004 Compulsory Purchase Act, ‘old style’ local plans are 
prepared in several prescribed stages, under the regulations stemming 
from the act: 

• Regulation 18 – publication of the emerging evidence base and 
draft plans, often including options for further consideration. 

 
3 The final figure will be higher than this as the calculation is based on delivering 0.8% of housing 
stock in a borough. Therefore, every year new homes will be built and the calculation will add further 
homes to the requirement. 

Page 110



  
  

 

 

• Regulation 19 – publication of a final draft plan and evidence 
base. 

• Submission and examination – plans are submitted to the 
Planning Inspectorate to be tested for their ‘soundness’. 

• Publication of the examiners report and consultation on 
recommendations  

• Adoption – the finalised plan is considered for adoption by the 
Council through a vote. 

17 For ‘new style’ plans the exact approach remains to be published. 
However, material published in 2023 to accompany the LURA indicated 
they would represent a significant departure from the current approach. 
The key features of the new plan making system were proposed to be 
an overall timespan of three years from commencement to completion; 
an emphasis on project planning that would form a formal prerequisite 
to commencement; a focus on a more strategic, less detailed approach; 
the introduction of National Development Management Policies, 
reducing the need for policy preparation at local level; more reliance on 
digital engagement; a reduction of the evidence burden; and a series of 
external ‘gateway’ reviews to ensure plans are being prepared correctly 
ahead of examination. 

18 The key stages previously identified were: 

• Scoping and early participation – establishing a project plan, 
timetable and monitoring requirements. 

• Plan visioning and strategy development – confirming evidence 
requirements and testing spatial options. 

• Evidence gathering and drafting the plan – production of 
proportionate evidence; continuous engagement with members. 

• Engagement, proposing changes, submission – stakeholders able 
to comment on the draft plan, and changes to be made. 

• Examination – examination in public by an examiner from PINS 

• Finalisation – making necessary changes and proposing adoption 
by the Council 

19 The above headings have not been detailed by any current government 
guidance and therefore can only be indicative of the type of approach 
that may be taken. Nevertheless, the early stages in particular bear 
some similarity to plan making under the current legal framework (the 

Page 111



  
  

 

 

2004 Act) and activity associated with Regulation 18 of the existing 
Local Plan Regulations. 

Feedback from the ‘Issues Paper’ consultation 2024 

20 Despite the uncertainty of a new plan making process, many reports 
and aspects of the Plans’ evidence base are expected to remain 
necessary under the reformed system. Therefore, to assist the Council 
to hit the ground running when it can formally commence its new Plan, 
an ‘Issues’ consultation was undertaken from March to July 2024. 

21 The components of the consultation were:  

22 An ‘Issues Paper’ supported by a series of ‘Topic Papers’ 
summarising, exploring, and seeking feedback on key themes 
anticipated to be addressed through a new local plan, these are set out 
at para.33 onwards. 

23 A draft Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment 
(HELAA) Methodology. This is required by current national planning 
policy and is expected to continue being a necessary part of a local 
plan’s evidence base. Its purpose would be to provide a clear 
understanding of the land available within the borough and inform a 
future site selection process to meet the development needs identified 
over the Plan period. Except for minerals and waste related 
development4, the LAA would cover all land uses, not just housing and 
employment.  

24 A ‘call for sites’ enabling landowners, developers and others to submit 
sites for consideration through the LAA. Further ‘call for sites’ exercises 
will be undertaken as the Plan is prepared. 

25 A Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report. Currently all local plans 
must be informed by a Sustainability Appraisal (SA) through which 
emerging policies and proposals are assessed against environmental, 
social and economic factors. This initial stage would set the scope of 
the assessment and seek feedback on it so that the eventual SA is 
focussed on relevant issues that could influence or be influenced by the 
Plan. Under planning reforms SAs are expected to be replaced by 
Environmental Outcome Reports, however, it is currently not known 
when details of this new assessment framework will be published and 
brought into effect. However, it is expected that work undertaken as part 

 
4 Policies, including any land allocations, relating to minerals and waste development are currently 
proposed to form part of the emerging Cheshire East Minerals and Waste Plan. See: 
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial-planning/cheshire_east_local_plan/minerals-and-
waste-plan.aspx 
 

Page 112

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial-planning/cheshire_east_local_plan/minerals-and-waste-plan.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial-planning/cheshire_east_local_plan/minerals-and-waste-plan.aspx


  
  

 

 

of the initial SA process will be useful in establishing a new 
Environmental Outcome Report.   

26 A draft Settlement Hierarchy Review (SHR). The establishment of a 
clear settlement hierarchy helps to inform, alongside other evidence, 
how future development needs will be met. The SHR will revisit the 
settlement hierarchy set out in the current Local Plan and take account 
of any changes in circumstances since the original evidence was 
prepared to inform it.   

Feedback from the Issues Consultation 

27 Consultation ran for 12 weeks between March and June 2024. A total of 
2,678 responses to questions were received from 156 stakeholders. 
The below is a high-level summary of responses to each theme, further 
information on feedback is held in the Report of Consultation at 
Appendix 1. 

Overall feedback: 

28 Most responses were received on the themes of calculating the 
borough’s housing need, the approach to design, open space 
considerations, carbon and climate change, affordable housing, the 
settlement hierarchy, and the period that the new local plan should run 
to.  

29 Vision: A wide range of views were received on the vision and included 
themes of sustainability, infrastructure, evidence requirements and 
decarbonisation.  

30 Responding to the climate emergency: points were raised that 
covered requirements to include small scale energy generation and 
other sustainable approaches to construction in housing building (green 
roofs and water butts for example). Responses addressed the need to 
support renewable energy production and to promote active travel were 
strong themes. 

31 Healthy and safe communities: responses covered the need to 
ensure open space provision is fully accounted for in new development 
and securing appropriate standards of provision. Matters of inclusive 
access and incorporation of the natural environment into open space 
were also raised, alongside the need to manage air pollution, securing 
safe design in new development and the importance of protecting the 
natural environment for positive health outcomes.  

32 Design: feedback included considering breaking the current design 
guide into smaller geographic areas; including design checklists; taking 
a strategic approach but allowing localised design codes at smaller 

Page 113



  
  

 

 

geographies to be developed too. Viability was a key theme focusing on 
the need to ensure that design aspirations are deliverable. A range of 
views on whether to incorporate a design code into the Local Plan 
would be positive were received with vies also stating that a separate 
document would allow for more flexibility on updating it as and when 
required. 

33 Our natural environment: views were received that Biodiversity Net 
Gain (BNG) requirements should feature in the Councils’ future site 
selection process and that sites for BNG should be allocated in the 
Local Plan. Multiple feedback was received that all new development 
should include tree planting, and that existing woodland and trees 
should be protected. Respondents identified that landscapes should be 
considered carefully when selecting sites and that the Landscape 
Character Assessment should be refreshed to accommodate this.  

34 Homes for everyone: many stakeholders addressed the method for 
calculating housing need in the borough. Since the consultation, 
government has taken an approach which now sets out local housing 
requirements, rather than allowing councils to establish this through an 
assessment of local circumstances. Feedback was also received on the 
type and mix of homes (including for an aging population, for gypsies 
and travellers and for specialist needs) that may be needed in the 
future, including that future policies on these themes should be flexibility 
to take account of viability and changing circumstances. 

35 Town centres and retail: feedback was received that highlighted the 
need to take account of introducing new uses into town centres that can 
result in tension with existing occupiers. Other feedback covered 
making town centres walkable and pleasant for pedestrians, 
incorporating green space where possible, the value of creating 
masterplans for each town, and focusing on active travel to make 
centres accessible. 

36 Jobs, skills and economy: responses were varied and included a 
focus on understanding the quantitative supply of employment land and 
its quality; and the need for new logistics sites and the need to consider 
the minerals industry when looking at economic development 
opportunities. The role of transport and sustainable travel was also 
raised as an important factor underpinning economic performance as 
was the need to support the tourist and visitor economy. 

37 Transport and infrastructure: stakeholders provided responses which 
often focused on active travel and the need to ensure development 
proposals se the Active Travel Toolkit in their design. The issue of 
supporting public transport by focusing development near to existing 

Page 114



  
  

 

 

hubs was raised, as was the need to secure transport infrastructure 
through the planning process. 

38 Historic environment: respondents addressed matters including the 
local listing process, the need to review conservation areas and the 
approach to Jodrell Bank World Heritage site including the need to 
consider how to protect the site through the new local plan. 

39 Towns and villages: this theme addressed the review of the current 
Settlement Hierarchy and responses suggested a range of opinions 
including that a comprehensive review of the whole hierarchy should be 
undertaken, based on the most up to date data available.  It was 
proposed that the list of key services should be reviewed and that 
employment opportunities in nearby locations should be taken into 
account. Other factors were also raised in regard to the services that 
settlements provide including water stress, access to public transport, 
social and economic equity and the distinctiveness of each settlements 
character. 

40 Rural matters: response to this theme included consideration of how to 
re-use agricultural buildings appropriately, accommodating rural 
workers dwellings, safeguarding productive farmland and enabling 
tourism. The theme also addressed the Green Belt and feedback 
included considering whether exceptional circumstances exist to 
undertake a review of the Green Belt, the need to undertake an urban 
capacity study and calls to release Green Belt land to support the vitality 
of settlements where this designation applies. Matters related to Green 
Gaps were also raised, ranging from calls for further protection of these 
areas to enabling further development in them to accommodate needs 
of surrounding communities.  

Minerals and Waste Feedback: 

41 The Council consulted on a Draft Minerals and Waste plan (MWP) in 
late 2022. A total of around 250 comments were received from some 50 
individuals / organisations. The Council also received comments on the 
Sustainability Appraisal and Habitats Regulations Assessment. These 
supporting documents were published alongside the Draft MWP. In 
addition, several sites were also submitted through the call for sites 
exercise that was undertaken in parallel with the Draft MWP 
consultation. 

42 As part of the issues paper consultation, the following question was 
asked: “Should the Council prepare a single local plan including 
minerals and waste policies or should these continue to be progressed 
in a separate plan?”.  The 15 responses received were mixed with a 
slim majority of responses supporting the preparation of a single plan. 

Page 115



  
  

 

 

While other responders considered that they should either continue as 
separate plans or only be brought together as a single document if this 
would mean that the plan would be prepared more quickly. 

43 Through reviewing this feedback, it is considered that there is 
insufficient resource (both financial and staff) to continue with the 
preparation of separate plans. A single plan that encompasses all the 
Council’s planning policies would provide better clarity and 
understanding for the public and offer efficiencies in plan preparation 
and examination. Therefore, it is proposed that the Council should 
prepare a single local plan which includes minerals and waste matters, 
as set out in the updated LDS at Appendix 2.  

Call for Sites 

44 The call for sites and draft Housing and Economic Land Availability 
Assessment (HELAA) are closely related. The sites that are submitted 
to the council across the local plan process will be tested against the 
methodology as it evolves. 347 sites were submitted for consideration. 
These will be mapped, catalogued and considered through the HELAA, 
in accordance with the final version of the methodology. Information 
about the sites, namely site location plans and site assessments, will be 
published in due course as part of the HELAA to accompany the next 
stages of plan making when considering spatial options for growth (see 
para. 58, below).  

45 5 sites for minerals development, 1 site for waste development and 7 
sites for habitat provision were also submitted. 

Next Steps 

46 In any plan making exercise a key risk lies in the commissioning of 
evidence and undertaking of work that, through unforeseen delays to 
the process or changes to legislation/guidance on how evidence should 
be prepared, may become out of date before the examination and 
therefore require refreshing or recommissioning. Whilst procedural 
guidance is currently lacking, officers are eager to make meaningful 
progress and there is much work that can be undertaken to continue 
developing important parts of the evidence base for the plan, and to 
move toward an informed position that allows the council to proceed 
quickly, once clarity on the process emerges. 

47 All plans require setting a vision which articulates the ambition for an 
area, and objectives that start to set out in broad terms how that vision 
can be met. Meeting the defined objectives is then further clarified 
through establishing specific polices that support their delivery. This is 

Page 116



  
  

 

 

common to all plans and there is no indication so far that this will 
change. It is a piece of work that can be pursued at low risk. 

48 Another key feature of all plans is the need to establish an 
understanding of the strategic development needs of an area, the 
availability of land to meet those needs and the implications for 
infrastructure to support the proposed levels of growth and mitigate 
impacts of that growth. The recently published NPPF establishes a 
housing need for the borough and further consideration is now needed 
to understand the future economic and infrastructure development 
needs across Cheshire East, arising from that. 

49 The third common theme of most plans is related to understanding 
constraints. Such constraints may arise from infrastructure provision to 
Green Belt, the natural and historic environment or other landscape 
designations. 

50 The next stage of the process for Cheshire East therefore focuses on 
the need to understand the above matters in more detail and propose 
measures to plan for growth. Traditionally, this stage would be 
undertaken as part of an ‘options’ consultation under the 2004 Act and 
now broadly aligns to the ‘scoping / plan visioning and strategy 
development’ stages of preparing a ‘new style’ plan (set out at para. 19 
above). Therefore, to ensure the council is in a positive position to 
progress as soon as reasonably possible, project management has 
been initiated to: 

• establish appropriate governance structures; 

• promote cross department integration,  

• secure necessary budget through the Medium-Term Financial 
Strategy; and 

• manage development of key evidence products. 

51 Undertaking the above enables the council to progress the Plan and 
investigate spatial options for growth and infrastructure, whilst preparing 
the associated evidence base. To launch this next stage later in the 
year, the key products that the Strategic Planning Team must now 
manage are: 

• Spatial Options Study: a high level assessment of how future 
growth could be distributed. This is informed by all of the following 
pieces of work, some of which are currently being prepared, and 
all of which will be commissioned in the following months ahead. 

Page 117



  
  

 

 

• Urban Potential Study: an assessment of brownfield and other 
sites within urban areas to understand capacity for growth inside 
our settlements. 

• Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment (HELAA): 
assessment of all sites submitted as part of the 2024 call for sites 
and, where necessary, investigation of other parcels of land that 
may offer options to support growth for a range of uses including 
minerals and waste sites, biodiversity and habitats sites, housing 
and economic development sites. 

• Settlement Hierarchy Review: profiling current demographics, 
housing need, landscape, heritage, design issues and other 
matters, across the existing settlements in Cheshire East. The 
review will propose options for if and how the hierarchy should be 
changed. 

• Infrastructure Baseline Study: a review of the current 
infrastructure provision across the borough and an initial 
assessment of the likely future infrastructure needs aligned to 
growth options. 

• Green Belt Review: based on the HENA (below) and growth 
options, it may be necessary to undertake a review of Green Belt 
in order to accommodate future development needs. A Green Belt 
review tests parcels of land within the Green Belt to further 
understand their performance against the five purposes of the 
Green Belt. This is an area subject to planning reform and further 
guidance on the methodology for undertaking such reviews is 
anticipated in the first quarter of 2025.  

• Strategic Transport and Highways modelling: highways modelling 
will be undertaken at various stages of the plan process. Initially a 
strategic model will help inform the vision and development 
strategy for the borough. 

• Housing and Economic Needs Assessment (HENA): similar to 
highways modelling and closely linked to the HELAA, the HENA 
will initially investigate borough wide needs, then be refined 
through the process to align to emerging growth options. 

• Initial viability assessments: this work is prepared to understand 
the land values across the borough and how this may impact 
provision of infrastructure and other policy requirements. It will be 
aligned it the growth options process and refined as the plan 
progresses. 

Page 118



  
  

 

 

• Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment: similar to the 
HENAA with a specific focus on gypsy and traveller needs. 

• Open Spaces Assessment: a review of all open spaces across 
Cheshire East, their typology and performance. This relates to 
establishing an updated Green Spaces Strategy and Playing Pitch 
Strategy, to ensure new development meets the needs of 
communities in Cheshire East. 

52 The above list is not exhaustive yet does include the key products 
necessary to underpin the development of growth options for the 
borough. Other products will also be necessary including updated 
Sustainability Appraisal, Habitats Regulations Assessment and Equality 
Impact Assessment, all of which may be subject regulatory changes 
over the coming months5; background papers on public health, the 
environment and climate change matters will also be essential to inform 
our approach. 

53 Whilst the intention is to move forward as quickly as possible, the exact 
date of the next phase of consultation and engagement will be closely 
informed by the publication, or timetable for publication, of new 
regulations prescribing how ‘new style’ local plans should be prepared. 
It is currently anticipated that this will emerge toward the end of 2025 or 
into early 2026 allowing time for work currently underway to be 
completed and the above evidence base to be prepared. Moving too far 
ahead without published local plan regulations places the council at risk 
of undertaking abortive work or having to repeat stages of a process, at 
cost.  

54 Members will be regularly kept informed on progress of the Local Plan 
and the wider implications of planning reform as they are announced by 
government. 

Consultation and Engagement 

55 The preparation of the new Local Plan will involve a considerable 
amount of public consultation. The Statement of Community 
Involvement (SCI), which came into effect in January 2022, sets out 
how the Council intends to involve all sectors of the community in the 
planning process, including the preparation of planning policy. Through 
the national planning reforms the requirement for councils to prepare 
SCIs is expected to be removed. They will be replaced with a 
requirement to include engagement and consultation arrangements 
within a Project Initiation Document prepared at the start of the plan-
making process.  

 
5 Proposed ‘Environmental Outcome Reports’ will replace much of the SA/HRA process 

Page 119



  
  

 

 

56 The Issues Consultation has been carried out in accordance with the 
Council’s SCI and until changes are made by government, this 
approach will continue to apply to all public management on the Local 
Plan. 

Reasons for Recommendations 

57 There are considerable benefits in maintaining an up-to-date Local 
Plan, including to achieve plan-led decision making. Policies and 
proposals in the Local Plan support many corporate priorities, 
particularly those relating to promoting good health, providing good 
housing for all, achieving a thriving economy for all, enhancing 
biodiversity and tackling climate change.  

58 There are also significant resource and financial efficiencies to be had 
from incorporating the Minerals and Waste Plan into the overall Local 
Plan programme.  

Other Options Considered 

59 The Council could wait for the full legal and policy framework for the 
reformed local plan making system to be put in place before it takes any 
substantive step towards progressing the new Local Plan. The aim of 
seeking feedback on an issues paper, and particular evidence work in 
parallel with that, was to assist the Council advance its Plan within the 
new plan-making system once that opportunity is available.  

Implications and Comments 

Monitoring Officer/Legal 

60 The Issues Paper consultation has been carried out under Regulation 
18 of The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012. This requires the Council to notify various parties 
about new Local Plan and invite feedback on its scope. Any 
representations must then be taken into account in preparing the Plan. 

61 Section 15 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 
local planning authorities to prepare and maintain a LDS specifying, 
among other things, the documents which will become part of the local 
plan for their area and the timetable for their preparation. A LDS must 
be made publicly available so that local communities and interested 
parties can keep track of plan-making progress. 

Section 151 Officer/Finance 

62 As far as possible, the cost of preparing the new Local Plan has been 
reflected in the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 2023-27, and 
is updated for the proposed MTFS 2024 – 2028, however this will need 

Page 120



  
  

 

 

to be kept under review in the light of future changes to the legal and 
national policy framework for local plan preparation. The MTFS takes 
account of an existing earmarked reserve for Local Plan preparation. 

Policy 

63 The Local Plan sets out the Council’s policy for sustainable 
development in the Borough The new Local Plan will be prepared within 
the context of the new Corporate Plan.  

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion 

64 Equality Impact Assessment was prepared alongside the Issues 
consultation and will continue to be carried out during future stages of 
Plan preparation. 

Human Resources 

65 There are no additional human resource implications arising from this 
report. 

Risk Management 

66 Appropriate risk management will be carried out as an integral part of 
the Plan’s project management.  

Rural Communities 

67 An update to the LPS would contain planning policies for the whole of 
the borough, including rural areas.  

Children and Young People including Cared for Children, care leavers and 
Children with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND) 

68 The well-being of young people and cared for children would be an 
important objective that any revised policies will seek to support. 

Public Health 

69 Promoting good health for all will be a central objective of the new Local 
Plan.  

Climate Change 

70 The new Local Plan will provide an opportunity to go further with 
planning policies to mitigate climate change, recognising the Council’s 
pledge to become a carbon neutral borough by 2045. 

 

Page 121



  
  

 

 

Access to Information 

Contact Officer: Tom Evans, Strategic and Environmental Planning 
Manager 

Appendices: Appendix 1: Report of Consultation 

Appendix 2: Updated Local Development Scheme 

Background 
Papers: 

These are referenced in the report and links are 
provided in footnotes.  

 

 

Page 122



 

table

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

New local plan for Cheshire East 

 
 

Issues paper report of consultation 

November 2024 

Page 123



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 

Front cover images 

• Crewe Market Hall and Municipal Buildings (top left) 

• Arclid north site plant and lake (image supplied by Bathgate Silica Sand Ltd) 
(top right) 

• Jodrell Bank Observatory (centre) 

• Lamberts Lane Bridge, Congleton (bottom right) 

• Tabley Park , Northwich Road, Knutsford (bottom left)  

Page 124



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 

Contents 

1 Introduction .................................................................................................... 4 

Purpose of the consultation ............................................................................. 4 
Regulations...................................................................................................... 4 
Statement of Community Involvement ............................................................. 5 

2 Consultation details ...................................................................................... 5 

Consultation documents .................................................................................. 5 
Issues paper for the new local plan ...................................................... 5 
Supporting reports ................................................................................ 6 
Call for sites .......................................................................................... 7 

Document availability ....................................................................................... 8 
Consultation questions .................................................................................... 9 
Submitting responses .................................................................................... 15 

3 Publicity and engagement .......................................................................... 15 

Notification of the consultation ....................................................................... 15 
Specific and general consultation bodies ............................................ 16 
Planning policy consultation database ................................................ 16 
Other notifications ............................................................................... 16 

Publicity ......................................................................................................... 17 
Website ............................................................................................... 17 
Media release ..................................................................................... 17 
Newsletters ......................................................................................... 17 
Social media ....................................................................................... 17 

Other engagement ......................................................................................... 18 
Town and Parish Councils Network .................................................... 18 
Digital Influence Panel ........................................................................ 18 

4 Responses received .................................................................................... 18 

Issues paper for the new local plan ............................................................... 18 
Draft Sustainability Appraisal scoping report ................................................. 23 
Land availability assessment draft methodology ........................................... 23 
Settlement hierarchy review draft methodology ............................................. 24 
Sites for housing or economic uses ............................................................... 24 
Sites and areas for minerals development .................................................... 24 
Sites for waste development.......................................................................... 24 
Sites for habitat provision (for biodiversity net gain) ...................................... 24 

5 Appendices .................................................................................................. 25 

Appendix 1: Formal notice of consultation ..................................................... 26 
Appendix 2: Consultation response forms ..................................................... 27 

Extract from issues paper response form ........................................... 27 
Extract from supporting documents consultation response form ........ 29 
Call for sites form: housing and economic uses .................................. 31 
Call for sites form: habitats sites for biodiversity net gain ................... 41 
Call for minerals sites and areas form ................................................ 47 
Call for waste sites form ...................................................................... 57 

Page 125



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 

Appendix 3: Consultation portal screenshots ................................................ 67 
Issues paper consultation ................................................................... 67 
Draft Sustainability Appraisal scoping report consultation .................. 68 
Land availability assessment draft methodology consultation ............. 69 
Settlement hierarchy draft methodology consultation ......................... 70 
Call for sites: housing and economic uses .......................................... 71 
Call for sites: habitats sites for biodiversity net gain ........................... 72 
Call for sites: minerals sites and areas ............................................... 73 
Call for sites: waste sites .................................................................... 74 

Appendix 4: Specific consultation bodies ...................................................... 75 
Appendix 5: Notification letters and emails .................................................... 76 

General notification email ................................................................... 76 
General notification letter .................................................................... 77 

Appendix 6: Website screenshots ................................................................. 78 
New local plan webpage ..................................................................... 78 
Extract from the council’s consultations webpage .............................. 81 
Extract from the council’s website homepage ..................................... 82 

Appendix 7: Media release ............................................................................ 83 
Appendix 8: Example newsletter ................................................................... 84 
Appendix 9: Example social media posts ...................................................... 85 
Appendix 10: Summary of the main issues raised (issues paper) ................. 86 

Chapter 1: Introduction ....................................................................... 86 
Chapter 2: Responding to the climate emergency .............................. 89 
Chapter 3: Healthy and safe communities ........................................ 101 
Chapter 4: Design ............................................................................. 117 
Chapter 5: Our natural environment ................................................. 121 
Chapter 6: Homes for everyone ........................................................ 133 
Chapter 7: Town centres and retail ................................................... 156 
Chapter 8: Jobs, skills and economy ................................................ 163 
Chapter 9: Transport and infrastructure ............................................ 181 
Chapter 10: Historic environment ..................................................... 198 
Chapter 11: Towns and villages ........................................................ 205 
Chapter 12: Rural matters ................................................................. 225 
Chapter 13: Minerals......................................................................... 234 
Chapter 14: Waste ............................................................................ 238 
Chapter 15: Other issues and next steps .......................................... 241 

Appendix 11: Summary of the main issues raised (land availability 
assessment draft methodology)................................................................... 244 
Appendix 12: Summary of the main issues raised (settlement hierarchy review 
draft methodology) ....................................................................................... 261 

 

 

Page 126



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 4 

1 Introduction 

1.1 A local plan sets out how development (such as homes, business growth and 
infrastructure) should take place in the future. It also contains policies to help 
protect and enhance the environment, and contribute to creating attractive 
places where people can live active and healthy lives. Its policies are used to 
make decisions on planning applications. 

1.2 Our current local plan covers the period from 2010 to 2030, but we have 
started to prepare its replacement now due to changes to national planning 
policy, the requirement to review plans regularly, and the long time it takes to 
prepare a new plan. 

1.3 This report provides information on the consultation on the issues paper for 
the new local plan, plus consultations on some supporting reports and a call 
for sites exercise. It describes: 

• Why we carried out the consultations 

• What we consulted on 

• How we carried out the consultations 

• The responses received 

Purpose of the consultation 

1.4 Consultation on the issues paper was the first important step in producing a 
new local plan. It sets out a number of issues that the new local plan may 
need to consider, and the consultation provided the opportunity for people to 
tell us what issues they think the new plan should address and how it can 
help tackle local priorities. 

1.5 Alongside the issues paper, we also sought views on some supporting 
reports that will help to inform and provide evidence for future policies and 
proposals in the new local plan. In addition, we invited people to submit sites 
that they consider are suitable and available for future development, for 
assessment through the Housing and Economic Land Availability 
Assessment. 

Regulations 

1.6 The preparation of a local plan is currently directed by the Town and Country 
Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended)1. The 
plan-making system is currently undergoing significant reform and the 
previous government’s stated intention was that the necessary regulations, 
revisions to the National Planning Policy Framework, National Development 
Management Policies and new guidance to support plan making would all be 
in place by the autumn of 2024. The new government now seeks to 

 

1 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/contents  

Page 127

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/contents


 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 5 

implement a new plan-making system in the summer or autumn of 2025 and 
there remains significant and ongoing uncertainty about the implementation 
of national reforms, including when individual councils may be permitted to 
formally start to prepare a new local plan under a new system. 

1.7 Therefore, this initial consultation on the issues paper and supporting 
documents was carried out in accordance with the current regulations, in line 
with Regulation 18 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) Regulations 2012 (as amended). 

Statement of Community Involvement 

1.8 The regulations also require consultation to be carried out in accordance with 
the council’s Statement of Community Involvement. The current Statement of 
Community Involvement2 came into effect in January 2022 and sets out how 
the council will involve people on the plan-preparation process. 

2 Consultation details 

2.1 The decision to consult on the issues paper, supporting documents and call 
for sites was made at the meeting of the Environment and Communities 
Committee on 11th March 20243. 

2.2 The consultations ran for 12 weeks from 8th April until 5:00pm on 1st July 
2024. 

Consultation documents 

2.3 Consultation took place on the issues paper for the new local plan, plus the 
following supporting documents: the Draft Sustainability Appraisal Scoping 
Report, a land availability assessment draft methodology, and a draft 
methodology for carrying out a review of the settlement hierarchy. Under the 
call for sites, submissions of sites were invited for housing and economic 
uses, minerals development, waste development, and sites for habitat 
provision (for biodiversity net gain). 

2.4 The consultation documents remain available for viewing via the council’s 
website at www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/newlocalplan.  

Issues paper for the new local plan 

2.5 The issues paper set out a number of issues that the new local plan may 
need to consider. It is organised under various subject areas and asked a 
number of questions for each subject. 

 

2 https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial-planning/cheshire_east_local_plan/sci.aspx  
3 https://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/ecminutes/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=962&MId=9860  

Page 128

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial-planning/cheshire_east_local_plan/sci.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial-planning/cheshire_east_local_plan/sci.aspx
https://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/ecminutes/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=962&MId=9860
https://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/ecminutes/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=962&MId=9860
http://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/newlocalplan
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial-planning/cheshire_east_local_plan/sci.aspx
https://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/ecminutes/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=962&MId=9860


 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 6 

2.6 A separate background topic paper was also produced for each subject area 
covered in the issues paper. Whilst these were not the subject of the 
consultation, they provided further background information and statistics for 
those that wished to find out more about any particular subject area. 
Background topic papers were produced on: 

• Responding to the climate emergency 

• Healthy and safe communities 

• Design 

• Our natural environment 

• Homes for everyone 

• Town centres and retail 

• Jobs, skills and economy 

• Transport and infrastructure 

• Historic environment 

• Towns and villages 

• Rural matters 

• Minerals 

• Waste 

2.7 The issues paper was also accompanied by the issues paper consultation 
response form and a formal notice of consultation. The formal notice of 
consultation is included in Appendix 1. 

Supporting reports 

2.8 At the same time as inviting feedback on the issues paper, we also sought 
views on a number of draft reports that will help to inform future policies and 
proposals in the new local plan. A supporting documents consultation 
response form was also published to submit responses on these documents. 

Draft Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report 

2.9 All local plans must be informed by a sustainability appraisal through which 
emerging policies and proposals are assessed against a list of 
environmental, social and economic considerations. The appraisal helps to 
inform decisions about how policies are written and how development 
proposals should come forward. 

2.10 The scoping report will set the scope of the assessment under the 
sustainability appraisal. During the consultation, feedback on the draft 
scoping report was invited about whether all the relevant considerations have 
been captured. The purpose of the consultation was to: 

• make sure the SA is comprehensive and robust enough to support the 
new local plan 

• make sure that the assessment methodology is comprehensive 

• advise on the appropriateness of sustainability objectives 

• advise on the appropriateness of key sustainability issues 

Page 129



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 7 

• advise on the comprehensives of the baseline data. 

Land availability assessment draft methodology 

2.11 The land availability assessment will identify what land may be available to 
help meet the future development needs of the borough (for housing, 
employment and other uses) and will be an important piece of evidence to 
inform future policies and proposals in the new local plan.  

2.12 The land availability assessment will be used alongside a suite of relevant 
technical reports and analysis, to inform the development strategy for the 
plan area and subsequently, to inform the site selection process and 
formation of policy criteria. It will also be used to identify available land for 
inclusion in the Part 1 Brownfield Land Register4.  

2.13 The methodology sets out how a land availability assessment will be 
prepared and during the consultation, feedback was invited on the draft 
methodology for people to let us know how they think the assessment of sites 
should be carried out. 

Settlement hierarchy review draft methodology 

2.14 The establishment of a clear settlement hierarchy helps to inform, alongside 
other information, how future development needs will be met. The current 
settlement hierarchy (set out in the existing local plan) provides a helpful 
starting point for this work. During the consultation, we invited feedback on 
the draft methodology for updating the settlement hierarchy in the new plan. 

Call for sites 

2.15 Alongside consultation on the issues paper and supporting documents, we 
also carried out a “call for sites” exercise and invited the submission of sites 
for consideration. 

2.16 Separate submission forms were published for sites for housing or economic 
uses; sites and areas for minerals development; sites for waste development; 
and sites for habitat provision. 

Sites for housing or economic uses 

2.17 Landowners, developers, local residents and other parties were invited to put 
forward sites with a minimum developable area of at least 0.25 hectares (and 
could deliver 5 or more dwellings/500 sq.m of floorspace) that they consider 
suitable and available for future housing and economic development. 

2.18 The sites put forward will be considered when the council prepares its next 
land availability assessment. It is important to note that the submission of a 

 

4 https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial-planning/brownfield-register.aspx  

Page 130

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial-planning/brownfield-register.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial-planning/brownfield-register.aspx


 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 8 

site, assessment of that site, or its inclusion in any future land availability 
assessment does not determine whether a site should be allocated for future 
development or whether planning permission should be granted. 

Sites and areas for minerals development 

2.19 Landowners, mineral operators and other parties were invited to put forward 
new sites/areas to the council that they consider are suitable and available 
for future minerals related development in the borough. This information will 
be used to help inform any land allocations for minerals development in the 
new local plan. 

Site for waste development 

2.20 Landowners, waste operators and other parties were invited to put forward 
new sites to the council that they consider are suitable and available for 
future waste related development in the borough. This information will be 
used to help inform any land allocations for waste development in the new 
local plan. 

Sites for habitat provision (for biodiversity net gain) 

2.21 Landowners, developers, local residents and other parties were invited to put 
forward sites that they consider suitable for habitat provision and the sale of 
biodiversity units. Establishing land for the purposes of habitat provision is a 
process that can be undertaken at any time, independent of the local plan 
process, and does not require formal allocation via the local plan. 

2.22 However, providing information helps the council to understand the potential 
availability of land for habitat provision. Sites submitted for the purposes of 
habitat provision have been recorded, held on a register and shared to 
bodies working to establish the Local Nature Recovery Strategy for Cheshire 
and Warrington. Establishing a record of sites that may be suitable for habitat 
provision may also assist the council’s development processes in the future. 

Document availability 

2.23 All the consultation documents, consultation response forms, site submission 
forms, and the formal notice of consultation were available for inspection on 
the council’s website at www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/newlocalplan. 

2.24 Copies of all the consultation documents and the formal notice of consultation 
were also available for inspection at the council’s customer service centres at 
Delamere House, Crewe and Macclesfield Town Hall. Printed copies of all 
the response forms were available for collection from these locations. 

2.25 In addition, copies of the issues paper consultation document and the formal 
notice of consultation were available for inspection at all public libraries in 
Cheshire East during their normal opening hours and copies of the issues 
paper consultation response form were available for collection. 

Page 131

http://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/newlocalplan


 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 9 

2.26 Email and telephone contact details were also advertised on the website and 
on the printed formal notices in case of any difficulties in accessing the 
consultation documents. 

Consultation questions 

2.27 The issues paper was set out as a structured consultation document. It was 
organised under a number of section headings and asked several specific 
questions under each heading. It also provided an opportunity at the end to 
raise any other issues through the consultation. 

2.28 The specific consultation questions were: 

• Section 1: Introduction 

o Q1a: What date do you think the new local plan period should 
run to, giving reasons why you think it would be appropriate? 

o Q1b: How can the local plan's vision complement and add land 
use specific details to the vision and aims of the current 
Cheshire East Corporate Plan? 

• Section 2: Responding to the climate emergency 

o Q2a: Have we identified the correct issues for the local plan to 
address in terms of reducing our emissions and contribution to 
climate change? Are there any other issues that the local plan 
should consider? 

o Q2b: Have we identified the correct issues for the local plan to 
address in terms of adapting to the effects of climate change? 
Are there any other issues that the local plan should consider? 

o Q2c: Are there any other matters related to the climate 
emergency that the new local plan should consider? 

• Section 3: Healthy and safe communities 

o Q3a: Given the importance of open space for everyone, are 
there any specific approaches that the local plan should 
consider? 

o Q3b: How can the local plan minimise the effects from all types 
of pollution and contamination around the borough? 

o Q3c: How can the local plan help to improve air quality across 
Cheshire East? 

o Q3d: How can the local plan help to create communities and 
areas where everyone feels safe? 

Page 132



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 10 

o Q3e: How can the local plan help to reduce health inequalities 
across the borough? 

o Q3f: Are there any other matters related to healthy and safe 
communities that the new local plan should consider? 

• Section 4: Design 

o Q4a: What approach should be taken in preparing the Cheshire 
East Design Code? For example, should it be a strategic level 
code or be broken down into smaller areas and/or development 
types? How should residents, site promoters and stakeholders 
be involved in the process? Should the design code be 
prepared as part of the new local plan or as a separate 
development plan document? 

o Q4b: Are there any other matters related to design that the new 
local plan should consider? 

• Section 5: Our natural environment 

o Q5a: What approaches or measures should be incorporated in 
the new local plan to protect and improve biodiversity? 

o Q5b: How can the new local plan help to make sure that 
developments take proper account of, and respect, the 
landscapes of Cheshire East? 

o Q5c: Are there any other matters related to our natural 
environment that the new local plan should consider? 

• Section 6: Homes for everyone 

o Q6a: Should the standard method calculation of 1,014 new 
homes per annum be used  when preparing the new local plan? 
If not, what are the circumstances that would warrant a different 
approach? 

o Q6b: How could the local plan influence the mix of housing 
sizes within new developments? 

o Q6c: How can the local plan address the needs of an ageing 
population? 

o Q6d: What types of specialist or older people’s housing are 
needed in Cheshire East and why? 

o Q6e: How could the local plan support the delivery of small and 
medium sized housing sites in Cheshire East? 

o Q6f: How could the new local plan support the delivery of self 
and custom build housing including small sites? 

Page 133



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 11 

o Q6g: How could the new local plan support the development of 
community-led housing including small sites and exceptions 
sites? 

o Q6h: How could the local plan address the need for affordable 
housing? Should the same approach be used across Cheshire 
East? 

o Q6i: How could the new local plan address the need for First 
Homes including exceptions sites? Should additional eligibility 
criteria for First Homes be introduced and should the same 
approach be used across Cheshire East? 

o Q6j: How could the new local plan encourage the provision of 
new homes through rural exceptions developments? 

o Q6k: Should the local plan include wheelchair and accessibility 
standards and what proportion of new homes and specialist 
housing should comply with those standards? 

o Q6l: Should the next local plan require all new homes to meet 
the nationally described space standard and, if not, why? 

o Q6m: How could the council meet future needs for pitches for 
Gypsies and Travellers and plots for Travelling Showpeople? 

o Q6n: Have we identified the correct housing issues for the local 
plan to address? Are there any other matters related to homes 
for everyone that the new local plan should consider? 

• Section 7: Town centres and retail 

o Q7a: Have we identified the correct town centres issues for the 
new local plan to address? Are there any other issues that the 
new local plan should consider? 

o Q7b: Have we identified the correct retailing issues for the local 
plan to address? Are there any other issues that the local plan 
should consider? 

o Q7c: Are there any other matters related to town centres and 
retail that the new local plan should consider? 

• Section 8: Jobs, skills and economy 

o Q8a: How can the local plan support new and existing 
businesses? 

o Q8b: Are there any sectors that borough does not currently 
make provision for, and should? If so, please expand on your 
answer. 

Page 134



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 12 

o Q8c: What approaches can the local plan take to support the 
green economy? 

o Q8d: How should the local plan address the future need for 
logistics? 

o Q8e: How can this be balanced with the need to minimise 
negative impacts on the environment and the transport 
network? 

o Q8f: What evidence is needed to support appropriate planning 
policies? 

o Q8g: How can the local plan support tourism and the visitor 
economy? 

o Q8h: How can the local plan help minimise the skills gap and 
make sure that local people can take advantage of 
opportunities? 

o Q8i: Are there any other matters related to jobs, skills and 
economy that the new local plan should consider? 

• Section 9: Transport and infrastructure 

o Q9a: How can we support active travel through policies in the 
new local plan? 

o Q9b: How can public transport be supported through policies in 
the new local plan? 

o Q9c: Are the current parking standards suitable and is there 
anything further in planning policy that the council should do in 
relation to parking? 

o Q9d: Is there any more the council should be doing regarding 
the seeking and use of developer contributions that is 
achievable within the strict planning regulations framework that 
governs this matter? 

o Q9e: Are there any particular requirements for new or improved 
infrastructure that you consider are needed to support further 
development in the borough and should be provided for as part 
of the new local plan process? 

o Q9f: Are there any other matters related to transport and 
infrastructure that the new local plan should consider? 

• Section 10: Historic environment 

o Q10a: If general policies relating to the protection of heritage 
assets are included within National Development Management 

Page 135



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 13 

Policies in the future, are there other heritage matters that 
would still need to be included within the policies of the new 
local plan? 

o Q10b: Do you agree with the proposed approach to provide 
appropriate protection to the Jodrell Bank Observatory World 
Heritage Site? 

o Q10c: Are there any other matters related to the historic 
environment that the new local plan should consider? 

• Section 11: Towns and villages 

o Q11a: Do you agree with the proposed approach to reviewing 
and updating the settlement hierarchy? Are there any other 
factors that we should consider? 

o Q11b: Have we identified the right matters to take into account 
when considering the distribution of development across the 
borough? What else should be considered? 

o Q11c: How can the local plan best support and encourage the 
re-use of previously developed and urban land whilst making 
sure that sufficient development comes forward to meet needs? 

o Q11d: Have we broadly identified the right matters to take into 
account when considering which sites to include in the local 
plan? What else should be considered? 

o Q11e: How can the local plan support existing and/or proposed 
community facilities? 

o Q11f: Are there any specific issues in your town, village or local 
area that the new local plan should help to address? Please tell 
us what the issue is, which town or village it affects and how 
you think the new local plan could help to address the issue. 

o Q11g: Are there any other matters related to towns and villages 
that the new local plan should consider? 

• Section 12: Rural matters 

o Q12a: What policies should be included in the new local plan to 
support the role of agriculture in Cheshire East? 

o Q12b: What policies should be included in the new local plan to 
protect the best and most versatile agricultural land? How can 
the plan also recognise and promote the benefits of other 
agricultural land? 

Page 136



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 14 

o Q12c: What types of development should the new local plan 
allow for in countryside areas? What types of uses are 
appropriate in a rural area? 

o Q12d: Are there are other local plan policies that could help to 
support the sustainability of rural communities? 

o Q12e: Are there any “exceptional circumstances” that would 
justify making further alterations to the Green Belt boundaries in 
the next local plan? 

o Q12f: What approach should be taken to the strategic green 
gaps in the new local plan? Are there any other gaps that would 
warrant additional protection in the plan? 

o Q12g: Are there any other rural matters that the new local plan 
should consider? 

• Section 13: Minerals 

o Q13a: Should the council prepare a single local plan including 
minerals and waste policies, or should these continue to be 
progressed in a separate plan? Please give reasons for your 
answer. 

o Q13b: Do you have any comments on the policies the council 
should develop to meet national requirements around the 
safeguarding of mineral resources and the need to provide for a 
steady and adequate mineral supply? 

o Q13c: Are there any other minerals matters or specific issues 
that the development of mineral policies should address in the 
new local plan? 

• Section 14: Waste 

o Q14a: Should the council safeguard all waste sites or just those 
considered to be of strategic importance? 

o Q14b: Should the council have a dual safeguarding approach of 
identifying a minimum buffer around waste management 
facilities and infrastructure, as well as a wider buffer where this 
is considered appropriate? 

o Q14c: Are there any other waste matters or specific issues that 
the development of waste policies should address in the new 
local plan? 

• Section 15: Other issues and next steps 

Page 137



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 15 

o Q15: Are there any other issues that the new local plan should 
address, that are not covered within any of the topic areas set 
out in this issues paper? 

2.29 The supporting reports (Draft Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report, land 
availability assessment draft methodology, and settlement hierarchy review 
draft methodology) were written as draft reports. There were no specific 
consultation questions associated with these supporting reports, but the 
consultation provided the opportunity to submit views on the draft approaches 
set out in those documents. 

2.30 The site submission forms also asked a series of questions, which were 
tailored to the type of site being submitted (housing and economic uses sites; 
minerals sites/areas; waste sites; and sites for habitat creation). 

2.31 Copies of all the consultation response forms and site submissions forms are 
included in Appendix 2. 

Submitting responses 

2.32 Consultation responses could be made using the council’s planning policy 
consultation portal, accessed from the council’s website, by email or by post. 
The use of the consultation portal or the published response forms was 
encouraged but all responses were accepted, regardless of the method of 
submission. 

2.33 Screenshots from the planning policy consultation portal are shown in 
Appendix 3. 

3 Publicity and engagement 

3.1 This section sets out the publicity and engagement activities that were carried 
out during the consultation period. 

Notification of the consultation 

3.2 The council maintains a comprehensive database of stakeholders for 
planning policy consultations. This database includes consultees from each 
of the following categories5: 

• Specific consultation bodies 

• General consultation bodies 

• Duty to co-operate stakeholders 

• Other consultation bodies, individuals and other stakeholders 

 

5 General and specific consultation bodies and Duty to co-operate bodies are set out in Regulations 2  
and 4 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended). 

Page 138



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 16 

3.3 At the start of the consultation period, direct notifications were sent to all 
stakeholders on the database, unless they had unsubscribed from email 
updates or had indicated that they did not wish to be informed of new 
planning policy consultations. 

Specific and general consultation bodies 

3.4 Notifications were sent to all the specific consultation bodies listed in the 
Regulations. A list of specific consultation bodies is set out in Appendix 4. 

3.5 Notifications were also sent to general consultation bodies, in each of the 
categories set out in the Regulations: 

• Voluntary bodies some or all of whose activities benefit any part of the 
local planning authority’s area. 

• Bodies which represent the interests of different racial, ethnic or 
national groups in the local planning authority’s area. 

• Bodies which represent the interests of different religious groups in the 
local planning authority’s area. 

• Bodies which represent the interests of disabled persons in the local 
planning authority’s area. 

• Bodies which represent the interests of persons carrying on business 
in the local planning authority’s area. 

Planning policy consultation database 

3.6 In addition to the specific and general consultation bodes, notification of the 
consultation was sent to all stakeholders on the council’s Local Plan 
consultation database including residents and persons carrying on business 
in the area. 

3.7 These notifications to the specific consultation bodies, general consultation 
bodies, and other stakeholders on the database consisted of 2,257 emails 
and 173 posted letters to different people/organisations. 

3.8 Copies of emails and letters sent out are included in Appendix 5. 

Other notifications 

3.9 Separate email notifications were sent to the 12 town councils, 90 
parish/community councils and 4 parish meetings in the borough, as well as 
the 5 Members of Parliament whose constituencies were wholly or partly 
within the borough. All 82 Cheshire East Council members were notified 
through the Member Bulletin. 

Page 139



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 17 

3.10 In accordance with the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes 
Regulations 2004, the SA Scoping Report was sent to the statutory Strategic 
Environmental Assessment consultation bodies with environmental 
responsibilities (Environment Agency, Historic England and Natural England). 

Publicity 

3.11 In addition to the notifications detailed above, several activities were carried 
out to publicise the consultation. 

Website 

3.12 In addition to the dedicated new local plan page6 on the council’s website, 
there were also signposts to the consultation from the council’s consultation 
page7 and the current local plan page8 throughout the consultation period. At 
the start of the consultation period, the consultation was also highlighted in 
the ‘Latest news’ section of the council’s homepage9. 

3.13 Screenshots from selected webpages are shown in Appendix 6. 

Media release 

3.14 A media release titled ‘Work starts on a new Cheshire East Local Plan’ was 
issued on 10 April 2024. A copy of the media release is included in Appendix 
7. 

Newsletters 

3.15 Information about the consultation was included in the ‘Cheshire East Council 
news and updates’ email newsletter every week throughout the consultation 
period. The newsletter has a circulation of nearly 4,000 subscribers and an 
example newsletter is included in Appendix 8. 

3.16 There was also an article about the consultation in ‘Team Voice’ (the 
council’s weekly staff newsletter) on 11 April 2024. 

Social media 

3.17 During the consultation period, information about the consultation was posted 
periodically on the council’s social media channels, including X (formerly 
Twitter), Facebook and LinkedIn. Examples of social media posts are 
included in Appendix 9. 

 

6 www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/newlocalplan 
7 www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/consultations 
8 www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/localplan  
9 www.cheshireeast.gov.uk  

Page 140

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial-planning/cheshire_east_local_plan/new-local-plan.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council_and_democracy/council_information/consultations/consultations.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council_and_democracy/council_information/consultations/consultations.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial-planning/cheshire_east_local_plan/cheshire_east_local_plan.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/home.aspx
http://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/newlocalplan
http://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/consultations
http://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/localplan
http://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/


 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 18 

Other engagement 

3.18 Other engagement activities are detailed below. 

Town and Parish Councils Network 

3.19 On 14 May 2024, the Town and Parish Councils Network10 event received a 
presentation on the new local plan plus the issues paper consultation, and 
this was followed by a question and answer session. 

Digital Influence Panel 

3.20 Consultation materials were sent out to approximately 2,200 members of the 
council’s Digital Influence Panel11. 

4 Responses received 

Issues paper for the new local plan 

4.1 In total, 2,678 responses to questions were received from 156 
individuals/organisations. 

4.2 The number of responses received to each question is set out in the Table 
below. 

No. Question Responses 

Q1a What date do you think the new local plan period should run 
to, giving reasons why you think it would be appropriate? 

96 

Q1b How can the local plan's vision complement and add land use 
specific details to the vision and aims of the current Cheshire 
East Corporate Plan? 

46 

Q2a Have we identified the correct issues for the local plan to 
address in terms of reducing our emissions and contribution to 
climate change? Are there any other issues that the local plan 
should consider? 

80 

Q2b Have we identified the correct issues for the local plan to 
address in terms of adapting to the effects of climate change? 
Are there any other issues that the local plan should 
consider? 

57 

 

10 https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council_and_democracy/voting_and_elections/ 
town_and_parish_councils/local_council_communications.aspx  

11 https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council_and_democracy/council_information/consultations/ 
the_digital_influence_panel.aspx  

Page 141

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council_and_democracy/voting_and_elections/town_and_parish_councils/local_council_communications.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council_and_democracy/council_information/consultations/the_digital_influence_panel.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council_and_democracy/voting_and_elections/town_and_parish_councils/local_council_communications.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council_and_democracy/voting_and_elections/town_and_parish_councils/local_council_communications.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council_and_democracy/council_information/consultations/the_digital_influence_panel.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council_and_democracy/council_information/consultations/the_digital_influence_panel.aspx


 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 19 

No. Question Responses 

Q2c Are there any other matters related to the climate emergency 
that the new local plan should consider? 

47 

Q3a Given the importance of open space for everyone, are there 
any specific approaches that the local plan should consider? 

73 

Q3b How can the local plan minimise the effects from all types of 
pollution and contamination around the borough? 

46 

Q3c How can the local plan help to improve air quality across 
Cheshire East? 

40 

Q3d How can the local plan help to create communities and areas 
where everyone feels safe? 

25 

Q3e How can the local plan help to reduce health inequalities 
across the borough? 

39 

Q3f Are there any other matters related to healthy and safe 
communities that the new local plan should consider? 

18 

Q4a What approach should be taken in preparing the Cheshire 
East Design Code? For example, should it be a strategic level 
code or be broken down into smaller areas and/or 
development types? How should residents, site promoters 
and stakeholders be involved in the process? Should the 
design code be prepared as part of the new local plan or as a 
separate development plan document? 

73 

Q4b Are there any other matters related to design that the new 
local plan should consider? 

31 

Q5a What approaches or measures should be incorporated in the 
new local plan to protect and improve biodiversity? 

65 

Q5b How can the new local plan help to make sure that 
developments take proper account of, and respect, the 
landscapes of Cheshire East? 

35 

Q5c Are there any other matters related to our natural environment 
that the new local plan should consider? 

22 

Q6a Should the standard method calculation of 1,014 new homes 
per annum be used  when preparing the new local plan? If 
not, what are the circumstances that would warrant a different 
approach? 

92 

Q6b How could the local plan influence the mix of housing sizes 
within new developments? 

76 

Q6c How can the local plan address the needs of an ageing 
population? 

53 

Q6d What types of specialist or older people’s housing are needed 
in Cheshire East and why? 

41 

Page 142



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 20 

No. Question Responses 

Q6e How could the local plan support the delivery of small and 
medium sized housing sites in Cheshire East? 

49 

Q6f How could the new local plan support the delivery of self and 
custom build housing including small sites? 

40 

Q6g How could the new local plan support the development of 
community-led housing including small sites and exceptions 
sites? 

22 

Q6h How could the local plan address the need for affordable 
housing? Should the same approach be used across 
Cheshire East? 

82 

Q6i How could the new local plan address the need for First 
Homes including exceptions sites? Should additional eligibility 
criteria for First Homes be introduced and should the same 
approach be used across Cheshire East? 

39 

Q6j How could the new local plan encourage the provision of new 
homes through rural exceptions developments? 

25 

Q6k Should the local plan include wheelchair and accessibility 
standards and what proportion of new homes and specialist 
housing should comply with those standards? 

54 

Q6l Should the next local plan require all new homes to meet the 
nationally described space standard and, if not, why? 

36 

Q6m How could the council meet future needs for pitches for 
Gypsies and Travellers and plots for Travelling Showpeople? 

10 

Q6n Have we identified the correct housing issues for the local 
plan to address? Are there any other matters related to homes 
for everyone that the new local plan should consider? 

38 

Q7a Have we identified the correct town centres issues for the new 
local plan to address? Are there any other issues that the new 
local plan should consider? 

34 

Q7b Have we identified the correct retailing issues for the local 
plan to address? Are there any other issues that the local plan 
should consider? 

25 

Q7c Are there any other matters related to town centres and retail 
that the new local plan should consider? 

19 

Q8a How can the local plan support new and existing businesses? 36 

Q8b Are there any sectors that borough does not currently make 
provision for, and should? If so, please expand on your 
answer. 

17 

Q8c What approaches can the local plan take to support the green 
economy? 

22 

Page 143



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 21 

No. Question Responses 

Q8d How should the local plan address the future need for 
logistics? 

24 

Q8e How can this be balanced with the need to minimise negative 
impacts on the environment and the transport network? 

16 

Q8f What evidence is needed to support appropriate planning 
policies? 

15 

Q8g How can the local plan support tourism and the visitor 
economy? 

22 

Q8h How can the local plan help minimise the skills gap and make 
sure that local people can take advantage of opportunities? 

15 

Q8i Are there any other matters related to jobs, skills and 
economy that the new local plan should consider? 

14 

Q9a How can we support active travel through policies in the new 
local plan? 

50 

Q9b How can public transport be supported through policies in the 
new local plan? 

45 

Q9c Are the current parking standards suitable and is there 
anything further in planning policy that the council should do in 
relation to parking? 

37 

Q9d Is there any more the council should be doing regarding the 
seeking and use of developer contributions that is achievable 
within the strict planning regulations framework that governs 
this matter? 

44 

Q9e Are there any particular requirements for new or improved 
infrastructure that you consider are needed to support further 
development in the borough and should be provided for as 
part of the new local plan process? 

39 

Q9f Are there any other matters related to transport and 
infrastructure that the new local plan should consider? 

25 

Q10a If general policies relating to the protection of heritage assets 
are included within National Development Management 
Policies in the future, are there other heritage matters that 
would still need to be included within the policies of the new 
local plan? 

26 

Q10b Do you agree with the proposed approach to provide 
appropriate protection to the Jodrell Bank Observatory World 
Heritage Site? 

30 

Q10c Are there any other matters related to the historic environment 
that the new local plan should consider? 

19 

Page 144



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 22 

No. Question Responses 

Q11a Do you agree with the proposed approach to reviewing and 
updating the settlement hierarchy? Are there any other factors 
that we should consider? 

88 

Q11b Have we identified the right matters to take into account when 
considering the distribution of development across the 
borough? What else should be considered? 

88 

Q11c How can the local plan best support and encourage the re-use 
of previously developed and urban land whilst making sure 
that sufficient development comes forward to meet needs? 

58 

Q11d Have we broadly identified the right matters to take into 
account when considering which sites to include in the local 
plan? What else should be considered? 

64 

Q11e How can the local plan support existing and/or proposed 
community facilities? 

40 

Q11f Are there any specific issues in your town, village or local area 
that the new local plan should help to address? Please tell us 
what the issue is, which town or village it affects and how you 
think the new local plan could help to address the issue. 

40 

Q11g Are there any other matters related to towns and villages that 
the new local plan should consider? 

14 

Q12a What policies should be included in the new local plan to 
support the role of agriculture in Cheshire East? 

15 

Q12b What policies should be included in the new local plan to 
protect the best and most versatile agricultural land? How can 
the plan also recognise and promote the benefits of other 
agricultural land? 

18 

Q12c What types of development should the new local plan allow 
for in countryside areas? What types of uses are appropriate 
in a rural area? 

22 

Q12d Are there are other local plan policies that could help to 
support the sustainability of rural communities? 

10 

Q12e Are there any “exceptional circumstances” that would justify 
making further alterations to the Green Belt boundaries in the 
next local plan? 

49 

Q12f What approach should be taken to the strategic green gaps in 
the new local plan? Are there any other gaps that would 
warrant additional protection in the plan? 

32 

Q12g Are there any other rural matters that the new local plan 
should consider? 

15 

Q13a Should the council prepare a single local plan including 
minerals and waste policies, or should these continue to be 

15 

Page 145



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 23 

No. Question Responses 

progressed in a separate plan? Please give reasons for your 
answer. 

Q13b Do you have any comments on the policies the council should 
develop to meet national requirements around the 
safeguarding of mineral resources and the need to provide for 
a steady and adequate mineral supply? 

10 

Q13c Are there any other minerals matters or specific issues that 
the development of mineral policies should address in the new 
local plan? 

13 

Q14a Should the council safeguard all waste sites or just those 
considered to be of strategic importance? 

11 

Q14b Should the council have a dual safeguarding approach of 
identifying a minimum buffer around waste management 
facilities and infrastructure, as well as a wider buffer where 
this is considered appropriate? 

8 

Q14c Are there any other waste matters or specific issues that the 
development of waste policies should address in the new local 
plan? 

11 

Q15 Are there any other issues that the new local plan should 
address, that are not covered within any of the topic areas set 
out in this issues paper? 

33 

Table 1: Number of responses by question 

4.3 A summary of the main issues raised for each question is set out in Appendix 
10, and all the responses received will be considered fully as part of the 
production of the new local plan. 

Draft Sustainability Appraisal scoping report 

4.4 In total, 74 comments were received from 9 different consultees. A summary 
of the main issues raised is set out in Appendix 11 and all the responses 
received will be fully considered in the preparation of the final version of the 
Sustainability Appraisal scoping report. 

Land availability assessment draft methodology 

4.5 In total, 55 comments were received from 14 different consultees. A summary 
of the main issues raised is set out in Appendix 12 and all the responses 
received will be fully considered in the preparation of the final version of the 
land availability assessment methodology. 

Page 146



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 24 

Settlement hierarchy review draft methodology 

4.6 In total, 90 comments were received from 13 different consultees. A summary 
of the main issues raised is set out in Appendix 13 and all the responses 
received will be fully considered in the preparation of the final version of the 
settlement hierarchy review methodology. 

Sites for housing or economic uses 

4.7 A wide range of sites were submitted for consideration through the land 
availability assessment. These will be mapped, catalogued and considered 
through the land availability assessment, in accordance with the final version 
of the methodology. 

4.8 Information about the sites, namely site location plans and site assessments, 
will be published in due course as part of the land availability assessment. 

Sites and areas for minerals development 

4.9 5 different sites and areas for minerals development were submitted.  

4.10 These sites and areas will be fully considered, alongside all other minerals 
sites and areas previously submitted, as part of the production of the new 
local plan. 

Sites for waste development 

4.11 1 site for waste development was submitted. 

4.12 This site will be fully considered, alongside all other waste sites previously 
submitted, as part of the production of the new local plan. 

Sites for habitat provision (for biodiversity net gain) 

4.13 7 different sites for habitat provision for biodiversity net gain were submitted. 

4.14 These sites will be shared with bodies working to establish the Local Nature 
Recovery Strategy for Cheshire and Warrington. The potential availability of 
land for habitat provision will also be considered as part of the preparation of 
the new local plan. 

  

Page 147



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 25 

5 Appendices 

  

Page 148



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 26 

Appendix 1: Formal notice of consultation 

  

Page 149



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 27 

Appendix 2: Consultation response forms 

Extract from issues paper response form 

 

Page 150



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 28 

 

  

Page 151



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 29 

Extract from supporting documents consultation response form 

 

Page 152



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 30 

 

  

Page 153



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 31 

Call for sites form: housing and economic uses 

 

Page 154



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 32 

 
 

Page 155



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 33 

 

Page 156



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 34 

 

Page 157



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 35 

 

Page 158



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 36 

 

Page 159



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 37 

 

Page 160



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 38 

 

Page 161



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 39 

 

Page 162



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 40 

 

Page 163



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 41 

Call for sites form: habitats sites for biodiversity net gain 

 

Page 164



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 42 

 

Page 165



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 43 

 

Page 166



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 44 

 

Page 167



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 45 

 

Page 168



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 46 

 

 

Page 169



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 47 

Call for minerals sites and areas form 

 

Page 170



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 48 

 

Page 171



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 49 

 

Page 172



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 50 

 

Page 173



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 51 

 

Page 174



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 52 

 

Page 175



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 53 

 

Page 176



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 54 

 

Page 177



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 55 

 

Page 178



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 56 

 

 

Page 179



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 57 

Call for waste sites form 

 

Page 180



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 58 

 

Page 181



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 59 

 

Page 182



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 60 

 

Page 183



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 61 

 

Page 184



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 62 

 

Page 185



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 63 

 

Page 186



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 64 

 

Page 187



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 65 

 

Page 188



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 66 

 

  

Page 189



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 67 

Appendix 3: Consultation portal screenshots 

Issues paper consultation 

 

  

Page 190



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 68 

Draft Sustainability Appraisal scoping report consultation 

 

  

Page 191



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 69 

Land availability assessment draft methodology consultation 

 

  

Page 192



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 70 

Settlement hierarchy draft methodology consultation 

 

  

Page 193



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 71 

Call for sites: housing and economic uses 

 

  

Page 194



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 72 

Call for sites: habitats sites for biodiversity net gain 

 

  

Page 195



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 73 

Call for sites: minerals sites and areas 

 

  

Page 196



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 74 

Call for sites: waste sites 

 

  

Page 197



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 75 

Appendix 4: Specific consultation bodies 

The following list of consultees is based on the Town and Country Planning (Local 
Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended). 

The local planning authority must consult the specific and general consultation 
bodies set out in Regulation 2 (as appropriate) as well as such residents or 
businesses in the local area as appropriate. 

Specific consultation bodies: 

• The Coal Authority 

• Environment Agency 

• Historic England 

• Marine Management Organisation 

• Natural England 

• Network Rail 

• National Highways 

• Relevant authorities whose are is within or adjoining the local planning 
authority’s area, including town and parish councils; parish meetings; 
neighbouring unitary, district and county councils, the Peak District 
National Park Authority; and the Greater Manchester Combined 
Authority 

• Persons to whom the electronic communications code applies or who 
owns or controls electronic communications apparatus in the local 
planning authority’s area, including BT/Openreach, EE Limited, Sky, 
Talk Talk Communications Ltd, Virgin Media O2, and Vodafone Group 
plc. 

• NHS Cheshire and Merseyside Integrated Care Board 

• NHS England 

• Electricity license holders, including Electricity North West, National 
Grid, SP Energy Networks, United Utilities Electricity Connections, and 
Western Power Distribution. 

• Gas license holders, including Cadent Gas and National Gas 
Transmission 

• United Utilities 

• Homes England 

  

Page 198



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 76 

Appendix 5: Notification letters and emails 

General notification email 

 

  

Page 199



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 77 

General notification letter 

 

Page 200



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 78 

Appendix 6: Website screenshots 

New local plan webpage 

 

Page 201



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 79 

 

Page 202



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 80 

 

  

Page 203



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 81 

Extract from the council’s consultations webpage 

 

Page 204



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 82 

Extract from the council’s website homepage 

 

Page 205



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 83 

Appendix 7: Media release 

 

Page 206



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 84 

Appendix 8: Example newsletter 

 

Page 207



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 85 

Appendix 9: Example social media posts 

                       

         X (formerly Twitter) post                                             Facebook post 

 

 

LinkedIn post 

Page 208



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 86 

Appendix 10: Summary of the main issues raised 
(issues paper)  

A summary of the main issues raised through the consultation on the issues paper 
for the new local plan is set out here. 

At this stage, the council has not responded to each of the issues raised, but they 
will be considered fully as part of the preparation of the new local plan. As required 
by the current Regulations, the future draft of the new local plan submitted to the 
Secretary of State for examination will be accompanied by a consultation statement, 
setting out how each of these main issues raised were taken into account in the 
preparation of the plan. 

Chapter 1: Introduction 

Q1a What date do you think the new local plan period should run to, 
giving reasons why you think it would be appropriate? 

• The Plan should cover a five-year period given that: 

o there is a requirement for it to be very regularly updated;  
o circumstances change very regularly, e.g. to national planning policy, 

requiring frequent updates to policies; and 
o this is consistent with the council’s housing strategy, the Parliamentary 

period of office and Parish and Town Councils elected terms of office.  

• The Plan should have a minimum ten-year period as this would be a long 
enough to address the borough’s medium term development requirements 
whilst limiting the potential for the plan to become out of date due to changes 
in national and local circumstances. 

• If the Plan is adopted in 2028, the Plan period should extend to at least 2043 
which would be in line with the expectation in national planning policy that 
local plans have a 15-year remaining time-life at the point of adoption.  

• The new local plan period should be to 2045. That would: 

o be 15 years from the 2030 end year of the current Local Plan; 
o accord with the council’s target for the Borough to bring all greenhouse 

gas emissions to net zero by 2045; 
o allow for some timescale slippage in the local plan process; and 
o respect relevance limits of the evidence base to support the new local 

plan.  

• A local plan period longer than 15 years would risk confidence in key local 
plan housing and employment projections. 

• The Plan should have regular, five-year reviews. 

Page 209



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 87 

• The Plan period should be more than 15 years period taking account of the 
following: 

o The Council’s ambition for the borough to be ‘net-zero’ by 2045 
o The longer-term delivery implications of Northern Powerhouse Rail 
o To address larger developments such as new settlements or significant 

extensions to settlements in which case national planning policy 
expects plans to look ahead at least 30 years 

• The Plan should set a clear vision to at least 2058 and set out strategic 
policies to guide development to 2050. 

• The Plan period should, as a minimum, extend to 2050 to effectively plan for 
the future growth of the Borough, and to align with government targets for net 
zero and the emerging Economic Strategy from Enterprise Cheshire and 
Warrington. 

• The Plan period should run to 2050. A longer plan period allows for more 
effective integration between land use and infrastructure planning. 

• The issue of plan period may need to await further information/regulations 
regarding plan-making reforms from the government. 

Q1b How can the local plan's vision complement and add land use 
specific details to the vision and aims of the current Cheshire 
East Corporate Plan? 

• The preparation of the Local Plan should embody genuine, accessible 
community participation and accountability. These aspirations align with the 
council’s ‘Open’ and ‘Fair’ objectives. 

• It is acknowledged that the new local plan will “need to recognise different 
priorities” as stated in the Issues Paper, (para. 1.22). 

• The Plan’s vision and the policies should encapsulate the objective of making 
best use of previously developed land as a fundamental requirement of a 
sustainable land use policy.  

• The next Local Plan should strive to for better environmental, social and 
economic integration. 

• The climate emergency will need to be reflected through every aspect of the 
plan and placed at the forefront of planning decisions. 

• Perhaps the vision should simply say Fair to all. 

• The local plan's vision should add land use specific details to the aims of the 
current Cheshire East Corporate Plan including, as a top priority, the removal 
of the allocated site at Longridge, Knutsford (LPS 38) from the Plan, 
protecting its biodiversity and restore it to the Green Belt. 

Page 210



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 88 

• The ’Fair, Open, Green’ ambitions of the Corporate Plan are positive and 
laudable, but they should be supplemented with reference to deliverability. 

• The vision should be clear about how the step change to ‘net zero’ is going to 
be achieved whilst also meeting the borough’s development needs. Larger 
scale sites can provide particular opportunities for environmental mitigation 
and enhancement. 

• The vision should reflect more local needs rather than be generic for the 
whole borough. 

• The Corporate Plan has a much shorter life and therefore should not be linked 
to the Local Plan. Alternatively, the Corporate Plan could cover a much longer 
time horizon.  

• The Local Plan can address elements of the Corporate Plan where they have 
a clear spatial dimension. The vision should be detailed, specific and 
measurable, capturing the uniqueness of the borough.  

• The vision for Cheshire East should be more ambitious regarding housing. A 
link should be made between health inequalities and housing, particularly how 
the provision of quality housing can support sustainable development. 

• The Plan and its vision must promote sustainable patterns of development 
across the whole borough that meets everyone’s needs – in urban and rural 
areas. This must include the expansion of and investment in key settlements, 
both through the reuse of brownfield land and also new sites of a scale that 
can deliver a range of benefits, including for existing residents.  

• The Local Plan should also expressly refer to strategies and aims of 
community led plans such as Neighbourhood Plans. 

• The vision should include measurable objectives relating to jobs and 
economic investment alongside environmental objectives. 

• Strategic leadership is important, so the right decisions are made for the 
longer term, rather than short-term decisions driven by vocal minorities. This 
includes planning for the right amount of growth, providing jobs and meeting 
housing needs. These are key to the ‘Fair’ aim of the Corporate Plan.  

• Ensuring that new homes are built to high sustainable standards and provided 
in sustainable locations will contribute to the ‘Green’ aim of the Corporate 
Plan. 

• There is a complete absence of information to respond to this question. There 
is no up to date Corporate Plan and radical changes are proposed to the 
planning system. Local Plan preparation should be put on hold.  

• The vision should embody the need for appropriate infrastructure and other 
supporting land uses to be provided alongside new housing and employment 
development, including food retail provision and sites for biodiversity net-gain.  

Page 211



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 89 

• Planning should take the lead and be pro-active in establishing a common 
vision of what a place should be rather than just being reactive to the ideas of 
businesses and individuals. In this way the Local Plan can best meet 
important environmental ambitions relating to clean energy, nature 
restoration, energy efficiency, sustainable transport and the reduction of 
carbon emissions.  

• The vision must be realistic, achievable and distinctive to Cheshire East. 
However, it must also address cross boundary matters such as the working 
and movement of minerals. 

• In terms of being ‘open’, the plan should clearly set out a well evidenced 
minimum requirement for development, set how and where this should be met 
in full, with clear design and infrastructure requirements. In terms of being 
‘fair’, the Local Plan should identify sufficient land for housing to meet the 
need for both market and affordable housing in sustainable locations. In terms 
of being ‘green’, new housing and other forms of development should have 
requirements placed on them in line with government policy at the country 
moves to net zero. 

• The vision could be updated to reflect the importance of the growth of Crewe 
in delivering the objectives of the council’s Corporate Plan including by 
focusing development at a new sustainable community at North West Crewe. 

• Cheshire East’s current policy strategy focuses facilities in the south of the 
borough to the detriment of the more rural north, resulting in residents having 
to travel further by private car thus increasing carbon emissions and going 
against environmental objectives. 

• The Local Plan and Corporate Plan could be prepared concurrently, 
strengthening their integration. 

• National planning policy does not require local plans to have a vision 
statement. Better to keep the Plan short.  

• In considering opportunities for new onshore wind and solar PV farms, careful 
account should be taken regarding landscape impacts, particularly on the 
Peak District National Park and its fringes. The Plan should be explicit about 
proposals to exploit underground heat sources. Land should be provided to 
cater for decarbonisation infrastructure. The potential for carbon sequestration 
(still to be proven) and offsetting (many schemes not meeting performance 
levels) should be treated with caution. 

Chapter 2: Responding to the climate emergency 

Q2a Have we identified the correct issues for the local plan to address 
in terms of reducing our emissions and contribution to climate 
change? Are there any other issues that the local plan should 
consider? 

Page 212



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 90 

• The use of low-carbon materials and products, innovative design solutions 
and construction methods to minimise resource consumption will be 
necessary to achieve net zero. The plan should support measures to promote 
the re-use of construction materials. Safety must also be an important 
consideration in building materials as well as embodied carbon, particularly 
where timber construction is proposed. 

• There should be a review of how modern methods of construction, new 
renewable energy technology and higher density/mixed use developments 
could reduce carbon emissions. 

• The plan should include mandatory requirements for renewable energy for 
new developments. 

• All new homes should be carbon neutral. 

• All development should be built to the highest energy efficiency standards, 
possibly requiring grant assistance. 

• All homes should have solar panels. 

• Large developments should incorporate ground source heat pumps district 
energy networks. 

• New development should be planned in accordance with passive solar design 
principles. 

• Policy should require every house to be fitted with one or more water butts. 

• Retrofitting of buildings should be supported by the plan, with funds to assist 
those in the private sector. 

• To achieve net zero by 2050, action is needed to support a modal shift away 
from car travel. Modal shift will only be achieved with significant public sector 
investment in sustainable and public transport infrastructure, and public 
transport provision. Need increased provision of cycle lanes and bicycle 
storage; pedestrianisation of town centre areas, such as Pillory Street and 
Hospital Street in Nantwich. New development should include cycle storage 
and active travel routes to and through sites, 

• The plan should acknowledge that visitor attractions in relatively inaccessible 
areas may not be able to achieve significant modal shift due to the lack of 
infrastructure and public transport provision. 

• Modal shift will only be achieved if new roads include cycle paths and 
footpaths, footpaths in villages are maintained, and wider roads are included 
in new developments so that drivers do not park on pavements.  

• Pedestrians and cyclists must be prioritised over drivers. For example, the 
Crewe Green Roundabout changes, opening of Flag Lane link, relocation of 
zebra crossing at the Earle Street roundabout (Crewe), proposed changes to 

Page 213



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 91 

Waitrose roundabout, and proposed removal of cyclist-only traffic light at High 
Street/Old Mill Road (Sandbach) show that drivers are currently prioritised. 

• Roads, towns and villages need to be made more pedestrian and cyclist 
friendly, including more cycle lanes, joined-up cycle routes, reduced speed 
limits and highway layouts that are easier to navigate for pedestrians and 
cyclists. 

• The plan needs to help to reduce traffic congestion and pollution. A southern 
Nantwich bypass is needed. The introduction of 20mph speed limits will help 
to reduce emissions during the transition away from internal combustion 
vehicles. Road maintenance should be improved to minimise delays and 
carbon emissions. 

• In addition to electric vehicles, we should plan for other emerging 
technologies, such as hydrogen fuel cells. 

• The plan should enable there to be motorway service area provision every 28 
miles (as required by Circular 01/22) to provide charging points and assist 
with the transition to electric vehicles. 

• The plan should identify and allocate sites for electric vehicle charging hubs 
(including provision for light commercial vehicles and HGVs), in locations 
close to the motorway network. 

• There is a need to increase electric vehicle charging points in Macclesfield’s 
public car parks. 

• The plan should advance solutions for residents who cannot install an electric 
vehicle charging point on their properties. 

• Manchester Airport and its enterprise zone is a major source of emissions and 
air pollution, from both the aircraft and road traffic generated. There should be 
no further traffic-generating development and no further development on 
Green Belt around the airport. 

• Transport is the largest emitting sector for greenhouse gasses and Cheshire 
East is amongst the most polluting local authority areas, producing between 
900-1,200 kilotonnes of CO2 equivalent in 2021 (against the average figure 
for local authority areas of 304 ktCO2e. 

• The plan should aim to provide new services within major developments by 
incentivising facilities near and within new development sites. 

• The plan should encourage a range of essential facilities (such as local shops 
and basic medical facilities) in the smaller villages below the level of Local 
Service Centres, to reduce the need to travel. 

• Development should be located in the most sustainable locations. 
Consideration should also be given to whether development could contribute 

Page 214



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 92 

to the creation of sustainable locations, or by maintaining a sustainable 
location by supporting existing facilities and services.  

• Large developments on greenfield sites at the edges of towns and villages will 
be some distance from services, facilities and public transport. The only way 
to access such estates will be by car and there will be increased commuting 
and increased emissions. 

• Climate change objectives are undermined due to the Green Belt covering 
areas that are physically and functionally linked to settlements such as 
Macclesfield and Wilmslow, which should be the focus of growth due to the 
exceptional levels of services and facilities, and access to public transport. 

• Charging for car parking, closure of household waste sites and charging for 
the collection of green bins does not help to reduce emissions. 

• Livestock and dairy farms are major sources of emissions and people will 
need to eat less meat and dairy to meet the targets. Land used for livestock 
and dairy farms could be utilised for clean energy generation, housing, cycle 
lanes, footpaths and recreation. 

• Policies should promote carbon neutral development and where on-site 
carbon mitigation requirements cannot be met, financial contributions should 
be secured. NHS property could benefit from these carbon-offset funds to 
support it in becoming a net zero healthcare provider. 

• It is important that nature-based solutions are included within the plan, such 
as tree and hedge planting (particularly native species). Nature-based 
solutions should also include encouraging the restoration of wetlands and 
habitat creation. 

• The plan should increase the protection for existing trees and hedgerows. 

• The plan should protect peatland habitats and encourage their restoration. No 
development should be allowed on peatland or established woodland. 

o Danes Moss could be protected as excavating it for housing would 
release its stored carbon dioxide. 

o The plan should recognise the opportunities for carbon capture and 
storage (as well as improved biodiversity, wellbeing and nature 
recovery) at Lindow Moss. 

• The plan should identify key carbon stores in the borough and include a plan 
to protect them, including significant areas of woodland and peatlands 
(including degraded peatlands) 

• The local plan should allocate greenfield sites in addition to brownfield ones 
so that they can deliver environmental benefits such as biodiversity 
enhancement, new open spaces, green infrastructure, energy efficiency 
measures, improved water management systems and sustainable transport 
options. 

Page 215



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 93 

• Whilst green infrastructure can assist with carbon sequestration, this should 
be balanced against recreational demands. The Sustainability Appraisal and 
site selection methodology should include consideration of the potential for 
the delivery of new habitats and green infrastructure to sequester carbon as 
part of development (such as new woodland planting). 

• Urban greening should refer to the Natural England standards for the quality 
and quantity of green infrastructure. 

• The plan policy should state that development proposals that contribute 
towards the overall goal of net zero (such as providing land for carbon 
capture) should be considered as providing a clear benefit in the planning 
balance. 

• The plan should recognise the potential for the canal network to help mitigate 
climate change, including: 

o Provision of renewable energy, such as from hydroelectric power; 
o Water-sourced heating and cooling; 
o Balancing the availability of water through water transfers 
o Mitigating the impact of floodings by providing flood relief, water 

storage and surface water management; 
o Supporting telecoms through the national network of fibre-optic cables 

beneath towpaths 
o Green/blue corridors bolstering natural habitats and co-benefits for 

climate change adaptation. 

• Development on farmland should take account of the loss of carbon 
sequestration that would result. 

• The loss of carbon storage and increased surface water runoff should be 
considered when converting a garden to a paved parking area. 

• Sequestration is a long-term project, and any sites identified for sequestration 
must be safeguarded from development for a very significant period and there 
must be credible guarantees that carbon stored within them will not be 
released in the short or medium term. 

• The plan should only allow for offsetting where the schemes are audited to the 
highest international standards, as many offsetting schemes do not meet the 
performance levels claimed by their promoters. 

• The plan should not permit oil or gas exploration, and should declare that 
Cheshire East is “frack-free” making it clear that exploration, appraisal and 
production activities for unconventional hydrocarbons will not be allowed. 

• It is important for the plan to recognise the important role that biodiversity net 
gain will play in offsetting emissions from development, as well as for habitat 
creation. 

Page 216



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 94 

• Building Regulations need to be amended so that new homes do need 
subsequently need to be retrofitted. 

• Any policy should be prepared in line with the December 2023 WMS which 
confirms that a further change to energy efficiency building regulations is 
planned for 2025 meaning that homes built to that standard will be net zero 
ready and should need no significant work to ensure that they have zero 
carbon emissions as the grid continues to decarbonise. It also confirms that 
plans are not expected to include policies that propose local energy efficiency 
standards for buildings that go beyond current or planned building regulations, 
and any policies should be rejected at examination if they do not have a well-
reasoned and robustly costed rationale. The plan should instead refer to the 
Future Homes Standard and the Building Regulations as the appropriate 
standards for development without the need for additional planning policy. 

• The plan should be clear on how proposals that assist the borough in 
reaching net zero/carbon neutral goals ahead of time will be supported. 

• Policies need to be sufficiently flexible if their requirements cannot be 
delivered, e.g. electric vehicle charging provision may not be deliverable at all 
new developments due to constraints with the National Grid. Need to not 
place excessive emphasis on electricity as the solution as power generation 
and distribution is unlikely to keep pace with demand. 

• It would be helpful for the plan consider challenges around grid capacity and 
resilience, so it is able to identify suitable areas for renewable energy 
development and supporting infrastructure such as batter storage schemes, 
low carbon heating and electric vehicle charging facilities. 

• The term “net zero” refers to reduction and sequestration of all greenhouse 
gases (including methane and nitrous oxide) and not just carbon dioxide. The 
plan needs to provide consistency in terms and provide clear definitions for 
both “net zero” and “carbon neutral” in terms of how the success of the plan 
will be measured against those objectives. 

• The approach to listed buildings should allow them to be made energy 
efficient and include solar panels. 

• Policy should not include any requirement to achieve a BREEAM rating as the 
ratings are overly prescriptive in their requirements and accreditation involves 
a significant delay to development. 

• Any policy that aims to increase tree cover may have the potential to impact 
on the land uptake for new developments, density of development, viability of 
developments, and implications for highway provision and maintenance. The 
impact of any tree policy should not be considered in isolation from other 
policy requirements. 

• The plan should consider how the issue can be tackled at scale, for example 
a more strategic urban extension approach may give the opportunity to 
incorporate wind/solar power generation; wider networks of active travel; 

Page 217



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 95 

greater positive impacts on biodiversity net gain; and better integration of 
locations for home and work. 

• New communities or sustainable urban extensions offer the opportunity to 
deliver development in a more sustainable way due to the co-location of 
schools, open space and other shops/services, proximity to housing, 
employment and transport hubs. 

• All policy requirements related to the climate emergency should be 
considered as part of a viability assessment. Consideration will need to be 
given to competing viability tensions between net zero developments and 
other matters, such as affordable housing, highways improvements, social 
infrastructure etc. The use of offsetting or financial contributions needs to be 
tested. 

• The plan will need to be flexible to changing technologies and provide 
emerging technologies with policy support where they may require less 
sequentially preferable locations, such as open countryside. 

• The plan should consider possible sites for geothermal energy, small nuclear 
power stations, sites for hydrogen manufacture. The plan should be specific 
about the potential for underground heat sources in Crewe. 

• The plan should consider the land use demands for infrastructure for 
distribution networks, considering the increased demand for electricity 
generation and distribution. 

• Whilst the plan should include policies to alleviate the impacts of climate 
change, this should not be at the expense of the other economic, social and 
environmental strands of sustainable development. 

• The plan should define a local approach to the provision of onshore wind and 
solar farms, with a brownfield first approach and considering specific local 
landscape designations. Solar farms should only be allowed on lower grade 
farmland. Wind turbines should only be allowed where noise and shadows will 
only marginally affect neighbouring dwellings. 

• Various sites submitted could deliver various emissions reduction measures. 

• The plan should encompass the contents of the Cheshire East Carbon 
Neutral Action Plan. 

• The Infrastructure Delivery Plan should also reflect the need for modal shift to 
public and active travel modes. 

• The plan needs to link with the solutions presented in the Borough Wide 
Baseline and Carbon Reduction Options report. 

• Objections to the Local Plan addressing the climate emergency and 
supporting the transition to net zero. In an “emergency”, all planning issues 

Page 218



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 96 

related to the “emergency” factor should take priority, which means no new 
houses or infrastructure developments at all. 

• Permissions for any new development producing emissions should include 
planning conditions requiring their measurement (including PM2.5 and NOX 
emissions) 

• Biodiversity-rich sites like Longridge LWS (within site LPS 38) should be 
returned to the Green Belt and protected as a nature reserve. 

Q2b Have we identified the correct issues for the local plan to address 
in terms of adapting to the effects of climate change? Are there 
any other issues that the local plan should consider? 

• The plan should seek to reduce the use of non-porous surfaces that prevent 
plant growth and increase flash flooding events. The plan should restrict any 
conversion of green space (including front gardens) to non-porous surfaces. 

• There should be no development on flood plains. Development should be 
directed away from current and future flood risk areas, and should not 
increase the risk of flooding elsewhere over its lifetime. 

• There is a need to consider drainage and flood defence works to alleviate 
future flood events at the River Weaver in Nantwich. 

• Natural solutions should be required features of all development. 

• The capacity of existing drainage systems should be considered in deciding 
the scale of development that is acceptable. 

• Development should consider future water stress, 

• Poynton suffered from severe flooding in 2016 and 2019 and building on 
greenfield sites will increase the risk further by reducing the land available to 
absorb rainfall and increasing run-off. The flood risk maps should be reviewed 
as the flooded areas still show as being at low risk from flooding. 

• Greenfield land stores carbon and can store rainwater more effectively than 
sustainable drainage systems, therefore brownfield land should be prioritised 
over greenfield. 

• There should be a consistent approach to sustainable drainage systems, and 
an acceleration in their creation as part of new developments. 

• The canal network can assist in adapting to the effects of climate change, 
which should be recognised in the plan through: 

o Water efficiency measures; 
o Management of surface water run-off 
o Green infrastructure 

Page 219



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 97 

o Planting for infiltration, reducing runoff and providing shading/cooling 
o Provision of renewable energy 

• Policy should require that development does not affect land stability in 
proximity to the canal network and surface water should be given due regard. 

• The plan should incentivise adoption of local rainwater control measures such 
as smart rain butts. 

• New development should have separate rain and sewage systems. 

• Development should include rain storage measures such as green spaces, 
trees, ponds, tanks. 

• The height of electrical sockets should be considered due to the increased 
risk of flooding. 

• The plan vision, strategic objectives and policy should emphasise sustainable 
drainage, water supply efficiency measures, natural flood management 
techniques, green and blue infrastructure, and designing development to be 
resilient to future intense storms and droughts. The plan should require the 
necessary links between green/blue infrastructure, surface water 
management and landscape design. 

• Existing gullies should be regularly cleared of debris to reduce the risk of 
flooding. 

• Putting bends back in rivers reduces the risk of flooding downstream. 

• Development should achieve water neutrality, flood resilience, water quality 
improvement and climate adaptation. 

• Development should aim to maximise multifunctional blue-green 
infrastructure, restore natural function and water landscapes, protecting and 
valuing biodiversity and the water environment. 

• Adopting bigger, better and more connected nature-based solutions will jointly 
help address climate emergency and ecological crisis facing our environment. 

• It would be very useful to emphasise that the need for a multifunctional and 
high-quality green infrastructure will be essential in adapting to climate 
change.  

• The encouragement of increased uptake and adoption of nature-based 
solutions, rewilding, promoting dynamic environmental changes, extending 
habitats networks and wildlife corridors including the connectivity between 
sites will help play its part in mitigating effects of climate change.  The plan 
should encourage measures to support the mitigation of, and adaption to 
climate change, considering greater protection and even expansion of 
landscapes and habitats, such as peatlands and wetlands. 

Page 220



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 98 

• The Plan should recognise that climate change mitigation and adaptation and 
biodiversity loss are interlinked. Many habitats provide essential ecosystem 
services to allow adaptation to climate change e.g. natural flood management, 
as well as mitigation e.g. through tree planting and retaining peat as a carbon 
store. Policies should set out appropriate nature-based solutions for climate 
mitigation and adaptation such as woodland or wetland creation or peatland 
restoration. Policies should address water use, promoting the use of 
sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) and water sensitive design as part of a 
wider GI approach. In areas of known water constraint, plans should include 
policies to manage available resources, such as water efficiency or water 
reuse measures. Consideration also needs to be given to the likely impacts of 
climate change on protected sites, habitats and species. 

• Additional tree planting and allowing grassed areas to grow would help to 
reduce temperatures in the immediate area, be beneficial for wildlife, and help 
to absorb water from excess rainfall. 

• Development should include appropriate planting that is resilient to heat and 
drought, and can provide shading and cooling. 

• The plan should consider how to monitor, measure and maintain the overall 
tree canopy cover. 

• Sites rich in biodiversity (such as the Longridge Local Wildlife Site, within site 
LPS 38) should be removed from the plan and protected as nature reserves. 

• The plan should recognise the opportunities for carbon capture and storage 
(as well as improved biodiversity, wellbeing and nature recovery) at Lindow 
Moss. 

• The plan should allocate sites that are viable, deliverable and which can 
deliver significant environmental benefits, such as biodiversity enhancement, 
new open spaces, green infrastructure, energy efficiency measures, improved 
water management systems and sustainable transport option. Various sites 
submitted could deliver various climate adaptation measures. 

• The plan should require inclusion of living walls, blue roofs and green roofs. 

• Requirements for climate adaptation measures should not be overly 
prescriptive as this could lead to viability issues with development. Design and 
building standards for new development should be set through Building 
Regulations. 

• Policy should encourage the use of resilient and sustainable materials in 
development. 

• The plan should identify sufficient land for biodiversity net gain and seek to 
deliver biodiversity net gain in a way to help offset climate change impacts on 
crop production and decline of species by considering the habitats, species 
and crops most vulnerable to climate change. 

Page 221



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 99 

• All new development should aim to achieve a biodiversity net gain of at least 
30%. 

• Protection, restoration and sustainable conservation management of 
landscapes such as forests, peatlands and wetlands will help us to address 
biodiversity loss and climate change and promote human wellbeing. 

• The plan should also address the need to tackle air pollution. 

• There should be no more building of new roads, these contribute to increased 
congestion. 

• The plan should seek to restore peatlands. 

• The plan should expand recycling facilities. 

• New development should be less car intensive and located close to public 
transport facilities (or create opportunities for enhanced facilities). 

• Policies should require the creation of active travel corridors in towns and 
villages. 

• Policies should manage the demand for private vehicular transport, rather 
than predicting and providing to meet demand. 

• Solar panels should be mandatory on all new and replacement roofs. 
Installation of photovoltaic panels with battery storage should be expected by 
the plan. 

• Need to consider the effect of infrastructure on transport emissions and the 
carbon impact of its construction. 

• The plan should support active and sustainable travel. 

• The plan should recognise that in rural areas, the ability to install renewable 
infrastructure is constrained by the inability to access the national grid. 

• The plan should reference current Building Regulations and shouldn’t set its 
own targets that could contradict future changes. 

• There needs to be consideration of the contribution of livestock farming to 
methane emissions. 

• Air conditioning should be allowed for health reasons only and the plan should 
seek to phase out air conditioning installations, including in shops. Heat 
pumps that can also operate as an air conditioning unit should not be allowed. 

• The plan should encourage the retrofit and decarbonisation of properties to 
address high emission levels and to improve climate adaptability. 

• There should be a focus on brownfield development. 

Page 222



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 100 

• If adaptation to the climate is needed, then this should be decided and 
implemented by individuals and the private sector. The council should not 
force unnecessary changes on people. 

• Requirements for adaptation measures (such as heat pumps instead of gas 
boilers) should compare the overall lifetime economics and environmental 
consequences. 

•  

Q2c Are there any other matters related to the climate emergency that 
the new local plan should consider? 

• Construction of new roads contributes to the climate emergency: minerals, 
aggregates and earth must be extracted and moved; the land available to 
absorb rainfall, farming or recreation is reduced, there is greater surface water 
runoff, and more traffic is generated. 

• The plan should promote digital connectivity, integrate land us and transport 
planning, facilitate good public transport and make maximum use of 
previously developed land. 

• The plan needs to better address air quality. 

• There should be incentives for local energy generation such as ground source 
heat pumps.  

• Climate change should be embedded in all policies in relation to land use. 

• The plan needs to take steps to reduce the amount of road transport, such as 
transferring transportation to railways. Commercial developments should be 
located closer to railways, or stations opened near to existing facilities. 

• Semi-elevated or elevated buildings could be constructed which does not 
impede surface water runoff and protects the space from flooding. 

• In relation to decarbonisation, the plan must recognise the supporting 
infrastructure needs of the less mobile. 

• The plan should consider safeguarding sites for wind/solar development. 

• The plan should include information about wastewater facilities and their 
spare processing capacity should be considered when considering new 
development. 

• The council should produce an annual report detailing sewage spillage into 
waterways. 

• The plan should consider the need for energy storage and the role of salt 
caverns in delivering that need. Storage in salt caverns can be used to 

Page 223



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 101 

balance grid power and provide CO2 and alternative fuel storage (such as 
hydrogen). 

• The plan should recognise that building over 1,000 homes per year (plus 
commercial and employment development) is incompatible with measures 
needed to address the climate emergency. 

• New dams could be constructed for hydro-electric power generation. 

• There should be a reduction in traffic, higher parking charges in urban areas, 
road user charging, reduction in traffic speeds, encouragement of active 
travel, greater public transport subsidies, discouragement of development that 
increases car use, prioritising brownfield sites, and creating better electric 
vehicle charging infrastructure (including for terraced housing through 
lamppost chargers) 

• The plan should consider out of town park and ride facilities to reduce traffic 
and cars in town centres. 

• Electric vehicles reduce emissions, but their increased acceleration and 
weight may contribute to casualty rates to pedestrians and cyclists. 

• The plan should recognise that not everyone is able to benefit from active 
travel. 

• The plan should encourage community led initiatives such as district heating 
systems and integrated micro-grids. 

Chapter 3: Healthy and safe communities 

Q3a Given the importance of open space for everyone, are there any 
specific approaches that the local plan should consider? 

• Welcome that outdoor sports pitch provision is delivered through developer 
contributions, however there is inconsistency in applying the dwelling 
threshold with regards to the requirement for a sports need assessment. 

• It is the council’s obligation to provide developers with a commuted sum figure 
when commenting on planning applications – the Sport England calculator is 
not publicly available. The sums from the Sport England calculator should be 
integrated in local plan viability assessments and inform any new community 
infrastructure levy rates. 

• Local green spaces in neighbourhood plans should be considered, examined 
and reviewed to see if they should be defined as other types of open space. 

• Policies should clearly specify compliance and how a minimum amount of 
greenspace per person is mandatory for any new development. 

Page 224



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 102 

• National Trust properties play a major role in the provision of open space – 
their ongoing viability should be supported, including the need for sustainable 
development at these places. 

• Sufficient provision should be made for outdoor sports and leisure facilities. 

• Ways to enhance and extend public access across private land in locations 
close to population centres should be identified, to increase access to open 
space. 

• New open space sites should be identified in built-up areas and provision 
included in new development areas. 

• Open space should be allocated based on population numbers for the 
relevant locality. 

• It should be clear as to the quantum and typology of public open space that is 
required for new developments. 

• The site selection process should consider sites capable of providing high-
quality and ample new open space. 

• A more integrated approach to development, for example through larger scale 
urban extensions, would provide the means to enhance green and blue 
infrastructure provision for existing and proposed housing development. That 
area would need a defined policy approach to provide solutions for green and 
blue infrastructure provision. 

• There should be a cascade approach to vesting the ownership of new public 
open space to enable a community to take ownership of a new park for 
example. 

• Development should create leisure walking/cycling routes within sites and 
connect to existing footpaths and incorporate a network of green space. 
Green spaces should be connected. 

• Welcome a policy that works towards delivery or/improvements to existing 
green infrastructure rather than unused LEAPS. 

• Need policies that protect open spaces and trees in local service centres. 

• Open space standards are prescriptive and don’t consider how the space 
would be used and experienced, which can stifle innovative approaches to 
provision. 

• An off-road cycle path between Nantwich and Audlem would be beneficial. 
The Nantwich Loop footpath needs maintenance and upgrading. 

• Unequal access to green space should be addressed, peatlands and 
established woodlands should be protected.  

Page 225



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 103 

• Existing green spaces should be linked, and green corridors created. 

• Local footpath networks should be maintained. 

• The ex-quarries on Gawsworth Common should be considered as a site for a 
country park. 

• Policies that support improvements to existing sports facilities and encourage 
increased provision should be included, as well as for the delivery of improved 
infrastructure. 

• Need a schedule of the type of open space that is needed for each settlement 
at a strategic level. 

• A sports and open space study should be undertaken for each settlement to 
show where facility improvements are needed and where new facilities are 
required. A new open space assessment and playing pitch strategy should be 
prepared. 

• Planning consent for the development or more than 10 homes should be 
conditional on the provision of open space. The future care and maintenance 
of these facilities should be ensured. 

• There is a gradual loss of private open space where gardens are redeveloped 
for housing or used for gardens buildings. 

• Tree works in public spaces should protect the environment and encourage a 
diverse biome. 

• Local plan policy should recognise and unlock the full potential of canals with 
regards to open space provision. 

• Developments close to canals should recognise their value for active travel, 
leisure and recreation and value to the community as an outdoor, open space 
resource, providing towpath improvements, enhanced accessibility and 
improved signage and wayfinding. 

• The NPPF (2023) definition of green infrastructure should be used in the local 
plan, and canals should be included and recognised as green infrastructure in 
the local plan. 

• The towpath network should be included regarding access to open space and 
the outdoors, nature and green corridors, along with public rights of way. 

• Neighbourhood plans should resist incursions into agricultural land and 
protect areas of openness for public access. 

• Replacement of hedges by boarded fencing is counter-productive to climate 
wildlife and biodiversity goals. 

Page 226



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 104 

• There should be a policy for every household to be within 15 minutes’ walk of 
natural greenspace. 

• Amenity grass areas should be re-wilded. 

• Brick and concrete areas, for example town centres, should have street trees. 

• It is generally more difficult for significant useable open space to be delivered 
on brownfield urban sites. 

• Public open space improvements should be made across the borough, 
regardless of the communities’ size. This may only be achieved through built 
development. 

• It should be easier for pockets of green and (including small verges) to be 
taken on by community groups and town councils. 

• The council should continue to commit, through the plan, the maintenance 
and enhancement of open spaces, and work closely with other stakeholders 
to make sure public access is maintained and enhanced. 

• Town and Parish Councils should be supported in identifying areas for 
enhancement or maintenance regarding biodiversity or public amenity. 

• Traffic free infrastructure can also be green space, for example linear parks. 

• Open space should be accessible in 15 minutes, and well-linked active travel 
opportunities. 

• The evidence base should include a robust and up-to-date assessment of 
open space requirements and opportunities, with policies and proposals to 
remedy deficiencies.  

• In assessing open space provision, the quality and accessibility of space and 
the various uses that may need provision should be considered. Natural 
England’s Accessible Greenspace Standards can be used to determine 
needs, and Accessible Natural Greenspace Standards can help to identify 
where there is provision and a lack of greenspace within a 15 minute walk. 

• The plan should identify, designate and have policies to protect and enhance 
areas of Local Greenspace that are of particular importance to local 
communities. 

• There is an issue with stiles, footpaths (maintenance and user respect) and 
lack of signage at footpaths crossing fields regarding spraying or ploughing 

• Sites submitted to support open space provision. 

Q3b How can the local plan minimise the effects from all types of 
pollution and contamination around the borough? 

Page 227



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 105 

• Leading beyond authority. 

• Vehicle emissions cause pollution. Macclesfield has inadequate road 
infrastructure (Flower Pot junction, southwest relief road). 

• Minimise effects by not endorsing high traffic generating developments, for 
example major developments at Manchester Airport, logistics centres, and 
new roads. 

• Noise pollution is not mentioned, and air pollution concentrates on AQMAs – 
there is poor air quality around the airport, M56 and major roads. Greater 
emphasis and funding should be placed on air quality monitoring. 

• Housing and destination points should be built where active travel is easily 
and frequently available. 

• Planning applications should include a baseline measurement of PM2.5 and 
NOx levels. If the UK legal limit in force is breached, then the application 
should be refused. Ongoing measurement and a plan to meet reduced limits if 
there is a reduction in pollution levels during the timescale of the permission 
should be considered. A condition to monitor and report against legal levels 
regularly should be included, with breaches corrected immediately or 
shutdown of the facility. 

• Maintain processes to reduce land contamination as part of planning 
applications and make sure that industries that have the potential to cause 
pollution and/or contamination are suitably controlled/have preventative 
measures through the planning process. 

• Need policies to protect residential areas from air and noise pollution. Heavy 
traffic can be diverted away from residential areas.  

• Retain Green Belt as a means of establishing a healthy environment. 

• Remove reliance on road building as a driver for growth, with more focus on 
active travel and public transport. 

• Emphasise the need to protect and provide trees. 

• Include a policy on land instability and acknowledge the coal mining history of 
the area. 

• Make sure that policies are robust and require relevant levels of information to 
demonstrate proper consideration of issues like contamination and land 
instability. 

• Make sure all developments are carbon neutral. 

• Keep waste and recycling plants open to allow recycling. 

Page 228



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 106 

• The question’s scope is beyond the remit of local plan – should be restricted 
to new developments. 

• Include policies that apply suitable standards to new lighting, particularly in 
rural areas, to minimise light pollution. 

• Reduce journeys by car and increase public transport, cycling and walking. 
Promote active travel and public transport. 

• Provide restrictions on traffic including speed and weight limits. 

• Develop action plans to address known pollution and contamination and 
require development to the implementation of such measures. 

• Town centres should be accessible for walkers and cyclists. The pedestrian 
area in Nantwich should be expanded. 

• Provide appropriate sites in appropriate locations that are unlikely to give rise 
to unacceptable impacts.  

• Provide policies that make sure mitigation measures are required to support 
development proposals. 

• Need policies that require applications to assess impacts appropriately. 

• Make sure tree canopies are maintained to reduce air and noise pollution. 

• Need requirements to address light spillage, which can have a significant 
impact on wildlife, for example shrouding. Design and colour of streetlights 
can affect mood and wellbeing of residents. 

• Locate development in highly sustainable locations. 

• Increase awareness of risks from historic pollution  - a historic review, with soil 
tests if there is potential for hazardous pollution, should be undertaken before 
allocation of sites. 

• Carry out a review of current policies and decisions. 

• Development, during construction and the operational phase, close to 
waterways can adversely affect the structural integrity, water quality and 
surrounding environment of the waterway. 

• Potential adverse effects from air quality, water and land pollution, land 
instability, noise, and vibration, should be safeguarded against in planning 
policy in the interests of safeguarding the canal network and its infrastructure 
within Cheshire East. This should relate to the users of the waterways as well 
as the infrastructure itself. 

Page 229



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 107 

• Policies that seek to safeguard against pollution and contamination should 
cover the following issues: land instability, land contamination, noise and 
vibration, agent of change principle, and light pollution. 

• Much of this lies with agencies and operators outside the scope of the local 
plan, for example Manchester Airport (MAG), Scottish Power, United Utilities 
and other utilities over which CEC has no control. 

• Specify all street lighting and outdoor lighting as Full Cut Off (no upward 
spillage) and Fully Shielded (limits intensity of light onto the ground), and that 
all external security and amenity lighting, both public and private, should be 
PIR wherever possible.  

• Review, provide an action plan, and include in the local plan air quality 
(including from domestic combustion), river quality (needs better monitoring 
and mechanism for establishing pollution source), and derelict/abandoned 
sites (mechanism to force owners to remediate/improve or be subject to 
forced sale).  

• Require accessible buses with bus stops that show when next bus arrives. 

• No local action in Macclesfield to reduce pollution at congestion hot spots, 
and there is little progress on the proposed link road between A523 and A536. 

• Include plans for a south-west link road between the A523 and A537,  
crossing the A536. 

• Support and identify locations where the development of nature-based 
solutions would help to tackle failing or at-risk water bodies. 

• Provide additional support/weight to development proposals that make 
practical use of recycled materials 

• Support cycling infrastructure developments including the identification of 
sustainable transport interchange nodes and centres across the borough and 
where development within the vicinity of these node could support/fund 
appropriate cycle parking, lockable bike racks and lockers. 

• Protect trees, mature woodland and greenspaces, and create more such 
vegetation and spaces. 

• Monitor air pollution around school on busy main roads when pupils are 
walking to and from school. 

• Discourage people from installing wood burning stoves, which add to the 
problem of air pollution, by creating clean air zones around the borough. 

• Make sure future development adopts best practice and multifunctional SUDs 
solutions as part of site surface water drainage as outlined in CIRIA guidance 
(SUDs manual 753). 

Page 230



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 108 

• Need a strong regulatory body - more powers to Environment Protection 
Agency for monitoring and giving hefty penalties for river pollution. 

• Address the impacts of air quality on the natural environment including traffic 
impacts from new development, particularly where this impacts on European 
sites and SSSIs. 

• Should consider proposals that are likely to generate additional nitrogen 
emissions due to increased traffic. 

• Traffic projections and 200m distance criterion can assess the effects on local 
roads in the vicinity of proposed development on nearby designated 
conservation sites, and the impacts on vulnerable sites from air quality effects 
on the wider road network. This can be followed by local air quality modelling. 
Designated sites at risk from local impacts are within 200m of a road with 
increased traffic. 

• Should have greater emphasis on the use of nature based solutions as a 
means of addressing pollution. 

• Sites put forward to support pollution and contamination minimisation. 

Q3c How can the local plan help to improve air quality across 
Cheshire East? 

• Set rapid response targets for addressing air quality issues such as roadside 
pollution. 

• Reduce the need to travel through borough-wide digital connectivity, 
sustainable communities, and good active travel conditions. 

• Active travel planning would encourage less private car trips. 

• Manchester airport has pollution (aircraft and car trips) – run direct bus 
services from towns to reduce trips to work and flights. Work with Manchester 
airport to phase out older polluting planes. 

• Encourage the use of public transport (better, cleaner, accessible, free bus 
days), reinstate bus services and invest in public and private vehicle charging 
points. 

• Develop a tram network linking Crewe and Nantwich with Leighton Hospital 
and Bentley Motors, for example. 

• Retain the Green Belt. 

• Remove the reliance on road building as a driver for growth and focus on 
active travel and public transport. 

• Need robust and up-to-date borough-wide air quality data. 

Page 231



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 109 

• Support for EV charging should be considered in the context of residential 
layouts and design guidance as this means more homes will need a private 
driveway/parking spaces on plot. 

• Include highways development in the policies to address air quality.  
Straighten twisty roads. 

• Make public transport electric. 

• More tree planting. 

• Introduce 20mph speed limit. 

• Lowering speed limits generate significantly more fossil fuel pollution. 

• Deliver larger-scale development that could connect into and deliver new 
sources of clean energy, for example localised wind, solar, 100% EV charging 
for new homes. Can link to sustainable travel modes, be designed to walkable 
and delivered alongside strategic landscaping. 

• The closure of the household waste recycling sites and car parking charges in 
villages have had an adverse impact on community services. 

• Through a range of measures in relation to the location of development, 
encouragement of sustainable methods of transport, facilitation of key 
infrastructure improvements and the environmental quality of the urban area. 

• Measures to improve air quality air quality should be achievable and based 
upon sound scientific evidence. 

• Management traffic and travel and deliver green infrastructure at a strategic 
level. 

• The proposed sustainable community at north west Crewe could be served by 
a new railway hub and provide safe walking and cycling routes through to 
Leighton Hospital, employment space, community facilities and link back into 
the wider settlement of Crewe. 

• Located development in highly sustainable locations. 

• The new local plan is likely to lead to an increase in emissions. 

• Make sure each town has a wide range of local services. 

• Carry out a review of current policies and decisions. 

• Consider the need for dust management plans to safeguard adjacent 
environments/waterways. 

• Consider the need for Construction Environment Management Plans to 
mitigate construction impacts 

Page 232



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 110 

• Need low density developments with street trees and informal greenspaces. 

• Issue with residential combustion for heating – needs better monitoring with 
portable monitors, potentially with residents carrying this out. 

• Provide buses between Macclesfield retail parks and the town centre. 

• Need policies that promote active travel and green infrastructure. 

• Allocate sites close to existing transport infrastructure and local employment 
opportunities to make sure residents have access to alternative modes of 
transport. 

• Consider United Utilities’ existing wastewater treatment works and pumping 
stations (agent of change principle). 

• Address the impacts of air quality on the natural environment including traffic 
impacts from new development, particularly where this impacts on European 
sites and SSSIs. 

• Should consider proposals that are likely to generate additional nitrogen 
emissions due to increased traffic. 

• Traffic projections and 200m distance criterion can assess the effects on local 
roads in the vicinity of proposed development on nearby designated 
conservation sites, and the impacts on vulnerable sites from air quality effects 
on the wider road network. This can be followed by local air quality modelling. 
Designated sites at risk from local impacts are within 200m of a road with 
increased traffic. 

• Should have greater emphasis on the use of nature based solutions as a 
means of addressing pollution. 

• Sites put forward to support improvement in air quality. 

Q3d How can the local plan help to create communities and areas 
where everyone feels safe? 

• Crime is not a spatial planning issue – it’s a police issue. 

• There is a need for safe highways – promote road safety through better 
accessibility and visibility at road crossings, reduce speed limits, traffic 
calming measures, traffic cameras, all road users to have the right to move 
about safely (safer active travel infrastructure), safe routes to schools and 
school street measures (no traffic outside schools during peak times). Close 
links with Local Transport Plan. 

• Minimise creation of ginnels/alleyways and other similar features with low 
visibility. Install strategic lighting in pinch points. 

• More effective law enforcement. 

Page 233



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 111 

• Identify the different needs of communities and deliver this with the Police. 

• Re-purpose and introduce a wide range of appropriate uses in the town centre 
to help make sure there is footfall and natural surveillance throughout the day 
and night. 

• Look at safe footpaths that are well it.  

• Secure a healthy environment and public realm to minimise the risk of 
antisocial behaviour. 

• Support for the application of key principles of urban design includes legibility, 
ease of movement and diversity of use. 

• Support Neighbourhood Watch schemes and create safety review groups for 
traffic and transport issues to which Highways must respond. 

• Link between domestic and commercial security cameras on social media. 

• Use design frameworks or coding so that new developments address safety 
directly. Use of passive surveillance. 

• Make sure there is enough community infrastructure for activity that can deter 
crime and support victims. 

• CEC should implement road safety improvements identified by communities. 
Developer contributions should be sought for road safety improvements in the 
vicinity of a development site. 

• Large scale development provides an opportunity to promote social 
interaction through green space and social infrastructure alongside housing 
and employment space and to make sure crime is designed out at scale 
through well designed safe new neighbourhoods. 

• Make sure public and private spaces are clearly defined to deter unauthorised 
access into clearly ‘private’ areas. 

• Public and private spaces should be separated by low walls, changes in 
surfacing materials or other symbolic entrance features. 

• There must be adequate natural surveillance of both people and property. 

• Communal parking areas should be avoided – each house or flat should have 
its own spaces, clearly visible to the occupants from their windows. 

• Door entry systems are essential in blocks of flats to restrict unauthorised 
entry and the misuse of communal areas such as stairwells. Footpaths should 
be convenient, attractive, safe to use with high quality lighting and usually 
adjacent to vehicular routes. They should avoid providing easy access points 
for burglars or places where anti-social behaviour can flourish. 

Page 234



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 112 

• Bicycle shelters and similar structures should be designed to ensure full 
visibility. 

• All public areas should be accessible to the Police. 

• The advice of the Crime Prevention Officer should be obtained on all large 
developments. 

• Provision of CCTV cameras should be encouraged, and improvement of 
existing. 

• There should be clear and enforceable arrangements for future care and 
maintenance of public areas, paths, trees and bushes and cycle shelters. 

• Reflect the importance of maintaining and safeguarding the canal/towpath 
network and green infrastructure and in the interests of ensuring that canals 
remain a resilient and welcoming space for all.  

• Remove the barriers to use of canals and enjoyment to offer communities 
clean, safe and inviting blue spaces and routes. 

• Maintain and improve the resilience of the waterway infrastructure so that the 
network is open and safe to use. 

• Help to create waterside places that are safe and inviting through appropriate 
design and layout, that encourages active water frontages and passive 
surveillance, being inclusive, and effective maintenance and management of 
such environments to be fit for purpose. 

• Use neighbourhood plans to help implement the local plan. 

• Provide incentives (pay) for residents to join the community policing teams, for 
example on a part-time basis. 

• Good public realm with opportunities for residents to easily get involved to aid 
cleaning and tidying their community while making sure they feel valued. 

• Positively worded policies to achieve healthy, inclusive and safe places that 
promote social interaction through mixed-use development, strong 
neighbourhood centres and street layouts that allow for easy pedestrian and 
cycle connections within and between neighbourhoods. 

• Promote the need for developments to be safe and accessible, through 
requiring well-designed, high-quality and active public spaces and routes. 

• CIL contributions to Town and Parish Councils could be utilised on CCTV, 
lighting, signage and other infrastructure and the Local Plan could include a 
policy/suggestions as to how Neighbourhood Plans might accommodate this. 

• Design to discourage anti-social behaviour by reducing dark, narrow or out of 
sight public areas. 

Page 235



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 113 

• Provide support for infrastructure and services in every community to enhance 
safety in the borough and ensure that we can tackle violence against women 
and girls, exploitation of adults and children, organised crime, domestic abuse 
and knife crime. 

Q3e How can the local plan help to reduce health inequalities across 
the borough? 

• Query as to whether this is something the local authority should be involved 
with. It is a public health provision issue, not a spatial planning issue. It 
shouldn’t be in the local plan. 

• Focus funds on poorer area to provide better facilities. Invest in existing 
facilities. 

• Work in partnership with residents and housing providers to improve housing 
standards. 

• Build infrastructure to support healthy communities, which should be 
appropriate to any development and meet needs. Need a requirement that 
new developments over a certain size must provide a health centre or pay 
CEC to do it. 

• Increase the numbers of GPs and dentists. 

• Concentrate on affordable housing rather than more luxury dwellings – would 
assist people to afford better quality food and reduce financial stress. 

• Allocate land for employment appropriate to the social setting whilst allocating 
sites for housing. 

• Make sure that socially deprived areas have good tree cover – trees in the 
line of sight of homes can have a positive effect on heath and wellbeing. 

• Recognise the impacts of specialist retirement housing and its contribution to 
addressing health inequalities – allocate sites for retirement developments. 

• Need a comprehensive policy on health and wellbeing, and engagement with 
the NHS is encouraged. 

• Proposals should consider local health outcomes, and where appropriate to 
the local context and/or size of the scheme include a Health Impact 
Assessment. 

• Design of schemes should encourage active travel, including through 
providing safe and attractive walking and cycling routes, and ensuring 
developments are connected by these routes to local services, employment, 
leisure, and existing walking and cycling routes. 

Page 236



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 114 

• Provide access to healthy foods, including through access to shops and food 
growing opportunities (allotments and/or providing sufficient garden space). 

• Design schemes in a way that encourages social interaction, including 
through providing front gardens, and informal meeting spaces including street 
benches and neighbourhood squares and green/blue spaces. 

• Design schemes to be resilient and adaptable to climate change, including 
through SUDs, rainwater collection, and efficient design. 

• Consider the impacts of pollution and microclimates, and design schemes to 
reduce any potential negative outcomes. 

• Make sure development embraces and respects the context and heritage of 
the surrounding area. 

• Provide the necessary mix of housing types and affordable housing, reflecting 
local needs. 

• Provide sufficient and high quality green and blue spaces within 
developments 

• Reduce speed limit to 20mph, restrict certain types of traffic in residential 
areas very close to the road to protect against air,  particulate and noise 
pollution. 

• Measures to reduce health inequality should be evidence led with a clear 
understanding of the underlying reasons for inequality.  

• Support a balanced approach to the distribution of development to enable an 
adequate and proportionate provision of affordable homes, as well as access 
to open space, local amenities and services. 

• Provide a choice of homes in sustainable locations and support economic 
growth through the provision of suitable employment space. 

• Make sure that the rationale for developments is linked to the specific needs 
of the local area and not allow the local area to be simultaneously increased 
and decreased at a whim. 

• Too much reliance on the tartan rug. Need to explain the important 
fundamental difference between association and causality, and the factors 
contribute to the apparent difference in life expectancy in relation to 
Gawsworth. Reference to Gawsworth should be removed from the issues 
paper and topic paper. 

• Direct new development to the most deprived areas to improve their 
environmental, social and economic conditions. 

• Large new housing estates can put severe strain on local health services, 
which can’t be wholly mitigated by contributions. 

Page 237



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 115 

• The different types of health inequalities are not fully understood and there is 
too much focus on finances rather than age or lifestyle. A full review of the 
meaning of heath inequality should be undertaken – the local plan is not the 
vehicle for this. 

• Council decisions favour the south of the borough to the detriment of the 
north. 

• The canal network’s multi-functional benefits can help disadvantaged 
communities. It provides accessible green and blue spaces where it’s needed 
most and provide environments that can make appositive difference in 
people’s lives. 

• Build homes close to existing services where contributions can be sought for 
school or doctor improvements and open space. 

• The spatial strategy should respond positively to the settlement hierarchy and 
allocate sites regarding the closeness of services and amenities. 

• Provide very strict controls on fast food outlets, incentives for shops selling 
healthy food, tax fast food delivery, provide more allotments with incentives 
for private landowners to convert land. 

• There is a possible conflict between sustainability concepts and deprivation 
indicators – a methodology should be established that fosters balanced 
communities. 

• Allocate land for local health facilities. 

• Need to consider both urban and rural areas when establishing healthy and 
sustainable communities. Development in rural areas is crucial to the 
successful growth of the borough. 

• Rural sites should be considered on their adjacency and proximity to a 
number of rural settlements, rather than one settlement. 

• Need local access to early education, good future local employment sites, 
expanded primary and secondary education as the borough grows and make 
sure there is access to health services in each locality, with good transport 
links to local hospitals. 

• Green or blue spaces are sometimes not maintained to a standard that 
encourages recreational activity, and therefore wellbeing. 

• Provide greater support for community cohesion in existing spaces. 

• Sites submitted to support reduction in health inequalities. 

Q3f Are there any other matters related to healthy and safe 
communities that the new local plan should consider? 

Page 238



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 116 

• These matters are of no concern to the local authority – basic functions 
should be concentrated on. 

• Road pollution contributes to poor health. 

• Comply with the Planning Coalition’s fourth planning test, which is around 
protecting important biodiversity sites and requiring fit for purpose 
contributions for nature from all developments. 

• Analyse areas to see where people do not have access to medical, 
educational or sports and recreation services and put an infrastructure plan 
together that must be delivered before housing. 

• Don’t put affordable housing in edge of settlement estates where there is only 
access by car. 

• Eliminate wood burning stoves. 

• Condition noise levels. 

• Secure Longridge local wildlife site in Knutsford as a nature reserve. 

• Control effects of development on water quality (domestic supply and water 
courses). 

• Make sure there is enough decent housing for everyone. 

• Consider how CEC can work with local councils, communities and health 
providers to ensure comprehensive access to medical services and 
preventive health initiatives in all communities.  

• improve the effectiveness of CECs communications of health measures to 
reach more residents 

• Some people may find it disorientating that a large housing development is all 
new, leading to mental illness – retain some existing buildings, with policies to 
discourage clearance, and trees. 

• Encourage safer walking routes and good quality cycling routes (separate to 
the main traffic). 

• Need greater emphasis on managing the care of the mentally frail, both short- 
and long-term, including the need for community indoor and outdoor spaces 
for them. 

• Reflect the safety aspects of construction in resisting the fire hazard. New 
builds should only be approved with separate provision for bike and battery 
storage external to the main dwelling. 

• Need careful analysis of the age and distance profiles of cycling for work, 
shopping and access to facilities rather than blanket schemes – disabled 

Page 239



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 117 

people, the elderly and young families with toddlers and push chairs should 
not compete with adult or teenage cyclists, particularly on electric bikes. 

• Need surveys of pedestrian movement. 

• Public concerns in Macclesfield have shifted from concerns over crime and 
antisocial behaviour to concerns on environmental issues and traffic. 

• Work closely with the Local Nature Partnership. 

• Review the PROW network and identify where there would be opportunities to 
extend this through new PROWs or alternative forms of passive routes (for 
instance over new open space that could be created) over land that would 
create a more connected network and the potential for short-cuts connecting 
communities to local services and the open countryside. 

• Consider how the national, sub-regional and local cycle network could be 
improved. 

• Support indoor and outdoor sports and leisure uses. 

Chapter 4: Design 

Q4a What approach should be taken in preparing the Cheshire East 
Design Code? For example, should it be a strategic level code or 
be broken down into smaller areas and/or development types? 
How should residents, site promoters and stakeholders be 
involved in the process? Should the design code be prepared as 
part of the new local plan or as a separate development plan 
document? 

• The CEC Design Code is going to have to be broken down into smaller areas 
because the local areas are so diverse. Multiple settlements are relatively 
close together but have very differently character and it would be impossible 
to draw up codes that apply consistently across all settlements without a more 
detailed approach. 

• A design checklist should be developed, referencing policies. 

• We suggest an overarching Cheshire East Design Code with more specifics 
added in Neighbourhood Plans. Movement should be addressed, including 
separation of vehicles/pedestrians. 

• Codes should be prepared on an area basis, incorporated into neighbourhood 
plans and involve residents in production. 

• The Design Code should be part of the Local Plan, not a separate document. 

Page 240



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 118 

• The development industry is familiar with the existing Design Code, and it is 
not considered necessary to prepare a new design Code. 

• It would be helpful if a local Plan policy could cross refer to design codes and 
confirm that proposals consistent with the principles set out in the codes will 
be supported. 

• Site masterplans/design codes may be prepared by applicants 

• General support for current situation of overarching design guide and 
localised neighbourhood plan design codes. 

• Helpful for a policy referring to the design code to contain wording which 
allows for flexibility in terms of compliance, where site specific issues may 
mean deviation from the code allows a better design outcome. 

• Codes should be flexible to encourage development opportunities and not be 
overly prescriptive or detailed unless prepared at a small area level. 

• Advocate the preparation of the Design Code as a separate development plan 
document on the basis that this could potentially allow for a more streamlined 
review process, should that be necessary, outside of any wider review of the 
New Local Plan. 

• Could lay down general design principles but need local design principles 
based on local needs/characteristics of the area. 

• Design Codes should be prepared at the strategic level and not disaggregated 
to smaller areas, as this will increase complexity and inconsistency. 

• DC should be prepared in line with the Framework definition. 

• Consideration should be given as to how the Design Code can be used to 
encourage the “gentle densification” or existing urban areas. For example, the 
Code could be used to permit six-storey 

• development within a predetermined area around railway stations. 

• DC should contain simple, clear requirements for development and be 
supported by clear rationale. This will allow developers to consider the 
practical implications of delivering the design requirements, including viability 
and availability of certain materials. 

• Where larger scale proposals are considered in the Local Plan then it would 
be appropriate to then prepare appropriate Design Frameworks and Coding to 
ensure that development can be achieved in a comprehensive manner with 
maximum positive effect on design outcomes and integration with existing 
areas. 

• It would be beneficial for the Council to ensure that any design policies are 
thoroughly tested to ensure that they are realistic, deliverable and viable. 

Page 241



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 119 

• Supportive of an approach whereby a site allocation policy contains specific 
criteria and expectations of what development proposals should contain but 
we would note the above comments. Site specific and area specific Codes 
can be a positive tool where they provide greater certainty on the relevant and 
particular design related points. 

• It is possible that the design code could contain a hybrid approach with one 
section dealing with a strategic set of design requirements and with area or 
site specific codes for smaller areas or development types. Given the 
importance of this issue to the Borough generally it is suggested that the 
Council should consult on a methodology/approach for any design code in 
advance of its preparation. 

• Keen to see a forthcoming design code that accurately considers the 
economic implications of design features (e.g. landscaping, density) as to 
ensure the financial viability of development proposals. 

• Early engagement with parish councils is important, our experience is this to 
date is that a great deal of work has already taken place before engagement 
and as such there is more resistance to change. The local plan should require 
developers to engage with parish councils very early in the design process, 
both in the spatial/master planning stage and the detailed design stage. 

• It is considered that the best way to ensure that the Design Code can 
influence all development allocated within a Local Plan, is if it was prepared, 
examined and adopted as part of that Local Plan. This process would ensure 
that there would be no delay between the adoption of the Local Plan and 
realisation of the vision expressed in the Design Code. The views of the 
community, site promoters and other stakeholders are best 

• Whether to have borough wide or detailed local; whether to rely on NPs for 
the local codes 

• Flexibility to respond to site circumstances 

• Prepare as part of the LP process (to enable full debate). Prepare outside LP 
process to ensure easy to update. 

• Early consultation to ensure viability 

• Consult on a methodology / approach at the outset 

• It is considered that a separate Design Code development plan document 
would be appropriate, albeit prepared in parallel with the Local Plan so that its 
requirements can be factored into Local Plan evidence base, including 
viability appraisal and infrastructure plan. This would avoid the new Local Plan 
becoming overly cumbersome and containing information that would be better 
presented elsewhere. However, in light of CEC’s existing Design Guide, and 
the comprehensive NMDC, a new Design Code document should not 
duplicate work unnecessarily. A new Design Code development plan 

Page 242



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 120 

document should be as concise as possible and accessible to professionals 
and laymen alike 

• If a SLDC is progressed, regard is given to the Cheshire East Design Guide 

• as a helpful starting point as whilst it has raised challenges for developers, it 
has generally been successful in providing clarity on the requirements for new 
residential development. 

• Regard needs to be given to the ‘Vision’ for net zero by 2045 and the design 
implications or changes that this will bring with it. 

Q4b Are there any other matters related to design that the new local 
plan should consider? 

• No mention of NP design guides, or parish design SPDs that still apply. 
Should be brought forward and attached to new Local Plan. 

• Design matters should be prioritised early in the process, often compromised 
by other factors. 

• The historic environment should be protected and maintained; however, this 
should not rule out new design that may complement the existing built 
environment. 

• Design choices should reflect the immediate vicinity. 

• Settlement ‘gateways’ to reflect the design of area. 

• Avoid the loss of amenity space, garden space, green infrastructure. 

• SuDS, ponds and green spaces should be created to support biodiversity. 

• Restrict building up to the boundary fencing of properties. 

• Creative approach on design required to new development around National 
Gas and National Grid assets. 

• Solar panels should be required on all roofs. 

• Warehouse external colours should blend in with the natural environment. 

• Streamline design policies across the development plan into one overarching 
policy. Policies overlap, unnecessary duplication. Places strain on production 
of statements for applications. Allows for removal of other policies already 
covered by design such as SADPD HOU 12 amenity. Suggest strategic 
design policy that: supports allocated sites that accord specific requirements 
and CECBDG and NP design guides; and supports windfall development that 
accords with criteria cross referenced from other design policies depending on 
the form of development, and the CECBDG and NP design guides. 

Page 243



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 121 

• Design policy matters should be flexible to enable viability and deliverability. 
Emphasis on brownfield redevelopment in urban areas where departing from 
prescribed design may be necessary. 

• CEC failing to implement NP design standards. 

• Design for the elderly. Mobility and access to infrastructure. 

• Design should consider conflict with the environment. Existing landscape 
features, wildlife Habitats and natural assets. Natural England design guide. 

• New Local Plan should consider the success (or not) of previous design 
policies, which should serve as the starting point for informing new policy on 
design. 

• Design to be given more priority during pre-submission stages. 

• Design policy should not overburden the delivery of schemes, particular 
regard should be given to the form of development, which is required to be 
designed in a manner that serves its function.  

• New developments should possibly have Combined Heat and Power, and 
District Heating Infrastructure. Ground source heat pumps implemented at the 
neighbourhood level is more cost-effective. 

• Design codes should represent a mixture of sustainable materials. 

• Incorporate design measures that consider endangered species. 

• Developments (residential and employment) replicate design. More traditional 
design needed. 

• Use Canal and River Trust waterside design principles. 

• A revised definition of ‘pastiche’ is required because the creation of buildings 
sympathetic to their surroundings is not pastiche. 

• Protection of views. 

• Design should respond to climate change. Engage with NP design guides. 
Engage with communities. 

Chapter 5: Our natural environment 

Q5a What approaches or measures should be incorporated in the new 
local plan to protect and improve biodiversity? 

• Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG)  

Page 244



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 122 

o Biodiversity and nature’s recovery are vital and require fit-for-purpose 
contributions.  

o Provided that there is meaningful consultation with the local 
community, land promoters and other stakeholders 

o Support the Biodiversity Net Gain supplementary planning document 
(adopted just after this consultation closed) to provide more detailed 
guidance.  

o BNG regs now mean the Council should have a single policy on 
ecological designations, protection and implementation. 

o The Green Infrastructure Framework and Environmental Improvement 
Plan emphasize increasing urban green cover and access to 
green/blue spaces, The Canals and Rivers Trust's network has an 
important role in biodiversity protection, ecological networks, and 
priority sites 

• BNG mandatory requirements v policy 

o The critical importance of biodiversity should be emphasised in 
policies, including how individuals and households can contribution. 

o BNG policies should not duplicate provisions enacted under different 
policies. 

o The mandatory 10% BNG (Biodiversity Net Gain) requirement negates 
the need for additional policies. 

o The Council will include policies to meet the legal obligation and inform 
developers of their responsibilities. 

o The plan must ensure national policy compliance and local biodiversity 
enhancement and protection. 

o Recognise developments/sites exempt from the statutory provision. 
o Policies should follow the sequential approach: on-site, off-site, credit 

purchase compensation. 
o Credits can be purchased from any registered source. 
o Ensure both enhancement and protection of biodiversity are addressed 

equally. 
o A policy is needed for existing nest sites for building-dependent 

migrating endangered species such as swifts and house martins 
because nesting sites in buildings are excluded from the Biodiversity 
Net Gain methodology. DEFRA said they would be dealt with by LAs. 
Need a specific policy for “Swift Bricks” in new housing.  

• BNG specifics for water 

o Ensure waterways are included in biodiversity net gain (BNG) 
assessments. 

o Defra's Biodiversity Metric requires BNG assessments for land within 
10m of a watercourse, aiming for a minimum 10% net gain in 
biodiversity units. 

o Improvements in our water environment have plateaued due to an 
increasing population, ageing infrastructure, increased pollution risks 
and the pressure on our drainage system. Climate change also means 
that rainfall patterns are changing. 

Page 245



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 123 

o The planning process has an important role to play in helping improve 
our water environment. 

o Policies should set out minimum requirements for what is expected 
from developments on, over or adjacent to watercourses, and for sites 
which have watercourses flowing through them or forming a boundary 

o Watercourse encroachment is a factor within the Biodiversity Net Gain 
(BNG) metric calculation 

• BNG monitoring (30 year requirement)  

o Ensure that biodiversity is measured, monitored and maintained in 
existing urban locations, not just in rural locations and on new 
development sites. Incorporate important links in NPs 

• BNG target setting 

o A more ambitious Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) target of 20%- 25%-
30%  uplift suggested. The increase is generally negligible to 
developers, and unlikely to make developments unviable. Studies 
suggest  additional cost of £180 per dwelling. 

o PPG 12th February 2024: plan makers should not seek more than 10% 
biodiversity net gain, either on an area-wide basis or specific allocation 
unless justified by evidence of local need and impacts on viability. 

o Significant additional costs house building costs are associated with 
BNG and should be fully accounted for in the Council’s viability 
assessment. 

o The BNG metric is not fit for purpose for certain types of development 
such as mineral extraction. The Minerals Industry, through the Mineral 
Products Association, is developing sector specific guidance in 
conjunction with the Planning Officers’ Society  

o The Net Gain provision is totally inadequate for the protection of 
biodiversity. At least one third of any new development needs to be left 
as truly natural (i.e. wild) environment, to meet the government's 
30by30 commitment. 

• BNG site selection and allocation 

o BNG delivery (potentially in excess of Government requirements) 
should be a key consideration in the Council’s site assessment 
process.  

o The Local Plan should be screened under Regulation 105 of the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) 
at an early stage  

o assessment can inform key decision making on strategic options and 
development sites to outline avoidance and/or mitigation measures at 
the plan level, considered as part of an Appropriate Assessment, 
including a clear direction for project level HRA 

o Refer to Natural England’s Impact Risk Zones (IRZ) on Magic Maps 
o Be strategic in the selection of wider BNG areas that maybe join up 
o Create habitat mosaics, and commuting corridors. 
o Landscaping plans should incorporate internal wildlife corridors. 

Page 246



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 124 

o Allocate some land sites as biodiversity reservoirs to compensate for 
other development in the area. 

o Allocate sites which are of a scale and type that can incorporate new 
habitats as part of adopting a robust spatial strategy and balanced 
approach to site allocations.  

o Policy should promote larger domestic gardens 
o Ensure ecological surveys inform future site allocations 
o Offer a pre-application advice service for BNG  
o Mandatory BNG should not frustrate or delay the delivery of homes. 
o Offsetting by offering alternative sites for biodiversity is too soft an 

option.  
o Ensure BNG is enshrined in any development (brownfield can have 

more wildlife than greenfield) located in the immediate area not miles 
away. Nature doesn’t take the bus! 

o Avoidance of development into open countryside which would involve 
loss of biodiversity 

o House building threatens biodiversity; offsets are sometimes 
acceptable. 

o Areas rich in biodiversity should be protected. 
o Identify and protect high-biodiversity areas including SSSIs, European 

sites, Special Areas of Conservation, Special Protection Areas, and 
Ramsar sites on proposals map  

o Identify low-biodiversity areas suitable for development. 
o Develop a natural capital assets register with community input. 
o Create a register of low-biodiversity land. 
o Stop developments on critical areas (peatlands, woodlands) and 

restore peatlands. 
o Focus on repurposing unused buildings and revitalizing decaying areas 

instead of new developments. 
o Support the joined up approach with Cheshire West and Chester and 

Warrington and potentially transposing BNG off-setting between 
broughs for strategically importance schemes. 

o CEC should consider the role of LNRS in NG delivery and how they 
want this to be considered in the Plan. 

o Identifying potential off setting land via the Call for Sites needs to be 
supplemented by policy and guidance setting out the costs of credits in 
these locations to ensure that developers can assess viability of 
schemes prior to planning applications being made. 

o EA suggested site selection check list  
o The financial impact of BNG on site or off site should be considered in 

viability assessments undertaken by the Council that underpin the new 
Local Plan. 

o request further clarity on the availability of habitat banking as well as 
availability of biodiversity units in the borough. 

o There should be a mechanism for a site to be removed from the local 
plan if it is subsequently shown to be of significant wildlife value as has 
happened with LPS38 ( Longridge) and LPS13 ( Danes Moss)   

o Stronger protection of the greenbelt, particularly the North Staffordshire 
greenbelt to the south of Alsager needed. 

Page 247



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 125 

o Rewarding farmers for including wildlife protection zones on their 
farms, planting more woodlands, preserve and develop more wetlands 
and encourage schemes that re-introduce species and encourage 
plans for re-wilding to off-set the loss of natural habitat. 

• Local Nature Recovery Strategies 

o The Plan should include policies and proposals for nature recovery.  
o The Plan should also achieve wider environmental gains, beyond BNG, 

to include wider natural capital benefits such as improved water and air 
quality and recreation.  

o Support the production of a Local Nature Recovery Strategy 
o It should recognise the potential of a connected network of wildlife-rich 

habitats to improve biodiversity.  
o The protection and recovery of priority species and habitats  
o supporting habitats outside designated sites for protected species.  
o Consider wider benefits such as carbon capture, flood risk 

management and enhanced access to nature. 
o The Plan should map local ecological networks, including buffers and 

wildlife corridors and set out 
o policies and proposals to safeguard and enhance the network, 

including contributions through 
o development where appropriate. These should draw on and aim to aid 

the delivery of Local Nature Recovery Strategies which are due to be in 
place by March 2025. 

• Woodland  

o one third of all woodland species are in decline.  
o Protect woods and trees and associated semi-natural habitats and 

support active conservation management through rigorous application 
of planning policy protections. 

o Ensure that woodland wildlife indicator species (birds, butterflies and 
plants) are embedded into local policy and investment plans as a 
measure of nature recovery success,  

o Declare a nature emergency and set out a plan to address it. Monitor  

• Trees and hedgerows 

o All new developments should include new trees. 
o Preserve hedgerows and trees. 
o Ancient trees are hosts to much greater biodiversity, flora and fauna 

than young trees. Old trees need to be retained where possible.  
o The Plan must monitor and ensure replacement of aging tree stock for 

future generations. 
o There is a risk that predominantly small, short-lived ornamental species 

will be planted en masse for the convenience of highway planners to 
the detriment of biodiversity; 

o The new plan needs to secure the planting of some mature trees where 
existing trees are sacrificed to development. 

Page 248



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 126 

o The council should adopt a new policy permitting the planting of trees 
and hedgerows on land managed by Cheshire East Highways 

• Protect valuable habitats 

o Identify and protect  ‘Wildlife Corridors’, ‘Local Wildlife Sites’ and ‘High 
Value Habitats’ as defined by independent experts such as Cheshire 
Wildlife Trust and ’Green Gaps’ as defined in Neighbourhood Plans.  

o Retention of green belt under all circumstances. 
o Government regulations are minimal and reactive and should not be 

accepted as the complete list of irreplaceable habitat types. Link 
definitions to the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 
2006; section 41 (which itself, is referenced in the supporting notes to 
the Regulations). 

• Community involvement  

o local community groups hold valuable information on nature. They 
should  be given a high priority at the inception of a development and 
should be built into the planning process at the beginning  

• BNG is supported by all. Some want even more up lift than the Env Act 
requires.  

o Need to consider BNG at the start of site selection and have evidence 
from statutory consultees as well as local knowledge of the best and 
most precious landscapes and habitats to avoid and a list of suitable 
sites. 

o BNG needs to be factored into viability, it must be monitored too for 30 
years.  

o Support for wider LNRS and other initiatives. Support for joined up 
BNG sites and offsetting sharing across authorities for bigger schemes. 

o A plea to remember urban areas, avoid the Green Belt and 
acknowledge individual contributions, the importance of water, trees 
and woodland and migrating bird habitat which needs a specific policy 

Q5b How can the new local plan help to make sure that developments 
take proper account of, and respect, the landscapes of Cheshire 
East? 

• Mapping/ illustration  

o The Plan needs illustrations of landscape types/ designated 
environmental areas.  

o The online digital Policies Map is difficult to read due multiple 
policies/GIS landscape and green infrastructure layers & ecological 
designations. 

o Natural England’s character map should be depicted and the local 
landscape character assessment map, updated in 2018. 

Page 249



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 127 

o The Natural Environment Topic Paper provides numbers of each site 
type but no diagram; therefore, hard to see if any have been missed. 

• Policy  

o The LPS has too many varying landscape policies SE 4,6,15, ENV 
1,3,4 and a patchwork of ecological designations. 

o condense and rationalise policy objectives into fewer policies that are 
more logical to follow. 

o Need a single ‘Landscape Character’ policy that clearly lists all the 
relevant landscape designations across the Borough, confirms their 
status, what will be acceptable forms of development, any evidence 
required to support development proposals and relevant evidence-
based documents that need to be taken into account extensive areas 
are covered by Local Landscape Designations. 

o Whilst updated in the SADPD they are a relic of the Structure Plan 
policies and of questionable relevance/value above the general 
protection that is afforded by Policy PG 6 

o NPPF - local landscape designations should be distinct from national 
designations. A single policy would make this more transparent 

• Trees 

o Comply with paragraph 180c NPPF; that development should not result 
in the loss of irreplaceable habitats, such as ancient woodland,  

o avoid policies which would remove or destroy irreplaceable habitats or 
have a significant impact on them.  

o Don’t earmark development within 50 metres of any ancient woodland  
o Ensure contributions to the Ancient Tree Inventory (ATI) and Ancient 

Woodland Inventory (AWI) are fully up to date, and that potential areas 
of unmapped ancient woodland are surveyed and assessed to ensure 
that no policies are inadvertently proposed that impact on ancient 
woodland or veteran trees 

• Open countryside 

o Do not allow loss of defined 'Open Countryside' by 'creep' i.e. by 
ignoring Policy PG6 for things like garages, house extensions, tennis 
courts and other expanding domestic curtilages which may be small 
but cumulatively erode the countryside. 

o By supporting large scale development in the right locations, the Local 
Plan can help to protect more sensitive areas from unwanted 
speculative development. 

o Current planning policies allow developers to build housing and 
employment sites which are virtually identical across England. The best 
way to protect the landscape is not to permit large scale developments. 

o development in the countryside should be considered acceptable in 
principle in a variety of locations including on the edge of small and 
medium size settlements to support and maintain services/ facilities 
and meet the needs of Cheshire East’s urban and growing rural 
population.  

Page 250



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 128 

• Retention of Green Belt 

o Brown fields should be prioritised  

• Landscape character   

o Build CEC’s Landscape Character Assessment 2018 and LLD Areas 
Review 2018 into the new LP. 

o It should be reviewed in collaboration with local community groups to 
create a more robust evidence base. It could assist more in creating 
and protecting more linked habitats at a landscape level. 

o Ensure the Landscape Character Assessment is used to inform 
planning policy rather than being changed to accommodate planning 
decisions that have already been made. This should be a robust 
document that shapes planning decisions.  

o The Cheshire East Landscape Character Assessment was last 
updated was prior to the council declaring a climate emergency. It 
should be revisited to take into account climate change and biodiversity 
loss. Consult and collaborate with local community and wildlife groups.  

o Don’t preserve many of the current landscapes, as they have been 
formed by industrial farming practices and have become biodiversity 
deserts. Current landscapes need to be allowed to rewild naturally 
wherever possible. 

o Proposals should also introduce more native features suitable to the 
receiving landscape, whilst offering benefits of new views towards local 
features such as churches/spires etc to enable wayfinding. 

• The Land availability assessment (draft methodology) April 2024 proposes to 
consider the impact of site allocations against potential environmental 
constraints and landscape designations at Stage 1 of the process. support 
this methodology. 

• there are circumstances where development in green field and green belt may 
represent a sustainable option for development. 

• protect the landscape and embed it as part of any masterplanning process 
that is within or adjacent to the countryside. This may include the provision of 
green buffers, maintaining existing hedgerow and trees, provision of other 
additional green and blue infrastructure, and appropriate development 
densities.  

• Work with developer on site specific design codes to ensure any development 
is sensitive to its surrounds. 

• support development which includes the context and local landscape 
character. Policies should reference the Cheshire East LCA, to conserves and 
enhances key characteristics, of specific character areas, and protects visual 
amenity. Need finer grain local level assessments, to refine the LCA 

Page 251



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 129 

• stronger guidance on how existing landscapes can be preserved and 
enhanced and key positive/ negative features identified which could be 
enhanced/resolved. 

• Neighbourhood plans 

o The local landscapes need to be protected. The Wilmslow 
Neighbourhood Plan gives very good guidance to protect the wider 
Lindow Landscape and the leafy urban landscape charter of the town 
centre. 

o The Plan should require compliance with the requirements of a 
Neighbourhood Plan if this exists for the location concerned and if it 
refers to protection of landscapes as in the Bollington NP. 

o Plans should be developed to provide detailed guidance for how 
landscapes should be managed to ensure their continued preservation. 
This guidance should, where appropriate, be supplemented by policies 
within neighbourhood plans. 

o commission Cheshire Community Action to work with parish and town 
councils to undertake housing needs assessments. This should enable 
parish and town councils to undertake periodic updates to 
assessments and ensure their ownership of the process. 

• Strategic site assessment considers macro landscape character and value; 
individual development management policies and site allocation policies must 
be sufficiently prescriptive to ensure landscapes are properly assessed and 
respected. 

• Policy should require strategic sites to plan and design for landscape impacts 
and ensure mitigation, is feasible, and incorporates surface water features 
and maximises biodiversity net gain. The ongoing development of Cheshire 
Green Energy Park provides an excellent case study example to inform future 
policy creation. 

• The designation of Danes Moss at South Macclesfield illustrates how not to 
take account of environmental and biodiversity concerns. If there is evidence 
that residents prioritise environmental matters more highly than previously 

• The landscapes and views from the town of Macclesfield should be protected. 

• Make explicit reference to geological conservation(including protection  for 
geological SSSIs and local geological sites) and the need to conserve, 
interpret and manage geological sites and features in the wider environment. 

• include strategic policies to protect and enhance valued landscapes, as well 
criteria based policies to guide development. 

• Natural England is assessing parts of the Cheshire Sandstone Ridge,  for 
designation as an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) It is a valued 

Page 252



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 130 

landscape; avoid or minimise impacts and secure enhancement opportunities 
from development to reflect the intrinsic character and natural beauty . Even 
prior to designation as an AONB it would still carry weight.  

• Identify relevant areas of tranquillity and provide appropriate policy protection 
as per the NPPF. Use The CPRE mapped areas of tranquillity as evidence for 
the LP and SEA/SA 

• Include a policy to reduce light pollution. Lighting can harm wildlife and 
enjoyment of the countryside/night sky, in intrinsically dark landscapes, e.g., 
protected landscapes and nature reserves. 

Q5c Are there any other matters related to our natural environment 
that the new local plan should consider? 

• Cheshire (west and east) has many meres, mosses and ponds but, they are 
not mentioned. Cheshire has less tree coverage than the national average. 
There should be a commitment to the provision of new woodlands comprising 
native species. 

• Emphasise that lower density is required around the natural environment. 

• Trees  

o Consider the overall state of woods and trees in Cheshire East and 
look to strengthen and expand them through: 

▪ Effective and careful woodland management, giving sufficient 
time and space for woods to grow and other woods that require 
intervention being addressed. 

▪ Planting new trees and woodlands in appropriate areas to help 
increase tree cover, resolve fragmentation (unconnected areas 
of woodland) and connect habitats. 

▪ Encouraging landowners, including farmers, to plant trees and 
woods on their lands where appropriate. 

• Full advantage should be taken of all brown field sites.  

• The plan should allocate land with the least environmental or amenity value 
evidence to be provided, evidenced through SA and HRA.  

• avoid designated sites and landscapes, significant areas of best and most 
versatile agricultural land and peat and should consider the direct and indirect 
effects of development, including on land outside designated boundaries and 
within the setting of protected landscapes 

• Priority habitats, ecological networks and priority and/or legally protected 
species populations 

• The Local Plan should be underpinned by up to date environmental evidence; 
an assessment of existing and potential components of local ecological 

Page 253



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 131 

networks. This assessment should inform the SA , ensure that land of least 
environment value is chosen for development, 

• Priority habitats and species  

• Local Biodiversity Action Plans (LBAPs). 

• Protected species  

• Sites containing watercourses, old buildings, significant hedgerows and 
substantial trees are possible habitats for protected species. 

• Ecological networks  

• management of GI,  

• Irreplaceable habitats 

• The Plan should set out a clear vision for delivering GI, including identification 
of deficiencies  

• sustainable drainage systems, biodiversity, access, active travel and open 
space protection and enhancement. 

• Plans can make use of the Natural England’s Green Infrastructure Framework 
(GIF) 

• The biodiversity crisis needs measures in the new plan to reverse this decline.  

• Avoidance of development and land use impacts on species or habitats 
should be central to all planning policies.  

• The council’s Carbon Neutrality Action Plan makes provision for a climate 
champion in each department; a biodiversity champion is needed as part of 
the local plan. Both roles should be appropriately trained and experienced 
officers with real powers of veto or control management. 

• Strategic sites should be assessed for natural capital value. DEFRA  
guidelines  “Enabling a Natural Capital Approach” (ENCA) are recommended 
for use in the Treasury’s Green Book guidance. The  methodology and data 
sourcebook enable a rapid assessments of natural capital valuations. 

• The acceptance that the development of large and medium sites cannot bring 
about a net biodiversity gain needs to be outlawed. All habitats present within 
an allocated site should be present after development. Biodiversity should not 
be exported elsewhere. It should remain within the locality of the 
development. 

• ensure  local environmental and highways authorities work closely with the 
law enforcement agencies to prevent anti-social and illegal behaviours which 

Page 254



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 132 

are damaging to the natural environment e.g. inappropriate development, 
speeding traffic and fly-tipping. 

• local plans should include adequate and environmentally friendly facilities for 
the disposal of all waste materials 

• promote provision of community growing spaces (community orchards, 
allotments and community gardens 

• Review Open Countryside (Policy PG6) and Local Green Gaps 
(Neighbourhood Plans) to update/revise them to reflect current circumstances 
i.e.  NPPF changes / Environment Act / Biodiversity Net Gain mandates. 
Development should align with these environmental priorities and deliver new 
development and infrastructure. proposals should integrate measures that 
promote sustainable practices and enhance biodiversity and ecological value. 

• The emerging Local Plan should, therefore, consider and reflect these 
national requirements as part of any viability and deliverability evidence, and 
not seek additional requirements from developers which may render schemes 
unviable. 

• Schemes on brownfield land should be prioritised over greenfield or greenbelt 
. The policy should actively discourage building on greenbelt or greenfield 
which stores carbon, and rainwater run off better than  

• SUDs and assist with flood mitigation. 

• The use of living walls, blue roofs and green roofs should be incorporated into 
the plan 

• support schemes that improve soil quality, reduce runoff into failing water 
courses, and sequester carbon 

• include policies to support agricultural developments, within the green belt, to 
increase agricultural productivity whilst reducing emissions, including 
horticulture and agri-tech developments, to make agriculture more climate 
resilient. Specific reference to this form of agriculture should be supported as 
a form of suitable agricultural development and use of the land as a way of 
achieving greater climate resilience. 

• Cheshire Living Landscape programme but this is not at an agreed stage at 
the moment but could be used in the future  

• BNG requirements could increase on previously undeveloped sites. 

• Will the LPA be updating the habitat network data prepared by Cheshire 
Wildlife Trust as part of the emerging Local Plan evidence base? 

• There should be no development on Local Wildlife Sites. Any site designated 
for development within 

Page 255



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 133 

• LP sites to be assessed by a trained ecologist and removed if of ecological 
value. Review every five years as sites can become valuable biodiverse 
habitats in a short time.  

• Consider including a category of Neighbourhood Wildlife Sites; Not of equal 
merit as LWS designation but important for the community as locally 
biodiverse areas close to homes and schools etc. This would help develop the 
network of connected biodiverse open space and  provide quality green space 
near to people's homes 

• BNG, policy should include sufficient flexibility for off-site provision, 
particularly for existing and new infrastructure sites. 

• On-site provision may not be the most appropriate long-term solution for the 
delivery of BNG when investing in key infrastructure such as water and 
wastewater assets. It is critical that land at and around our key infrastructure 
sites is not sterilised to ensure that we are able to flexibly and most 
appropriately respond to future growth and environmental drivers. This 
approach is supported in PPG; that the approach to BNG should be resilient 
to future pressures from further development.  

• Biodiversity mitigation / enhancement should not be located directly over 
water and wastewater assets or where excavation onto the asset would 
require removal of the biodiversity. 

• Schedule 3 of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010 will require the use 
of Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS)  in new developments subject to 
final decisions on scope, threshold and process, while also being mindful of 
the cumulative impact of new regulatory burdens on the development sector. 

• It will also make the right to connect surface water run-off conditional on the 
approval of the drainage system by the SuDS approving body. 

• Invasive non-native species (INNS) threaten wildlife and damage the 
economy. They are one of the top 5 drivers of wildlife loss globally. Aquatic 
species are more invasive than terrestrial ones, as they move easily through 
rivers and canals.  

• Managing the impact and slowing the spread of INNS is challenging because 
different sectors of the economy undertake activities that can introduce INNS 
and increase the spread. The Great Britain INNS Strategy is a vital step in 
coordinating actions nationally to prevent INNS in the water environment.  

• The local plan should highlight this threat to the natural environment and 
identifies appropriate actions to help address this issue through future 
planning in the borough 

Chapter 6: Homes for everyone 

Page 256



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 134 

Q6a Should the standard method calculation of 1,014 new homes per 
annum be used  when preparing the new local plan? If not, what 
are the circumstances that would warrant a different approach? 

• There is likely to be a change in national policy following the General Election 
and the council should wait for further clarification before ascertaining a 
housing requirement figure. 

• The standard method significantly under-represents the number of homes 
needed.  

• The standard method is flawed because it is based on the 2014 household 
projections. These have been shown to be wrong and relies also on flawed 
affordability assumptions which do not yield lower prices when homes are 
built.  

• A housing needs assessment should be undertaken by the council in line with 
¶61 of the NPPF to take account of demographic characteristics and trends, 
market signals including affordability and house prices & any unmet need 
from surrounding authorities.  

• The housing needs assessment should consider the different housing market 
areas in the Borough. There are at least two functional sub-market areas – 
the southern area strongly linked to North Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent 
and the northern area linked to Greater Manchester. Evidence on house 
prices, migration flows, travel to work areas should be taken into account 
when planning for housing needs. 

• The housing requirement should be higher than the standard method which is 
based on the 2014 Household Projections. These projections do not take 
account of recent demographic trends. Housing delivery in Cheshire East has 
averaged 1,783 dwellings per annum and this level of delivery will have 
impacted on population growth and the working age population. The mid-2022 
national population estimates (406,527 people) are 5% higher than estimated 
in the 2014 household projections. This has been caused by net inward 
migration, particularly from the Greater Manchester conurbation. The working 
age population has also grown. Over the plan period jobs growth has 
averaged 1.1% per annum which is also higher than the 0.7% estimated as 
part of the LPS which led to the plan setting its housing requirement at 1,800 
dpa. 

• Housing delivery in Cheshire East has averaged 1,783 dwellings pa or 2,713 
per annum over the past three years. This demonstrates a significant demand 
for housing above the standard method result and that higher levels of growth 
are achievable.  

• Travel to work patterns have changed since the pandemic. The latest 2022 
mid-year population estimates demonstrate a high level of inward migration 
since the LPS was adopted. 

Page 257



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 135 

• The Strategic Economic Plan for Cheshire & Warrington sets out growth 
ambitions for the sub-region including the Cheshire Science Corridor, the 
Constellation Partnership Area and the Warrington and Mersey Dee 
Economic Axis. The Cheshire and Warrington Local Economic Partnership is 
developing a ‘Sustainable & Inclusive Economic Plan to drive growth over the 
next 20 years. New homes will be needed to support economic growth, 
including the council’s corporate plan and regeneration of towns such as 
Crewe and Macclesfield. 

• The housing requirement needs to be higher than the standard method and in 
the region of 2,000 dpa to address affordability issues. House prices and 
median rental prices have increased in Cheshire East since the start of the 
LPS plan period and worsening affordability issues. Allowing more homes to 
be built is the only way to reduce pressures on housing and facilitate 
decreases in house prices/ rents.  

• The council should be planning for a minimum of 55,000 new homes over the 
next plan period, taking account of economic growth, population growth and 
other material factors.  

• There are substantial economic benefits from a housing requirement of 
around 1,800dpa – this would generate 2,399 extra construction jobs per 
year, £448.7 million additional/indirect construction GVA per year and a gain 
of £6.6 million of addition resident expenditure per year. It would also bring 
£1.7m additional revenue in tax receipts compared to the lower standard 
method figure.  

• The standard method is advisory and Local Authorities should plan for the 
needs of the future population not developer demands. Best available data 
should be used such as the 2021 Census. Identifying need is only the starting 
point in deriving a housing requirement and this should take account of 
constraints such as Green Belt.  

• The standard method is a good starting point, but the needs of each 
settlement should be considered along with any constraints. The requirement 
should be moderated by the amount of land already taken out of the greenbelt 
by the LPS and the number of homes built and committed. The new plan may 
not need such a high rate of development if the oversupply of sites can be 
used to prevent further green belt and open countryside release.  

• The existing local plan has over-supplied dwellings in relation to the standard 
method. This should enable the council to reduce the requirement and carry 
over the surplus into the next local plan. This would ease pressure on 
sensitive sites like Danes Moss, Macclesfield which cannot be justified based 
on the standard method.  

• Green Belt Review should be avoided even if this lowers the deliverable 
housing requirement figure. A Green Belt Review has recently taken place, 
reviews should be exceptional, and boundaries set so that they can endure 
beyond the plan period. 

Page 258



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 136 

• The number of dwellings needed should relate to the proposed increase in 
population and projected economic growth. The distribution and location of 
the new homes should be based on the strategic needs of the Principal 
Towns, Key Service Centres, Local Service Centres and Rural Areas and 
accompanied by supporting infrastructure. 

• The calculation should be based on the need for each settlement taking 
account of the mortality profile of the residents who will free up dwellings. 

• No new homes should be built.  

• There should be a greater emphasis on building affordable homes and use of 
brownfield sites. Empty properties must be forced onto the open market and 
owners of derelict land forced to remediate or sell. Short term lets should be 
heavily taxed as these are effectively lost to the housing market.  

• The requirement for the former Macclesfield area should cover some of the 
housing need from the Peak District National Park, the Peak Fringe and 
unmet need for affordable housing of the northern towns which have been 
constrained by green belt.  

• No new homes should be built around Macclesfield until adequate road and 
transport infrastructure is provided. This will reduce the number of homes 
needed. 

• The standard method does not take account of the needs for Wilmslow. 
Windfall sites favour the development of larger houses. There is a local need 
for bungalows, yet these are often demolished and replaced with 2 larger 4 
bedroomed homes.  

• The ability of infrastructure and the local economy to cope with increased 
demand should be factored into the assessment of the housing requirement. 
Where development will not yield sufficient contributions to address 
infrastructure concerns, this would justify a lower approach than the standard 
method.  

• Further information on how the figure of 1,014 new homes a year was 
calculated would be helpful. Previous figures used by Cheshire East were 
based on submissions from builders and estate agents who wish to maximise 
house building.  

• Development on greenfield sites should be minimised. A better approach 
would be to calculate the amount of previously developed land available and 
calculate the requirement based on that.  

• The Council should publish a clear and transparent methodology for counting 
housing completions and commitments and the apportionment of these to 
relevant settlements. The dwellings should be allocated to settlements with 
the same definition of that area in the Local Plan. Sometimes housing built 
outside of settlement boundaries is reported as being in a settlement. 

Page 259



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 137 

• The council will need to plan for a steady and adequate supply of raw 
materials to ensure sustainable delivery. The evidence base will need to 
consider the housing requirement in terms of minerals supply, and it would be 
helpful to include a resource assessment of the local plan and supply chain 
considerations. Minerals and Waste safeguarding must be part of this, with 
the need for prior extraction where there is potential conflict.   

• New sports and leisure facilities will be needed to support healthy lifestyles. 

• Various sites submitted by stakeholders to meet future housing needs.  

Q6b How could the local plan influence the mix of housing sizes within 
new developments? 

• A housing needs assessment will be needed to evidence a housing mix policy 
for the local plan. All types of need as set out in NPPF ¶60-63 should be 
addressed.  

• The policy should reflect the needs of the local housing market rather than 
using a borough-wide formula. 

• Evidence from population surveys should be used. 

• The housing need assessment should consider homelessness in the Borough 
including asylum seekers. 

• Housing authorities have a requirement to consider the needs of those 
residing or resorting in house boats under Part 5, Section 124 of the Housing 
and Planning Act 2016.  

• The availability of homes to rent should form part of the housing provision 
strategy.  

• The existing local plan contains several housing policies (LPS SC4, SADPD 
HOU 1, HOU 2, HOU 3, HOU 8) which should be combined into a single 
policy which sets out requirements for allocated sites, windfall development & 
space standards. This assists in ascertaining viability of a site.   

• Sufficient flexibility should be provided in a housing mix policy to recognise 
that local circumstances, market demand and demographics change over 
time and to ensure the delivery of commercially viable schemes. Flexibility 
was applied by the Inspector in the ‘Old Mill Road, Sandbach’ appeal 
(APP/R0660/W/22/3313892). Mix should be linked to the latest available 
evidence such as a Strategic Housing Market Assessment or evidence 
provided by a developer. 

• The new local plan should not influence housing mix, this should be guided by 
the market. The onus should be on the developer to demonstrate how the mix 
proposed responds to the needs of the population in a given market location. 

Page 260



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 138 

• Meeting the needs of different groups must not impact on the primary housing 
issue which is to address a chronic undersupply of housing 

• Smaller developments, due to market demand and viability will only propose a 
specific type of mix in terms of users and should not be required to adhere to 
a specified mix. 

• A significant amount of residential development was allowed at appeal prior to 
the adoption of the LPS and has not delivered the mix needed.  Too many 4+ 
bedroomed homes are coming forwards and not enough 1 bedroomed 
homes. The failure of the current local plan to deliver the types of houses 
needed should be avoided in the next local plan.   

• Developers should liaise with Town and Parish Councils to ascertain what 
housing type and mix is needed in their communities. 

• The plan should ensure the provision for housing for young people such as 
lower cost apartments.  

• The plan should require a higher proportion of 2 and 3 bedroom dwellings.  

• Sustainable development should include a mix of dwellings to attract elderly 
and young families  

• Shared ownership staircasing for affordable dwellings should be removed as it 
fuels inflation and puts home ownership out of reach. 

• Build for life standards should be required.  

• The mix should provide an additional room separate to bedrooms for home 
working.  

• Incentives should be given to developers to encourage a mix of dwellings.  

• Clarity should be provided in policy on national minimum space standards 
(NDSS) and accessible housing (M4 (2/3)). 

• The policy should provide clarity on the level of self-build that may be 
appropriate based on needs. There should be an improvement in the ease of 
people being able to register for self-build with the Council. 

• The new plan should also include policies to influence the provision and mix 
of housing in existing developed areas.  

• A brownfield first approach should be taken. Brownfield sites have delivered 
more sustainable developments than the large greenfield sites which include 
large, detached houses. 

• Mixed/ higher density living should be supported in town centres including re-
use of vacant shops.  

Page 261



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 139 

• Apartment blocks should meet the required mix and make provision for 
affordable dwellings.  

• All developments should focus on providing affordable housing. Affordable 
housing should be pepper potted through a development. 

• The amount of affordable housing should be increased on sites in Wilmslow.  

• Genuine mixed communities can be achieved by bringing forward larger 
urban extensions.  

• Policies should be put in place to prioritise homes for local residents rather 
than persons coming into the area.  

• The loss of existing smaller housing units should be resisted.  

• More housing is needed in and around Knutsford with a focus on 1,2 & 3 
bedroomed homes, flats and bungalows. 

Q6c How can the local plan address the needs of an ageing 
population? 

• A new housing needs or strategic housing market assessment is needed to 
understand the housing needs of particular groups.  

• The new local plan should focus on meeting the needs of the rising ageing 
population of Cheshire East and the range of options available to them. The 
need for accommodation for older people should be quantified and there 
should be a housing requirement for C2 accommodation and targets for 
different typologies. Performance against these requirements should be 
reported annually.  

• The new local plan should identify specific sites to meet localised demands 
and determine if a site is to deliver an element of elderly accommodation, care 
homes, self-build plots and a mix of market and affordable homes.  

• Sites that are willing to accommodate older persons accommodation should 
be supported through the local plan site selection process. 

• Sites should be specifically allocated for older persons and specialist 
accommodation rather than being a required element of general housing 
sites. 

• The local plan should require strategic sites to provide almshouses and other 
community living schemes across the Borough.  

• The LURA (Part 15LB) indicates that the Secretary of State will publish 
guidance on addressing the needs of old age or disability in the future and this 
will have to be taken into account as the plan progresses.  

Page 262



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 140 

• The standard method is informed by the 2014-based household projections. 
These removed a proportion of the population projected to be living in 
communal accommodation. This means that the projected needs for care 
homes (C2 bedspaces) is not accounted for in the LHN figure. Planning 
Practice Guidance states that plan-making authorities should count older 
persons housing against their requirement. For residential institutions this is 
based on the amount of housing released into the housing market based on 
the average number of adults living in a household using census data. It 
would be irrational to include bedspaces in housing supply if this is not a 
component of the housing requirement. Provision for older persons 
accommodation and specialist extra care should be planned for over and 
above the local housing need requirement and delivery monitored.  

• Larger land allocations can support an element of C2/extra care.  

• The plan should include a development management policy which allows for 
C2 uses adjoining settlement boundaries of sustainable settlements provided 
there is evidence of unmet need.  

• The local plan should encourage the development of later living facilities to 
free up existing housing stock.  

• Sites for older people should be sustainably located near to services and 
facilities, such as Principal Towns, Key and Local Service Centres.  

• 2-bedroom homes/ smaller homes/ bungalows are needed. 

• Scope for independent living communities should be identified. 

• The viability of different types of specialist housing for older people should be 
considered. Some forms of C3 retirement living/ sheltered accommodation 
could be reasonably be expected to provide affordable housing but C2 
schemes should not.  

• Previously developed sites in town or village centres should be used for older 
persons specialist housing as it allows the housing to be located near to 
existing amenities and facilities.  

• Build for life standards should be applied so that people can stay in their 
properties as they age. 

• Smaller sites should be allocated for the development of smaller houses 

• Mixed, higher density accommodation should be supported in town centres 

• Infrastructure needs must be met 

• Generous gardens and infrastructure should be included within the design of 
care homes/ homes for the elderly  

Page 263



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 141 

• This is a social issue not a planning issue and should not be included in the 
local plan.  

• New homes should be accessible and adaptable in accordance with M4(2) of 
the building regulations and meet NDSS unless specific on-site viability can 
be demonstrated. 

• Incentives should be given for developers  

• Design of homes is important including placement of plug sockets, height of 
cabinets, flexibility of rooms for living/ sleeping.   

• Various sites submitted by stakeholders that can make provision for 
accommodation for older persons. 

Q6d What types of specialist or older people’s housing are needed in 
Cheshire East and why? 

• A housing needs assessment should include the needs of older persons 
housing to identify what is needed in each locality.  

• A care needs assessment should be undertaken to assess which settlements 
need specialist and supported accommodation.  

• Evidence should be prepared in conjunction with NHS, care systems and 
operators.  

• Provision of homes to downsize to, including retirement villages, closer care, 
smaller homes, adapted and accessible homes. This will free up homes for 
families.  

• The plan should require a minimum of 15% of older persons homes to be 
provided as part of the housing requirement.  

• Any needs for older persons housing are additional to the housing 
requirement calculated using the standard method as this is not factored into 
the 2014-based population projections. The plan should specify a requirement 
for older persons housing and monitor delivery performance. 

• The council should refer to the 2021 census and this information should have 
been included in the Issues Paper to help the public respond.  

• Sites should be allocated for older persons housing.  

• All sites should provide a proportion of homes for older persons.  

• Homes should be built to build for life/ lifetime homes/ Building Regulations 
M4(2) accessible and adaptable standards.  

• The government intend to mandate all new dwellings to meet M4(2) standards 
subject to a further consultation on technical details. If higher standards are 

Page 264



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 142 

applied, this will have to meet the criteria set out in the PPG and require 
viability assessment.   

• Older persons housing should be located close to existing facilities and 
services.  

• A quota of 2 bedroomed bungalows should be included in new developments.  

• Loss or extensions to bungalows or smaller dwellings should be resisted. 

• There is over-provision of older peoples housing in an area that was 
predominantly family housing, and this should be redressed. 

• There is significant interest in sites for C2 and extra care housing in Cheshire 
East.  

• Supported communities providing a mix of housing types and tenures. 

• This is a social issue not a planning issue and should not be included in the 
local plan.  

• Various sites submitted by stakeholders that can make provision for 
accommodation for older persons. 

Q6e How could the local plan support the delivery of small and 
medium sized housing sites in Cheshire East? 

• The local plan should plan for a minimum of 10% of the housing requirement 
to be met on smaller sites as per NPPF ¶70(a) 

• Many SME’s require sites slightly larger than 1 hectare. The plan should also 
allocate sites for 5 - 100 dwellings.  

• Small sites could be allocated for older persons housing.  

• By allocating small and medium sized sites sufficient to meet 10% of the 
identified housing requirement. 

• SME builders bring important local benefits, and small sites can be built out 
relatively quickly. 

• Small and medium sized sites can make a valuable contribution in local 
service centres and lower order settlements. 

• By preventing development outside of settlements until small sites have been 
identified and targeted. 

• Larger sites could be divided into smaller parcels for SME builders.  

• Sites could comprise part of a larger site with surplus land.  

Page 265



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 143 

• By identifying sites in conjunction with local communities, town and parish 
councils.  

• Sites should avoid productive agricultural land, designated areas, green belt 
and land prone to flooding.  

• Previously developed sites should be prioritised. 

• Ensure that housing needs data is kept up to date for each area.  

• Sites providing 10 or less dwellings should not be required to provide 
affordable housing.  

• Give incentives to developers to build on smaller sites.  

• Allow the conversion of empty shops to residential uses.  

• To combat climate change, a more creative approach is needed than a past 
repeat of previous plans which allocated sites in the greenbelt for housing 
development.  

• Sites without public transport links should be avoided. 

• By speeding up the planning application process. Smaller developers will not 
submit planning applications in Cheshire East because of the delays in 
receiving planning permission.  

• Small and medium sized sites should be allocated in the local plan 

•  The uncontrolled spread of developments in rural and semi-rural locations 
should be avoided. Sufficient services need to be in place before any 
development comes forward.  

• Policy on farm buildings/ sites should prioritise the development of multiple 
homes rather than single dwellings.  

• Development on small sites can result in the loss of private open space and 
over-intensification. Developments on small sites should be sympathetic to 
the local area.  

• Loss of smaller houses should be resisted.  

• The plan should contain a flexible policy which supports development on 
unallocated sites outside of existing settlements. 

• There are a number of small and medium sized sites which are in the Green 
Belt that should be considered to development.  

• The implications of a revised NPPF will need to be taken into account.  

Page 266



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 144 

• Various small and medium sized sites submitted by stakeholders that could 
contribute to meeting the need for smaller sites.  

Q6f How could the new local plan support the delivery of self and 
custom build housing including small sites? 

• The level of demand and location for self-build plots should be considered as 
part of a housing market assessment 

• The council could publicise the ‘Help to Build’ scheme.  

• The council needs to make the process of registering for self-build as easy as 
possible to understand demand.  

• A policy should be based on data from the register. 

• Self-build could be considered on a major urban extension, on a lower density 
basis with flexibility over design and plot sizing. This could be addressed 
through a design code.  

• Incentives need to be given to developers. 

• The council should have a dedicated self-build team.  

• The planning process should be streamlined for these schemes.  

• Self-build homes are often of better quality and add more character to an 
area.  

• The council should provide serviced self-build plots for sale on their land.  

• The council needs to make self-build the centre of any plans.  

• The new local plan should focus on allocating a number of small and medium 
sized sites for self and custom build rather than requiring larger sites to 
provide a proportion of self-build.  

• A % based policy requiring self and custom build on large sites would not 
reflect where the demand is for plots.  

• A policy requiring larger sites to accommodate a % of self-build plots makes 
the practical delivery of sites difficult in terms of construction phasing.  

• If the council were minded to introduce a policy requiring a % of plots to be 
self-build, the wording must include a mechanism to enable the plot to be 
reverted to the developer if it does not sell.  

• The local plan could set a target for each neighbourhood plan area to allocate 
small sites suitable for self-build based on evidence from the register.  

Page 267



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 145 

• Most self-build homeowners seek more tranquil locations than large 
construction sites.  

• A policy should be introduced akin to an exceptions policy to enable self-build 
schemes as an exception to other policies concerning the countryside.  

• Targets could be set for each Neighbourhood Plan area for self-build. This 
would encourage the allocation of small sites within or on the edge of villages 
for self-build homes.  

• Sites could be safeguarded in the local plan for self and custom build and 
released if the council is failing to meet is statutory obligations.  

• The current policy position of requiring an undefined proportion of self-build 
homes on larger sites has not had a tangible impact.  

• The plots counted in the council’s self-build supply are unlikely to be 
specifically permissioned as self-build as required by the new LURA 
regulations.  

• Current supply is likely to be less than demand. The National and Custom and 
Self Build Association’s analysis shows that demand is generally 64% higher 
than recorded in a self-build register. 

• This should focus more on local requirements rather than a general policy in 
the local plan. Smaller sites should be encouraged in towns and not smaller 
settlements. Smaller settlements should have smaller developments.  

• Existing requirements are sufficient. The council is already meeting its 
obligations for self and custom build and there is no need for alternative policy 
approaches such as a % based requirement on larger sites. This blanket 
approach would also fail to take account of where the demand is in the 
borough.  

• Self-build appears to be a way round existing planning policies allowing 
development in Green Belt towns and villages.  

• SADPD Policy HOU 3 ‘Self and Custom Build Dwellings’ should be continued.  

• On site infrastructure on self-build sites may not be considered holistically and 
is delivered in a fragmented manner. Policy should ensure that site wide 
infrastructure strategies are prepared, approved and delivered. 

• Self-Build sites are exempt from Biodiversity Net Gain requirements. 

• Various sites submitted by stakeholders that could include self and custom 
build. 

Page 268



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 146 

Q6g How could the new local plan support the development of 
community-led housing including small sites and exceptions 
sites? 

• There is no merit for a policy in the new local plan on community-led rural 
exceptions sites given that the NPPF states that these sites are not allocated 
in the development plan, supports such proposals and sets clear criteria for 
them. 

• The new local plan could set a specific housing target for neighbourhood plan 
areas that incorporate rural villages inset or within the Green Belt to allocate 
small sites of up to 1 ha in suitable locations where there is a demonstrable 
local need for housing and/or to sustain existing village services. 

• The new local plan should require large sites to include land for community 
led housing, built by the developer for the community body. 

• The new local plan should refer to the opportunity for communities to identify 
community-led housing schemes which can then be delivered through the 
planning process.   

• This should be based on the level of demand from local communities and/or 
connected to the consideration of self-build plots and locations requested.  

• No information has been provided on the council’s performance on community 
led housing. 

• The current plan to ensure that the local plan can support community-led 
housing and that sites ensure they have affordable housing provision, be 
adjacent to existing settlements, be proportionate and ensure they comply 
with local design codes and standards is adequate. 

• The approach to on-site infrastructure delivery needs to be considered. There 
is a risk that this is not considered across the whole site and infrastructure is 
delivered in a fragmented manner. Policy needs to protect against this by 
ensuring that site-wide infrastructure strategies are secured. 

• Sites should be genuinely community-led and not based on a parish council 
seeking to profit on land ownership with unproven need. 

• The new local plan must ensure that parish councils are involved and are 
supportive of such projects. The council has previously proposed a housing 
scheme at Gawsworth which was not community-led. 

• The council should work with local housing trusts and community 
organisations to access government funds such as DLUHC’s community 
housing fund and advice from organisations such as Community Led Homes. 
The new local plan should include a statement supporting the concept subject 
to compliance with other Local Plan policies and planning regulations. 

Page 269



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 147 

• Sites for community-led housing should be limited to locations that are not 
normally supported for housing. 

• If community-led housing allocations are made in the new local plan this 
should not reduce the number of sites allocated for market housing.  

• Smaller sites are often surrounded by existing houses and the amenity of 
existing residents will need to be considered.  

• Policies for community-led housing should not relax other policies in the local 
plan including Green Belt.  

• Council-owned land should be sold at a reduced cost for community-led 
housing.  

• Exceptions sites should not be located adjacent to a town or village in the 
Green Belt when brownfield land is available in that settlement.  

Q6h How could the local plan address the need for affordable 
housing? Should the same approach be used across Cheshire 
East? 

• A new strategic housing market assessment is required to consider affordable 
housing needs, broken down into sub-areas.  

• The need for affordable housing for NHS staff and other health and care 
providers within commuting distance of the communities they serve should be 
considered as part of a housing needs assessment.  

• The council should engage with local NHS partners such as the local 
Integrated Care Board (ICB), NHS Trusts and other relevant Integrated Care 
System partners.  

• Site selection and allocations should consider housing needs of NHS staff 
particularly close to large healthcare employers.  

• The local plan should boost housing delivery – increasing the housing 
requirement above standard method levels will deliver a proportionately 
higher amount of affordable housing.  

• Housing sites should be allocated in the new local plan which can deliver a 
policy compliant amount of affordable housing.  

• Affordable housing targets should take account of the need within specific 
areas of Cheshire East to reflect more localised market areas and be based 
on viability evidence.  

• Affordable housing thresholds must be robustly assessed, and policies 
include sufficient flexibility to ensure viability and deliverability on a site-by-site 
basis.  

Page 270



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 148 

• Viability information should be publicly assessed.  

• It is inappropriate to cap rental at 80% of local housing allowance on 100% 
affordable schemes, in comparison with properties delivered under SA106 
which may be cross funded. The cap should be 80% of market rent on 100% 
affordable developments.  

• Sites of less than 10 dwellings should not be required to deliver affordable 
housing. However, this should not preclude the allocation of such sites in the 
local plan.  

• Developers fail to build the affordable homes they promise due to viability and 
this problem must be addressed.  

• Affordable housing can address social inequalities.  

• The council should work with social landlords to build small sites.  

• Minimum of 30% of all new housing should be affordable, pepper potted 
across sites.  

• Provision of affordable housing can inflate prices for market housing on sites 
and should be avoided.  

• A blanket assessment of the cost of an average house across the Borough 
should be calculated and the affordable housing based on this.  

• Mechanisms to stop land values being artificially raised should be considered.  

• Focus on brownfield development which is closer to public transport and 
infrastructure.  

• The affordable housing requirement could be increased where the site is 
within or, adjacent to an area of higher density living.  

• The current formula could be changed to require a proportion of affordable 
dwellings on small sites.  

• Restrict developments to affordable housing only or decrease larger 
properties within a development. Apartment blocks take up less ground than 
detached houses.  

• A less rigid approach should be taken to tenure mix, the quantum of lower 
cost housing should be increased.  

• Positive weight should be given to proposals that would deliver more 
affordable and low-cost homes.  

• Various sites submitted by stakeholders that could make provision for 
affordable housing. 

Page 271



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 149 

Q6i How could the new local plan address the need for First Homes 
including exceptions sites? Should additional eligibility criteria for 
First Homes be introduced and should the same approach be 
used across Cheshire East? 

• Evidence of the need for First Homes should be obtained for the Borough, 
including location to inform policy. Suitable eligibility requirements are 
needed.  

• The new local plan will require a policy on First Homes which reflects national 
policy. If the council wishes to apply alternative proportion rates (currently 
25% of the affordable housing to be provided on site) or alternative 
discounted price rates (currently 30% below market value) this will have to be 
evidenced through viability assessment.  

• Universal policies across the Borough would not accommodate variances in 
different areas.  

• First Homes should be a % of the affordable requirement and offer a higher 
discount than other affordable products.  

• Additional financial eligibility criteria should be applied to avoid First Homes 
being occupied by couples with good incomes.  

• The same criteria should be applied as affordable homes.  

• First Homes should not be allowed outside settlement boundaries and in open 
countryside. Siting requirements should be the same as other forms of 
development.  

• The policy should be flexible and not mandate requirements in locations 
where it is not appropriate or viable, include additional eligibility criteria, lower 
maximum income thresholds, include local connection tests of require a 
higher minimum discount.  

• Eligibility should be by local cascade with priority given to residents of the 
settlement, then to surrounding villages and then to residents of Cheshire 
East.  

• Even with a 30% discount, some homes will still be unaffordable to first time 
buyers. Greater discounts should be applied in areas with higher market 
prices and allow for the figure to be updated to reflect inflation.  

• The requirement for First Homes should be incorporated into affordable 
housing requirements – the tenure split should be 65% affordable rent, 25% 
first homes and 10% shared ownership.  

• First Homes should be delivered on council-owned sites.  

Page 272



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 150 

• The plan should set out a hierarchy of preferred development locations for 
First Homes. These are ideally located in open countryside locations on the 
edge of settlements. The local plan should define what constitutes a 
proportionate development depending on settlement size. 

• The policy should establish that market housing is acceptable on First Homes 
sites provided it is needed to make the overall development viable.  

• It is preferable for First Homes to come forward as part of larger development 
sites rather than exception sites. 

Q6j How could the new local plan encourage the provision of new 
homes through rural exceptions developments? 

• They are exceptions to the local plan so they should not be encouraged by 
policy.  

• A policy should be included in the local plan to ensure consistency with 
national policy. It should allow for an element of market housing to ensure that 
the scheme is viable.  

• Exceptions sites create unnecessary risk to minerals safeguarding and place 
greater pressure on inadequate services.  

• The local plan should safeguard against misuse of rural exceptions policies. 
Large houses will be unaffordable to most members of the local community.  

• Deprivation of sites or buildings that contribute to agricultural viability should 
be avoided. Small developments of inappropriate design and location distant 
from services have already been approved.  

• If sites of a suitable scale and design come forward and are supported by the 
local community, they should be approved.  

• The council should work with parish councils in rural communities to 
undertake housing needs assessments to identify suitable land for such 
schemes.  

• Areas of land could be allocated for this use in areas of rural need. Sites 
should be identified via community engagement.  

• Developments that cause harm to the Green Belt or open countryside should 
be resisted.  

• Rural exceptions sites need to be carefully controlled to ensure that the 
character of the area is not compromised, and a sustainable location is 
selected 

• Brownfield sites should be considered first.  

• Height and bulk of dwellings can harm the rural area.  

Page 273



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 151 

• Current cap of 10 dwellings creates difficulties in terms of the efficient use of 
land, securing the agreement of a landowner and access to grant funding. 
The current cap should be deleted/revisited to allow more flexibility. The scale 
of development should be justified by housing needs evidence and be 
proportionate in scale to the settlement to which the development relates.   

• The policy should provide more clarity on the definition of ‘adjacent to’ 
enabling developers and landowners to bring forward opportunities with 
greater certainty. 

• The policy should allow for exceptions schemes adjacent to all settlements 
and not just local service centres and other settlements.  

• Rural exception schemes bring a significantly lower level of profit for 
landowners and developers than market schemes but there must still be 
sufficient benefit to bring a site forward.  

• Small sites on the edges of settlements can provide affordable housing to 
meet the needs of existing and future residents, particularly young people who 
may be otherwise forced to move away.  

• Careful consideration should be given to infrastructure in rural areas. Even 
small developments can materially affect the capacity of rural infrastructure.  

Q6k Should the local plan include wheelchair and accessibility 
standards and what proportion of new homes and specialist 
housing should comply with those standards? 

• The PPG identifies that evidence will be needed if the council wishes to adopt 
the higher optional standards for accessible, adaptable and wheelchair 
homes, including future need, size, location, type and quality of homes 
needed, accessibility and adaptability of existing stock, how needs vary 
across different tenures and viability.  

• The PPG identifies other requirements such as vulnerability to flooding, 
topography and other circumstances which make a site less suitable. Where 
step-free access is not viable, the optional requirements should not be 
applied.   

• The government proposes to mandate the current M4(2) (accessible and 
adaptable housing) requirement as a minimum for new homes with M4(1) 
applying in exceptional circumstances. This will be subject to a further 
consultation on the technical details and implemented through building 
regulations. M4(3) (wheelchair users’ dwellings) will continue to apply as now 
– where there is a local planning policy in place and where need has been 
evidenced.  

• The council should maintain a register of the number of people awaiting 
wheelchair accessible housing in individual settlements along with details of 

Page 274



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 152 

their household profile and tenure type to help plan for the right homes to 
meet need.  

• M4 compliant development increases costs and viability should be taken into 
account. This house type is not attractive to the general public. 

• The policy should identify any exceptions  

• All housing should meet national standards and build for life.   

• Lifetime Homes and/or Building Regulations M4(2) ‘accessible and adaptable 
dwellings’ should be mandatory for all new dwellings.  

• All new homes should be wheelchair accessible.  

• All ground floor one and two bedroom dwellings should incorporate 
wheelchair and accessibility standards.  

• The proportion of specialist accommodation within a community should be 
based on local need.  

• Any policy should allow for updates/ amends to national standards.  

• New developments should include housing for older people – for example 2-
bedroom bungalows. 

• Applications for large extensions to existing dwellings should be considered in 
terms of whether it would lead to the loss of affordable dwellings or remove 
housing suitable for older residents – for example adding first floor extensions 
to bungalows.  

• The plan should include policies on the provision of adaptable homes and 
inclusion of accessibility standards to ensure the needs of those with 
disabilities are met and that older people can stay in their homes for longer. 

• Over a fifth of the population of Cheshire East is aged 65 and over. The ‘State 
of Ageing’ report 2022 by the Centre for Ageing Better revealed that only 9% 
of homes have all four accessibility features that older people need: a W.C. at 
entrance level; a flush threshold to the W.C, sufficiently wide doorways and 
circulation space and a level access. These needs must be addressed.  

• This should not be included in the local plan as it is dealt with by national 
policy and building regulations.  

• Requirements should be viability tested and based on need per area not 
arbitrarily applied as a % across all new developments/ allocations.  

• The proportion of homes meeting the standard should be based on evidence 
of local need.  

• The policy should be updated to reflect current standards.  

Page 275



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 153 

• Accessibility standards should also be included in parking standards, width of 
pavements etc.  

Q6l Should the next local plan require all new homes to meet the 
nationally described space standard and, if not, why? 

• Robust evidence will be needed to introduce the NDSS on the need for the 
standards and development viability. If the government had expected all 
properties to be built to NDSS they would have made the requirement 
mandatory, not optional.  

• The standard should be met as a minimum or exceeded by local standards. 

• Outdoor space standards should be considered, including garden sizes.  

• The number of parking spaces required per house should be increased. 

• UK housing standards are below that of other countries in the developed 
world. 

• Space for homeworking should be considered. 

• Office buildings being converted to residential uses should adhere to the 
NDSS. 

• The policy could set out exceptions where a lower standard might be 
accepted, for example conversion of listed buildings, brownfield sites, small 
sites or for viability reasons. 

• Space standards should not be included in the local plan.  

• The standards do not go far enough in terms of insulation levels, pedestrian 
neighbourhoods etc.  

• Rigid adherence to space standards could exclude smaller homes from the 
market. This could reduce affordability and force those who want to live in a 
smaller home further away from centres. This increases commuting distances 
and is contrary to the council’s net zero objectives.   

• The policy should confirm what forms of development it will apply to. There is 
a new housing product called co-living where residents have access to shared 
facilities such as large-scale dining, amenity and recreation spaces to offset 
smaller individual units which may be smaller than the sizes specified in the 
NDSS.  

Q6m How could the council meet future needs for pitches for Gypsies 
and Travellers and plots for Travelling Showpeople? 

• The new local plan should be informed by an up-to-date assessment of need 
for the different types of sites for Gypsies and Travellers.  

Page 276



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 154 

• The new local plan should aim to meet need via existing supply or allocated 
sites and a criteria-based policy.  

• Sufficient sites should be made available to meet five-year supply 
requirements. 

• Sufficient sites must be provided to reduce unauthorised sites and 
encampments and ensure that the local authority can move travellers from 
unauthorised sites. 

• There should be a focus on brownfield sites and sites with good access to 
local services, including education and other public services.  

• Sites should be designed in consultation with local people.  

• Traveller sites should be provided with facilities to recycle waste. 

• Traveller sites should be subject to a charge to cover the cost of maintaining 
them and to encourage users to leave sites as they found them for fellow 
travellers. 

• There should be a review of the existing allocated sites to ensure that 
sufficient sites are being provided for Gypsies and Travellers.  

• The existing allocation at SADPD Site TS 1 ‘Knutsford Lorry Park’ should be 
reviewed. An alternative site should be found as it is next door to a waste 
disposal centre and there is no buffer between it and the allocated site.  

• SADPD Site TS 1 ‘Knutsford Lorry Park’ could be put to better uses including 
the expansion of the household waste recycling centre, the provision of a 
clubhouse and parking for an enhanced sports provision for the adjacent open 
space.  

• Increased provision could be made for travelling showpeople at SADPD Site 
TS 2 Firs Farm, Brereton by increasing the number of plots from 10 to 13.  

Q6n Have we identified the correct housing issues for the local plan to 
address? Are there any other matters related to homes for 
everyone that the new local plan should consider? 

• The housing issues will need to be revisited once the new government has set 
out its approach to housing.  

• There is a need to integrate land use planning with transport planning to 
reduce the need to travel.  

• The Infrastructure Delivery Plan should be integrated into the new Local Plan 
so that infrastructure is available before people move into a new home, 
including medical, dental, education, utilities, transport and employment 
provision. 

Page 277



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 155 

• Provision of transport infrastructure to alleviate increased traffic from planned 
developments. 

• Urban regeneration is needed, curbing urban sprawl. 

• Green Belt Review should be avoided. 

• A brownfield first approach should be taken to meeting housing needs. 

• A mix of site sizes will be needed. 

• The Strategic Green Gap should be reviewed in order to meet housing needs.  

• The plan should enable edge of settlement sites to come forwards. 

• The new local plan must provide an appropriate level of housing to boost 
supply and contribute to the government’s objective of delivering 300,000 new 
homes a year.  

• Infill opportunities in sustainable locations should be supported. 

• The new local plan should consider the case for new sustainable communities 
which could accommodate a significant proportion of the development 
requirements of the Borough. Large scale development can deliver significant 
benefits above those achieved on smaller scale sites.  

• Any density policy needs careful consideration, this is intrinsically linked with 
design codes.  

• Adequacy of car parking provision for occupiers and visitors needs to be 
considered. 

• Site wide infrastructure such as District Heat Networks, solar and other 
measures should be incorporated into new developments.  

• Residential uses can play a positive role in town centres. However, these 
should be well located and complementary to commercial assets to avoid 
them being compromised by residential uses. The agent of change principle 
should be included within the new local plan.  

• Alongside an increased target of 20% Biodiversity Net Gain, new 
developments must give residents increased access to greenspace including 
trees. All developments in Cheshire East should include tree lined streets and 
aim to provide a minimum of 30% tree canopy cover. Existing developments 
should be brought up to the England wide average of 16% tree canopy cover 
if they are below that.  

• Presumption against development on land that is not previously developed 
unless there is no alternative, it meets local need and meets sustainable 
criteria.  

Page 278



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 156 

• Existing settlements must retain separate identities and should not be allowed 
to sprawl over surrounding green spaces.  

• Agricultural land must not be developed.  

• Unnecessary development costs should not be added which push up the price 
of homes.  

• Retrospective applications should not be allowed unless very special 
circumstances can be proven. There should be rigorous enforcement action 
taken against unauthorised developments to demolish them or return them to 
their previous state.  

• Sites included in housing supply will have to be reviewed to ensure that they 
are suitable, available and deliverable. If they are not, they should be 
removed from supply.  

• Sites allocated in the LPS/ SADPD should be reconsidered/ reviewed for 
allocation in the new plan.  

• Benefits of a Nantwich South by-pass should be considered  

• Any windfall allowances used in the new plan will need to be robustly 
evidenced.  

• A design code is needed.  

• The plan will need to reflect updated regulations and guidance such as the 
Future Homes and Building Standard which will mean that domestic 
properties must have 75-80% lower carbon emissions. 

• The design of new housing will need to consider use of water resources, 
reduce demand for water and increasing water efficiency.  

Chapter 7: Town centres and retail 

Q7a Have we identified the correct town centres issues for the new 
local plan to address? Are there any other issues that the new 
local plan should consider? 

• There is a surplus of retail units and office space in town centres, and some 
areas could be re-purposed for residential uses. Residential uses should be 
encouraged in town centres, subject to consideration against the agent of 
change principle. 

• Leisure, entertainment and social uses are particularly important for ensuring 
the vitality of town centre, as well as recreation and new experiences. 

• Need to make sure there is a balance between the daytime and nighttime 
economy. 

Page 279



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 157 

• Introduction of new uses into the town centre must be done carefully to avoid 
tension between uses (e.g. between residents and nightlife). Consolidating 
town centre boundaries to concentrate town centre uses in a smaller area 
may help. 

• The areas of town centres in which town centre policies apply should be 
reduced. 

• The plan should discourage the use of edge of town sites for retail and other 
main town centre uses. 

• Uses that to not contribute to the vitality of town centres should be restricted, 
such as care homes and hospitals. 

• There should be disincentives to building owners who leave their properties 
empty, whilst encouraging community ‘meanwhile’ uses. 

• Permitting out of town shopping areas with free parking has exacerbated the 
number of empty shops within town centres. 

• Town centres with car dominated roads can be unsafe to walk and cycle, 
inaccessible to those with mobility issues, have poor air quality and be 
unattractive to people. Ample parking within town centres encourages travel 
by private car and a failure to disincentivise car use makes roads even busier, 
dissuading people to walk and cycle even further. 

• There should be support for improvements to walking and cycling 
infrastructure and public transport. 

• Centres need adequate parking provision, and the plan should recognise that 
parking charges can significantly impact on local businesses, community 
spaces, town centre services and nearby streets. 

• There needs to be more installations of electric vehicle charging points in 
town centres. 

• Open spaces, greening and improved public realm will help to support town 
centres. There is a need for significant improvement of the public realm, 
removing street clutter, enhancing local character, promoting staying in 
centres for longer, and making sure that spaces are accessible and multi-use. 

• Greening of the public realm can make an important contribution to climate 
resilience and should be linked to opportunities for the sustainable 
management of surface water. 

• There are opportunities to enhance existing greenspaces/active travel routes 
and create new as part of development sites. 

• Open Mosaic Habitat (OMH) is often found on brownfield sites. If present on 
site, the Statutory Biodiversity Metric requires it to be replaced ‘like for like’, 
and development of brownfield sites mat result in deficit of OMH with a 

Page 280



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 158 

shortage of supply nationally. In exceptional circumstances, a greater 
enhancement of biodiversity can be agreed instead, but innovative on site 
solutions such as inclusion of green roofs and creation of OMH can assist. 

• There should be a masterplan for each town and local centre to properly 
manage their futures. 

• The local plan should set the framework for regeneration schemes in the 
major towns. 

• There should be a robust application of the town centre first approach. 

• The requirements of neighbourhood plans should be given priority and 
respected. 

• As there will be an overhaul of the planning system, it is pre-emptive to 
assume that the town centre first policy will continue. 

• There should be a policy for the design of shop fronts, signage and security in 
the borough design guide and in neighbourhood plans as required. The 
identity of centres should be protected with strong policies to ensure that 
development is in keeping and compliant with design codes. 

• Policies should encourage multi-use space so that buildings can be easily 
adapted to the centre’s needs for retail, office, hospitality or recreation. 

• Different land uses need to be considered in new local plan policies to reflect 
the changing nature of our town centres. 

• The plan could identify smaller local centres/shopping parades as well as 
town centres. 

• Strategic site allocations (such as site LPS 33 ‘North Cheshire Growth 
Village’) should provide suitable facilities for main town centre uses. 

• Class E and Sui Generis uses on new housing estates should be subject to 
town centre first policies. 

• Settlement boundaries should be revised to encourage residential 
development. 

• The town centres issues identified sound like 15 minute cities by stealth, and 
this is social engineering. 

• Provision for additional food retail should be identified within Alderley Edge, 
Alsager, Congleton, Crewe (north and south), Handforth, Holmes Chapel, 
Knutsford, Macclesfield (north and south), Middlewich, Nantwich, Poynton, 
Sandbach and Wilmslow as a particular operator has requirements for stores 
in these locations and they will improve the available food retail provision, 
retain increased trade within settlements and create a significant number of 
jobs. 

Page 281



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 159 

• Crewe needs better links between retail parks and the town centre. The 
council should use fiscal measures to attract businesses to the town centre, 
remove parking charges to attract footfall and co-ordinate the opening of the 
Market Hall and The Lyceum.  

• The Co-op, public house, hairdressers and nursery located on Parkers Road 
in Crewe should be identified as a small neighbourhood centre in the local 
plan. An urban extension in the northwest Crewe area should be identified as 
a proposed local centre. 

• Many investments in Macclesfield town centre have been abandoned and it 
now has many vacant retail units. Support should be given to the introduction 
of alternative main town centre uses in Macclesfield town centre, including 
leisure, off and beverage, professional services and medical uses. There 
should be a presumption in favour of large scale high density residential 
development within the town centre, such as at the former M&S building, 
Nationwide Building Society, Duke Street/Churchill Way/Jordangate car parks, 
the post office site, police station, and Natwest offices. Consideration should 
be given to consolidating the areas covered by the retail core and primary 
shopping areas as a tool to enable redevelopment opportunities. 

• Many public facilities in Macclesfield town centre are difficult to access on foot 
or by public transport and have little or no car parking, such as West Park 
Museum, the library, the tourist information centre and Macclesfield Town 
Hall. A large sum of money needs to be spent on West Park Museum to bring 
it up to modern standards. Many facilities in Macclesfield library and town hall 
are at first floor level, making access difficult, despite the lifts. Views to the 
Peak District foothills need to be opened up from the town. Regeneration of 
Macclesfield town centre should include a large municipal development, 
including a new museum, library, multiscreen cinema and a café with a view – 
located between Mill Street and the southern section of Queen Victoria Street, 
close to the railway station, bus station, car parks and with views to the hills. 

• The pavements on King Street in Knutsford are too narrow. It should be 
pedestrianised or at least closed to traffic at weekends. Measures to support 
the balancing of retail provision in Knutsford would be welcomed, for example 
there is an abundance of some uses (e.g. hairdressers) and a lack of others 
(e.g. affordable clothing). Development of the town centre car parks for mixed 
uses (without loss of parking spaces) would increase the number of town 
centre residents and encourage more retail uses. 

• Consideration should be given to the pedestrianisation of Hospital Street and 
Pillory Street in Nantwich. Park and ride car parks could be created on the 
outskirts of Nantwich to reduce pressure on the existing car parks. 

• Parking charges in Poynton will drive shoppers to out of town shopping 
centres. 

• In Wilmslow, there should be support for increasing the number of people 
living in the town centre, maintaining a local character to shop fronts 
(especially in Grove Street), reducing the number of HGVs traveling through 

Page 282



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 160 

the centre, provision of a multi-storey car park at Broadway, Meadow, 
conversion of offices to apartments, increasing the number of trees, and 
improving provision for young people.  

• A long-term management plan is needed to reduce the amount of through-
traffic; need to build on the work undertaken through the vitality plan; need to 
support specific brownfield sites identified in the Wilmslow Neighbourhood 
Plan; provide starter homes within the town centre; support the creation of a 
regeneration framework for Wilmslow; inform a zoning strategy to help 
strengthen core areas and related activities. 

• There is no vitality plan for Holmes Chapel and the plans are not relevant as it 
is a local service centre. Town centre vitality cannot be looked at in isolation 
and is subject to many factors, including availability of car parking. 

• The small Asda shop, vets, car garage and children’s soft play centre at 
Newcastle Road, Shavington should be identified as a small neighbourhood 
centre in the local plan. 

Q7b Have we identified the correct retailing issues for the local plan to 
address? Are there any other issues that the local plan should 
consider? 

• When considering the scale of new development in settlements, the retail 
evidence base should calculate the additional expenditure that would be 
generated by a range of new population forecasts for each settlement to 
determine if this would have a positive impact of each centre. 

• Where centres are not performing strongly, then investment in those centres 
plus significant new larger scale housing in the wider area would assist. 

• Town centre parking charges encourage people to visit out of town retail 
parks with free parking. 

• Town centre uses that could lead to late night noise may affect residents, 
particularly in smaller centres. 

• It is important to recognise the importance of neighbourhood parades of 
shops, enabling people to access everyday services and reducing the need to 
travel. 

• The current policy framework fails to support retail or leisure facilities to serve 
the strategic allocations as these are not identified in the retail hierarchy. 

• Applications for retail in new neighbourhoods should be resisted, other than 
for convenience stores/services. 

• Proposals to create large out of town retail facilities should be strongly 
resisted. Stopping out of town retail parks would help town centre 
regeneration. 

Page 283



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 161 

• The local thresholds for the impact assessment should be reconsidered to 
ensure that they are set to reflect the type of offer that would genuinely affect 
shopping patterns. 

• Policies and decisions must robustly defend the town centre first approach 
through sequential assessment and impact tests. 

• As there will be an overhaul of the planning system, it is pre-emptive to 
assume that the town centre first policy will continue. 

• Provision for additional food retail should be identified within Alderley Edge, 
Alsager, Congleton, Crewe (north and south), Handforth, Holmes Chapel, 
Knutsford, Macclesfield (north and south), Middlewich, Nantwich, Poynton, 
Sandbach and Wilmslow as a particular operator has requirements for stores 
in these locations and they will improve the available food retail provision, 
retain increased trade within settlements and create a significant number of 
jobs. 

• The plan should encourage indoor sports and education uses. 

• The local plan should encourage the sale of affordable locally grown and 
made products and discourage the sale of items harmful to the environment. 

• The plan should allow concerns with parking and anti-social behaviour to be 
considered when considering applications for fast food takeaways 

• A number of particular sites submitted, if developed, have the potential to 
generate additional expenditure to support various neighbourhood parades of 
shops/local centres/town centres. 

• In Macclesfield, the retail parks could be linked with the town centre to 
encourage people to use both and catch a bus between the retail parks and 
town centre. Planning applications should be in keeping with the town’s 
character and developers should show commitment to keeping the town 
clean, tidy and pretty. Particular developers have left certain areas very 
untidy. The plan could incorporate the Shop Front Guide produced by 
Macclesfield Town Council/ 

• Wilmslow needs a permanent market/foodhall. The plan should support the 
Chapel Lane local urban centre with independent retailers. Active travel 
initiatives would improve links to the town centre. 

Q7c Are there any other matters related to town centres and retail that 
the new local plan should consider? 

• Residential properties should not be permitted between retail and commercial 
units, there should be a masterplan for each centre that defines the areas 
most suited to each type of use. 

Page 284



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 162 

• The plan should seek an appropriate balance to encourage investment in 
town centre uses, but also allows other appropriate uses such as housing to 
support active uses and vitality. 

• There needs to be flexibility and innovative proposals to enable viability and 
deliverability of brownfield and redevelopment sites in town centres. 

• Need to support new convenient parking and charging strategies to support 
town centres. 

• The plan needs to inform a zoning strategy the help strengthen core areas 
and related activities. 

• The judicious management of traffic and parking is critical to successful town 
centres. 

• Policy should expressly support the implementation of town centre 
masterplans produced by town/parish councils or guided by neighbourhood 
plans, and secure developer contributions for their implementation. 

• The 2,500 sq.m threshold for the impact test set in national policy is 
appropriate and a lower threshold is not necessary. 

• Need to consider the links between town centres and out of town centres. 

• The local plan should look to deliver active travel routes from surrounding 
villages to town centres. 

• The plan should contain a policy that supports Class F development for small 
local shops within or adjacent to settlements. 

• Consideration should be given to delivering Class F local shops within larger 
residential allocations. 

• There needs to be flexibility and innovative proposals to enable viability and 
deliverability of schemes in Macclesfield town centre.  

• There is presently no safe active travel route from Gawsworth to Macclesfield. 

• A thriving Saturday morning market outside Macclesfield Town Hall would be 
an asset and showcase the town. 

• The Knutsford Town Centre Masterplan will identify solutions to issues such 
as parking provision, pedestrian accessibility and public realms. Policy should 
support its implementation and secure development contributions. 

• The new plan will need to address the need for additional convenience 
floorspace in Knutsford and allocate a suitable site to deliver the evidenced 
need. 

Page 285



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 163 

• Wilmslow has various competing parking demands from local shopping, 
leisure, commuting and workplace-related needs. 

Chapter 8: Jobs, skills and economy 

Q8a How can the local plan support new and existing businesses? 

• Not CEC’s job to decide on these matters. 

• Job growth is less than predicted in the Local Plan Strategy – sites should be 
re-allocated for non-employment uses. 

• There hasn’t been a survey of employment site vacancies. 

• Harness the possibilities of digital connectivity and support the creation of 
local enterprises. 

• Homeworking should be discussed. 

• Make transport infrastructure accommodating to increased footfall in the 
centre of Nantwich including a tram network connecting Nantwich with Crewe, 
Leighton and surrounding areas, promoting pedestrianisation in the town 
centre (Hospital and Pillory Street) and providing out of town park and ride 
facilities. 

• Support new and existing business within town centres that could provide for 
a wide range of flexible employment opportunities across a number of sectors. 

• Recognise the opportunities presented by town centres to support the 
introduction of footfall generative uses. 

• Radbroke Hall should remain allocated for employment use and policy should 
acknowledge the potential need for further development proposals to come 
forward. 

• Explore options to better serve the borough’s large rural employment 
campuses by public transport. 

• Make sure there is a balance between housing and 
commercial/retail/business so that the level of housing does not outgrow the 
ability for that housing to be properly serviced thus causing residents to travel 
away for the settlement or put pressure on already stretched services. 

• Encourage small start-up units. 

• Provide greater flexibility on planning constraints in buildings such as historic 
mills used for modern businesses. 

• Assist with parking provision and planning for businesses. 

Page 286



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 164 

• Encourage bus services aimed at business areas. 

• Retain the principle of Policy EG 3 to safeguard sites for employment uses. 

• A pro-growth strategy is welcomed that seeks to further strengthen the 
Cheshire East economy and help encourage further growth and investment to 
sustain the significant number of jobs and businesses located outside of the 
major towns and higher order settlements, which form a very important part of 
the wider economy. 

• Seek to raise levels of economic growth in Cheshire East whilst addressing 
deprivation and further enhance skills and training. 

• Undertake a review of the quantitative supply of employment land and a 
qualitative analysis of the remaining employment land supply and the quality 
of the building stock that is available, especially for logistics, general industrial 
and light industrial uses. 

• Identify measures to maintain and enhance existing employment areas and 
identify a supply of additional land to capture the pent up demand in the 
market. 

• Continue to identify key employment sectors and name check specific 
locations/major firms that are important for employment across the area. 
Identify their enhancement as a specific objective. 

• Cheshire Green Employment Park and Wardle Industrial Estate should be 
identified as a strategic employment area or similar to have a degree of policy 
protection for employment purposes. 

• Allocate an appropriate amount of employment land in the right locations to 
serve different sectors and different types of occupiers. 

• Strategic logistics needs shouldn’t be satisfied at the expense of adequate 
provision and distribution of employment land across the Borough including in 
the western and south-western areas, which have a number of important 
settlements but also a significant rural hinterland supporting a large proportion 
of the jobs in Cheshire East 

• Market evidence indicates that further large scale ‘shed’ development will be 
needed for logistics but there will also be a requirement for smaller to medium 
logistics or light industrial sites with an element of logistics where a motorway 
location is not a prerequisite. 

• Undertake the employment land review and employment land forecasting 
evidence on the basis that a further uplift for e-commerce and larger scale 
logistics users is applied to the headline employment land requirement. This is 
in order to provide an adequate buffer for the general employment land 
supply. 

Page 287



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 165 

• Consider a range of metrics for the evidence base including economic 
forecasting and a range of growth scenarios to assess the implications for the 
plan in addition to using historic land take-up data to establish if site delivery 
has been constrained, and if so, why. Engage with the market including the 
property industry and consult on the evidence base. 

• The needs of the businesses to adapt and respond to the market needs to be 
reflected in positive growth policies – growth is constrained by restrictive 
Green Belt and open countryside policies. 

• Allocate enough high quality employment land in locations that are attractive 
to the market, as well as sustainable in planning terms, and are deliverable. 

• Have policies that allow for the expansion of existing businesses, including on 
adjoining land, even if that is outside of a settlement boundary. 

• Have a positive policy environment for rural business, especially for small 
scale young businesses looking to expand. 

• Continue to support Alderley Park (Site LPS 61). 

• Reinforce the importance of the North Cheshire Science Corridor by keeping it 
as a key strand of its objectives for enterprise and growth and for it to sit at 
the core of the Borough’s economic strategy generally. 

• Allocate a sufficient amount of housing land in and on the edge of sustainable 
centres to support economic growth across the borough. 

• Promote economic growth and support new and existing businesses. 

• Identify sites for Lidl. 

• Recognise the role that retail operations have in creating employment and 
developing skills which benefit the economy. 

• Convey stability, be consistent in its policies whilst ensuring they are updated, 
recognise the need for consistency that many businesses prefer, as do many 
of the communities that they serve, with which they interact and where they 
are located. 

• The quarrying industry in the borough makes a significant contribution to the 
local and national economy, for example Sibelco, Tarmac and Bathgate. 

• Reflect the importance of the minerals industry supplying nationally important 
minerals in the borough and to the wider economy whilst contributing 
significantly to the council through business rates. 

• Make sure business facilities are located in appropriate locations, in 
accordance with neighbourhood plans.  

Page 288



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 166 

• The location of any industrial units must consider the suitability of the local 
road network specifically in relation to the existing safety of roads. 

• Provide new suitable employment space in areas of highest demand and 
areas in close to successful businesses currently operating in the district. 

• Regarding past take up, losses, and jobs growth information, the potential 
future requirement could be between 457ha and 476ha (2023 to 2043), 
depending on the choice of appropriate margin. Based on current take-up by 
use class, about 56% of this requirement should be suitable for mixed use 
employment (including B8), and at least 14% for B8. Up to 45% of the 
requirement could be needed in Crewe, equating to a need for 205.61ha and 
214ha. A future requirement based on the proportions in the current local plan 
would result in a much more conservative requirement of 82ha to 86ha, in 
Crewe. 

• Set an ambitious housing requirement figure and provide the right type of 
homes in the right locations for workers in the key industries (for example 
bioscience). 

• High quality housing developments on accessible sites in Macclesfield can 
support the regeneration of the town centre. 

• Address connectivity in terms of road quality and public transport. 

• Allocate a substantial amount of employment floorspace (linked to population 
growth and housing needs) to continue supporting the economy and create 
locally based jobs for existing and future residents. 

• Employment floorspace should be sustainably located, close to settlements 
and key highways infrastructure, and co-located with future residents, to 
encourage walking and cycling to employment opportunities. 

• Make sure enough land is available for the current range of employment types 
and for new and expanding businesses. 

• Sites LPS 39, LPS 40 and LPS 41 should be considered in identifying land 
requirements in the new local plan. 

• The percentage of affordable homes, starter homes and specialist homes for 
the ageing population will provide conditions for sustained economic growth. 

• Undertake a new employment land review to identify unmet and future needs, 
including a focus on rural community needs. 

• Set out a clear strategy to meet the needs of the rural economy and to 
support the expansion and diversification of existing, successful businesses. 
This should include permissive individual policies through specific allocation-
type policies for individual sites and in relation to Green Belt policy. 

• Developers should employ a percentage of the workforce from local people. 

Page 289



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 167 

• A supply of employment land that responds to business needs is an important 
consideration. 

• Continue to recognise the important role that Crewe plays as an attractor of 
investment, reflecting the advantages it has by way of its connectivity and the 
opportunity to maintain its growth momentum. 

• Continue to recognise the important relationship between economic 
investment and the availability of labour. housing and employment policies 
should be sufficiently inter-linked to make sure that the planned provision for 
housing supports, as opposed to constrains, the authority to continue to 
support new and existing businesses. 

• The role of existing developed employment sites in the countryside should be 
recognised and supported not just in terms of supporting existing businesses 
that already operate form those sites but also to recognise that they can play 
a role in supporting new businesses who are looking to locate there. 

• Existing policies take an overly restrictive approach, in the context of 
previously developed land and well established existing employment 
locations, to largely support the expansion of existing businesses or otherwise 
apply the subjective assessment of whether those businesses need to be 
located in a rural area. 

• Provide a range of policies and site allocations that support a wide range of 
sectors that generate jobs, provide skills and help to grow the local economy. 
Base this on a review of the employment land supply and its suitability and 
viability. 

• The policies and site allocations should cover office, industrial, logistics, retail, 
hotels, leisure, tourism, agri-tech, science, research and development, 
knowledge sector, and medical facilities. 

• Topic papers and authority monitoring reports should quantify the amount of 
employment land that remains in each settlement and how this compares to 
employment development take-up in PG 6. 

• All employment needs should be met in a single plan and a range of strategic 
and small employment allocations identified instead of a broad 
distribution/need strategy and allowing subsequent plans to mop up the 
requirement. 

• The Topic Paper identifies (¶2.8) that larger enterprises account for  0.4% of 
Cheshire East’s total businesses, lower than the 1.5% national average, 
suggesting that a range of small and medium sized employment sites 
identified across all settlements as well as strategic employment allocation 
should play an important part in meeting the needs of local businesses across 
the Borough. 

• Recognise the important role that quality indoor sports and leisure facilities 
can play alongside outdoor facilities in supporting the rural economy. 

Page 290



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 168 

• Continue to support the delivery of exiting LPS allocations, such as land to the 
west of Pendleton Way (Wilmslow Business Park) for employment use. 

• There is a need for the strategic location of new employment allocations close 
to the motorway network to provide sustainable and highly accessible 
employment areas that attract investment and new business and allow for the 
expansion of the economy. 

• There is a significant shortfall of employment land development and a growing 
trend of net job losses. 

• The existing allocations should be reviewed to understand why some have 
been slow to come forward for development and if there is a realistic prospect 
that they will be developed in the future. This will determine how many 
additional employment sites need to be allocated and in what location. 

• There should be suitable space for start-up companies and more sites 
allocated for B2 and B8 uses. 

• Capricorn Park (LPS 53) should remain allocated for employment use to 
achieve balanced growth and create a sustainable community. The site would 
support new businesses looking for purpose-built facilities, and existing 
businesses looking to move/expand operations. 

• Be clear the requirement to deliver a suitable amount of employment land to 
enable the Borough to meet ambitious and sustainable growth targets, and to 
keep up with recent housing growth 

• Support people travelling to and from places of business. 

• Make environments more attractive, promoting high footfall, which boosts 
visitors and supports businesses. 

• Have strategies to promote local business in the borough as well as in town 
centres. 

Q8b Are there any sectors that borough does not currently make 
provision for, and should? If so, please expand on your answer. 

• Already doing too much. 

• Inadequate entertainment facilities in Macclesfield. 

• Reflect the change in working practices in the design/layout of homes – 
include office/study space for example. 

• IT hubs for small communities, particularly rural and semi-rural. 

• Consider small businesses, home working, rural businesses and carry out 
rural proofing. 

Page 291



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 169 

• Indoor sports facilities. 

• There is a deficit of meeting space and remote office/co-working space for 
home workers looking to rent a desk/meeting venue for short periods. 

• Refer to the value of the third/voluntary sector and include policy providing for 
community and other facilities used by this sector. 

• The logistics sector is crucial to the functioning of the country and needs 
considered and evidenced based attention, probably on a regional scale. 

• It is important that the Council does not underplay the value of the minerals 
industry to the local and national economy. 

• Need policy provisions for businesses that support the boating industries and 
water related tourism and are tied geographically to locations adjacent or 
close to canal corridors or waterspaces. 

• Provide sufficient lower cost housing for lesser skilled employees to reduce 
the need to travel. 

• The borough does not have major stake in the energy generation sector.  
Solar PV is space hungry, given the demise of the HS2 project there may be 
brownfield land in Crewe appropriate for quick win solar PV development. 

• Crewe has significant assets and strengths that can be built on to contribute 
to its regeneration in its economic base. A ‘plan B’ needs to be defined to the 
investment in HS2 and investigate how Crewe can build on the two assets of 
Bentley and its rail hub. 

• Recognise the economic benefit of the film and creative media industry and 
how much of a key part it could play in the Cheshire East economy. 

• Recognise the important role that quality indoor sports and leisure facilities 
can play alongside outdoor facilities in supporting the local rural economy 
through construction and quality jobs. 

• Make provision for commercial uses in the context of use class E. This would 
avoid narrowly deifying specific commercial uses, create broader categories 
and allow for adaptability as business needs evolve. 

• Consider the latest needs of the market and support the transition to modern 
ways of working, taking account of emerging land use requirements and 
changing working patterns. 

• Make sure there is enough provision of employment sites for the future, but 
not just for warehousing. 

• Needs to be strategies to promote local businesses in the borough and in the 
town centres. 

Page 292



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 170 

• Local transport needs to be improved to support travel to work and active 
travel. 

• Sites have been submitted to support deliver employment development. 

Q8c What approaches can the local plan take to support the green 
economy? 

• Leave out ‘bringing together stakeholders to act collectively in partnership’. 

• Support solar panels on warehouse roofs, car park and commercial buildings, 
but not on fields. 

• Become a leader in achieving green economy goals. 

• Make sure that the green option is the cheapest. 

• Support green energy proposals on existing or proposed employment and 
give significant weight to the wider benefits of green energy on the planning 
process. 

• Invest in improvements to public transport services to serve existing and new 
employment sites to encourage sustainable methods of commuting. More 
buses, more links between buses and train stations, and more train links to 
cities. 

• Streamline the planning application process to avoid delays and potential 
problems with the funding authority where decarbonisation schemes have 
been awarded grant funding. 

• Set up a unit to provide advice on decarbonising all public buildings. 

• Be cautious in providing to select industries/parts of the economy - there 
should not be an express policy promoting the green economy over other 
aspects of the local economy. 

• Facilitate dialogue with relevant stakeholders to make sure access to the grid 
is not constrained, as access to the grid is a restricting factor for industry to 
deliver renewable energy schemes, particularly in rural areas.  

• Set an ambitious housing requirement figure and provide the right type of 
homes in the right locations for workers in the key industries (for example 
bioscience). 

• High quality housing developments on accessible sites in Macclesfield can 
support the regeneration of the town centre. 

• Review policies for infrastructure, and Cheshire East operations and 
buildings. 

Page 293



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 171 

• Encourage higher skill employment and start-up hi-tech companies through 
appropriate sites and incentives to create/locate their businesses in the 
brough. 

• There is no obvious sector in which the green economy is uniquely placed, for 
example coastal site for offshore wind/wave generation, an attractive site for 
modular nuclear reactors. The hot water resources beneath Crewe are one 
source that might contribute to local carbon neutrality but overall, our best 
contribution may be contribution to the national agenda. 

• Support, recognition of the importance of and the identification of broad areas 
for agri-tech, modern methods of farming and renewable energy solutions 
(including battery storage). 

• Support for the green economy being a key sector for growth and for specific 
sites to be identified. 

• Support for the council’s commitment to becoming a carbon neutral borough 
by 2045, which should be reflected in appropriate policies and allocations for 
employment led development. 

• More modern employment led development can result in a reduction in trip 
rates due to changing working practices and methods, to the benefit of the 
green economy.  

• Policies supporting green infrastructure makes sure that there is investment in 
green infrastructure, which relies on elements of the green economy to deliver 
sustainable improvements. 

• The initiatives set out in the issues paper should be taken forward to support 
the green economy. 

• Biosolar roofs can help sustain the green economy and support the natural 
environment utilising rooftop space for green energy and biodiversity 
simultaneously. 

• Sites have been submitted to support the green economy. 

Q8d How should the local plan address the future need for logistics? 

• It shouldn’t. 

• Provide a decent transport infrastructure. 

• Reduce congestion in Macclesfield. 

• There should be no further logistics centres in the borough as there are 
logistic hubs close to the borough boundary at Winsford Gateway and Trafford 
Park, and they contribute to congestion and pollution. 

• Lobby to reinstate HS2 and the benefits for Crewe and the surrounding area. 

Page 294



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 172 

• Consumers should be incentivised to purchase locally. 

• Support planning arrangements for last mile delivery but they should not be 
Green Belt exceptions. Provision of local secure drop off delivery sites should 
be encouraged. 

• Logistics sites should be located close to the motorway network to minimise 
the volume of traffic on local roads and should not result in an increase in 
traffic through towns and villages. 

• The need for logistics allocations should be objectively assessed. 

• Strategic logistics requirements should not be met at the expense of adequate 
provision and distribution of employment land across the borough. This 
includes the western and south-western areas, which have a number of 
important settlements and a significant rural hinterland supporting a large 
proportion of the jobs in Cheshire East. 

• There is market evidence indicating that further large scale ‘shed’ 
development will be required but there will also be a requirement for smaller 
to medium logistics or light industrial sites with an element of logistics where a 
motorway location is not a prerequisite. 

• Undertake the employment land review and employment land forecasting 
evidence on the basis that a further uplift for e-commerce and larger scale 
logistics users is applied to the headline employment land requirement. This is 
in order to provide an adequate buffer for the general employment land 
supply. 

• Make sure there is an adequate distribution of employment land in the south 
and west and allocate sites of sufficient scale to provide meaningful 
socioeconomic benefits. 

• A range of metrics should be considered in the evidence base. This should 
include economic forecasting and a range of growth scenarios to assess the 
implications for the plan in addition to using historic land take-up data to 
establish if site delivery has been constrained, and if so, why. 

• The market and property industry more generally should be engaged with the 
evidence base and consulted on the methodology. 

• The logistics sector is crucial to the functioning of the country and should be 
considered on a regional scale. 

• The borough offers an important intermodal facility based upon the existing 
transport infrastructure. Unfortunately, the road network has been poorly 
maintained and needs investment, which is counterproductive to the Council’s 
aspirations. 

• Encourage the use of rail transport to dedicated hubs where road transport 
could take the goods the last 30 or so miles. 

Page 295



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 173 

• Meet the need for a motorway service area through site allocation. 

• Allocate significant levels of employment land that can access all road and rail 
infrastructure and be located close to major settlements such as Crewe to 
make sure employees can travel sustainably. 

• Allocate sites for B8 uses. 

• Improve the east west road connections in the north of the borough to provide 
better linkage with the M6 corridor. 

• The major transformation in logistics to meet decarbonisation objectives is 
trunk haulage in which the diesel road haulage predominates. 

• Crewe could play a role in relation to a rail-based logistics hub for the 
northwest. 

• Improve the A537 that runs east towards Macclesfield from the Monks Heath 
traffic lights. 

• Need a detailed assessment that looks at national, regional and local trends, 
with significant weight given to the specific locational requirements of the 
logistics industry. Base the key considerations and site selection criteria on: 

o proximity to major junctions or interchanges 
o drive times to large local population and commercial centres (within 

and outside Cheshire East boundaries) 
o Ability for site (or wider landholdings in the same ownership) to 

accommodate suitable landscape mitigation/screening, BVNG and 
wider environmental benefits 

• Support maximising sites that have all the key locational attributes for logistics 
development and encourage national, regional and local distribution hubs in 
key strategic locations to react to the modern market. 

• Reflect modern working practices and changes in demand in the logistics 
market to encourage the highly skilled jobs and additional investment they can 
bring. 

• Promote solutions to mitigate the impact on the environment through light 
vans, e-cargo bikes and other vehicles – this needs good transport/cycle links 
and the promotion of active travel. 

• Sites have been submitted to support the future need for logistics. 

Q8e How can this be balanced with the need to minimise negative 
impacts on the environment and the transport network? 

• There should be no further logistics centres beyond the extension already 
planned to the Midpoint 18. 

Page 296



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 174 

• Encourage distribution companies to collaborate in the development of local 
drop off delivery sites. 

• Through stringent site selection criteria and careful assessment of proposals. 

• Sites should be close to motorways as excellent accessibility is needed. 

• Consider existing locations outside Cheshire East. 

• Proper investment in the transport network, including straightening roads. 

• Strategic employment schemes of a significant scale are able to deliver new 
infrastructure requirements to mitigate the impact upon environment and 
transport network. 

• Meet the need for a motorway service area through site allocation. 

• Allocate significant levels of employment land that can access all road and rail 
infrastructure and be located close to major settlements such as Crewe to 
make sure employees can travel sustainably. 

• Implement the strategies in ¶8.6 of the topic paper. 

• Identify opportunities adjacent to and accessible from the strategic road 
network and where the movement of freight can be minimised, for example 
close to Manchester Airport and other hubs. 

• Locate logistics allocations close to major arterial routes and motorway 
junctions that are otherwise relatively unconstrained by neighbouring land 
uses, for example residential areas. 

• Deliver logistics sites in sustainable locations. 

• Make sure there are enough local logistics sites. 

• Promote solutions to mitigate the impact on the environment through light 
vans, e-cargo bikes and other vehicles – this needs good transport/cycle links 
and the promotion of active travel. 

• Sites have been put forward to minimise negative impacts on the environment 
and the transport network. 

Q8f What evidence is needed to support appropriate planning 
policies? 

• The support of all council taxpayers, cost benefit analyses, alternative options 
(for example reducing council tax and not getting into debt), yearly 
referendum on council tax charges and on what it should be spent. 

• The amount of traffic and air pollution generated by logistics centres. 

Page 297



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 175 

• That any proposed development will not cause any environmental damage. 

• Assess current vacant/unoccupied employment accommodation to inform 
whether any further types of employment development are necessary. 

• Consent should not be granted for employment uses on greenfield sites 
where demand could be met on existing sites. 

• Promote the reuse or redevelopment of employment sites where they are no 
longer in demand. 

• Assess and summarise all proposals with pros/cons to enable a clear 
judgement and better understanding of the merits/demerits of proposals. 

• Review the quantitative supply of employment land and carry out a qualitative 
analysis of the remaining employment land supply and the quality of the 
building stock that is available, especially for logistics, general industrial and 
light industrial uses. 

• The employment land review and employment land forecasting evidence 
should be undertaken on the basis that a further uplift for e-commerce and 
larger scale logistics users is applied to the headline employment land 
requirement. This is to provide an adequate buffer for the general employment 
land supply. 

• A range of metrics should be considered in the evidence base. This should 
include economic forecasting and a range of growth scenarios to assess the 
implications for the plan in addition to using historic land take-up data to 
establish if site delivery has been constrained, and if so, why. 

• The market and property industry more generally should be engaged with the 
evidence base and consulted on the methodology. 

• There should be a report to address the need to reallocate and redevelop 
large areas of employment land for residential development. 

• The PPG sets out that when forecasting economic requirements strategic 
policy making authorities should “develop an idea of future needs based on a 
range of data which is current and robust, such as: 

o sectoral and employment forecasts and projections which take account 
of likely changes in skills need (labour demand) 

o demographically derived assessments of current and future local 
labour supply (labour supply techniques) 

o analysis based on the past take up of employment land and property 
and/or future property market requirements 

o consultation with relevant organisations, studies of business trends, an 
understanding of innovative and changing business models, 
particularly those which make use of online platforms to respond to 
consumer demand and monitoring of business, economic and 
employment statistics 

Page 298



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 176 

• The determinant for future employment should be a combination of past 
trends and economic modelling and then adjusted using professional 
judgement. 

• Meet the need for a motorway service area through site allocation. 

• The last mile logistics and other delivery companies already operating in CEC 
will have statistical data on the extent/nature/location for deliveries in their 
area of operations. Click data should be available from commercial sources. 

• Any evidence seeking to quantify the amount of employment land required 
should not simply focus on traditional office, industrial and logistics land take 
up and employment forecasts. Qualitative analysis of existing employment 
locations will also need to be carried out, to assess the quality of existing 
supply and if this appropriate for continued employment land use. 

• Where a specific employment sector or industry is carried out that offers 
something that is more unique make sure that business surveys, 
questionnaires and feedback is sought. 

• Undertake an employment needs assessment that establishes the need for 
employment space by land use category, settlement area and the expressions 
of interest from local businesses. This will include an understanding of the 
type of employment land required in both scale and spatial terms. Any 
assessment should include information on the key desirable criteria for the 
employment spaces as this will assist in distinguishing between the locational 
desires for office and logistics employment spaces. 

• Review of existing employment allocations to understand why sites have been 
slow to come forward and if any of the existing and undeveloped employment 
allocations should be removed as allocations. 

• A major factor in slow delivery of employment allocations is that the spatial 
strategy is too focussed on Middlewich, Macclesfield and Crewe. A more 
dispersed approach to the allocation of employment land will make sure there 
is less chance of market saturation and that there is sufficient capacity within 
the existing infrastructure to deliver the employment allocations. 

• Undertake assessments of floorspace need that takes account of market 
demand signals, the existing and future supply of land available, its suitability 
to meet the identified needs of the borough in relation to relevant housing 
growth in the borough, as set out in the PPG. 

• The process should evidence the fact that housing development has not been 
matched by appropriate levels of employment development. 

• Make sure there are enough local logistics sites. 

• Promote solutions to mitigate the impact on the environment through light 
vans, e-cargo bikes and other vehicles – this needs good transport/cycle links 
and the promotion of active travel. 

Page 299



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 177 

Q8g How can the local plan support tourism and the visitor economy? 

• It’s not the council’s concern. Most visitor and tourists don't need the local 
plan to know what they want to see and do. 

• There is an over emphasis on major tourist destinations – need more attention 
on the attractive villages whose hospitality and retail businesses would benefit 
from more tourism. 

• The borough’s footpath, cycleway and bridleway network is not a key 
attraction of the borough as they are poorly/not maintained. 

• A network of quiet lanes and greenways should be supported. 

• Support and protect the world heritage site of Jodrell Bank. 

• Provide policies that make Nantwich town centre more accessible to visitors in 
terms of pedestrianisation, trams and park and ride. 

• The Vardo should be brought back, roads resurfaced, public transport and 
parking increased, and car parking charges reduced. 

• The initiatives to attract visitors in the Wilmslow neighbourhood plan should 
be built into local plan policies. 

• Neighbourhood plans should be supported, and budgets assigned to each 
plan to help local economies. 

• Take a holistic approach and be supportive of suitable development proposals 
at National Trust properties. 

• Reference to key National Trust properties, their value as heritage and 
recreational assets, as well as their value to the visitor economy would be 
welcomed. 

• Need signposting, car park provision near walking routes, provision of public 
toilets, and encouragement of tourist information offices in towns. 

• Retain policy EG 4. 

• Need information regarding the scale of the contribution of tourism to the 
economy over the last 10 years. 

• Better recognise and promote the opportunities and potential of places and 
resolve obstacles through actions in the infrastructure delivery plan, and use 
of the community infrastructure levy. 

• Knutsford needs town centre pedestrian priority and parking  improvements. 

• List the borough’s visitor destinations and create plans for the provision of 
necessary and desirable facilities, working with parish and town councils. 

Page 300



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 178 

• Support rural locations in producing a comprehensive network of leisure walks 
and cycle routes and support relevant infrastructure. 

• Car parking charges in the smaller towns will discourage visitors and damage 
the economy. 

• Reduce costs for brown tourist signs. 

• Use libraries and community centres to encourage and direct visitors. 

• Encourage a joined-up plan to advertise the industrial heritage, green spaces, 
country parks and canals and so on, and support local communities to make 
the most of their assets. 

• The canal/towpath forms an important part and supports the connectivity of 
the footpath, cycleway and bridleway network. 

• Recognise the contribution of the canal network and boating related tourism. 

• Set out a clear strategy to make sure that the needs of the visitor and tourism 
industry are met and reflect the council’s wider strategic aspirations to support 
and grow the visitor economy. This should include a new tourism and visitor 
economy needs assessment, policies and site allocations. 

• Policies should have a permissive approach to visitor and tourist 
accommodated and facilities in the Green Belt, and in the context of existing 
sites. 

• Support for the policies in the existing local plan. 

• Provide a framework and policies that support tourism uses and encourage 
the visitor economy. 

• Support existing tourist attractions by encouraging and allowing for 
complimentary services (including overnight accommodation) and facilities 
close by. 

• Recognise Adlington Hall Estate for its history, contribution to the borough 
and potential visitor attraction. 

• Need policies that promote active travel – this helps to create cleaner, more 
attractive spaces, which in turn attracts visitors. 

• Protect local attractions, historic sites, the character of our local towns, and 
the natural environment. 

• Need better accessibility and public transport links, policies to attract new 
attractions, support visitor experiences in town centres. 

Q8h How can the local plan help minimise the skills gap and make 
sure that local people can take advantage of opportunities? 

Page 301



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 179 

• Continue the Pledge Partnership that Cheshire and Warrington Local 
Enterprise Partnership established. 

• Plan for new further education establishments – technical skills – all ages. 

• Provide a course for developing green technology, and apprenticeships. 

• Provide appropriate housing to an area that will enable people to live close to 
the type of local businesses offering skills training. Those likely to occupy 
more affordable houses are less likely to be able to travel and live elsewhere 
in order to improve their skills training. 

• Good infrastructure and public transport. Provide alternative ways to travel. 

• Work with Town and Parish councils, further education colleges and employer 
groups such as Cheshire and Warrington Pledge Partnership to develop skills 
and strategy. 

• Greater collaboration between businesses and schools to provide more 
apprenticeships and employment opportunities for those for whom university 
is not necessary nor desirable. 

• Distribute development across the settlement hierarchy, including sustainable 
locations in and on the edge of centres and area close to education and 
employment hubs. 

• Encourage new development proposals to support the distribution of 
knowledge skills through the construction process. Developers should 
establish apprenticeship programs, prioritise local hiring, and organise 
community engagement sessions to inform stakeholders of opportunities. 

• Enable the growth of employment opportunities and encourage the skills 
clusters, apprenticeships and training for exiting staff through delivery of high 
quality new employment areas. 

• Set an agenda that encourage ventures similar to that at Alderley Park 
working closely with Cheshire and Warrington Enterprise Partnership. 

• The domestic end of the decarbonisation challenge is dominated by small 
companies and sole traders - there may be a role for local authorities in 
facilitating local schemes for retraining. 

• Provide a policy that identifies a requirement for larger developments to 
document social value commitments, including strategies for using the local 
labour-force and consider how anticipated employment opportunities align 
with future generations of graduates in the authority and in local education. 

• Recognise spatial distinctions regarding skills and comparative deprivation. 

• Consider the benefits arising through policies and site allocations that support 
different types of employment sectors. This could lead to requirements to 

Page 302



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 180 

secure bespoke local employment and skills/training programmes to be 
delivered as part of development proposals. 

• Make sure sites are delivered with strong links to the local labour market. 

• Support education facilities and their development. 

• Sites put forward to support minimisation of the skills gap and make sure local 
people take advantage of opportunities. 

Q8i Are there any other matters related to jobs, skills and economy 
that the new local plan should consider? 

• The accessibility of Macclesfield College to the south of the borough, and the 
accessibility of Cheshire College South and West to the north of the borough. 

• Residential development on brownfield sites could unlock inward investment 
in Macclesfield town centre and drive the local economy, as well as preserve 
the Green Belt. 

• Optimise high value specialist industries such as pharmaceutical/ medical, 
manufacturing, and digital in existing strength areas. 

• Need a reliable public transport network to enable workers to travel between 
housing and employment centres. 

• The life sciences sector alongside the other key components of the North 
Cheshire Science Corridor should form a key strand of an economic growth 
focused strategy, and feature in the vision, strategic priorities and objective of 
the local plan. 

• A wider economic development strategy containing up to date market 
intelligence should be consulted on to inform and link to the local plan. 

• Review and update the North Cheshire Science Corridor following 
consultation. 

• Set aspirational targets for economic and housing growth – these are 
interdependent. 

• Recognise the economic linkages between Manchester Airport and the 
borough. Recognise its role on the local and regional economy and its 
economic contribution to the borough – it’s a major employer. 

• Housing targets should be based on robust and up-to-date evidence and 
should aim higher than the Standard Method figure. 

• Include policy for local inward investment to meet anticipated needs over the 
plan period, including flexibility to respond to changes in economic 
circumstances. 

Page 303



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 181 

• Plan for new allocations that meet needs and demands in growing sectors 
and builds on the borough’s key attributes and strengths. 

• In respect of employment land provision, the plan should:  

o include a broad range of sites, with contingency and flexibility 
o review current supply to make sure it meets needs and demands 
o include new allocations in key growth sectors including B8 logistics - 

requirements particularly in the B8 sector are now much larger and 
have greater land and floorspace takes 

o focus on key connected locations with motorway access for B8 needs 
o recognise that windfall sites remain critical in terms of supply/ delivery 

and should be allowed for in policy 

• Develop a valuable, low density tourism cluster. 

• Repurpose surplus rural buildings towards driving economic growth. 

• Accelerate the growth of clusters around agri-tech and local SMEs. 

• Enhance leisure and tourism in the rural economy for growth opportunities 
and the generation of accessible employment. 

• A diverse range of accommodation is required to provide choice for people 
wanting to visit the area and in a range of different locations. 

• Several sites submitted for consideration. 

Chapter 9: Transport and infrastructure 

Q9a How can we support active travel through policies in the new local 
plan? 

• The plan should set out key active travel routes based on local consultation 
and implement a comprehensive, joined up network. 

• By having a policy in the Local Plan and also in the Local Transport Plan to 
create a network of Quiet Lanes (on-road routes) and Greenways (off-road 
routes). This, to supplement an extended provision of cycleways and more 
cycling storage provision. These should be properly maintained. 

• Make all planning applications for access address all forms of access not just 
vehicles. Insist on travel plans with specific actions to be completed before 
first occupation. Make sure the active design maps community spaces and 
key employment destination. Look at the existing policies, streamline them 
and insist on presentation during planning and delivery in first phases of 
development. Don’t forget about asking for bus service support. 

• Provide more PROW's (e.g. Goostrey station to Jodrell Bank) 

Page 304



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 182 

• More signage to prevent cycling in pedestrianised areas. 

• Local Plan policies could be condensed and simplified to make reference to 
the Active Travel Toolkit. Site specific policies should set out specific 
requirements for walking and cycling infrastructure into and within the site. 

• The plan needs to build upon the existing plan by increasing the infrastructure 
to enable more active travel. 

• Better access to public transport by ensuring that the links to transport centres 
are suitable for access through cycling and walking and also ensuring that 
access to transport centres is available to those less able to use active travel 
methods are not disadvantaged due to lack of local transport. 

• In Sandbach, and many other places too, the “cycling network” consists 
largely of shared footways (pavements). These are almost always unhelpful to 
cycling at best and damaging to cycling at worst. They neither enable cycling 
nor make it safer. However, they do create conflicts with pedestrians. To 
improve the quality of cycling infrastructure I suggest focussing on on-road 
cycling, speed reduction, ‘close-pass' initiatives etc. Furthermore, I suggest 
conducting Cycle Audits (additionally to Road Safety Audits) as mentioned in 
the Cycling Strategy. 

• The Local Plan can support Active Travel through facilitating enhancements to 
cycling and walking infrastructure across the borough. This should be done 
through the identification and safeguarding of new routes, and via funding 
from development obligations. 

• While support for active travel should be encouraged, the Plan must 
recognise the large increase in persons over 65 predicted during the period 
during which the Plan will be in force, and it cannot be expected that these 
people will all be able to or wish to undertake ‘active travel’. The introduction 
of shuttle buses and reliable transport to medical facilities, shops and libraries 
will help support and encourage active travel for those that are able. 

• There are significant environmental and health benefits of encouraging active 
forms of travel, and it is important that the spatial strategy and approach to 
site allocations encourages a real modal shift away from the use of private 
vehicles. In the context of the Active Travel England being a statutory 
consultee, and the combined existing policies providing active travel 
requirements upon new developments, there is sufficient policy to ensure that 
active travel methods are considered and delivered on all new development 
without the need for a specific new policy. 

• Policy should require all developments to incorporate measures which 
promote active travel within and outwith the sites for example cycle/pedestrian 
linkages (shortcuts) within the development and connecting to existing 
streets/paths, provision of infrastructure to promote active travel (e.g. cycle 
shelters/parking on green spaces) and cycling/footpaths within the sites. 

Page 305



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 183 

• Larger sites, such as new urban extensions, have significantly more 
opportunities to promote active travel within them and to connect to existing 
infrastructure where it exists, or to even assist with further infrastructure. 

• Working with local councils and walking/cycling interest groups, the local plan 
should establish a network of safe active travel routes which should be 
promoted through policy and delivered using planning contributions. 

• There should be a range of measures to support active travel such as re-
designing town centres, lowering kerbs, pedestrianisation of town centre 
streets, traffic calming and 20 mph zones around schools, children’s nurseries 
and in residential areas. 

• Specific requirements as part of allocations, such as upgrading existing bus 
stops, bus services, and active travel routes may be appropriate dependent 
on the specific circumstances. Given the current financial constraints placed 
on councils and other providers of public services, it is considered that 
utilising existing routes and services is the most realistic means of 
encouraging model shift. 

• The council could consider the development of a specific Active Travel 
Strategy which could then be related into specific policies as part of the new 
Local Plan. Polices should encourage the provision of walking and cycling 
routes as well as embracing other forms of wheeled activity. However, policies 
should avoid being overly prescriptive on distances and specific design 
requirements. 

• Our canal network can support in the provision of routes and opportunities for 
sustainable modes of travel, such as walking and cycling, to reduce car use. 
New development should, where appropriate, be required, to maximise 
opportunities to connect with the existing towpath network, making provision 
for new or improved access points, wayfinding and signage, and 
improvements to the towpath network to accommodate any uplift in usage. 

• Future policy should ensure that priority is given to pedestrians and cyclists 
through careful consideration at the design stage and seek to extend and 
connect existing pedestrian and cycling networks. The more attractive the 
active travel option is to residents, the greater the likelihood a real modal shift 
will occur away from the use of private vehicles for short journeys. 

• It is imperative for planning policy to compliment the creation of active travel 
infrastructure so that the investment leads to the benefit intended. 
Development control is crucial to realising a usable and well used active travel 
infrastructure. The risk of not applying complimentary building control policy to 
active travel strategy is that even if new green infrastructure is built it is not 
well used. 

• Increased infrastructure for walking and cycling 

• Encourage use of public transport 

Page 306



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 184 

• Active travel to work and school. Encourage use of public transport 

• Prioritise pedestrians and cyclists 

• Traffic calming measures 

• Public realm improvements 

• Enhance neighbourhood walkability 

• Build complete and compact neighbourhoods 

• Enhance connectivity with safe and efficient infrastructure 

• Access to and engagement with the natural environment 

• Adaptation to climate change 

• Provision of active travel infrastructure 

• Provision of public transport 

• Prioritise active travel and road safety 

• Enable mobility for all ages and activities 

Q9b How can public transport be supported through policies in the 
new local plan? 

• Working with neighbouring authorities, especially Greater Manchester, to 
provide seamless travel routes that people actually want to use. 

• The local plan should make a commitment to focus new developments in 
places where public transport already exists or can easily be provided, and it 
needs to be a requirement that developers make a contribution to it. Also, 
Cheshire East Council should have a policy of improving access to rail 
stations, especially rural ones. CPRE very much supports the re-opening of a 
railway station at Middlewich. 

• If public transport is inadequate make it a showstopper. 

• Protect and improve the public transport system. Public transport should be 
considered as a service not as a profit making venture. 

• Northern Powerhouse Rail is a key priority for the north of England. This key 
piece of infrastructure is mostly likely to utilise parts of the Safeguarded HS2 
route that lies within the northern parts of Cheshire East Borough Council on 
the basis that there is still a very strong ambition to deliver a station that will 
serve Manchester Airport along this route. NPR must therefore be a 
consideration for the Local Plan in terms of the physical infrastructure to 

Page 307



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 185 

deliver it but also the wider growth opportunities it generates / are required in 
order to see it delivered. 

• Public transport should be supported in the new local plan by: 

o increased the frequency to half hourly on the rail line between Chester 
and Manchester; 

o extending the Metrolink from Altrincham to Knutsford; 
o Making all bus services frequent, reliable and affordable to encourage 

greater use. 

• There is a possibility that a new NPR Airport Station and any associated 
interchange might have to be provided within the northern parts of Cheshire 
East Borough Council. If this is the case, this will need to be factored into the 
Local Transport Plan and Local Plan alongside any impacts this would have 
on public transport connections to and from Cheshire East settlements. 
Indeed, depending on its location and potential ability to connect into the 
North Cheshire Line, such infrastructure could assist in making many 
settlements within Cheshire even more accessible and sustainable in terms of 
being able to gain sustainable public transport access to a wider network of 
regional and sub regional economic centres. 

• It is important that integrated means of travel are coordinated to ensure a 
smooth passage for people across and within the authority and to links into 
wider public transport services. Public transport connections and capacity 
should be a consideration at the planning application stage. Needs 
assessments should be undertaken that may require new links and capacity 
to meet these needs. 

• Cheshire East needs to be far more ambitious to provide for cycling and 
restrict driving far more to change travel habits. 

• As part of the planning application process, the Council should discuss the 
amendment of routes with bus operators to serve development. Real-time 
digital information has been provided for quite some time. The policy should 
support and encourage a move towards the provision of real time digital 
information certainly, in the first instance, at town centre bus stops such as 
Wilmslow. 

• The issue of Public Transport needs to be given a high profile given the 
ageing demographics across the Borough. This needs to be made more 
attractive to use and is particularly pertinent to settlements in the more rural 
areas – requirement for easy and frequent links to main shops, medical 
centres, and hospitals etc. This will reduce CO2 emissions and assist in 
meeting sustainability targets. 

• There should be support for local shuttle bus systems in selected areas. 

• Policy should: 

Page 308



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 186 

o support the reopening of the Middlewich Branch Line and a new 
railway station in Middlewich; 

o support development which enables the enhancement or expansion of 
public transport networks; 

o require all major housing developments to be designed to incorporate 
bus routes, whether or not there is currently a service which would visit; 

o contribute to the expansion or introduction of bus routes to serve the 
development connect it with key employment, shopping, leisure and 
education sites; and 

o identify operational issues of community transport schemes and buses, 
such as vehicle costs and their environmental impacts, destination 
flexibility or coverage, reliability, punctuality and vehicle cleanliness 
and seeking developer contributions to establish, expand or support 
such schemes.  

• Consideration of more positive public transport outcomes will be strongly 
linked to combining new housing locations near to major employers – such as 
in northwest Crewe. 

• Greater alignment with both an up to date Local Transport Development Plan 
as well as individual settlement Local Transport Development Plans. 

• Access to good and frequent public transport should be a prerequisite to any 
new housing development. Connectivity between buses and rail is typically 
poor in the Crewe and Nantwich area. 

• The council should prioritise public transport connections from rural areas to 
neighbouring towns with bus routes programmed to align with the rail network 
for onward travel. Public transport links to Manchester Airport should be 
established. 

• It is recommended that local plan development sites are not at locations which 
would sterilise possible future rail links for passengers (or freight). The 
possibility of extending Metrolink to Cheshire East has been suggested for the 
long-term (and rail links to minerals extraction areas can be more sustainable 
than road links, and with less adverse impacts for communities). 

• The new Local Plan should respond to the changing nature of bus services 
and in particular the growth of Demand Response transport which can provide 
a more flexible approach and complement existing services. Rigid public 
transport requirements should be avoided to ensure flexibility in approach to 
account for the location of development and the types of bus service 
available. Developer funding for public transport improvements should still be 
encouraged but policies should seek to ensure funding measures are costed 
either via the council or through the provision of business plans from 
developers to an agreed specification. 

• The new LP should add a link from North Cheshire rail line to MAG. This 
would greatly reduce car travel to the airport and link with rail services through 
Wilmslow. Previously reserved HS2 land near Ashley provides a good start for 
this initiative and further land protection can be incorporated in the new LP. 

Page 309



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 187 

• The new plan should call for some secure cycle parking facilities near road 
junctions with bus stops nearby, located in residential areas. This will promote 
public transport as well as active travel and may stop some cyclists from using 
unsafe roads into town centres such as Macclesfield's. 

• The Council can reduce the need to travel by guiding development to the 
most sustainable and accessible locations, prioritise walking, cycling, park 
and ride and public transport initiatives and improving pedestrian facilities so 
that more people will be encouraged to walk to local facilities and services 
rather than using the car. 

• Implementing charging points for electric vehicle charging would be supported 
so long as they do not jeopardise development viability. Electrical charging 
provision should be at the discretion of the developer rather than a specified 
policy requirement as this will ensure increased provision of electric charging 
facilities without placing undue policy burdens on scheme viability. 

Q9c Are the current parking standards suitable and is there anything 
further in planning policy that the council should do in relation to 
parking? 

• More spaces equal more cars. Decide if we want more or fewer cars on the 
road. 

• Size of parking spaces/garages suitable for modern cars.  

• Parking standards out of date.  

• Car parking charges will damage local centres and cause illegal parking. 

• Parking standards for new houses is too low. 

• Grouped parking areas lead to on road parking, don’t allow that design. 

• Roads on new sites are too narrow for visitor on street parking, causing 
footpaths to be blocked. Don’t allow that design. 

• Parking standards should not be reduced. 

• Should be requirement for secure storage to negate residents using garages 
solely for storage. 

• Increase pedestrianisation. 

• The Council should provide decent affordable parking.  

• Provision for charging points. 

• Update standards to reflect new use class order. 

Page 310



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 188 

• Standards categorised by settlement hierarchy is welcome, but further 
distinction between the two Principal Towns should be present, 

• Standards need to be flexible to allow for site specific circumstances. 

• Design officers want to restrict visual intrusion of driveways at the front of 
dwellings, but also want to accommodate electric vehicle charging. 

• Parking standards do not consider areas of living that accommodate different 
demographic e.g. age. 

• Parking for care homes needs to provide for visitors, staff and emergency 
vehicles. 

• Outlaw on street parking, especially within urban areas. Introduce policy to 
better control this issue.  

• A reassessment of parking need under the Cheshire East High Level Parking 
Strategy is essential. 

• Where two or more off road parking spaces are required, tandem parking 
needs to be outlawed. 

• Support car parking charges. Suggest overcoming legal obstacles to 
overcome being able to charge on more. 

• Recommend less parking provision for new dwellings. 

• Increase cycle parking for new flats. 

• Support continuation of LPS car parking standards flexible approach. 

• LPS parking standards should be wholly adhered to. 

• New development should require visitor parking. 

• Underground parking should be supported. 

• Garages should remain unconverted. 

• Homes increase size (e.g. extensions) without increasing parking provision. 

• Should be a requirement for cycle provision for C3 and HMOs. 

• Parking should be supported in centres where a shortfall is identified, where 
they are in keeping with design of the area. 

• Standard should be reviewed on a settlement-by-settlement basis. 

• Large development sites should have a bespoke standards through the 
design process. 

Page 311



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 189 

• Standards not suitable and impact accessibility e.g. pavement parking. 

• Encourage visitors to town centres. 

• Standards to not reflect the commonality of multi-car households. 

• Off road parking should be provided on sites. 

• The Council should employ, maximum standards as appose to minimum 
standards.  

• Some instances standard parking provision is not required, e.g. town centre 
location. 

• Developers avoid the use of the term ‘bedroom’ for terms like ‘study’ and 
‘playroom’ so as to avoid meeting the recommended parking standard.  

• Garages should not be counted as a parking space unless their size can 
accommodate the average size of a car. 

• All upstairs rooms besides bathrooms should be counted for deciding parking 
provision. 

• The parking standards employed upon new sites should consider existing 
public transport services within the vicinity. 

• Links to Crewe station are encouraged. 

• New standards should be developed. 

• Car parking charges should be increased. 

• Parking standards should consider that centres are forced to compete with 
out-of-town developments. 

• Planning should still consider the environmental issues that arise from 
increased traffic. 

• Free parking for electric vehicles. 

• The new plan should promote parking provision at key junctions to promote 
car sharing. 

• The standards should only be used as a guide to ensure developments are 
not overproviding and therefore encourage sustainable travel. 

• Standards need to encourage adequate parking to town centres and policies 
need to consider the importance and impact that parking has on them. 

Q9d Is there any more the council should be doing regarding the 
seeking and use of developer contributions that is achievable 

Page 312



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 190 

within the strict planning regulations framework that governs this 
matter? 

• CIL charges should be revised to gather some funds for town centres. 

• Dedicate staff resource to pursuing developer contributions. 

• Contributions are not enough; policy should ensure land is available for extra 
capacity. 

• Parish and Town Councils should be consulted on s.106 agreements. 

• A new Local Transport Plan should be developed in conjunction with the new 
Local Plan. 

• A new Local Transport Plan should set out all key infrastructure delivery 
requirements and provide a comprehensive schedule of works / infrastructure 
that is desired to facilitate model shift across all of Cheshire East. 

• All infrastructure goals should be compiled into a single document with cost 
estimates, feeding into the Council’s Infrastructure Development Plan, which 
informs the 123 List and CIL rates. 

• CIL should be the main funding source for modal shift, as current CIL priorities 
are highway-focused, leading to fragmented infrastructure improvements. 

• s.106 does not meet the cost of the projects it covers. 

• s.106 should not be at the discretion of planning officer, ward councillors 
should be included. 

• Funding should never be unspent and returned to developers. 

• The current CIL and Section 106 methods are established, but additional 
developer contributions could impact development viability. Annual reporting 
of contributions and infrastructure projects is encouraged for transparency. 

• There should not be a zero CIL charge. 

• Provision for infrastructure to support new development is inadequate and 
causes existing infrastructure to be overcapacity. 

• CIL should be on all development not just housing. 

• A time limit should be imposed on developer contributions by condition. 

• The Infrastructure Development Plan should show the existing and known 
deficiencies in the current infrastructure, before reaching any conclusion on 
the cumulative effects of new development, and any contribution that is 
needed from new development to mitigate any additional individual and/or 
cumulative impacts. 

Page 313



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 191 

• It is recommended that allowing negotiation on development contributions 
based on site-specific viability challenges or changes since the Viability 
Assessment. 

• The CIL remit should not be expanded. 

• Developers should not be overburdened by planning obligations which 
adversely affect the viability and deliverability of development. 

• BNG has had a burden on developers, further measures should be avoided. 

• No evidence the Council is utilising the s.106 and CIL payments. 

• Increase developer contributions. 

• Issues fall outside of policy. Concerns about developers avoiding 
contributions by liquidating companies, with inadequate action from Cheshire 
East. It is recommended requiring personal guarantees from directors, 
pursuing legal action, reporting wrongful trading, or requiring insurance-
backed bonds. Improved staff coordination is also needed. 

• Recognise canals and towpaths as key sustainable travel routes in the Local 
Plan to support modal shift, active travel, and healthier lifestyles. Recommend 
that new developments near canals mitigate potential impacts on 
infrastructure, such as increased maintenance costs or the need for surface 
upgrades. Clarification should be sought that both canals and towpaths are 
considered part of 'green and blue infrastructure' in developer contribution 
policies. 

• Obligations need to consider viability. 

• The Council should make a commitment to monitoring KPI’s to ensure 
developer contributions are spent in a timely manner to mitigate any impacts 
arising from new developments. Where this does not occur communities will 
remain resistant to new developments and distrust will remain in the system. 

• Consider alternative developer payments for transport and infrastructure. 

• Increase cost of planning applications. 

• Obligations like S.106 should be clear and publicly viewable. 

• Obligations must be relevant to the development. 

• Focus obligations more on sustainable travel. 

• S106 and CIL should not be left unspent. 

Q9e Are there any particular requirements for new or improved 
infrastructure that you consider are needed to support further 

Page 314



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 192 

development in the borough and should be provided for as part of 
the new local plan process? 

• No. 

• Broadband and phone signal. 

• A southern and western relief road for Macclesfield, linking up with a widened 
London Road. 

• Widening of Cumberland Street in the direction towards Hibel Road. 

• Creating a decent road junction at the Flower Pot, Macclesfield. 

• New roads are a short term solution. 

• Work on revising the Local Plan and the Local Transport Plan needs to be 
well co-ordinated. 

• Use the Local Transport Fund Allocations over the new Local Plan period. 

• Sustainable travel and transport interventions. 

• Indoor and outdoor sports facilities. 

• Swimming pools. 

• Rackets centres. 

• Upgrade PRoW for cycling and horse riding. 

• Provision of infrastructure needs to be a priority. 

• Doctors’ surgeries, dentists, hospitals and schools and the transport means to 
get to them. 

• The CE Infrastructure Delivery Plan should be integrated into the Local Plan, 
so that the occupants of new houses have places at doctors, schools etc 
available from the moment of moving in (not just money allocated in S106). 

• Provision of a bypass for south Nantwich and Stapeley to alleviate traffic, 
particularly heavy goods traffic, that currently goes through built up residential 
areas at present. 

• There is a requirement for a new recreational footpath in Knutsford. 

• Public Right of Way (PROW) footpaths Knutsford FP11, Mobberley FP7 and 
Mobberley FP8 all converge near Witchcote Wood, while Knutsford FP13, 
Knutsford F17 and Marthall FP10 converge on Pavement Lane near Spring 
Wood. A new riverside footpath running along the west and southwest bank of 
Birkin Brook would connect these two different PROW path networks. It would 

Page 315



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 193 

also open up greater walking opportunities for the residents of the new Park 
Gate Village and the staff of the Parkgate Trading Estate. At the other end it 
would open up greater walking opportunities for the residents of Longridge, 
Shaw Heath and The Downs. 

• The range of infrastructure needs to support communities seems to be right. 
Inadequacies in capacity is the issue. 

• Updated car parking strategy and modernise parking provision to support 
town centres. 

• Cycling infrastructure. 

• Health infrastructure needs to be prioritised in the Local Plan, ensuring 
developer contributions support healthcare services, particularly primary care, 
in line with housing growth. A specific section should outline the process for 
determining these contributions, including collaboration with the Integrated 
Care Board (ICB) to assess demand, capacity, and funding for healthcare 
needs. Flexible options, such as financial contributions or new healthcare 
facilities, should be considered to meet the demands of new developments. 

• It is considered important that the new plan can research and detail the 
capacity of the A500 including the capacity of junctions, particularly Junction 
16 of M6, along with the local highway network, as part of the assessment for 
this general area to accommodate any future new development. 

• A detailed assessment of the current quality and condition of all roads and 
pathways, given the increasingly decayed infrastructure. 

• Public EV charging. 

• Shuttlebuses. 

• Overhaul of relationship with between CE Highways and local communities/ 
councils. 

• The new Infrastructure Delivery Plan should include the means of providing 
relief from traffic congestion when and where it is evidenced. Such means 
could include the coordination of traffic signals through installation of the 
ImFlow system. 

• The new Local Plan should direct cost improvements to local centres. E.g. 
pedestrian accessibility in Knutsford Town Centre. 

• Strategic development sites should be required to provide community 
infrastructure, such as meeting spaces/halls which should be vested in local 
ownership. Sites should also provide allotment gardens (where there is 
demand evidenced by allotment managers) and should contribute to the 
expansion of burial provision where this is required. 

• Crewe park and ride. 

Page 316



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 194 

• Widen roads and add pavements. 

• Remedy dangerous junctions on A523. Review the speed limit. 

• Dualling of the A500 westwards from J16 of the M6 Motorway. 

• Little benefit from Crewe Northwest Package, inadequate provision for non-
vehicular transport is very apparent.  

• The new Infrastructure Delivery Plan for Cheshire East should prioritise 
essential infrastructure needs, particularly healthcare and traffic relief, over 
desirable but non-essential proposals.  

• Growth should be balanced with fully funded infrastructure to support it, 
addressing current shortcomings in the local plan.  

• Traffic relief measures, such as coordinated traffic signals, should be 
integrated where evidenced. 

• Proper planning is necessary to ensure infrastructure supports sustainable 
development and meets community needs. 

• Health infrastructure, like a new medical centre in Knutsford, and traffic 
congestion mitigation, especially in busy areas like Knutsford, are critical. 

• Land needs to be allocated for educations, sports, and recreational to support 
needs. 

• Bring forward Houndings Lane allocation to ensure infrastructure is provided 
in a sustainable location. 

• A new railway hub at North West Crewe to support housing, employment, and 
key local facilities. 

• Infrastructure issues, especially in Higher Poynton, with electricity cuts and 
sewage problems. New developments strain aging infrastructure, and 
developers should fund necessary improvements, including sewage works 
and electricity upgrades. Environmental infrastructure like parks and direct 
access bridges for isolated developments are also needed. 

• National policy emphasises sustainable development, including infrastructure 
for housing, commerce, and community facilities. The Council’s recognition of 
infrastructure needs and the preparation of a new Infrastructure Delivery Plan 
(IDP) aligns with this. The Local Plan should address existing issues, such as 
problems at the Alexandra Soccer Centre. 

• Further comment on potential site allocations and consequently required 
infrastructure would be welcome. 

• The New Local Plan recognises the freight and logistics sector but omits the 
need for Motorway Service Areas (MSAs) on the SRN. MSA locations, like 

Page 317



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 195 

Tatton Services, should be specifically allocated, even in Green Belt areas, 
where "very special circumstances" justify their development. 

• Implement aspirations within neighbourhood plans (Knutsford), such as plans 
for traffic and pedestrian use of Knutsford Town Centre. 

• Improvements to East-West road links are needed, with land safeguarded for 
future projects like Cumberland Street widening. The road system’s poor 
condition should be addressed before the new local plan adoption. The plan 
should also require timely separation of combined sewers to reduce river 
pollution. (Macclesfield) 

• Improving infrastructure for sustainable growth but small, scattered land 
allocations won’t address capacity issues. Large-scale town extensions are 
necessary to meet infrastructure needs. 

• Allocate a new Motorway Service Area at Junction 7, M56 

• Aspirations for £13.7 billion investment in water and wastewater infrastructure 
(2025-30), driven by environmental requirements, growth, and carbon goals. It 
seeks council support for timely infrastructure upgrades, including in protected 
areas like Green Belt, to meet future development needs and environmental 
obligations. UUW requests policy recognition for infrastructure improvements 
in such areas to ensure effective investment. 

• Multi-functional green infrastructure. New utility infrastructure should be 
located sensitively to the environment. 

• Improved local services, expanded education and health infrastructure, better 
transport, and more green space are needed to support future development 
and the Council's net zero target by 2045. 

• Where BNG isn't applicable, using the urban greening factor to enhance or 
create linear infrastructure for better connectivity would be beneficial. 

Q9f Are there any other matters related to transport and infrastructure 
that the new local plan should consider? 

• National Highways, responsible for England's Strategic Road Network (SRN), 
works within statutory frameworks to support sustainable development and 
economic growth. It encourages early engagement in planning to reduce 
reliance on private cars, prioritising walking, cycling, and public transport. The 
SRN should not be the primary access point for non-road reliant 
developments. National Highways supports the shift towards net-zero carbon 
by promoting sustainable transport and low-carbon construction in future 
development plans. The new Local Plan should consider the DfT Circular 
01/2022 The Strategic Road Network and the delivery of sustainable 
development. 

Page 318



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 196 

• Surveys consistently show that road maintenance and safety are top priorities 
for the public. CEC should consider the CPRE transport policy, which 
advocates better integration of transport and planning, and prioritises digital 
connectivity to reduce the need for travel. 

• Improvements to bus network. 

• Parking and pedestrianisation. 

• Cross-boundary transport, highways, and public transport impacts should be 
considered in the Cheshire East Local Plan, with ongoing engagement 
encouraged. The education plan, addressing cross-border pupil movement 
and school infrastructure, needs revisiting and reaffirming as the new plan 
progresses, with a suggested meeting for further discussion. 

• National Gas Transmission operates the UK’s high-pressure gas transmission 
system, with assets in the Plan area, including pipelines and gas transmission 
facilities. As development pressures increase, National Gas Transmission 
advocates for high standards of design around its infrastructure, ensuring 
safety and sustainable development. They provide advice and require 
consultation on any plans that could affect their assets, including adherence 
to safety guidelines and permissions for work near pipelines. 

• National Grid Electricity Transmission (NGET) operates the electricity 
transmission system in England and Wales. It identifies assets, including high-
voltage lines and substations, in the Plan area and offers guidance for 
development near its infrastructure. NGET promotes high standards of design 
and safety, particularly around overhead lines, and encourages creative 
planning to minimize impacts. Developers must consult NGET for safety 
clearances and approvals for projects affecting its assets. 

• Development near key military sites should not affect defence operations. The 
team reviews plans related to birdstrike zones around aerodromes and 
explosives storage sites, and other factors that may impact defence capability. 
Development within these zones must meet specific requirements for safety 
and design, including restrictions on building height and construction type. 
The MOD requests consultation for developments near its safeguarding zones 
and offers guidance on avoiding impacts to military operations. 

• Transport and infrastructure should be provided in advance, based on 
assessments. 

• Consider the Transport for the North strategy on Transport Related Social 
Exclusion.  

• Update the Local Transport Plan. 

• Adequate healthcare infrastructure is vital for sustainable development. The 
Council should collaborate with the NHS and ICB in preparing the 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP), ensuring healthcare needs are clearly 
outlined. Healthcare costs should be included in the Local Plan Viability 

Page 319



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 197 

Assessment to inform developers about potential contributions towards 
healthcare infrastructure. This ensures healthcare needs are properly 
addressed in planning obligations, especially in cases where development 
viability is limited. 

• Opposes further significant development in Weston & Crewe Green Parish 
until current strategic allocations (Basford East, West, and SCGV) are fully 
operational, as they will double the population and strain infrastructure. The 
new plan should assess the capacity of the A500 and local highway network, 
particularly Junction 16 of the M6, to accommodate future development. 

• Adoption of 20-mph speed limit on all residential roads. 

• Opposes investigating a bypass for Knutsford, citing high costs, potential 
harm to the green belt, environment, and biodiversity, and preferring 
investment in other town infrastructure. 

• Policy support for improved public transport, including enhanced bus service 
frequency and stronger connections to nearby train stations, to support 
growth. 

• Manchester Airport is a key economic driver for the North West and crucial for 
Cheshire East's economy and transport links. The new local plan should 
prioritise improving accessibility and transport connections to the airport, 
including the proposed NPR station. 

• Implement the proposed new Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

• The Local Plan should remove unnecessary HS2 safeguarding, as Phase 2a 
was lifted in January 2024 and Phase 2b cancelled, with amendments for 
Northern Powerhouse Rail expected by Summer 2024. 

• The new plan should enforce better utility work standards and coordination to 
prevent potholes and require timely separation of combined sewers to reduce 
river pollution. 

• The new Local Plan should improve footway and cycleway routes in Crewe, 
enhancing connections to key areas like the town centre and Leighton 
Hospital, potentially through new housing sites. 

• The transport and infrastructure paper omits horse riding, underestimates 
rural bus service needs, overlooks modern vehicle sizes in parking design, 
and the proposed car parking charges in Alsager may negatively impact 
residents. 

• The new Cheshire East Local Plan should prioritise electric vehicle charging 
infrastructure to help meet carbon-neutral goals by 2045. Emphasise for the 
need for fast, accessible charging stations near major highways, addressing 
"range anxiety" and supporting both private and commercial vehicles, 
including HGVs. The plan should allocate sites near motorway junctions, 

Page 320



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 198 

despite Green Belt constraints, to reduce transport emissions and support a 
transition to electric vehicles. 

• Advocate for high-speed maglev or Hyperloop trains between London and 
Glasgow to reduce carbon emissions, internal flights, and noise pollution. The 
project should be funded by climate finance. Additionally, propose dedicated 
college bus services to improve reliability and attendance. 

Chapter 10: Historic environment 

Q10a If general policies relating to the protection of heritage assets are 
included within National Development Management Policies in 
the future, are there other heritage matters that would still need to 
be included within the policies of the new local plan? 

• concentrate on the necessary functions to protect our national heritage; and 
prevent it being distorted and destroyed by vociferous minority groups. 

• National Development Management Policies (NDMP) 

o Why has this proposed change to Local Plans been only referred to 
under the Historic Environment, and not any of the other 12 Issues? 

o NDMP is the appropriate level for such strategic policies. 
o NDMP will incorporate a suite of heritage policies that will include one 

covering improvements to historic buildings, it is not known how 
extensive these will be. It is therefore not possible to answer this 
question at this stage. 

o policy provided by NDMPs, would need effective implementation 
through local level assessments. These would include Conservation 
Area appraisals, and finer grain landscape character assessments, 
applicable to areas of particular landscape value, particularly where 
these cover the setting of heritage assets. 

o Refer Historic England Good Practice Advice Note on the Historic 
Environment  

o The NDMP are unknown as a way forward with new changes proposed 
to national planning policy and the NPPF.  

o any new Local Plan should make sure that it considers the old style 
format should the NDMP not go ahead. 

o NDMP may include a heritage policy, Local Plans are still required to 
set out a positive strategy for the historic environment. At the very 
least, we would expect that this will involve a strategic policy 
identifying: 

▪  those elements of the historic environment that are especially 
important to the identity of the area; 

▪ particular issues facing heritage in the area and how the 
authority intends to address them; and 

▪ opportunities to conserve and enhance heritage; and any other 
relevant heritage initiatives. 

Page 321



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 199 

o They may also need to include locally specific development 
management policies to address particular issues facing heritage in the 
authority area e.g. WHS buffer zones/policy, protecting views to/from 
prominent landmarks, or a policy relating to a specific heritage asset. 

• Local lists  

o there should still be the recognition and protection of our historic sites 
and environment within the new local plan, particularly for those 
buildings or sites that don’t quite meet the criteria for designated 
heritage assets but are considered locally to be of significant historical 
importance. 

o The Local List need updating (last updated 20210) so no question  
about a building being a non-designated heritage asset. Updating the 
Local List could require an involvement by the local community and 
would complement the other work undertaken at a local level. 

o More weight given to NP ‘Local Heritage Assets’ and ‘Non Designated 
Heritage Assets’ in planning decisions  

o all submissions for the listing of heritage assets to be examined and 
where approved, duly listed as such. 

o Historic England now has a high threshold for adding buildings to the 
national list of heritage assets, which makes a strong local list 
extremely important in conserving the heritage of our towns 

o support the preparation of Character Area Assessments ( as in 
Knutsford ) for implementation across the area. This could be secured 
either by a requirement in NPs or SPD 

o Any further development of Booths Hall would require a heritage 
conservation and enhancement management plan to be created for the 
site. 

o The plan should afford non designated assets such as open spaces 
with cultural and social significance the same level of protection as built 
heritage. 

• insufficient distance and landscaping given to protecting heritage assets. E.g. 
new houses built at Pownall Hall Wilmslow immediately to the rear of the wall 
to Gorsey Gate. These impact harmfully upon the heritage wall, upon the 
house and upon the whole of the curtilage of this heritage site; 

• The plan needs to reexamine sites that do not have the highest level of listing 
and rectify this. 

• There is a need for new policies that prevent owners allowing buildings to 
become derelict and unsafe.  

• make greater use of its existing powers to compel landowners who are failing 
to maintain buildings to do so. 

• Conservation Areas  

o review Conservation Area boundaries  

Page 322



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 200 

o illustrate Conservation Areas and Registered Parks and Gardens on 
the Policies Map but if national development management policies are 
in place, such policies do not need to be repeated within the Local 
Plan. 

o If not in the NDMPs, the local plan policy should require applications 
within conservation areas to demonstrate compliance with the 
conservation area appraisal and management plan to strengthen the 
status of the appraisal documents and management plans to secure 
enhancement of the conservation areas. 

o Include the adopted Macclesfield conservation area appraisal of the 
town centre area in the new LP, to aid residents understand their 
responsibilities and ensured developers adhere to them. 

• The historic importance of the Lindow Moss landscape needs to be fully 
recognised within, and protected by, the Local Plan. 

• The requirements of Neighbourhood Plans with respect to protecting heritage 
assets and historic environments must be supported and retained. 

• The local plan should identify heritage at risk where policies will support 
development that reduces this risk and supports reuse/ retro fitting  

• recognise the canal related heritage with the borough and make provision for 
conservation of and enjoyment or use of our heritage fabric. 

• greater detail on addressing the potential impacts of climate change, and 
measures to mitigate its effects, with specific reference to the historic 
environment would bewelcomed.  

• Guidance in the Local Plan, to supplement the Historic Environment advice 
note on climate change measures in historic buildings could be appropriate. 

Q10b Do you agree with the proposed approach to provide appropriate 
protection to the Jodrell Bank Observatory World Heritage Site? 

• Yes, we support the proposed approach to provide protection to the Jodrell 
Bank Observatory World Heritage Site. 

• No, I disagree with what you call appropriate protection to the Jodrell Bank 
Observatory World Heritage Site 

• The Jodrell bank SPD is still a draft; would like to see this policy confirmed. 

• Not clear why the Jodrell Bank Observatory Supplementary Planning 
Document was not finalised and adopted following consultation between 
December 2021 and February 2022. 

• the serious and fundamental concerns about conflict of interest and scientific 
integrity which were inherent in the draft SPD must be properly addressed. 

Page 323



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 201 

• Please consider how housing can be delivered whilst also appropriate 
protection is given to this historic asset in its Jodrell Bank Supplementary 
Plan.  

• Without an up-to-date SPD, reliance continues to be placed on the Town and 
Country Planning (Jodrell Bank Radio Telescope) Direction 1973.  

• the ‘buffer zone’ around Jodrell Bank has not always been observed in terms 
of the planning permissions granted in the past. Now it has UNESCO 
international designation, there should be no further cases where 
inappropriate development is permitted within the zone. 

• A wholesale review of the buffer zone and its use in planning to restrict 
development is needed as part of the new Local Plan’s examination. Its 
current use is not fit for purpose and does not strike the right balance of the 
social, economic and environmental needs of the area, against that of the 
Jodrell Bank facility. 

• If the current buffer zone is to be carried forward and designated on the 
policies map this must be an accurate using clearly defined markers (primary 
roads, railway lines etc) and should not cut across fields. The efficacy of the 
buffer zones should be proposed and examined through the local plan 
process and not through the SPD ‘back door’ route. 

• The Local Plan process should examine where mitigation can be utilised to 
make developments acceptable within the buffer zones. These mitigations 
should be clearly documented within a JBO policy.  

• the SPD or emerging local plan must state whether and how mitigation 
schemes can achieve no net dB impact on JBO or what level of impact is 
acceptable. The SPD requires a Radio Interference Assessment (RIA) and a 
mitigation strategy to reduce the impact of interference  

• it is imperative that the methodology for any RIA is subject of a consultation 
between the University, the industry body (if there is one) and UKAS 
accredited companies so that applicants can appoint a company to assess the 
impact on JBO and any mitigation. This would enable potential applicants to 
get cost-effective advice they need before embarking on a planning 
application. 

• Square Kilometre Array Observatory [SKAO] 

o There is no recognition of the current international scientific position  
now Jodrell Bank is the headquarters for the SKA Observatory which is 
stated to be one global observatory operating two telescopes on three 
sites, the three sites being Jodrell Bank, Australia and South Africa.   

o The Square Kilometre Array (SKA) will be the largest radio telescope in 
the world when completed in 2028.It will be a game-changers for radio 
astronomy: two world-leading, complementary radio telescopes on two 
continents, which will revolutionise our understanding of the Universe 
and the laws of fundamental physics. 

Page 324



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 202 

o the two telescopes are located in “ radio-quiet sites in South Africa and 
Australia”. Jodrell Bank is not one of two telescopes but is the 
headquarters for processing the data. With the ITU threshold breached 
by many thousands of times already at Jodrell Bank, then the scientific 
instruments need to be located elsewhere. : 

o Given this advancement in technology being located within nationally 
designated radio quiet zones, the continuation of the existing policy in 
Cheshire East must be reviewed as it is clear that any impact on 
Jodrell Bank telescope will not have a material impact on international 
radio astronomy. 

o This should mean the relaxation, or indeed the end, of the strict 
application of policy in the JBO consultation zone. 

• Protection  

o unclear meaning for “appropriate” protection. Some delegated 
decisions by planning officers have been inconsistent. Planning officers 
are not trained in astrophysics or radio astronomy, so it is not 
‘reasonable’ to expect them to be able to weigh the consequences of 
any damage to world leading research, in the planning balance.  

o If JBO state that their calculations show there would be interference 
above the ITU limit (the internationally agreed limit for radio astronomy) 
this should be accepted as definitive evidence of substantial harm and 
applications refused in line with multiple Appeal outcomes.  

o This is needed to protect: 
o 1. The UNESCO World Heritage Status, recognising its Outstanding 

Universal Value. 
o 2. The cutting-edge radio-astronomy research producing world leading 

scientific discoveries. 
o The JBO site provides economic benefits (including employment, 

grants, tourism income) to the country and region, educational benefit 
(for schools, students and the general public) and research benefits 
(scientific discoveries, development of new technologies, UK academic 
prestige). 

o In adopting the Statement of Outstanding Universal Value, the 
UNESCO World Heritage Committee specifically referred to the 
importance of Jodrell Bank’s ongoing operations – and therefore 
protection 

o from radio emissions - as follows (the 43rd session 
WHC/19/43.COM/18, p. 285 of the World Heritage Committee (Baku, 
2019): 

o “Integrity - The Consultation zone, buffer zone of the property, protects 
the scientific capabilities of the Observatory from radio emissions in its 
vicinity, contributing to maintenance of the functional integrity of the 
property. 

o Authenticity - The property retains its ongoing scientific use”. 
o This has been accepted by several different Planning Inspectors in 

refusing appeals 

Page 325



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 203 

• there needs to be a clear distinction made in relation to the actual World 
Heritage Site that is related to the physical and operational site of Jodrell 
Bank and the extensive safeguarded area that surrounds Jodrell Bank. 

• additional robust, tangible, and accessible evidence needs to be provided by 
the University of Manchester that can be readily scrutinised to continue to 
justify the extent of the safeguarded area and the current restrictions that are 
placed on new development within this area. 

• That evidence should take into account the diminishing role Jodrell Bank will 
play in continuing to collect information from the radio-telescope at Jodrell 
Bank in light of other global developments including the Square Kilometre 
Array in South Africa. 

• As a World Heritage Site, a heritage asset, and an operational centre  any 
development should not cause harm to the operations, heritage or setting of 
the observatory. However, this should not preclude new development, of 
small to medium sized housing to contribute to the vitality and viability of rural 
settlements. This is a sustainability objective of the NPPF, as well as the 
protection of the Historic Environment. As such, the right balance must be 
struck. It must not and should not automatically follow that any land within the 
World Heritage Site Buffer Zone is unsuitable for development. 

• Appropriate protection should be afforded to the Jodrell Bank Observatory 
World Heritage Site, but only where land is in close proximity to the 
Observatory. Policy in relation to land and sites on the periphery of the World 
Heritage Site buffer consultation zone, such as Congleton, should reflect the 
distance and limited potential to adversely impact Jodrell Bank. 

• The appropriateness of development north of Congleton, is compliant with 
Policy SE14 (Jodrell Bank) LPS. Any new Jodrell Bank policy framework 
should reflect this extant context and should not seek to restrict or stymie 
development in appropriate locations or of an appropriate use / type; where 
there will be no adverse impacts on the Observatory. 

• The Jodrell Bank Observatory Consultation Zone (JBOCZ) is a restrictive 
designation which lies in an area which is generally unaffected by other 
heritage or landscape-based designations 

• the current level of protection is too onerous. The overly restrictive approach 
goes beyond what is reasonably required to protect the JBO, limiting 
otherwise sustainable development proposals and the ability to meet the 
needs of the district Local Service Centres such as Goostrey and Holmes 
Chapel both with train stations and other amenities would support an 
appropriate level of new development 

• NPPF says proposals that have less than substantial harm on the significance 
of heritage assets can still be permissible if a planning balance exercise 
shows that the harm to the asset is outweighed by the public benefit. 

Page 326



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 204 

• NPPF regarding proposals within World Heritage Sites (WHS) writes that 
proposals will be treated favourably where they preserve or enhance the 
significance of the asset and states that not all elements within a WHS 
necessarily contribute to the significance of the asset. 

• Therefore, align with national policy and allocate future development sites 
where it can be demonstrated that there is no harm to the significance of JBO 
WHS or its setting. 

• JBO has been quick to object to development within the area but has failed to 
justify or support any concerns expressed. Planning objections must be 
supported by sound evidence. 

• Given the age of the telescope, Manchester University should be asked to 
justify the continued maintenance of the full Jodrell Bank Radio Telescope 
Consultation Zone. 

Q10c Are there any other matters related to the historic environment 
that the new local plan should consider? 

• The HEAN consultation has now closed, therefore the link/footnote needs 
updating. 

• The document should increase its appreciation of the potential of buried 
undesignated heritage assets. This region is known for its moated sites, 
mines, salt industry, and well preserved mosslands (Lindow Man). 

• Sites across Cheshire East, like the historic landscape which is Lindow Moss 
in Wilmslow need to be fully recognised and protected within the local area 
plan. The new Plan needs to bring forward opportunities to create new 
conservation areas that will bring protection to areas of historic interest 

• A number of sites highlighted that heritage assets, where either not present or 
could  be sympathetically mitigated through detailed planning permission.  

• Many of the issues in the Historic Environment Topic Paper (April 2024) do 
not apply to the Grosvenor Shopping Centre setting of the Macclesfield 
Conservation Area and numerous statutory listed buildings along 
Chestergate. The former Cheshire Building Society building, has been 
sensitively re-purposing for additional retail. The historic environment in the 
locality of the GSC, should not preclude innovative redevelopment 
opportunities, including buildings of height, where they are carefully designed 
and represent sustainable forms of development. 

• assets such as the old police station in Macclesfield, empty for several years. 
Could it be used for in town living? 

• The Local Plan should support bringing forward and assessing potential 
additional Conservation Areas. An example in Wilmslow will include a 
potential Dean Row Conservation Area 

Page 327



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 205 

• How can the local plan recognise that Historic Parks and Gardens having a 
significant overlap with other interests;  Landscape, landscape history, design, 
tourism, recreation, trees, woodlands, biodiversity, climate change, 
archaeology, built features etc. 

• update the Local List and make it more comprehensive so that parks and 
gardens of local significance can be better recognised and protected. 

• Conservation Areas: 

o Some conservation areas include, or are closely associated with, a 
designed landscape. The designation allows for conservation of both 
nationally and locally designated designed landscapes and also their 
settings. 

o Para 72 of HEAG 268 makes it clear that historic parks and gardens 
can be suitable for designation as conservation areas - and Cheshire 
East could consider where this might be appropriate (also see 
comments on protection of trees within parks and gardens. 

• Town and Parish Councils should be invited to submit proposals for 
“exceptional townscapes”. The effective protection of such townscapes should 
be included in local plan policy as assessment of how a development impacts 
on townscapes is important, just as development impacts on the landscape 
are informed by the 2018 Cheshire East Landscape Character Assessment. 

• the historic environment must by supported through maintaining local 
vernacular. Where there is a potential impact on cultural heritage, modern 
methods of site investigation should be employed to minimise the carbon 
footprint of research techniques. 

• The Local List needs updating. Volunteer led local list reviews that could be 
appointed by the LPA to undertake this work urgently. Barnet is a good 
example.  

Chapter 11: Towns and villages 

Q11a Do you agree with the proposed approach to reviewing and 
updating the settlement hierarchy? Are there any other factors 
that we should consider? 

• The villages tier of the hierarchy should simply be called “villages”. “Infill” 
invites question of meaning and “sustainable” should apply to all tiers. 

• Local service centres vary greatly in size, from just over 1,000 to around 
8,000. They vary greatly in their features, density, rurality and ability to 
expand and should not all be treated the same. Anomalies ion the current 
hierarchy – e.g. Wilmslow and Handforth are in the same category; as are 
Mobberley and Bollington. 

• There is no justification for introducing an extra tier. 

Page 328



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 206 

• The focus of the review on the lowest tier requires further justification. There 
needs to be a comprehensive review of the whole hierarchy, including the 
higher tiers. 

• Given the possibility of new planning legislation identifying designations of 
new towns and settlements, aligning local designations with new national 
categorisation systems may be desirable. 

• The methodology should also take into account the quality of existing 
services, for example if the school cannot expand or the rail services are 
already full. 

• Proximity of other planning considerations such as Jodrell Bank and 
Manchester Airport should be included in the assessment. 

• The amount and status of Green Belt in a village, the extent of Conservation 
Areas, and the extent of available land should also be considered. 

• The assessment should consider the sites put forward and the potential of 
these to offer additional services to support increased levels of growth. 
Settlements could be elevated up the hierarchy where improvements could be 
made. 

• Up to date data should be used, and the Census data is already out of date. 

• The assessment should also consider which settlement have the potential for 
larger scale urban extensions. 

• The assessment should also take account of all significant employment 
locations within the borough, including the number of jobs at each to help give 
a balanced view about the relative levels of job access and sustainability 
across the area. 

• The list of key services and facilities should include a medical centre (large 
building providing a range of services), instead of the list of local services 
including a doctor’s surgery. 

• The presence of a bank/building society should be removed from the criteria 
as there has been a significant change in banking services with the move to 
online and telephone banking. 

• Cycle routes are not always feasible in towns and should not be included in 
the criteria. 

• The assessment should include consideration of private schools as well as 
state-funded ones as they provide education to a significant proportion of the 
local population. 

• The 2021 travel to work census data should not be overlooked because it took 
place during the coronavirus pandemic, as it will show if there are settlements 

Page 329



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 207 

that have a higher proportion of the population able to work at home, and 
potentially more self-contained and less reliant on commuting. 

• The methodology should not seek to allocate settlements to tiers based on 
existing population size as this does not allow for consideration of other 
factors such as the availability of services, transport connections or 
employment opportunities. 

• The assessment of population data should grade settlements on a ration of 
services to population size. The methodology states that “a larger population 
is generally able to sustain a greater level of services and facilities, retail 
provision, public transport and employment provision within a settlement” but 
this is not the case due to the varying levels of deprivation in the borough. 

• The assessment should also consider employment opportunities nearby, but 
outside of the settlement (such as at Alderley Park and Wardle Employment 
Improvement Area). 

• The assessment should take account of the growth that has happened in 
recent years. Assess how settlements have been enhanced and how any 
infrastructure/community facility needs have fallen behind. 

• A topic paper should be published on the updated hierarchy, showing a 
breakdown of the scoring and explaining instances where professional 
judgement has been applied. 

• The results of the scoring exercise should be respected, and only in particular 
circumstances should professional judgment be used, and the classification 
depart from the scoring system. Where settlements are borderline, weighting 
should be applied to the most important factors, such as presence of services 
and facilities, and accessibility. 

• There could be an additional factor that scores settlements based on 
proximity to and availability of links to other settlements. 

• Settlement profiles should be updated to determine changes linked to the 

• There should be an analysis of demographics in each settlement, such as age 
profile and working age population. 

• The review should take into account areas that are severely affected by 
deprivation as the provision of new development can help to regenerate them. 

• Policies emerging from the review of settlements should take account of the 
need to direct development to sustainable locations. 

• The new plan should continue to direct the majority of new development to the 
upper tiers of the settlement hierarchy. 

• Protect settlements as they are and stop trying to expand them. 

Page 330



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 208 

• Growth should be directed to the most sustainable settlements, especially 
those with a high level of public transport provision. 

• Disproportionate growth in any location has the potential to place a strain on 
existing water and wastewater infrastructure. Therefore, when considering 
growth proposals, it is good practice to ensure that growth is proportionate to 
the location. 

• There needs to be clarity on how development in other rural settlements will 
be considered. 

• Policy should state that development on the edge of infill village is 
unsustainable development and only permitted as exceptions, or on 
brownfield sites. 

• A number of local service centres could be designated as key service centres, 
and a number of key service centres could be designated as principal towns. 
Larger settlements in the other settlements and rural areas tier should be 
moved up the settlement hierarchy. 

• Cross border settlements should be considered and included in the hierarchy, 
even where the centre of the settlement is outside of the borough. 

• Major settlements such as Crewe should sit at the top of the hierarchy and 
accommodate the most new development. 

• The settlement hierarchy should be revised to reflect the opportunities 
presented by focussing more growth in Crewe. 

• Macclesfield should remain as a principal town. 

• An acknowledgement of Alsager’s superior settlement location and 
characteristics may allow it to take on a more prominent role than other 
settlements in the same classification. 

• Alsager should continue to be identified as a key service centre and be a 
focus for future development. 

• The figures for Alsager should include the new warehouses and Sainsbury’s 
site, and employment at Radway Business Park should be included. The links 
to nearby settlements and the proximity to Stoke-on-Trent and major 
employment sites needs to be taken account of. 

• Congleton shares many similarities with Crewe and Macclesfield, and should 
be elevated to a principal town. 

• Handforth should not drop below its current level in the hierarchy. 

• Knutsford should remain as a key service centre. 

Page 331



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 209 

• Nantwich should remain as a key service centre and focus for growth in the 
new plan. 

• Poynton has had money spent on its town centre and bypass whereas 
Macclesfield has not had similar investment, despite being a principal town. 

• Poynton should be identified as a key location for growth, based on its 
accessibility, infrastructure and services/facilities. 

• Poynton should be reclassified as a local service centre due to the council 
policy of removing or reducing most of its services, including close of 
household waste centre, failure to invest in the leisure centre, and reduced 
public transport. 

• Wilmslow should remain as a key service centre. 

• Alderley Edge should be re-categorised as a key service centre, or as a 
separate higher tier of local service centres. 

• Bollington should remain as a focus for growth in the new plan. 

• Goostrey is wrongly categorised as a local service centre and the data for 
Goostrey should be based on the parish or the village, not the larger lower 
super output areas. Goostrey is constrained by Jodrell Bank. Services in 
Goostrey have been reduced since the last assessment. A previous Head of 
Planning Strategy noted that Goostrey should not be a local service centre. 

• Holmes Chapel should be re-categorised as a key service centre, or as a 
separate higher tier of local service centres. 

• Prestbury should maintain its position in the settlement hierarchy. 

• Shavington should maintain its position in the settlement hierarchy. 

• Adlington should be recognised as a higher order settlement, with further 
consideration given as to how its boundary is defined. 

• The centre of Gawsworth village should continue to be an infill village and the 
area outside this should be a rural area. 

• Wybunbury has a population of 5,700 and should be a local service centre. 

• Broomedge should be recognised as an infill village. 

• Wardle and Barbridge should be identified as an infill/sustainable village. 

• The council should review whether Alderley Park should be considered as a 
named settlement in the hierarchy. 

Page 332



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 210 

• The review should consider how the Handforth Garden Village fits into the 
hierarchy. The garden village should be included on its own, not as part of 
Handforth. 

• The review should consider how the South Cheshire Growth Village fits into 
the hierarchy. 

• Higher Hurdsfield, Lyme Green Business Park, Lyme Green, Site LPS 13 
‘South Macclesfield Development Area’, Site LPS 15 ‘Land at Congleton 
Road, Macclesfield’, Site LPS 16 ‘Land south of Chelford Road, Macclesfield’, 
Site LPS 17 ‘Gaw End Lane, Macclesfield’ and Safeguarded Land LPS 19 
‘South West Macclesfield’ should be included as part of Macclesfield. 

• The current settlement hierarchy is discriminatory as all residents pay council 
tax so should be treated equally. Targets for local service centres were 
aggregated and Holmes Chapel accommodated more development than was 
equitable. 

• Instead of carrying out a settlement hierarchy review, the council should ask 
whether one is necessary and instead focus on other issues such as a 
comprehensive look at the areas in towns and villages where residential 
development could take place including town/village centres, employment 
land allocations, existing employment site, redundant HS2 sites; as well and 
looking at the viability of residential allocations including safeguarded land, 
updating the local list of historic buildings and introduce local design guides. 

Q11b Have we identified the right matters to take into account when 
considering the distribution of development across the borough? 
What else should be considered? 

• Other matters suggested for consideration include: 

o Adequacy of road infrastructure, highway safety. 
o Planned infrastructure investment/ability for development to support 

infrastructure investment. 
o Proximity to Jodrell Bank 
o Proximity to Manchester Airport 
o The availability of land with limited physical or other constraints 
o The ability of sites to deliver significant benefits 
o The distinctiveness of each settlement and whether it can 

accommodate development without erosion of its character 
o The socio-economic needs of each town, looking at deprivation and 

joblessness. 
o Qualitative and quantitative analysis of commercial/employment 

sectors’ needs. 
o Health and wellbeing requirements 
o Addressing the climate emergency, achieving carbon neutrality 
o Development viability and market attractiveness of locations 
o The existing size of settlements 
o Water stress arising from climate change 

Page 333



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 211 

o Potential impact on the qualities and opportunities of the canal/towpath 
network 

o Access to public transport 
o Impact on Jodrell Bank 
o The opportunity to deliver large-scale new development, through 

sustainable urban extensions or new towns. 
o Social and economic equity. 

• The weighting of factors will be important when considering the distribution of 
development. Viability and Green Belt issues should be afforded most weight. 

• The distribution of land should also consider any proposed changes to the 
planning system. 

• Locations where land can be re-allocated should also be considered, such as 
underutilised retail/employment areas. 

• The amount of brownfield and urban land will need to be informed by an 
urban capacity study. 

• Much of the available brownfield land is likely to come forward as windfall 
development and the availability of brownfield land should not be a factor in 
the distribution of development. 

• The availability of safeguarded land should also be taken into account. 

• Each settlement should grow proportionately, e.g. 20% increase in dwellings 
for principal towns; 15% increase for key service centres, 10% increase for 
local service centres and 5% increase for villages. 

• The evidence related to each factor that influences the distribution of 
development should be made available in a transparent way and kept up to 
date. 

• Housing and employment growth must be aligned within each settlement. 

• Growth in the north of the borough should not be constrained by the Green 
Belt designation. Housing needs should be assessed using two broad housing 
market areas covering the north and the south of the borough. 

• Strategic green gap designations should not influence the distribution of 
development. 

• Local green gap designations should not influence the distribution of 
development. 

• Distribution should also be informed by an updated Landscape Character 
Assessment. 

• The distribution of land should be aligned to the council’s wider objectives, 
such as the economic development strategy. 

Page 334



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 212 

• The distribution of development should also recognise that unique 
development opportunities arise where specific geological conditions allow, 
including underground energy storage in salt caverns. 

• The smaller settlements should be a greater focus for growth, each with their 
own settlement-specific targets / minimum housing requirements. 

• The plans needs to identify sufficient employment land to serve the needs of 
the west/southwest of the borough and wider rural hinterland. 

• The resulting figures for each settlement as minimum figures, rather than 
setting an upper limit that would prevent sustainable sites from coming 
forward. 

• Individual figures should be set out for each local service centre as well as 
key service centres and principal towns. 

• Development should be focussed on principal towns such as Macclesfield. 
Application of the factors identified show that Macclesfield should receive a 
greater share of growth than most other settlements. 

• Distribution of development should also reflect regeneration priorities and 
local economic strategies, and Crewe should take a greater share of 
development than other settlements. 

• A higher level of growth should be accommodation in the largest settlements 
(such as Poynton), commensurate to their size, tole and function. 

• Congleton has a high level of services, retail and employment provision and 
has had previous high levels of growth. It should have further housing and 
employment growth directed to it. 

• A higher level of growth should be apportioned to the borough’s largest 
settlements, including Knutsford. 

• There should be a focus on delivering large allocations in larger towns such 
as Sandbach. 

• There should be a focus on delivering large allocations in larger towns such 
as Nantwich. 

• The current plan has an imbalance of housing and employment provision in 
Alsager, and the new distribution of housing should be uplifted to Alsager to 
account for this. 

• The plan should also consider whether growth in a settlement can help to 
alleviate existing issues. For example, growth at Holmes Chapel could include 
a relief road. Holmes Chapel should take a greater share of growth than the 
other local service centres. 

Page 335



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 213 

• There is limited ability to deliver new housing in Prestbury under current 
policies and the new plan should ensure that it can accommodate some 
growth in the next plan. 

• Alderley Edge is a sustainable and appropriate location to deliver further 
growth. 

• Sufficient development is needed in local service centres such as Audlem. 

• Sufficient development is needed in other settlements and rural areas such as 
Winterley. 

• There is limited ability to deliver new housing in Hough under current policies 
and the new plan should ensure that it can accommodate some growth in the 
next plan. 

• There is limited ability to deliver new housing in Brereton Green under current 
policies and the new plan should ensure that it can accommodate some 
growth in the next plan. 

• The distribution of development should allow for plan-led development in the 
other settlements and rural areas. 

• Put residents’ future development needs first, not landowners or developers. 

• Development on the edge of settlements must include provision for key 
services. 

Q11c How can the local plan best support and encourage the re-use of 
previously developed and urban land whilst making sure that 
sufficient development comes forward to meet needs? 

• By ensuring the brownfield register is up to date. 

• A brownfield audit should be carried out and the land availability assessment 
should be kept up to date. There should be a comprehensive survey of 
brownfield sites in all towns and villages. 

• Work with town and parish councils to identify brownfield sites. 

• Critical analysis of the potential for windfall sites to come forward. The 
previous plan underestimated the capacity. 

• An urban capacity study and viability study are needed to understand the 
deliverability of brownfield sites. 

• By encouraging higher densities where appropriate to the character of the 
area. 

Page 336



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 214 

• The new plan should promote a permissive approach to previously developed 
land, actively promoting its re-use. 

• There should be a presumption in favour of re-using existing buildings 
(subject to design and heritage). 

• By promoting pro-active use of masterplanning, compulsory purchase and 
other planning tools. 

• Prepare development briefs for key sites such as former mill buildings where 
they have been long unused, underused or vacant. Implement a fast-track 
application service for such sites. 

• Provide greater incentives for the re-use of derelict and abandoned sites, 
forcing either improvement or sale. 

• Highlight the tax incentives for brownfield land development. 

• Review Green Belt boundaries to exclude existing developed areas adjacent 
to settlements, to remove the uncertainty for development and to free-up 
smaller infill plots. 

• Refuse any sites on greenfield land. Mandate the re-use of brownfield sites 
before undeveloped land is used. 

• The use of brownfield land should be prioritised in the site selection process. 

• Open Mosaic Habitat (OMH) is often found on brownfield sites. If present on 
site, the Statutory Biodiversity Metric requires it to be replaced ‘like for like’, 
and development of brownfield sites mat result in deficit of OMH with a 
shortage of supply nationally. In exceptional circumstances, a greater 
enhancement of biodiversity can be agreed instead, but innovative on site 
solutions such as inclusion of green roofs and creation of OMH can assist. 

• Brownfield sites should be allocated for development rather than relying on 
the land availability assessment and brownfield register. Allocations should be 
flexible to account for market/economic changes that may necessitate 
alternative land uses coming forwards. 

• By co-ordinating infrastructure to bring forward more brownfield sites. 

• The council should have a dedicated team to bring forward brownfield 
development opportunities. 

• Remediation costs are often significant and to bring sites forward, some fiscal 
benefits should be facilitated (e.g. review brownfield CIL contributions). 

• Include flexible policies to allow sustainable development to come forwards 
outside of defined built-up areas. 

Page 337



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 215 

• Policy requirements should not automatically be relaxed to enable brownfield 
land to come forward and where brownfield land cannot meet minimum policy 
requirements, then greenfield land should be allocated instead. 

• Brownfield sites are often unable to deliver the same benefits as larger 
greenfield sites. Brownfield sites may not be able to deliver affordable housing 
and other requirements. 

• There needs to be a realistic and measure approach to the contribution that 
brownfield land can make to the housing land supply. 

• Employment sites should not be released for housing where there is demand 
from viable businesses to retain them. 

• The term “previously developed and other urban land” should be described as 
“previously developed land”, otherwise it excludes previously developed land 
in rural areas. 

Q11d Have we broadly identified the right matters to take into account 
when considering which sites to include in the local plan? What 
else should be considered? 

• Need to consider the proximity to and impact on Jodrell Bank. 

• Consider the proximity to Manchester Airport. 

• Need to consider how to assess whether services are fit for purpose to 
accommodate extra demand. 

• Green Belt considerations should not trump all other planning considerations 
and should not automatically prevent sites from being considered. 

• Safeguarding of minerals infrastructure should be considered in the site 
selection as well as safeguarding mineral resources. 

• The existing strategic green gap designation should not be used to inform the 
site selection, as it was set 24 years ago and has not been subject to a full 
review since. 

• When assessing sites against the existing development plan policies, 
consideration must be given to how up to date the policies are. 

• Flood risk information should reflect real events of recent years and not out of 
date Environment Agency information. 

• The potential impact on the qualities and opportunities of the canal/towpath 
network should be recognised. 

Page 338



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 216 

• The site selection methodology should consider the suitability and viability of 
sites to provide affordable housing, including opportunities to deliver 
affordable housing above the minimum policy thresholds. 

• The ability for a site to provide elderly persons housing should be considered. 

• Biodiversity should also be considered. 

• Development sites should not be in locations that would sterilise possible 
future passenger or freight rail links, such as new Metrolink lines or rail links to 
minerals extraction areas. 

• When selecting sites, the council should not consider matters that do not need 
to be considered, such as whether a site is visible from the Peak District 
National Park Fringe. 

• The site selection should also consider the ability of sites to contribute to 
economic growth. 

• The site selection should be informed by a full Green Belt review. 

• When selecting sites, there should be consideration of local nature recovery 
strategies and early engagement with consultants in relation to biodiversity 
net gain 

• It is not clear what weight is to be placed on each of the site selection factors. 
Proximity to existing employment opportunities, public transport networks and 
active travel connections to services and facilities should be given greater 
weight. 

• Accessibility of sites to adequate education and medical facilities is 
paramount. 

• Key factors are local infrastructure, heritage, character, and the natural 
environment. 

• There should be greater emphasis on the protection of agricultural and 
horticultural land. 

• The site selection methodology should consider housing need and demand. 

• Standard templates should not be used to select sites as different 
development proposals have different site requirements. Considerations for 
site selection should be specific to the type of development for which sites are 
being sought. 

• Site allocations should be small. 

• The site selection process should consider key strategic locations for larger 
scale land release. 

Page 339



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 217 

• The site selection should identify a wide range of sites that meet a variety of 
needs. 

• The new plan must seek to identify and allocate new sites for retail. 

• Previous draft allocations should be given priority as they were previously 
considered to be sound and deliverable. 

• Existing sites allocated in the current plan that have not been fully delivered 
should be subject to review to establish whether they remain suitable, 
available and deliverable. 

• Safeguarded land should be given priority in the site selection process. 

• The site selection process should consider undeveloped land adjacent to 
existing development allocations. 

• The site selection process should consider sites in the other settlements and 
rural areas. 

• The assessment needs to be more nuanced than just a box ticking exercise; 
any conflict with a selection criterion needs to be given full consideration and 
a weighting exercise undertaken. 

• The site selection should also factor in the number of likely windfall sites, 
based on past trends. 

• There is too much reliance on the call for sites. The approach should consider 
first where development would be most appropriate to then act as a basis for 
discussions with landowners about whether land could come forwards. 

• The site selection process should involve local communities and town/parish 
council to benefit from their local knowledge and ensure the right sites are 
allocated. 

• The council should await details of changes to the planning system as these 
will influence the site selection. 

• The starting point should be to assess site suitability on a policy-off basis, 
excluding environmental designations such as flood zones and SSSIs, then 
the location of sites in terms of the most sustainable settlements in the 
hierarchy should be considered, then the number of sites required for each 
settlement should be considered. 

• The previous site selection did not consider viability, ecology, or a restrictive 
covenant when selecting Site LPS 38 ‘Land south of Longridge’ 

Q11e How can the local plan support existing and/or proposed 
community facilities? 

Page 340



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 218 

• The plan should include a policy for new development to be in locations well 
served by community facilities, or which can be made to be well served as 
part of the development. 

• Community facilities should be protected from development; policy should 
resist the change of use or loss of any facilities (including public houses). 

• Community facilities should be supported with S106 and CIL monies. Aim to 
secure investment to support community facilities. 

• The plan should be supportive of neighbourhood plans. 

• Allocate viable and deliverable sites that can contribute to community facilities 
and infrastructure. 

• Large urban extensions/large scale sites are most likely to be able to provide 
new community facilities or invest in existing ones. 

• Various sites submitted could, if allocated, deliver a variety of community 
facilities. 

• Make sure that space is available for a community hub in all large housing 
schemes. 

• Have a policy that is supportive of changes of use to community facilities. 

• Where healthcare facilities are included in the definition of community 
facilities, policies seeking to prevent their loss can impact on the NHS’s ability 
to deliver essential facilities and services for the community as it needs 
flexibility with regards to the use of its estate, including the disposal of 
redundant sites and properties for best market value. The plan should state 
that where healthcare facilities are formally declared surplus to the operational 
healthcare requirements of the NHS or identified as surplus as part of a 
published estates strategy or service transformation plan, there will be no 
requirement to retain any part of the site in an alternative community use. 

• The needs of urban and rural areas should be considered. 

• Evidence prepared should identify the existing facilities in each settlement and 
identify opportunities to provide new facilities. 

• Work with town/parish councils and communities to assess community needs 
and opportunities, and audit existing facilities – identifying capacity issues, 
facilities at risk and future needs. The outputs should be supported through 
policy and used to secure developer contributions. 

• Grouping facilities together in one building can result in better, more cost 
efficient services. 

• Provision of local transport such as bus services to enable people to access 
essential facilities. 

Page 341



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 219 

• Provide free car parking. 

• Collect garden waste without extra charges. 

• Re-instate local waste recycling centres. 

• Community facilities such as banks, cash machines, post offices and public 
lavatories have declined everywhere, alongside the retail offer, maintenance 
of roads, public drains and the public realm. 

• Sports facilities should be recognised as community facilities. 

• Urge central government to reduce the burden of business rates on public 
halls. 

• Allocate funding for grants towards improving community facilities, particularly 
those supporting the elderly, infirm, those with special needs and public halls. 

• There should be an annual referendum on how taxes are spent. 

• Large scale housing sites have largely failed to deliver community facilities 
and infrastructure, despite promising them in the initial masterplan. 

Q11f Are there any specific issues in your town, village or local area 
that the new local plan should help to address? Please tell us 
what the issue is, which town or village it affects and how you 
think the new local plan could help to address the issue. 

• Crewe: 

o Provision of trams within the town and to Nantwich 
o There is a need for housing, employment, sports and local centre uses, 

which could be delivered by allocating a particular site that has been 
submitted. 

o The Crewe Town Investment Plan identifies that there is a high 
proportion of residents without any qualifications and basic skills only; 6 
out of 13 areas of the town are in the 10% most deprived nationally; 
high town centre vacancy rates; insufficient town centre attractions; 
and lack of grade A office spaces. Success of investments in these 
areas will depend on the continued growth of Crewe to ensure 
increasing patronage and footfall. 

o There is a need to consider a ‘Plan B’ to HS2, to recapture the 
investment and economic future that have been lost. 

o The allocation of a particular site submitted could deliver affordable 
homes, elderly care accommodation, new homes, cope for key worker 
homes, new allotments, large area of public open space, a circulatory 
route that could be used by local bus services in the future. 

• Macclesfield: 

o Road infrastructure 

Page 342



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 220 

o Many public facilities in the town centre are difficult to access on foot or 
by public transport and have little or no car parking, such as West Park 
Museum, the library, the tourist information centre and Macclesfield 
Town Hall. 

o A large sum of money needs to be spent on West Park Museum to 
bring it up to modern standards. 

o Many facilities in Macclesfield library and town hall are at first floor 
level, making access difficult, despite the lifts. 

o Views to the Peak District foothills need to be opened up from the 
town. 

o Regeneration of Macclesfield town centre should include a large 
municipal development, including a new museum, library, multiscreen 
cinema and a café with a view – located between Mill Street and the 
southern section of Queen Victoria Street, close to the railway station, 
bus station, car parks and with views to the hills. 

• Alsager: 

o Development needs coupled with lack of available land supply limits 
the ability to grow and meet the demands of residents and the wider 
borough. This should be addressed by reviewing the settlement 
boundary, potentially expanding to include additional greenfield land at 
the edge of the settlement. 

o Aspirations are set out in the Alsager Neighbourhood Plan. 

• Knutsford: 

o New medical centre and community care hub; the plan should support 
a new combined medical centre at the site of the hospital on Bexton 
Road. 

o New primary school(s) 
o Security of tenure for sports clubs; improved sports facilities. 
o Addition toucan crossings 
o More reliable rail services 
o More frequent bus services, a bus to Holmes Chapel 
o More community meeting places 
o Separate leisure centre provision to the secondary school 
o Improved pavements in Top and Bottom Street 
o Guarantee the future of the Longridge local wildlife site as a nature 

reserve; return site LPS 38 ‘Land south of Longridge’ to the Green Belt. 
o Provide a footpath along Birkin Brook 
o Closure of King Street to traffic at weekends 
o Housing affordability is a significant issue 
o The need for additional town centre car parking should be supported, 

which could be by way of a multi-storey car park, with funding from 
developer contributions. 

o Aircraft noise is of concern to Knutsford residents (particularly at night) 
and affects the deliverability of sites in northeast Knutsford. The new 
plan should update Policy ENV 13 ‘Aircraft noise’ and retain Policy INF 
4’Manchester Airport’. The plan should monitor the impacts of future 

Page 343



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 221 

airport passenger growth and reflect the implications of the Future 
Airspace project; flight paths could be re-routed over the sparsely 
populated Tatton Park area. 

o Aspirations are set out in the Knutsford Neighbourhood Plan. 
o Traffic congestion is an issue that could be improved by traffic signals 

co-ordination (ImFlow system). 
o Socio-economic disparities within the could be reduced by identifying 

and progressing improvements in the northeast of the town, such as 
employment and training provision at Parkgate Industrial 
Estate/Longridge Trading Estate, local retailing and environmental 
improvements, and public realm works – funded from S106 and CIL. 

o Need to maximise urban capacity, such as mixed-use development of 
King Street car park, town centre residential uses above shops, 
conversions of commercial premises to residential units, surplus land at 
the community hospital once the new health centre has been 
developed, potential capacity for development at Princess Street and 
Tatton Street car parks. 

o Additional convenience goods retailing is needed. 
o Additional employment land is needed. 
o Additional homes are needed. 
o There is an ageing population. 
o The allocation of various sites submitted could deliver a new sports 

village, residential-led mixed use development, scope for commercial 
and community uses, housing development, employment development, 
local retail provision. 

• Middlewich: 

o Stop building houses 
o Provide more doctors and dentists 
o Reduce traffic congestion and provide an eastern and southern bypass 
o Provide a railway station and improve public transport 
o Provide free parking for the town centre 
o Implement the town vitality plan 
o Preserve heritage and canals 
o Provide a suitable leisure centre for the town 
o Provide a youth club and staff 
o Improve footpaths and walkways for disabled residents 
o More special educational needs provision 
o Improve road surfaces 
o Promote Middlewich better through media platforms 
o Improve street signs 
o Create more biodiversity projects 
o Improve community buildings 
o Secure space for sports facilities and playing fields 

• Nantwich: 

o Provision of a bypass for south Nantwich 
o Provision of trams within the town and to Crewe 

Page 344



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 222 

o Pedestrianisation schemes in the town centre 
o Additional cycleways 
o A park and ride scheme 
o Land supply is reducing, there is a need for housing, and there is a 

need for affordable housing. These could be delivered by allocating 
various sites that have been submitted. 

• Poynton: 

o It is likely that the available sites in Poynton will be developed by the 
end of the plan period and more sites will need to be allocated. 

• Sandbach: 

o There is a need for housing, primary school provision, sports and 
recreational uses. These could be delivered by allocating a particular 
site that has been submitted. 

o The supply of housing land is almost exhausted, and there is a need 
for affordable housing and older persons accommodation. Therefore, 
new allocations are needed. The allocation of a particular site 
submitted could deliver C2 accommodation and housing. 

• Wilmslow: 

o Redesign of the town centre in line with the vitality plan 
o Redirection of HGVs away from the town centre to better use the A555 

and A34, using weight limits and early direction signage 
o Provision of a multi-storey car park at Broadway Meadow 
o Development of key sites to bring new residents into the town centre. 
o Further aspirations are set out in the Wilmslow Neighbourhood Plan. 
o The supply of housing land is almost exhausted, and there is a need 

for affordable housing. Therefore, new allocations are needed. 

• Alderley Edge: 

o Allocation of housing development sites to address the high level of 
housing need 

• Audlem: 

o There is a need for housing, which could be delivered by allocating a 
particular site that has been submitted. 

• Bollington: 

o The new plan should give priority to the requirements of the 
neighbourhood plan. 

o The supply of housing in Bollington has been exhausted, there has 
been a loss of employment and there are unmet development needs 
which could be alleviated by providing for future growth and allocating 
further sites for development. 

Page 345



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 223 

• Chelford: 

o There are only 4 housing commitments in Chelford, and the 
safeguarded land should be allocated for development. 

• Disley: 

o The A6 through Disley dominates the village due to the volume and 
speed of traffic, causing noise, congestion and pollution. The 199 bus 
runs half hourly between Buxton and Stockport but there are no buses 
to New Mills, Marple or Poynton. There should be a new cycleway to 
Poynton and a review of the A6 corridor. 

• Goostrey: 

o Change the erroneous categorisation as a local service centre. 
o Development needs coupled with lack of available land supply limits 

the ability to grow and meet the demands of residents and the wider 
borough. This should be addressed by reviewing the settlement 
boundary, potentially expanding to include additional greenfield land at 
the edge of the settlement. 

• Holmes Chapel: 

o Aspirations are set out in the Holmes Chapel Neighbourhood Plan 
o Road congestion is an issue that could be alleviated by developing a 

mixed-use urban extension to the west of the settlement, which would 
allow for the creation of a relief road that would eventually connect 
Middlewich Road with London Road and give access to the secondary 
school and leisure centre. 

o There is a need for housing, which could be delivered by allocating a 
particular site that has been submitted. 

• Prestbury: 

o Introduction of car parking charges will undermine the shops, 
restaurants, businesses and other community facilities such as the 
church. 

o Closure of Bollington household waste site. 
o Introduction of a 20mph speed limit through the village centre. 
o Sympathetic improvements to the junctions with the A523. 
o Appropriate use of enforcement powers. 
o Maintenance and repair of roads and footpaths. 

• Shavington: 

o The allocation of a particular site that has been submitted could deliver 
affordable homes, elderly care accommodation, new homes, scope for 
a new primary school if required, scope for medical/GP practice if 
required, outdoor sports facilities and playing pitches, new bus stops, 

Page 346



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 224 

an extensive area of informal open space, children’s play area and 
amenity space. 

• Ashley: 

o The allocation of a particular site that has been submitted could deliver 
(depending on the scale of allocation): improved connectivity, new 
residential development, new employment development, key social 
infrastructure, car park/drop off points for the railway station, local 
shops and other local facilities, a primary school, improved sports 
provision, extension of tram/train links through Altrincham/Hale/Ashley 
to Manchester Airport, a new motorway junction on the M56, potential 
for Northern Powerhouse Rail station for Manchester Airport. 

• Gawsworth: 

o Increased protection for peatland moss areas is needed. 

• Winterley: 

o There is a need for care and retirement accommodation, which could 
be delivered by allocating a particular site that has been submitted. 

• Bradfield Green: 

o Parish council applying for planning permission on land donated to the 
community and prone to flooding. 

• Church Lawton: 

o There are 3 infill villages (out of 35) in the parish and the current local 
plan includes a housing figure of 2,650 for the rural areas (excluding 
Alderley Park). This indicatively equates to 75 homes per infill village 
and 225 for Church Lawton Parish (as it has 3 infill villages). This is an 
unsustainable growth strategy for a rural area, given the lack of 
facilities and infrastructure.  

• Mottram St. Andrew: 

o Improvement of mobile phone reception 

• Rostherne: 

o Many of the properties need investment, there has been a loss of some 
key village services, and the infrastructure needs upgrading. These 
issues could be addressed by removing the village from the Green Belt 
and including a specific policy on Rostherne within the plan. This could 
address issues such as change of use applications, infill development, 
creation of new services and community facilities, rural diversification, 
improved sports and outdoor recreation, education and cultural access 
to the countryside, renewable and low carbon energy generation, 

Page 347



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 225 

sensitive electric vehicle charging solutions, mobile and broadband 
connectivity, and sustainable drainage systems. 

• Wardle and Barbridge: 

o The allocation of a particular site submitted could deliver affordable 
homes, new homes, employment uses, scope for local retail, scope for 
community uses and outdoor sports facilities and playing fields, new 
bus stops, a remembrance orchard, a new local area equipped for play 
(LEAP), a new neighbourhood area equipped for p[lay (NEAP) and an 
extensive area of green infrastructure and biodiversity net gain. 

Q11g Are there any other matters related to towns and villages that the 
new local plan should consider? 

• Village design statements produced prior to the current local plan should be 
updated and adopted as Supplementary Planning Documents. 

• Provision of public transport should be a priority, as new health facilities will 
not be built in villages, regardless of what the plan says. 

• There needs to be clearer definition of settlement boundaries and how they 
are protected. 

• Settlement and infill boundaries need to be more flexible so that additional 
growth can be accommodate within settlements over the plan period. 

• The plan should include a windfall policy that supports development adjacent 
to settlement boundaries but well-related to the built form of a settlement. 

• Smaller settlements such as Scholar Green have not had site allocations in 
the last plan, which constrains supply, and the new plan should allocate small-
medium size sites on the edges of villages. 

• Currently identified safeguarded land should be considered for housing 
development in the first instance. 

• The new plan should afford greater opportunities to smaller settlements to 
sustain themselves going forward, 

• Green Belt boundaries should be reviewed to remove existing developed 
areas adjacent to settlements from the Green Belt. 

• Neighbourhood plans are not always given appropriate weight when 
determining applications. 

Chapter 12: Rural matters 

Q12a What policies should be included in the new local plan to support 
the role of agriculture in Cheshire East? 

Page 348



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 226 

• The plan should not include any measures that prevent farmers from 
producing food; it should support farmers and regenerative farming. 

• All best and most versatile agricultural land should be protected, as well as 
land in Grade 3b of the Agricultural Lane Classification. Brownfield sites 
should be used for development instead of agricultural land. 

• Quarries should be returned to agriculture for food production once extraction 
has ended. 

• Policies should support agricultural diversification. 

• Policies should support re-wilding of farmland. 

• The re-use of agricultural buildings for residential development has changed 
the character of rural north Cheshire. There should be increased consultation 
on prior approval applications for permitted development. Where redundant 
farm buildings have been re-used/redeveloped for other purposes, no further 
applications for farm buildings on that farm should be permitted. 

• New dwellings for agricultural workers should be supported and occupation 
conditions should be properly enforced. 

• The plan should support more allotment provision and market garden-type 
enterprises to support a move away from mass industrialised agriculture 
towards smaller-scale sustainable food production,  

• Policies in the current plan are inconsistent in their support or restrictiveness 
for economic development in rural areas. 

• The plan should make provision for agri-tech and modern farming methods, 
including the provision of modern horticulture, multi-layered farming, sufficient 
employment land and storage facilities, and sufficient accommodation for the 
workers. 

• Grant schemes and financial support should be available to those who apply 
for them. 

Q12b What policies should be included in the new local plan to protect 
the best and most versatile agricultural land? How can the plan 
also recognise and promote the benefits of other agricultural 
land? 

• The plan should safeguard the long-term capability of the best and most 
versatile land as a resource for the future in line with the NPPF (2023) ¶180. 
Policy should prevent development on the best and most versatile land.  

• The plan should not include any policy on protecting best and most versatile 
land, as this is more appropriate for national policy. 

Page 349



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 227 

• Policy should recognise agriculture as an important part of the local economy. 

• The site selection methodology should prefer brownfield sites and if greenfield 
land is needed, only allocate development on low quality agricultural land. 

• The plan should be cautious in promoting the benefits of agricultural land as 
there are other competing land uses such as minerals safeguarding and 
biodiversity net gain sites; and the use of phosphates causes pollution in 
watercourses. 

• Short-term cropping for biofuel, timber, elephant grass or soil improvement 
should be supported. 

• Flooding and lack of sustainable drainage can impact the quality of 
agricultural land. 

• Agri-tech could make agricultural land more productive and could offset the 
loss of existing agricultural land. 

Q12c What types of development should the new local plan allow for in 
countryside areas? What types of uses are appropriate in a rural 
area? 

• Affordable housing in locations served by public transport would be 
appropriate.  

• Appropriate levels of housing and employment development to meet local 
need should be allowed, provided the character of the area is conserved. 

• The five defined purposes of Green Belt should be reviewed in the new plan 
and set out in a hierarchy to identify which Green Belt land should be used 
first. 

• The plan should allow for sustainable sites in edge of settlement locations to 
come forwards for development. 

• Limited tourism such as small scale camping/caravan sites should be allowed 
where close to other facilities and supports the viability of farming. 

• Concern around the size of buildings and the impact of floodlighting 
associated with recreational uses in the Green Belt. 

• Solar farms should not be allowed. 

• Energy storage within salt caverns and above ground renewables should be 
allowed; as should proposals for power generation. 

• Mineral extraction should be recognised as a use appropriate to a rural area. 

Page 350



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 228 

• Permitted development rights should be removed from changes of use 
permissions so that further changes of use cannot occur. 

• Uses allowable under current policies are appropriate. 

• The current plan discourages investment towards rural communities on the 
ground that they are not sustainable locations, which causes community 
decline. The new plan should enable modest housing and employment 
development in rural areas.` 

• The plan should recognise the role that indoor sports and leisure facilities can 
play alongside outdoor facilities in supporting the rural economy. 

Q12d Are there are other local plan policies that could help to support 
the sustainability of rural communities? 

• Improvement of mobile/digital connectivity, such as phone reception and 
delivery of high speed broadband 

• Support for district heat networks to address rural fuel poverty and the switch 
from fossil fuels. 

• Support for development of smaller properties designed for later living, to 
release larger properties for younger families. 

• Establish a local partnership involving farmers, landowners, non-
governmental organisations to develop a vision and plan to address 
challenges and opportunities. 

• Recognition of rural villages in the settlement hierarchy and the provision of 
housing in these areas to revitalise rural communities. 

• Better public transport; better access to community facilities, education, health 
care, and other vital services. 

Q12e Are there any “exceptional circumstances” that would justify 
making further alterations to the Green Belt boundaries in the 
next local plan? 

• The last plan removed land from the Green Belt and identified safeguarded 
land. The NPPF requires Green Belt boundaries to be set for the long term 
and any further changes would be contrary to this requirement. 

• The need to identify housing supply should not be an exceptional 
circumstance. 

• The council should fully-consider all potential exceptional circumstances in the 
preparation of the plan. These may include housing needs, employment 
needs, key transport infrastructure needs, social and community infrastructure 
needs, review of villages washed over by Green Belt. 

Page 351



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 229 

• An updated Green Belt assessment will be needed, given that the previous 
assessment was completed nearly 10 years ago and the context surrounding 
settlement edges has changed considerably. 

• Development growth in the north of the borough remains highly constrained 
by Green Belt. There may be exceptional circumstances, depending on the 
length of the plan period, the spatial distribution of development, end the 
extent of non-Green Belt land available for development. 

• An urban capacity study and viability assessment should be undertaken to 
understand the capacity and deliverability of brownfield sites and land in the 
urban area. 

• It is unlikely that there will be enough suitable brownfield or under-utilised 
sites to meet housing need across the brough in full. In the north of the 
borough, there are exceptional circumstances to allocate sufficient land for 
market and affordable housing and employment development, combined with 
the significant adverse consequences for sustainable development of not 
doing so. 

• The use of safeguarded land is sequentially preferable to the release of Green 
Belt. 

• The suitability and deliverability of existing safeguarded land should be 
considered. 

• Once housing numbers and the distribution of development are confirmed, 
any areas of safeguarded land not needed for development in the next plan 
period should be returned to Green Belt. 

• The safeguarded land was identified to provide between 8-10 years of 
development, so these would be used up before the end of the new plan 
period. If insufficient, a review of Green Belt boundaries will be needed, 
including identification of more safeguarded land. 

• The housing requirement should not be reduced below the current 1,800 
dwellings per year and its distribution should be rebalanced so that the north 
of the borough accommodates more development, where there is a high 
concentration of major employers and commuter locations serving the 
regional centre. 

• There is already 11 years supply of housing land, and the annual housing 
figure has been significantly reduced so there appears to be sufficient housing 
land for well into the 2030s, without any consideration of brownfield sites, 
town centre, employment sites or safeguarded land. 

• Green Belt release is needed in response to acute housing demand and 
affordability issues in the north of the borough. 

• Green Belt release is needed to support the vitality of settlements surrounded 
by Green Belt. 

Page 352



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 230 

• Attempts to force housing into Green Belt areas on the grounds of sustainable 
development are ill considered and unnecessary. 

• Settlement boundaries in the most sustainable locations should be reviewed 
to capture opportunities for sustainable and proportionate growth. Developed 
areas adjacent to settlements should be removed from the Green Belt. 

• All alternatives to Green Belt release should be considered first, including 
meeting need on land beyond the Green Belt, such as in new sustainable 
communities. 

• Given current development pressures, consideration should be given to 
extending the South Cheshire Green Belt in include the areas around Crewe. 

• The plan should include policies to positively enhance land in the Green Belt, 
including compensatory improvements to environmental quality and 
accessibility of the remaining Green Belt where land is removed from it. Green 
Belt land can often be degraded ‘urban fringe’ landscapes and there will be 
opportunities to deliver environmental benefits such as landscape 
enhancement, habitat creation and improved access to nature. 

• Development should be allowed within the boundaries of small villages within 
the Green Belt to allow diversification for farmers and rural businesses in 
keeping with the needs of the community. 

• Site LPS 38 ‘Land south of Longridge’ should be returned to the Green Belt. 

• Safeguarded land LPS 59 ‘Land at Upcast Lane/Cumber Lane’ is part of the 
Lindow Moss landscape and considerations should be given to its removal 
from the plan or include criteria to guide new development to minimise impact 
on the landscape. 

• The peatland sites south of Macclesfield should be returned to Green Belt to 
protect them from development. 

• Green Belt release around Macclesfield is needed as there is an insufficient 
supply of brownfield land and delivery concerns for the existing allocations 
and safeguarded land. 

• Land adjacent to 52 Whirley Road, Macclesfield should be removed from the 
Green Belt. 

• Land adjacent to Wilmslow, south of Adlington Road should be removed from 
the Green Belt. 

• The Nab Works site should be removed from the Green Belt or failing that, the 
plan should include a supportive policy for its development. 

• The existing allocation and identification of previously developed land at 
Alderley Park should be maintained in the next plan. 

Page 353



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 231 

• ‘Very special circumstances’ for development in the Green Belt have been 
demonstrated for the Tatton Services Site and the new plan should include 
this as an allocation. 

• The Green Belt around Poynton is particularly vulnerable as it borders Greater 
Manchester to the north and west; Macclesfield Canal Conservation Area and 
the Peak Fringe to the east; and land to the south is vital to stop urban sprawl 
spreading into Adlington. 

• The Green Belt south Alsager should be maintained that forms part of the 
barrier to The Potteries. 

• There is limited opportunity for development in Adlington. The unique setting 
of Adlington Hall and benefits such as the train station connectivity would 
justify Green Belt release. 

• Various Green Belt sites have been submitted for consideration in the 
Housing and Employment Land Availability Assessment. 

Q12f What approach should be taken to the strategic green gaps in the 
new local plan? Are there any other gaps that would warrant 
additional protection in the plan? 

• The green gap designation has not been a robust mechanism for protecting 
undeveloped areas in the past. 

• The current strategic green gaps should be maintained. 

• Consideration should be given to designating the existing strategic green 
gaps as Green Belt. 

• Small narrow areas of strategic green gap should be defined at the outer 
edges of Green Belt to protect the transitional boundary. 

• Suggested additional areas gaps that warrant strategic green gap protection: 

o Weston-Wychwood Village/Wychwood Park 
o Shavington-Basford 
o Crewe-Bradfield Green 
o Alsager-Lawton Heath End 
o Alsager-Haslington 
o Alsager-Church Lawton 
o Knutsford-Mobberley 
o Knutsford-Mere-High Legh 
o Knutsford-Ollerton 
o Knutsford-Toft 

• No further green gaps should be identified. 

Page 354



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 232 

• There should be a policy to protect local green gaps (such as those 
designated in neighbourhood plans) as well as strategic green gaps. The plan 
should support proposals for local green gaps in neighbourhood plans. 

• The plan should not give significant weight to local green gap designations 
made through neighbourhood plans. Future development needs in Sandbach 
are likely to necessitate a review of the local green gaps identified. 

• Green gaps are vital to the movement of animals and birds; gaps worthy of 
protection include railway/tram lines, footpaths, verges, streams, canals, 
rivers, ponds etc. 

• The continued separation of settlements in the existing strategic green gaps 
should not necessarily override the provision of housing where it is needed 
and sustainably located. The gaps should be kept under review. 

• The existing strategic green gaps designation is a blanket ban on 
development in otherwise sustainable locations. The new plan should not 
include a strategic green gap policy and rely on the open countryside policy 
instead. 

• The review of strategic green gap boundaries should also consider the 
development needs of Crewe. 

• North Crewe is constrained and development locations to the south of the 
town are likely to be required; allocations within the existing strategic green 
gaps should not be ruled out on principle. 

• The physical presence of a gap and the width of the gap is not as important 
as the perception of separation between settlements. Matters such as 
structural vegetation, the A500 road, and perceived extents of open land 
mean that the physical gap can be reduced without compromising the visual 
and perceived gap. 

• A comprehensive review of all land in the strategic green gaps should be 
carried out and remove any land that does not serve the purposes of green 
gap as set out in Policy PG 5 Criterion 3.  Strategic green gaps should be 
subject to a holistic review looking at whether they are necessary in principle 
and what their extent should be. 

• It is requested that individual sites be removed from the strategic green gaps: 

o The Old Vicarage, Narrow Lane, Crewe 
o 199 Crewe Road, Shavington 
o Land rear of 199 Crewe Road, Shavington 
o Land south of A500, Shavington 
o Land west of the Alexandra Soccer Centre, Shavington 
o Depot and land west of Crewe Road, Shavington 
o Crewe Northern Gateway 
o Land at Crewe Road, Wistaston 
o Land east of London Road, Nantwich 

Page 355



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 233 

o Land at Rope Lane, Crewe 
o Park Road, Willaston 
o Land east of Middlewich Road, Crewe 

• It is requested that the land rear of Crewe Road and Park Lane, Sandbach be 
removed from the local green gap. 

Q12g Are there any other rural matters that the new local plan should 
consider? 

• Rural areas and the needs of rural residents needs to be given greater 
consideration. Outputs should be rural-proofed. 

• Development extending beyond settlement boundaries should be avoided by 
better application of the open countryside policy. 

• The loss of agriculture should be given greater weight when making decisions 
on development in the open countryside. 

• Urban sprawl is resulting in significant loss to wildlife and increasing local 
flood incidents. 

• The plan should consider a site for a country park in the east of the borough, 
such as the ex-quarries on Gawsworth Common. 

• Limited infilling in villages should not be allowed or severely restricted as it 
has caused widely spaced houses to become urbanised as a strip of ribbon 
development, as in Higher Poynton. 

• The plan should allow for more houseboats on canals and rivers. 

• The council should map and work with key employers to identify public 
transport demands and opportunities for shared services. 

• Linking of service centres would enable smaller communities to access 
services and employment while improving access to the countryside. 

• The challenge of retrofitting existing building stock (including historic 
buildings) should be recognised, working with significant landlords to support 
and encourage retrofitting at scale. 

• Consider larger community regeneration areas, looking at connectivity with 
the rural hinterland. 

• The plan should support opportunities to deliver sustainable rural tourism, 
including visitor accommodation that respects the character of the 
countryside, even in Green Belt locations. 

• The plan should recognise the role that indoor sports and leisure facilities can 
play in the local rural economy. 

Page 356



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 234 

• Need to promote easy access to the countryside for workers, cyclists, horse 
riders and others whilst managing potential conflicts of interest. 

• Need to maintain paths, walking and cycling routes, particularly public rights 
of way. 

• Need to promote green energy use. 

• Need to preserve the character of villages through design codes. 

• Need to prevent the loss of local facilities and amenities. 

Chapter 13: Minerals 

Q13a Should the council prepare a single local plan including minerals 
and waste policies, or should these continue to be progressed in 
a separate plan? Please give reasons for your answer. 

• Single Local Plan should be prepared including minerals and waste policies 
will be more efficient and easier to reference. It offers the opportunity to 
ensure the various policies are effectively integrated, it will provide clarity on 
the interaction between policies and will avoid unnecessary duplication 

• Consultation on a Draft Minerals and Waste Plan concluded in December 
2022 covering both authorities (CE & CWaC). Question the appropriateness 
of pursuing a single Local Plan which covers minerals and waste given the 
separate joint plan is progressing. 

• It would be less preferable to have a separate minerals and waste plan as 
opposed to a single local plan if it takes several / many years to achieve an 
adopted development plan (as historically has been the case). Decision 
makers are reliant upon determining applications against out-of-date policies 
which is both difficult and unhelpful. 

• Continued delays to the production of a Minerals Plan are to the detriment of 
planning for minerals in the area. On the current timescales it will be another 
two to three years before sound minerals policies will be included in a plan as 
these will inevitably get caught up in wider planning issues. The Council 
should commit to delivering a separate minerals plan within the next 12 
months. 

• Minerals and wastes policies should be separate. Any linkage along the lines 
of mineral extraction providing holes to be filled by waste disposal is grossly 
outdated. They should be considered as two independent aspects of the 
economy. 

Q13b Do you have any comments on the policies the council should 
develop to meet national requirements around the safeguarding 

Page 357



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 235 

of mineral resources and the need to provide for a steady and 
adequate mineral supply? 

• CEC should state as a policy position that it is necessary to achieve the more 
prudent use of natural resources through re-use, recovery and recycling and 
the use of alternative materials wherever possible. 

• Support the use of buffer zones around mineral sand resource areas. 

• Landbank and consumption of aggregates: The sustainability of provision 
from neighbouring and other relevant mineral planning authorities needs to be 
assessed to demonstrate that the proposed level of provision is robust for 
maintaining local provision of aggregates to 2041”. Cheshire East is reliant on 
imports of construction aggregates (including sand) and the Plan needs to 
verify whether sources of imported mineral can be sustained over the plan 
period to meet local demand. 

• Peat should be protected as a carbon store. 

• The local plan should not support fracking and the extraction of shale gas and 
coal-bed methane. Coal, oil and gas should not be extracted but replaced by 
renewable energy. 

• The Council may be incorrect in its basis for calculating aggregate sand 
resource needs and may be incorrect in not using the Government’s national 
guidelines on aggregate provision. 

• A key question is the appropriate extent of that flexibility which, if set out in the 
new local plan, should be considered at the plan’s Examination which should 
test what is meant by the Borough’s “provision for a steady and adequate 
supply of aggregates” (Issues Paper, paragraph 13.14). Needs for minerals 
will have changed since 2022, with potential over-provision of Areas of Search 
for Sand. The cancellation of HS2 north of Staffordshire will have reduced the 
previously assessed need for aggregates. 

• The current sites should be safeguarded, including the inactive quarries (they 
are inactive, not empty, and hold resource which may be needed in the 
future). Where there are considerable mineral deposits and resources in the 
borough these should be safeguarded. 

• Buffer zones should be employed to protect mineral resource and provide 
safe distances between potential development and mineral deposits. 

• The NPPF requires mineral planning authorities to safeguard mineral 
resources by defining mineral safeguarding areas” and requires the 
safeguarding of existing, planned and potential sites for mineral infrastructure” 

• Paragraph 13.6 states that “by maintaining a stock of reserves at silica sand 
(and other individual industrial mineral) sites of at least 10 years.”. The NPPF 
also requires that “at least 15 years for cement primary (chalk and limestone) 

Page 358



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 236 

and secondary (clay and shale) materials to maintain an existing plant, and for 
silica sand sites where significant new capital is required” 

• Agrees that it is not necessary to make specific provision for coal mining in 
the plan. The last coal mine in Poynton closed in 1935 and there is no 
justification for reviving the industry locally. 

• We would not support proposals to quarry sand from Green Belt land in 
Adlington, a short distance south of Poynton. This would lead to severe 
environmental damage, noise, dust and increased traffic. The extraction of 
sand should continue in the existing locations in Cheshire East. 

• The present safeguarding arrangements within the CELPS should be refined 
to protect known exploitable mineral resources. Clearer guidance is required 
in the LP on the implications of future brine pumping and possible 
settlement/land slip for proposed buildings. At present, the geological 
investigations do not indicate where piling or other techniques will be required 
in relation to nearby sand deposits. 

• No commentary on Lindow Moss & White Moss. There should be a 
commitment made in the new Local Plan to return Lindow Moss to a natural, 
undrained condition whereby the peatland returns to a more natural, habitat 
and returns to being a carbon dioxide sequester rather than an emitter. White 
Moss quarry must be returned to a condition whereby Alsager residents, and 
others would be able to treat the area as a natural habitat outdoor resource 
before any housing being built upon the area is considered. No explanation of 
ROMPS. Sand demand figures should be reduced due to no demand from 
HS2. Request discussion on the charging for disposal of rubble/stone at  
HWRC policy, consider it doesn’t make sense to charge residents if we are 
trying to a go in the direction of a circular economy. 

Q13c Are there any other minerals matters or specific issues that the 
development of mineral policies should address in the new local 
plan? 

• Reference to marine aggregates in policy is required 

• The issue of the number of heavy lorry movements relating to quarries is 
never properly addressed 

• New Planning Applications for mineral workings should include a baseline 
measurement of PM2.5. If the UK legal limit in force is already breached, then 
planning permission should be refused. If there is a legislated reduction in 
pollution levels during the timescale of the permission, then there should be a 
Condition for ongoing measurement and a plan to meet the reduced limits. In 
any event, approvals should include a Planning Condition to monitor and 
report against legal levels to CE Council on a regular basis. Any breaches 
should require immediate correction (shown by re-measurement) or shutdown 
of the facility. 

Page 359



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 237 

• Sites for Minerals should balance against the complete loss of agricultural 
fields especially BMV for food production, as quarries are never returned to 
agriculture and in that sense are completely unsustainable. The alternative of 
recycling/reuse should be a consideration as well as the destination and use 
for the quarried material. 

• An important criterion for site selection for minerals extraction and maybe also 
for AOS for minerals is that sites should be selected which are easily and 
sustainably accessed without demonstrably negative impacts on communities. 
Ideally, sites selected should be accessible by rail (or a new rail link), or by 
major roads, given the often long travel distance between mineral source and 
its final use. 

• Object to a policy for unconventional hydrocarbon extraction. That policy 
should exclude, not include, unconventional hydrocarbon extraction – and the 
policy should declare the Borough is “Frack-Free”. It should be made clear 
that the exploration for, or appraisal 

• or production of, unconventional hydrocarbons will not be allowed in Cheshire 
East. 

• The Council’s decision to propose in the local plan a policy for unconventional 
hydrocarbon extraction flies in the face of its paragraph 2.4. Nor is such a 
decision in accordance with Parliament having declared an Environment and 
Climate Emergency on 1 May 2019, an Emergency recognised by Cheshire 
East Council. The Borough has extensive areas of land instability, with salt 
and sand extraction, lakes, flashes, ponds and building subsidence. Land 
instability will be exacerbated by seismic activity resulting from fracking. 

• Warmingham Brinefield: The plan should recognise the following in the plan:  

o The Middlewich site forms a critical component of the current 
operations and should be protected from inappropriate development 
that would potentially preclude the ability for salt to be processed. 

o The pipeline corridor that connects the Brinefield to the Middlewich 
factory should be protected to ensure that development does not come 
forward which could prevent or preclude use of the pipeline easement.  

o The policy should recognise the importance of the cavities created for 
storage opportunities (brine wastes, energy, gas, hydrogen, other 
future options etc).  

o Brine is currently extracted at Warmingham and piped to the 
Middlewich factory, and this remains the most sustainable and 
appropriate option, this approach throttles the rate at which cavities can 
be developed, and the policies should not preclude alternative options 
(e.g. disposal of brine to sea) if cavities are required for strategically 
important storage and the most appropriate way to deliver that is 
alternative cavity creation options. 

• Development in proximity to a canal and its infrastructure has the potential to 
adversely impact upon its structural integrity, including any impact upon 
cuttings, embankments and drainage adjacent to waterways. The structural 

Page 360



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 238 

integrity of a canal, and its supporting infrastructure, is not put at risk as part 
of any development proposal, and any minerals development must ensure it is 
appropriate for its location regarding avoiding unacceptable risks from land 
instability. Policy provisions should ensure that there would be no 
unacceptable impacts resulting from minerals operations, including vibration 
from plant/operations, excavation, blasting, and transportation of minerals 
upon the stability of our waterway network and infrastructure. 

• The waterway network contains a significant number of heritage assets and 
listed structures in Cheshire East, including canals designated as 
conservation areas and historic listed bridge structures. It is important to 
safeguard these assets in a manner appropriate to their significance and to 
safeguard the historic character of our waterways, and their settings, from 
harmful development. This includes the consideration of the potential impact 
of transport/haulage routes upon the structural integrity of historic canal 
bridges. It is important that the weight limit and capacity for historic canal 
bridges are considered when routing vehicles. 

• The ecological value of waterways and wildlife corridors should be 
safeguarded to protect and enhance the natural environment within inland 
waterways. E.g. containment of light, dust and water pollution). New 
development should safeguard water quality and protect against potential 
contamination, including identifying any potential pollution pathways regarding 
minerals and safeguarding water resources. This includes safeguarding 
against dust emission during construction and operation. 

• Waterways provide access to outdoors and nature, supporting the health and 
well-being of local communities. It is important that the tranquillity and 
contribution to green infrastructure offered by waterways is safeguarded from 
general noise and disturbance in any minerals operation, along with their 
landscaping character. The Trust’s waterways are multi-functional assets 
which play important roles as recreational resources for local communities 
and supporting the local visitor economy and as wildlife habitats which provide 
strategic green/blue infrastructure corridors. We therefore consider it 
important that any potentially harmful effects of mineral development are 
mitigated and that opportunities to secure enhancements as part of 
restoration schemes are secured wherever possible. 

• It would be nice if the extraction of sand somewhere in Cheshire East with 
good access could be concentrated so that we one day end up with a full 
2000m rowing course. 

Chapter 14: Waste 

Q14a Should the council safeguard all waste sites or just those 
considered to be of strategic importance? 

• Agree that it should only apply to ‘strategic’ sites, not smaller ones. There is a 
danger here of conflicting safeguarding needs (for example with Jodrell Bank, 

Page 361



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 239 

Manchester Airport or other sensitive areas and important developments, 
which also need safeguarding), it would need a ‘hierarchy’ of safeguarding 

• Safeguard all existing waste and recycling sites. Reopened closed sites to 
facilitate the continued improvement in recycling processing within the 
borough. Without local accessible sites for recycling waste, residents are 
either forced to drive long distances and as we have seen, often leads to fly 
tipping. Residents to be encouraged to recycle as much as possible. 

• The seven existing HWRC should be safeguarded and kept open. The 
proposed intention of reducing the number of these is contrary to the principle 
of increasing recycling and reducing environmental effects in accessing these 
centres and should be rejected. 

• The local plan should look to expand provision and ensure that all Key 
Service Centres and Principal Towns have a local HWRC. 

Q14b Should the council have a dual safeguarding approach of 
identifying a minimum buffer around waste management facilities 
and infrastructure, as well as a wider buffer where this is 
considered appropriate? 

• Such a policy should not be misused to support the closure of waste sites that 
are within 250 metres of existing housing or other developments. 

• The council should safeguard all waste sites. The retention of only strategic 
sites runs counter to the council’s carbon reduction, pollution recycling and 
climate change policies through the many thousands of extra residents’ 
journeys to sites compared with many fewer of those for further re-purposing 
of waste. 

• Yes, the agent of change principle must apply. 

Q14c Are there any other waste matters or specific issues that the 
development of waste policies should address in the new local 
plan? 

• Cheshire East have made steps to address concerns regarding their predicted 
shortfall to manage residual and inert waste. Although it can be said that 
Cheshire have only addressed these concerns in the short-term. 

o The concerns surrounding the shortfall in Energy for Waste (EfW) and 
non-hazardous landfill have been partially addressed; as the needs can 
be met until 2037 at the Kinderton Lodge Facility in Cheshire 
West/Cheshire Council. Also, some capacity for EfW has been 
identified in Halton (Runcorn EfW facility) and have two plants currently 
under construction in Cheshire West. However, the amount of capacity 
these sites will take in term of waste has not been stated.  

Page 362



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 240 

o We reiterate that it needs to be addressed about how much Cheshire 
East will be reliant on facilities outside of their borders especially in 
Staffordshire and Stoke on Trent 

• Policies should look to reduce the amount of construction waste (which 
accounts for the highest percentage of managed waste in Cheshire East) and 
policies should be stronger to encourage developers to reuse and recycle 
materials. 

• Where it can be achieved through the local plan, there should be stricter 
processes employed on how waste is dealt with at waste recycling sites with 
every effort to be made to organise and categorise materials coming in and 
recycle or re-use being heavily prioritised. There should also be tighter 
restrictions on skips going to landfill to increase recycling/reuse of waste. 

• ANSA should have the capabilities to provide cost effective waste recycling 
service to all town councils within CE, including during special events, 
festivals, etc. 

• Waste policies should ensure there is flexibility to respond to changing 
circumstances and that proposals for new waste capacity which would move 
waste to a higher tier within the waste hierarchy are supported where justified 
even where they do not relate to waste streams where there are significant 
existing identified shortfalls in capacity. Policies should provide for the 
expansion of existing waste facilities, which can represent a sustainable 
approach to addressing the needs of Cheshire East and provide a vital 
contribution to the Council’s ability to achieve net self-sufficiency through both 
the direct management of waste within the authority area, and through 
cooperation with regional operators. Existing waste sites can utilise pre-
existing infrastructure, established management procedures and staff facilities 
and they can represent a more efficient use of land than the provision of 
entirely new waste facilities. 

• UUW requests the support of the council for future investment in infrastructure 
to be able deliver water and wastewater infrastructure investment in a timely 
manner.  UUW wishes to highlight that it owns assets which are currently 
situated in protected areas such as green belt and in green space. Upgrades 
to these assets may be required soon, and it is important to ensure that any 
required upgrades and expansions to these sites can be made in order for us 
to meet the infrastructure requirements of proposed future development in the 
region and future environmental drivers.  

• UUW requests that local development plan policy is worded to recognise that 
infrastructure improvements, located within protected land, are appropriate 
forms of development. Our preference would be for this principle to be 
reflected in policy and through designation of existing utility sites on the 
Proposals Map. We also request wider support for water and wastewater 
infrastructure investment that is ultimately beneficial to the environment, 
biodiversity, watercourses and growth so that our investment can be delivered 
in the most timely and effective manner. We have recommended wording for 
such a policy in our supporting submission.   

Page 363



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 241 

Chapter 15: Other issues and next steps 

Q15 Are there any other issues that the new local plan should 
address, that are not covered within any of the topic areas set out 
in this issues paper? 

• The financial pressures facing the council should not prevent it from producing 
and sound and robust new local plan. 

• The new local plan will also need to make sufficient provision for leisure, 
telecommunications, security, water supply, wastewater, flood risk, community 
facilities (including health, education and cultural infrastructure), and 
conservation and enhancement of the natural environment including green 
infrastructure. 

• New infrastructure needed should be identified in consultation with town and 
parish councils before any extra people are allowed to move in; and only 
development that delivers this infrastructure should be permitted. 

• Existing neighbourhood plan policies should be considered when producing 
the new plan. 

• Housing density should not exceed the local characteristic in rural and semi-
rural areas. 

• Front gardens should be required in accordance with local characteristics. 

• Pedestrian footways should be provided and shared surfaces avoided for 
safety reasons and to avoid overcrowding of streets. 

• The council should increase resources for enforcement, otherwise local plan 
policies may be ignored. 

• Neighbours and parish councils should be notified of applications in a different 
parish or borough, but which border properties adjacent to them. 

• Developers should present all new schemes to the public at an open meeting 
as part of the consultation process. 

• There should be a presumption against development on greenfield land. 

• Development should be subject to availability of health services, school 
places, utilities, public transport, and local employment, and have adequate 
highway access. 

• Towns and villages must retain their separate identities and not sprawl over 
surrounding green spaces. 

• The consultation should be extended/re-opened to account for likely policy 
changes by a new government. 

Page 364



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 242 

• The council should not start work on a new local plan until the new system for 
preparing plans is in place. 

• It is unclear why a new plan is needed, when the council is in financial 
difficulties, the existing local plan has many years to run, and the government 
is intending on publishing new planning laws. It would be an abuse of the 
planning system if the council aims to end its financial problems by allowing 
large numbers of new houses to increase their income from council tax. 

• Further guidance is needed on how neighbourhood plans will link into the new 
local plan. 

• Need clarity on how existing policies will be brought forward into the new local 
plan; how existing supplementary planning documents will be considered; 
whether the existing design code will be carried forward; and how settlement 
boundaries will be protected. 

• Several particular sites have been put forward for particular uses; these will 
be considered as part of the land availability assessment. 

• The plan must provide a five year supply of deliverable housing sites. 

• A viability assessment will be needed to ensure that policies are realistic, and 
the cumulative costs of relevant policies will not undermine delivery of the 
plan. 

• The plan will need to include an appropriate monitoring framework. 

• The volume of consultation material is overwhelming and the interface for 
making comments is not user-friendly. 

• The new plan should consider early on whether new large scale development 
can be an appropriate solution to the aims and aspirations of the council. 

• The new plan should shorten the planning process by scrapping the 
separation of outline and reserved matters applications. 

• The new plan should recognise the importance of Manchester Airport to the 
borough. Sustainable transport and connectivity should continue to be a 
priority; the policy on the airport operational area should be updated; policy 
should continue for aerodrome safeguarding; aircraft noise policy should be 
updated. The new plan should make sure that airport-related development 
management policies are not lost through any streamlining of the local plan 
with national development management policies. The new plan should reflect 
national aviation policy, Manchester Airport sustainable development plan 
(safeguarding or recognising the future development aspiration for a potential 
parallel taxiway alongside Runway 05R/23L), Manchester Airport Noise Action 
Plan. 

• The new plan should re-appraise existing allocations and commitments 
(including the Danes Moss area) considering concerns over the erosion of the 

Page 365



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 243 

natural environment and concern that the erosion of peatlands should be 
avoided. 

• The new plan should include a commitment to retrofit public transport access 
to the recent major development sites in Macclesfield and require any new 
sites to include the same. 

• Need to reduce plastic and packaging by promoting reusable water bottles 
and providing drinking water fountains on high streets. 

• The plan should include a policy providing specific protection to peat from 
development and allocations on peat should be avoided. 

• The plan should consider the strategic impacts on water quality and resources 
and address flood risk management. It should be based on an up to date 
evidence base on the water environment and be informed by relevant River 
Basin Management Plans. It should contain policies to protect habitats from 
water-related impacts, including nutrient mitigation. It should help to reduce 
flood risk by working with natural processes and where possible use Green 
Infrastructure policies and SuDS provision to achieve this. 

• The plan should include policy for the protection of and sustainable 
management of soils on development sites, including mitigation measures to 
minimise soil disturbance and retain as many ecosystem services as possible. 
The plan should recognise that soil sealing by development has a major and 
usually irreversible adverse impact on soils. Development should be 
supported by soils surveys and management plans. 

• The plan should include policies to protect and enhance public rights of way 
and national trails., recognising their value and linking existing rights of way 
wherever possible and providing for new access opportunities. It should avoid 
building on open space of public value. 

• The plan should make provision for appropriate quantity and quality of open 
space to meet identified local needs. 

  

Page 366



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 244 

Appendix 11: Summary of the main issues raised 
(Draft Sustainability Appraisal scoping report) 

The table below sets out a summary of the main issues raised during the 
consultation on the settlement hierarchy review draft methodology. 

Section Summary of the main issues raised 

Para 1.1 The Draft SA Scoping Report is high level and hasn’t rigorously tested 
the potential policy approaches identified in the Issues Paper – this will 
need to be done when appropriate 

Para 1.5 It’s unclear if Checklist C presents a robust appraisal of matters – 
concern about the statement that the environmental appraisal is de facto 
embedded – it should be a clear separate part 

Para 1.8 Suggests a document that might be helpful in providing guidance on the 
effective assessment of the historic environment in SEA:12 

Para 1.8 Recommends that a scoping report should: 

• review the objectives of relevant policies, plans and programmes 

• establish the baseline for the historic environment, including any 
trends and targets and gaps in the existing information 

• identify sustainability issues and opportunities for the historic 
environment and heritage assets 

• develop sustainability appraisal objectives 

• identify indicators and targets 

• consider how alternatives will be assessed 

• provide sufficient information on the proposed methodology for 
the appraisal to assess whether effects upon the historic 
environment will be properly addressed. 

Para 1.8 Suggests that scoping reports are tailored to the type, purpose and level 
of plan under consideration. This accords with the NPPF, which requires 
that local plans be based on adequate, up-to-date and relevant evidence 
about the economic, social and environmental characteristics and 
prospects of the area. 

Para 1.8 Conservation, archaeology and urban design colleagues should be 
engaged to ensure awareness of all the relevant features of the historic 
environment and that the historic environment is effectively and 
efficiently considered as part of the Local Plan, and in the preparation of 

 

12 https://www.historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/sustainability-appraisal-and-
strategic-environmental-assessment-advice-note-8/ 

Page 367

https://www.historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/sustainability-appraisal-and-strategic-environmental-assessment-advice-note-8/
https://www.historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/sustainability-appraisal-and-strategic-environmental-assessment-advice-note-8/


 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 245 

Section Summary of the main issues raised 

the SA/SEA. They can also advise on local historic environment issues 
and priorities, including access to data held in the HER (formerly SMR). 
They can provide the Historic Environment Records for the area 
including any relevant studies and make sure a joined-up and robust 
approach is undertaken. 

Para 
1.10 

Cheshire East Corporate Plan – given it’s 2024 clearly this cannot 
impact the 2021-25 plan timescale 

Para 3.1 Advise the consideration (where applicable) of plans relating to the 
natural environment: green and blue infrastructure strategies; 
biodiversity plans and strategies; rights of way improvement plans; river 
basin management plans; relevant landscape plans and strategies 

Para 3.2 Plans and policies need to cover those relevant at an international, 
national and local level, and it might be worth including some other 
Historic England advice notes.13 

Table 
3.1 

The list of plans and programmes (Table 3.1 and Appendix A) should 
include the historic environment. 

Table 
3.1 

The Playing Pitch Strategy, Outdoor Sports Strategy, and the Indoor 
Built Facilities Strategy should be stated, as should any Sport England 
assessment of healthy activity in the region. 

Para 4.1 A list of advice on sources of development plan evidence on the natural 
environment (provided as an attachment). 

Para 4.2 The Annual monitoring review was supposed to track sustainability 
measures and take evasive action if for example the amount of 
greenspace was not being delivered – needs to be read with a view to 
looking again at planning policy. Query as to how many new miles of 
cycle routes will be improved 

Para 4.3 The nine topics fail to highlight explicitly the social need to encourage 
active healthy lifestyles. The provision of amenity and sports space 
should be more obvious along with opportunities for active recreation. 

Para 4.6 Congleton should be a PT. The key service centres should be further 
sub divided re their ability for services to expand in line with proposed 
development. For example, can the local road network be adapted with a 

 

13 https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/sustainability-appraisal-and-strategic-
environmental-assessment-advice-note-8/  

Page 368

https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/sustainability-appraisal-and-strategic-environmental-assessment-advice-note-8/
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/sustainability-appraisal-and-strategic-environmental-assessment-advice-note-8/


 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 246 

Section Summary of the main issues raised 

bypass or train services be increased or sites for education or medical 
expanded. 

Para 4.7 Biodiversity, flora and fauna section welcomed. Local Nature Recovery 
Strategies data and ecological opportunity mapping could be used as 
evidence to identify appropriate areas for biodiversity enhancement. 

Para 4.9 All the designations should trigger a need for an EIA if a development is 
proposed on or nearby. The importance of LWS has not been 
acknowledged in the current plan and development planning – an EIA 
should be triggered. 

Figure 
4.2 

Query as to who will verify that all LWS are designated – land at 
Longridge has been registered since the LPS. Query as to where the 
ancient woodland designations are. 

Para 
4.12 

Stronger language needed: "Habitats and species *are likely to continue 
to come under increasing pressure [...]" "[...] *is likely to lead to 
*decreases in the distribution and abundance of species" 

Para 
4.13 

Nature and access to nature are integral to the local plan and can help to 
make sure that sustainable development that benefits all is delivered. 
Green infrastructure and green social prescribing should also be 
considered as key issues. 

Para 
4.13 

Deficiencies in Access to Nature: Further baseline information should be 
used to identify if there is a short fall in open space, and the need to 
protect, conserve and enhance green infrastructure for health and 
wellbeing benefits. Consideration should also be made to unequal 
access to natural green space and the needs of different user, age, and 
socio-economic groups within the key issues and opportunities. 

Para 
4.25 

Query as to what plans there are to address the high levels of obesity for 
children and that education facilities should be assessed on the ability of 
their facilities to provide exercise space and to provide healthy dining 
areas. 

Para 
4.33 

Query as to what is to be done to address obesity and unhealthy 
lifestyles. 

Para 
4.35 

Wastewater, nature based solutions, and peat should also be considered 
as key issues. Some brownfield sites are important for historic 
importance, wildlife and can be of high environmental value. Particularly 

Page 369



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 247 

Section Summary of the main issues raised 

invertebrate diversity. You may wish to update the key issues to reflect 
the balance which must be met. 

Para 
4.39 

Tatton Mere and the Birkin Brook catchment are missing. 

Para 
4.42 

A good reason to lower housing targets 

Para 
4.44 

The council must tackle commercial waste, and an updated waste 
management strategy is required as tips are recommended for closure 
and fly tipping is on the increase. 

Para 
4.48 

Unacceptable to assume that development will be on 
greenfield/agricultural land. A sustainable assessment may recommend 
that this area is not to have pro-rated development targets and that it 
should be targeted at areas that have higher levels of brownfield land. 

Para 
4.52 

Reference to this is welcomed as new development allocated through 
the local plan will lead to an increase in traffic and air quality impacts to 
sensitive habitats. 

Para 
4.53 

Proximity to the airport and rail lines affects air quality – sites for 
development should be away from these locations 

Table 
4.3 

More air quality management areas (AQMA) should be set up – A50 
through centre of Knutsford is suggested 

Para 
4.55 

Air travel pollutants (Manchester airport) and rail line pollutants should 
be assessed. 

Para 
4.56 

AQMAs should be increased, and new developments should all do their 
own. 

Para 
4.57 

Recommend links across the SA to transport and the role sustainable 
travel and green infrastructure can play when reducing emissions. 

Para 
4.57 

Support the focus on making sure the local plan capitalises on 
opportunities to support the natural environment and respond to climate 
change. Recommend climate change resilience and adaptation, and 
peat as key issues. 

Page 370



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 248 

Section Summary of the main issues raised 

Para 6.1 The impact of Manchester Airport should be assessed – where it raises 
the air pollution levels, residential building should not be permitted. If 
traffic is taken along residential routes for warehousing developments air 
quality should be assessed. 

Para 
4.62 

Recommend links across the SA to population and human health, and 
social inclusiveness. Sustainable transport links, green infrastructure 
connectivity and access to nature could also be promoted amongst the 
key issues and opportunities. 

Para 
4.65 

Query regarding the existence of baseline data for the reasons for trips 
and the route of trips in the borough that make up car travel. Active 
travel plans must be part of reserved matters applications with measures 
taken, for example subsidised bus services before first occupation 

Para 
4.66 

There is not good provision for walkers as many routes are incomplete 
or badly maintained. Routes should be assessed for their quality, not just 
quantity. 

Para 
4.67 

Accepting that travel will continue to be dominated by private car modes 
is a negative ambition. Massive investment in bus, walking and cycling 
routes should be made – most journeys are short 

Para 
4.68 

National character areas may need further consideration. Natural 
England is assessing areas of the sandstone ridge for designation as a 
national landscape (formerly known as Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty). May wish to explore links between a low level of tree canopy 
cover and biodiversity, flora and fauna, population and human health, 
and climatic factors 

Para 
4.69 

Baseline information should describe the current and future state of the 
historic environment, providing the basis for identifying sustainability 
issues, predicting and monitoring effects and alternative ways of dealing 
with them. It can use both quantitative and qualitative information and 
should be kept up to date. It is important that meaningful conclusions 
can be drawn from the baseline information; what it means for the Plan 
and how the historic environment is to be dealt with. 

Para 
4.69 

There is a need to outline key issues for the Borough and how the Local 
Plan can affect this (one example is heritage at risk). There should be 
evidence or reasons for threats or enhancements to the historic 
environment, for example climate change or design. It is difficult to 
understand why tree cover is covered in the same as the historic 
environment. It is recommended that this be separated. 

Page 371



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 249 

Section Summary of the main issues raised 

Para 
4.69 

The baseline information should include all aspects of the environment 
resulting from the interaction between people and places through time, 
including all surviving physical remains of past human activity, whether 
visible, buried or submerged. This not only involves undesignated (or 
local heritage assets) but the potential for unrecorded archaeology, and 
historic landscape character areas for example. The section should also 
refer to setting, as this is an important part of the significance of an 
asset. 

Para 
4.69 

The NPPF recognises the importance of undesignated heritage assets, 
which should be included within the baseline data, along with the 
information source, references made to them and recognise the 
opportunities for their enhancement and contribution to other aspects of 
the Plan area. 

Para 
4.71 

Query as to how the recreation space compares to other authorities. 

Para 
4.72 

Peatland missing. 

Para 
4.76 

The local plan should actively seek more green gap designations, 
between Knutsford and Mobberley, and Knutsford and High Legh for 
example. 

Para 
4.77 

Query the use of ‘large’. 

Para 
4.77 

Historic parks and gardens, whether existing, lost, or partially present, 
very  often still have mature trees and woodland associated with them 
that make a significant contribution to local landscape character as well 
as being of value for nature conservation and carbon capture. They also 
provide valuable information on the evolution of the landscape. However, 
these trees  (and planting generally) are usually unprotected even in 
parks and gardens on the HE Register, either by TPO or conservation 
area designation, and relatively few would be covered by a conservation 
management plan, so planting may be vulnerable to loss through age, 
disease or development. 

Para 
4.78 

Existing historic environment designations may not provide sufficient 
protection to historic parks and gardens. Whilst in some cases sensitive 
development may be acceptable, over-development is a constant risk to 
grounds and setting (as occurred at Somerford Booths Hall where the 
building is Grade 2* listed but the park and garden were undesignated).  

Page 372



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 250 

Section Summary of the main issues raised 

Para 
4.79 

Potential for loss of landscape visual impact is massive and not given 
enough weight at Strategic Planning Board. 

Para 
4.80 

Recommend further consideration is given to the links to environmental 
and health benefits. Access to nature deficiencies, green infrastructure, 
education, employment and transport should be considered as key 
issues. 

Para 
4.81 

Query as to what the housing need is now. 

Para 
4.82 

To solve the housing affordability crisis, housing targets should be in 
areas where house prices are lowest and land values lowest. 

Para 
4.89 

Invest more in bus services in areas where deprivation leads to less car 
ownership. 

Para 
4.95 

Make the planning application process for access show an active design 
mapping routes to community facilities, thus highlighting needs for route 
improvements. 

Para 
4.97 

Suggest consideration of the relationship between environmental and 
economic sustainability issues as a key issue. Demand for green jobs 
and skills are increasing as industries prepare themselves for a greener 
future and net zero. There will be increasing opportunities for the green 
energy and environmental sector, including reducing unemployment, 
access to education and reducing unemployment. Consequently, there 
will be links across the integrated assessment with biodiversity, flora and 
fauna and social inclusiveness. 

Para 
4.109 

The retail study is referred to as showing a lack of capacity in Knutsford 
and has led to increased amounts of outline planning applications for 
unjustified retail and commercial uses that will threaten the viability of the 
town centre. 

Para 
4.116 

Disagree that the conclusion is proved. 

Para 
4.118 

Best and Most Versatile Land: There is an evidence gap in relation to 
determining differentiation of Agricultural Land Classifications Grade 3 
and Grade 3a. Sandstone Ridge National Landscape: At present, there 
is no defined boundary to the Sandstone Ridge National Landscape, and 
this could be identified as an evidence gap. The relevant National 

Page 373



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 251 

Section Summary of the main issues raised 

Landscape Partnership or Conservation Board may be able to offer 
advice on potential impacts as the project progresses. 

Para 5.3 Social integration should be looked at  - the ability of any part of the area 
to engage with others at community facilities 

Table 
5.1 

Query that, as the table contains only 1 entry in the list of sustainability 
issues for cultural heritage, does this mean that apart from the number of 
assets that there is no issue for the Borough or the Local Plan at all. The 
landscape issue should be separate to cultural heritage and not one. 
The area’s culture and how the Local Plan will deal with this should be 
considered. The Government’s agenda on good design means that there 
should be reference to it. 

Table 
5.1 

More must be done to identify and protect local wildlife sites and wildlife 
corridors. 

Table 
5.1 

Need to fully reflect the key issues for the Borough in relation to the 
natural environment. 

Table 
6.1 

The role the historic environment plays in sustainable development and 
the contribution it makes to delivering social, cultural, economic and 
environmental benefits should be recognised. The historic environment 
underpins sustainable development and therefore, it may warrant 
including in other objectives including the need for specific reference to 
landscape character. 

Table 
6.1 

They are not objectives, they are aims. Query as to how the council will 
make a difference and how it will be measured 

Table 
6.1 

The objectives make no reference to the need to monitor, measure and 
maintain (or increase) tree canopy over the life of the local plan. 
Measurement of canopy from street trees not just rural trees should be 
included. By 2050, most large trees planted by Victorians in Cheshire 
towns are likely to be dead or dying from old age. Town centres and 
streets are the places where shade from extreme heat, absorption of 
pollutants from traffic and flood water are, and will be, most critical to 
residents. The appraisal must include a means of measuring street tree 
coverage and its age profile, and put in place a rolling programme of tree 
replacement to minimise the impact of climate change on residents. 

Table 
6.1 

Recommend a further objective to 2 and 3 to make sure connecting 
people with nature is adequately addressed. 

Page 374



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 252 

Section Summary of the main issues raised 

Table 
6.1 

Recommend that objective 8 is separated into further sustainability 
objectives. Suggest an individual sustainability objective is created for 
green infrastructure and connecting people with nature. This may include 
‘Creating and enhancing green/blue infrastructure and ecological 
connectivity’. 

Table 
6.1 

Objective 9 focuses on human health receptors but is also applicable to 
biodiversity/flora/fauna and soil. Advise the objective and/or criteria 
questions are updated to reflect the key issues surrounding air quality 
sensitive habitats and species. 

Para 7.1 Recommend under objective 1 a criteria question referring to bolstering 
ecological networks. There is the scope to deliver initiatives such as 
Local Nature Recovery Strategies, Nature Recovery Network and 
Biodiversity Net Gain, which can be used to measure the success or 
impacts of Local Plan.  

Monitoring indicator examples include: number of planning approvals 
that generate habitat creation or enhancement on sites of acknowledged 
biodiversity importance; net gain in biodiversity using the Defra Metric. 

Recommend a criteria question that is aimed at protecting peat, such as 
‘the area of loss or damage to restorable peat in hectares?’, ‘the area of 
peat within active restoration in hectares?’ 

Para 7.1 Recommend further criteria questions are required to address the key 
issues under objective 2, with a greater emphasis on connecting people 
with nature.  

Monitoring indicators may include: percentage of people utilising green 
social prescribing; percentage increase of local green spaces; 
percentage of the population having access to a natural greenspace 
within 400 metres of their home; length of greenways constructed; 
hectares of accessible open space per 1000 population; number of new 
or retrofitted urban green infrastructure. 

Para 7.1 Support the criteria questions under objective 5, which refer to 
minimising the risk of flooding and improving water quality. The 
reference to Sustainable Urban Drainage features is welcomed as 
nature based solutions can assist with managing flooding whilst 
enhancing biodiversity and connecting people with nature.  

Monitoring indicators may include: hectares of peat in restoration 
schemes, area of blue infrastructure, number of developments in a 
nutrient neutrality catchment, percentage of relevant development 

Page 375



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 253 

Section Summary of the main issues raised 

incorporating sustainable drainage systems and water quality/ecological 
status of rivers. 

Recommend that a criteria question references whether treatment 
facilities have adequate capacity to treat waste water. A suitable 
monitoring indicator should be supplied. 

Para 7.1 Recommend that the criteria under objective 7 reflect no further peat 
extraction to take place and monitoring indicators include reference to 
hectares of peat lost to development. 

Para 7.1 Suggest that objective 8 and its criteria question is amended to include 
reference to brownfield sites of high environmental value. A criterial 
question of ‘Will it protect or enhance brownfield land of high 
environmental value?’ is recommended.  

A monitoring indicator may include ‘Hectares of high brownfield of high 
environmental value lost to development’. 

Recommend the importance of peat is recognised within the criteria 
questions. 

Other monitoring indicators may include the percentage of new dwellings 
or employment space on previously developed land, hectares of soil with 
high environmental value lost to development, hectares of peat lost to 
development. You may wish to refer to the 15 Green Infrastructure 
Principles14 as a success measure for green infrastructure. 

Para 7.1 Monitoring indicators for objective 9 may include: number of trees 
planted; hectares of peat engaged in restoration efforts; tonnage of 
emissions generated annually from roads. 

Para 7.1 Improve the criteria questions under objective 10 to make sure 
biodiversity is also resilient to the effects of climate change. 

Suggest a further criteria question is added to address the key issue of 
peat. This may include ‘Will it promote the restoration of peat as a 
functioning ecosystem to promote carbon capture and storage, 
biodiversity, improved downstream water quality and natural flood 
management?’ 

Para 7.1 Support reference to sustainable transport and access routes under 
objective 12. Recommend that the section is strengthened to include 

 

14 https://designatedsites.naturalengland.org.uk/GreenInfrastructure/Principles/GIPrinciples.aspx  

Page 376

https://designatedsites.naturalengland.org.uk/GreenInfrastructure/Principles/GIPrinciples.aspx


 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 254 

Section Summary of the main issues raised 

accessibility of Public Rights of Way - the key issues identified that 
certain public rights of way are not accessible for all therefore, a criteria 
question which seeks to improve accessibility could be included. 
Reference to green infrastructure within the criteria questions could be 
added. 

Para 7.1 The Sandstone Ridge landscape should be considered as a locally 
valued landscape with appropriate appraisal criterion under objective 13 
to protect and enhance its intrinsic character and natural beauty until 
further information becomes available. The baseline information 
identified a key issue of lack of tree cover, which could be referenced in 
the criteria questions. 

Para 7.1 The key issues surrounding access to nature have not been addressed 
under objective 15. Further evidence maybe required within the baseline 
study to highlight bespoke and tailored criteria questions. The role of 
green infrastructure, green skills, green employment and transport could 
be considered within the criteria questions. 

Para 7.1 Green skills and jobs could be referred to within the criteria questions 
under objective 18. 

Table 
7.1 

The inclusion of an objective for cultural heritage is welcomed but this 
needs to be amended. The criteria appear jumbled and seek to protect 
townscape and landscape above that of the historic environment. 
Landscape considerations should not sit in the same section as the 
historic environment. In addition, it is about harm to the historic 
environment – it is not clear what ‘complement’ refers to, particularly as 
this issue is not in the document to support its inclusion. Heritage at Risk 
does not appear in the document, yet it appears as a criterion here. 
Green Belt is a separate issue and does not sit with the historic 
environment. It is recommended that this be amended in line with all the 
comments outlined above. 

Table 
7.1 

Sustainability issues will continue as there are no action plans to make 
improvements and no measures in place. 

Table 
7.1 

Under 13 there needs to be a mention of street trees. There need to be 
measures in place to monitor, measure and maintain tree canopy in 
towns as they are a key contributor to sustainability, as well as the 
landscape character. The age profile of urban trees needs to be actively 
monitored - towns with a Victorian heritage are particularly at risk of loss 
of trees over the period of the local plan. A fit-for-purpose tree 

Page 377



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 255 

Section Summary of the main issues raised 

replacement policy needs to be implemented to enable action to be 
taken. 

Table 
7.1 

Recommended that, as well as water quality and quantity, the other key 
consideration in assessing environmental health of our water 
environment is the hydromorphology of river systems. One of the top 
pressures impacting water bodies in England is physical modification. 
The incorporation of specific monitoring indicators in the local plan that 
look to monitor the implementation of locally adopted policies regarding 
BNG and particularly indicators related to the water environment such as 
improvements to rivers associated with new development would be 
welcomed. 

Para 8.1 Targets for actions should be outlined and then any development 
proposal and its ability to improve matters should be assessed and if it 
makes a situation worse should be refused. 

Para 8.3 Should be sent also to Sport England and Active Travel England and 
Public Health England and NHS providers. 

Para 8.6 The new local plan should contribute to active communities, with policies 
front and foremost in any planning application assessment. Local plan 
sites to date have off site contributions and no mention of active travel 
design and travel plans before occupation. 

Table 
A.1 

The list should include the historic environment. 

Table 
A.1 

Query as to how this affects the planning for sport guidance that is now 
updated as ‘towards an active nation’. 

Table 
A.1 

Add Statutory Instrument The England Trees Action Plan 2021-24. This 
sets out the government’s long-term vision for the treescape it wants to 
see in England by 2050 and beyond. The plan provides a strategic 
framework for implementing the Nature for Climate Fund and outlines 
over 80 policy actions the government is taking over this Parliament to 
help deliver this vision. 

Table 
B.1 

Issue 4 has been matched with objective 15, which is about the needs of 
the existing community in the Borough and social inclusion. That is not 
the same as getting ethnic groups to move to the Borough to increase 
diversification. 

Page 378



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 256 

Section Summary of the main issues raised 

Table 
B.1 

Issue 8: If there has been a decrease in the number of reported crimes” 
shouldn’t the objective read, “to continue to reduce levels of and fear of 
crime”. 

Table 
B.1 

Issue 9: “Pollution” in named rivers, but in the objective “flood risk” has 
simply been “tagged on” for no apparent reason. 

Table 
B.1 

Issue 10: “River quality” - but in the objective “water quantity” and “flood 
risk” appear out of nowhere. 

Table 
B.1 

Issue 16: Road traffic and air quality - the objective here should be to 
reduce road traffic. 

Table 
B.1 

Issue 18 is about road transport and carbon emissions - the objective 
ought to be to reduce road transport. 

Table 
B.1 

Issue 20: PROW and towpaths not fully accessible for less mobile. The 
objective should be to investigate ways to make them more accessible. 

Table 
B.1 

Issue 26: Deprived areas - there are several facets to the deprivation 
model, and it is not just about education and training opportunities. 

Table 
B.1 

Issue 28 – queried as to why this is an issue. 

Table 
B.1 

Issue 30: “High jobs density” - the objective is “increase the supply of 
labour”. It needs to be more specific because it is implying that there are 
lots of jobs and no one to fill them. 

Table 
B.1 

Issue 31 should not be there if it may be the “result of a sampling error”. 

Table 
B.1 

Issue 32: Argues that too many people are employed in high-skill 
occupations. Query as to why the objective is to simply increase the 
supply of labour without itemising what labour shortage you want to fill. 

Table 
B.1 

Issue 33 - query as to why low unemployment is an issue. 

Table 
B.1 

Issue 35: Town centres. The objective should include reducing the 
number of town centres, which might well mean not having a “balance” 
and effectively changing the designation of some areas. 

Page 379



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 257 

Section Summary of the main issues raised 

Table 
B.1 

There is no attempt to prioritise objectives. 

 

  

Page 380



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 258 

Appendix 12: Summary of the main issues raised 
(land availability assessment draft methodology)  

A summary of the main issues raised during the consultation on the land availability 
assessment draft methodology is set out below. 

In addition to the consultation on the land availability assessment draft methodology, 
question 11d in the new local plan issues paper also asked a general question about 
matters to be considered as part of the new local plan’s approach to site selection. 
Whilst local plan site selection is a separate matter to the land availability 
assessment, some of the responses to Q11d raised issues that relate to the land 
availability assessment methodology, and these have also been summarised here 
for completeness. 

• The assessment should prioritise available, suitable and achievable sites.  

• Developer and promoter information must inform the site assessment 
process. 

• Heritage assets and their settings should be included in the assessment of 
sites and assets in adjoining local authority areas.  

• The council should seek to identify brownfield sites. 

• The draft methodology takes a comprehensive approach to identifying and 
sifting sites and broad locations.  

• Safeguarded land should be released first and included within the 
assessment. 

• The draft methodology is consistent with national planning practice guidance.  

• The threshold of 5 dwellings or more for housing sites and 0.25 ha (or 
500sq.m floorspace) is supported. 

• For economic uses, this seems to be steered towards employment uses 
rather than tourism. As part of the evidence base for the local plan, the council 
should consider existing and future visitor accommodation needs. 

• It is essential that the emerging local plan allocates a range of sites for 
development, including larger sites and green belt sites to meet need. 

• A call for other uses, sites for sports, recreation, education and medical uses 
should also be carried out. 

• The need/ location for a 50m swimming pool and a regional indoor tennis/ 
rackets centre should be considered. 

• The playing pitch and outdoor sports assessment should be considered 
alongside indoor leisure facilities.  

Page 381



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 259 

• The local plan is unsustainable. 

• The HELAA should consider a wide range of uses not just housing.  

• The site source list in Table 3.1 is comprehensive and should provide a full 
picture of potential site opportunities alongside the call for sites. 

• Table 3.1 refers to potential urban extensions and new free-standing 
settlements, but it doesn’t mention smaller sustainable greenfield sites which 
might outside settlements but well-related to them. 

• Table 3.2 should refer ‘Jodrell Bank WHS and Buffer Zone’ rather than 
‘consultation’ as this does not define a place. 

• All heritage assets should be included in table 3.2 including conservation 
areas. Heritage assets can be affected by sites that are not adjacent to or 
within – it can be further afield. It is not clear what broad location means. 

• The list of access constraints in Table 3.2 should include covenants restricting 
access. 

• Details of land ownership should be added to Table 3.2 including land registry 
title and proprietor. Details of option agreements should be declared. It is 
essential that land ownership details are known to enable the council to have 
certainty moving forward that they can contact and liaise with the relevant 
landowners/ development partners throughout the plan-making process.  

• Details of any previous planning decisions on the site should be recorded in 
Table 3.2.  

• Table 3.3: References to Scheduled Ancient Monument in the document 
should be replaced by Scheduled Monument. If an area is reduced to avoid a 
designation, the impact of the proposal upon the setting of the historic asset 
will still need to be assessed. Setting can be wider than sites adjacent to a 
historic asset.  

• Additional text should be included to state that where the site area and 
capacity is evaluated, this should not affect the setting of the scheduled 
monument or other heritage asset. 

• Table 3.3: Playing fields, allotments, sports fields should also be 
showstoppers.  

• ¶3.11-3.12: Consideration of overlapping sites and broad locations should 
also look at whether adjoining/nearby sites could be combined over one 
strategic allocation 

• ¶3.19 bullet 4 – should the reference be historic environment rather than 
heritage conservation 

Page 382



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 260 

• ¶3.19: The potential impact upon nature conservation should also be 
considered.  

• The LPS allocations at Longridge, Knutsford and South Macclesfield 
Development Area, Macclesfield should be re-considered/ removed from the 
local plan. 

• Sites should be removed if they have had permission in the past and have not 
been developed.  

• It is unclear whether the density multiplier will be applied to the gross site area 
or developable area. Where a masterplan has been submitted, the multiplier 
should relate to the developable area.  

• Site densities are possible maximums depending on the local character and 
need for additional services 

• A caveat should be added to allow for density to be reduced based on local 
character and relationship to green belt edge.  

• There will be instances when a lower density may be appropriate dependant 
on character. Some flexibility should be built into the process.  

• The developable area should be considered when assessing capacity.  

• Developable area of sites should be considered on a site size basis and 
consider policy considerations including open space provision, drainage 
attenuation, ecological/biodiversity net gain, landscaping and highways 
infrastructure.  

• Timescales for delivery should be based on most recent evidence of similar 
sized sites across the Borough. This will need to arrive at a balanced position 
pre and post covid.  

• Land for housing and economic uses should not be allocated unless school, 
sports and medical land has come forward in the area. 

  

Page 383



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 261 

Appendix 13: Summary of the main issues raised 
(settlement hierarchy review draft methodology) 

The table below sets out a summary of the main issues raised during the 
consultation on the settlement hierarchy review draft methodology.  

In addition to the consultation on the settlement hierarchy review draft methodology, 
question 11a in the new local plan issues paper also asked a general question about 
the approach to the settlement hierarchy. Some of the responses raised issues that 
relate to the methodology, and these have also been summarised here for 
completeness. 

Section Summary of the main issues raised 

Whole document Support for a review of the settlement hierarchy. 

Introduction (Scope, 
paragraph 1.8) 

Any further housing development needed should be 
informed by the affordability of the location and the 
capacity of services. 

Policy context (NPPF, 
paragraph 2.2) 

Social objectives must rank higher than land availability. 

Policy context (NPPF, 
paragraph 2.3) 

Greater focus is needed on aligning growth and 
infrastructure. 

Policy context (NPPF, 
paragraph 2.6) 

Development should show how it will fund infrastructure 
improvements. 

Policy context (NPPF, 
paragraph 2.9) 

The planning process focuses on the quantity of 
development, not quality. 

Policy context (NPPF, 
paragraph 2.10) 

Modes of access should be assessed at planning stage 
and active design should link to key community facilities. 

Policy context (Local 
policy and guidance, 
paragraph 2.16) 

The distribution of development requires analysis of 
capacity of locations and infrastructure to accommodate 
growth, rather than relate the scale of development to the 
tiers of the hierarchy. 

Policy context 
(Settlement hierarchy 
evidence, paragraph 
2.20) 

The capacity of services should inform the spatial 
distribution of development. 

Page 384



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 262 

Section Summary of the main issues raised 

Policy context 
(Approaches 
elsewhere, paragraph 
2.27) 

The current 3 tier hierarchy could be further granulated, 
and the capacity of services should be looked at. 

Policy context 
(Approaches 
elsewhere, paragraph 
2.33) 

A qualitative assessment should be used with scenario 
planning, for example where a new school could make 
development more sustainable. 

Approach to a new 
settlement hierarchy 
(paragraph 3.4) 

The build out of strategic sites shows that in the last plan, 
some areas were allocated development that was difficult 
to deliver due to sustainability issues. 

Approach to a new 
settlement hierarchy 
(paragraph 3.5) 

The top 3 levels of the hierarchy should not be retained 
as the draft methodology previously indicates a change in 
approach. 

Approach to a new 
settlement hierarchy 
(paragraph 3.5) 

There needs to be a comprehensive review of the 
settlement hierarchy, including the top three tiers. 

Approach to a new 
settlement hierarchy 
(paragraph 3.5) 

The current hierarchy is not functioning as expected 
because there has been more development in the other 
settlements and rural areas than there has in the local 
service centres. 

Approach to a new 
settlement hierarchy 
(paragraph 3.6) 

Paragraph 2.10 of the towns and villages topic paper 
references a new tier in the hierarchy and detailing this 
approach appears to predetermine the outcome of the 
settlement hierarchy assessment before it has been 
completed. 

Approach to a new 
settlement hierarchy 
(paragraph 3.6) 

No substantive reason has been given for introducing a 
5th category and it is unjustified. 

Approach to a new 
settlement hierarchy 
(Table 3.1 Potential 
settlement hierarchy 
structure) 

The key service centres should be divided into those that 
have surplus service capacity and those that do not. 
They should be qualitatively assessed to see if any 
further growth can be accommodated. 

Page 385



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 263 

Section Summary of the main issues raised 

Approach to a new 
settlement hierarchy 
(Table 3.1 Potential 
settlement hierarchy 
structure) 

Principal towns should be defined as: “the largest, most 
prominent settlements in the borough with the largest 
populations. Their influence extends significantly outside 
of their own area, and they provide significant levels of 
employment, retail, education, services and facilities. 
They serve a large catchment area, with high levels of 
accessibility and well-developed public transport 
networks” 

Approach to a new 
settlement hierarchy 
(Table 3.1 Potential 
settlement hierarchy 
structure) 

The current local service centres range in size from a 
little over 1,000 population up to around 8,000. They vary 
greatly in their features, density, rurality and ability to 
grow, and should not all be treated the same. 

Approach to a new 
settlement hierarchy 
(Table 3.1 Potential 
settlement hierarchy 
structure) 

The fourth tier should simply be labelled “villages”; “Infill” 
invites question of meaning and “sustainable” should 
apply to all tiers. 

Approach to a new 
settlement hierarchy 
(Table 3.1 Potential 
settlement hierarchy 
structure) 

It is not clear how development proposed in the final tier 
of the hierarchy will be considered and Bradfield Green is 
in danger of being subsumed by Crewe. 

Approach to a new 
settlement hierarchy 
(Table 3.1 Potential 
settlement hierarchy 
structure) 

New planning legislation may identify designations of 
new towns and settlements, and it may be desirable to 
align the local designations with the new national 
categorisation system. 

Methodology to 
populate the hierarchy 
(paragraph 4.1) 

The review should include a qualitative assessment of 
the existing services to help determine whether a 
settlement can take any more development. 

Methodology to 
populate the hierarchy 
(paragraph 4.1) 

Parts of all tiers of the hierarchy should be protected for 
nature. 

Methodology to 
populate the hierarchy 
(paragraph 4.1) 

A consistent comprehensive approach to reviewing the 
hierarchy should be undertaken rather than a high level 
screening approach as carried out in 2010. 

Page 386



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 264 

Section Summary of the main issues raised 

Methodology to 
populate the hierarchy 
(Stage 1: Long list of 
settlements for 
consideration) 

The study should consider whether the quantum of 
residential development at Alderley Park warrants its 
inclusion as a named settlement in the hierarchy. 

Methodology to 
populate the hierarchy 
(Stage 1: Long list of 
settlements for 
consideration) 

The new plan should specify how the Handforth Garden 
Village and South Cheshire Growth Village fit into the 
hierarchy. 

Methodology to 
populate the hierarchy 
(Stage 1: Long list of 
settlements for 
consideration) 

Higher Hurdsfield, Lyme Green Business Park, Lyme 
Green, Site LPS 13 ‘South Macclesfield Development 
Area’, Site LPS 15 ‘Land at Congleton Road, 
Macclesfield’, Site LPS 16 ‘Land south of Chelford Road, 
Macclesfield’, Site LPS 17 ‘Gaw End Lane, Macclesfield’ 
and Safeguarded Land LPS 19 ‘South West Macclesfield’ 
should be included as part of Macclesfield. 

Methodology to 
populate the hierarchy 
(Stage 1: Long list of 
settlements for 
consideration) 

Settlements that straddle the administrative boundary 
should be included in the review, even if the centre of 
those settlements is outside of the borough. This should 
include Broomedge. 

Methodology to 
populate the hierarchy 
(Stage 2: Data 
collection) 

The data for settlements should be based either on the 
parish or the settlement. The previous settlement 
hierarchy study based the data for Goostrey on 2 large 
Lower Super Output Areas, which included other 
settlements as well. 

Methodology to 
populate the hierarchy 
(Stage 2: Data 
collection) 

The settlement hierarchy should consider the impact of 
major planning constraints such as Jodrell Bank and 
Manchester Airport. 

Methodology to 
populate the hierarchy 
(Stage 2: Data 
collection) 

When looking at villages, the review might also consider 
the amount of Green Belt in the village, the extent of 
conservation areas and the availability of land. 

Methodology to 
populate the hierarchy 

The study should take account of growth that has 
occurred since 2010. 

Page 387



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 265 

Section Summary of the main issues raised 

(Stage 2: Data 
collection) 

Methodology to 
populate the hierarchy 
(Stage 2: Data 
collection) 

The study should take account of known housing and 
employment growth opportunities in settlements including 
existing allocations. 

Methodology to 
populate the hierarchy 
(Stage 2: Data 
collection) 

The study should also consider which settlements have 
the potential for larger scale urban extensions. 

Methodology to 
populate the hierarchy 
(Stage 2: Data 
collection) 

The settlement hierarchy review should also take account 
of area of the district affected by deprivation, because 
provision of sustainable development in these areas can 
help to regenerate them. 

Methodology to 
populate the hierarchy 
(Stage 2: Data 
collection, services and 
facilities) 

Private schools should also be considered as a service 
as they provide education to a significant proportion of 
the local population, and are an indicator of sustainability. 

Methodology to 
populate the hierarchy 
(Stage 2: Data 
collection, services and 
facilities) 

The review should analyse the potential of the services to 
accommodate additional demand. 

Methodology to 
populate the hierarchy 
(Stage 2: Data 
collection, services and 
facilities) 

The list of key services should also include primary care 
GP provision and sports facilities. The assessment 
should consider whether each facility is open to the 
public all the time or is a shared facility. 

Methodology to 
populate the hierarchy 
(Stage 2: Data 
collection, services and 
facilities) 

The list of key services should include a medical centre, 
rather than including a GP surgery in the list of local 
services. 

Page 388



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 266 

Section Summary of the main issues raised 

Methodology to 
populate the hierarchy 
(Stage 2: Data 

A bank/building society should be included as a higher 
order service rather than a key service as there has been 
a significant move to online and telephone banking. 

Methodology to 
populate the hierarchy 
(Stage 2: Data 
collection, services and 
facilities) 

The list of local services should prioritise green spaces. 

Methodology to 
populate the hierarchy 
(Stage 2: Data 
collection, services and 
facilities) 

A lack of bus services will move most existing key service 
centres further down the hierarchy. 

Methodology to 
populate the hierarchy 
(Stage 2: Data 
collection, services and 
facilities) 

The settlement hierarchy review should also look at the 
sites that have been put forward for each settlement to 
determine what additional services and facilities could be 
delivered in each settlement, so that the settlement could 
be elevated up the hierarchy where such improvements 
could be made. 

Methodology to 
populate the hierarchy 
(Stage 2: Data 
collection, population) 

The methodology seeks to allocate settlements to tiers 
based on existing population size. This is too prescriptive 
and does not allow for adequate consideration of other 
factors such as availability of services, transport 
connections, or employment opportunities. Therefore, 
sustainable settlements with smaller populations will be 
overlooked for development. Instead, settlements should 
be graded based on a ratio of services to population size. 
The methodology states that “a larger population is 
generally able to sustain a greater level of services and 
facilities, retail provision…” etc but this is not the case 
because areas of low deprivation have higher levels of 
disposable income and can sustain a greater level of 
services, facilities and retail provision. 

Methodology to 
populate the hierarchy 
(Stage 2: Data 
collection, population) 

The statement in paragraph 4.13 is incorrect. Just 
because a town has a larger population does not mean 
that it can support an even larger one and there must be 
a qualitative assessment of services in each area. 

Methodology to 
populate the hierarchy 

Although the 2021 census took place during the 
coronavirus pandemic, the travel to work data will be 

Page 389



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 267 

Section Summary of the main issues raised 

(Stage 2: Data 
collection, employment) 

relevant to the settlement hierarchy as it will show 
settlements that have a higher proportion of the 
population able to work from home and therefore 
potentially more self-contained and less reliant on 
commuting. 

Methodology to 
populate the hierarchy 
(Stage 2: Data 
collection, employment) 

The settlement hierarchy review should map all 
significant employment locations in the borough, 
including the number of jobs provided to help give a more 
balanced view about the relative levels of jobs access, 
particularly in more rural areas where economic activity 
often takes place outside of defined settlements. 

Methodology to 
populate the hierarchy 
(Stage 2: Data 
collection, retail) 

People don’t go to the shops they use Amazon Prime. 

Methodology to 
populate the hierarchy 
(Stage 2: Data 
collection, spatial form) 

Stop approving bolt on housing estates set adrift from 
centres. 

Methodology to 
populate the hierarchy 
(Stage 3: Data 
analysis) 

The assessments of the different characteristics should 
not be undertaken arbitrarily based on an unevidenced 
threshold, for example identifying that a principal town 
must have at least 10% of the borough’s population does 
not consider the role of the settlement nor its potential for 
future growth. 

Methodology to 
populate the hierarchy 
(Stage 3: Data analysis, 
services and facilities) 

The analysis should look at the settlement’s spare 
capacity to absorb growth rather than whether it contains 
services and facilities. 

Methodology to 
populate the hierarchy 
(Stage 3: Data analysis, 
sustainable transport) 

Need to define what is a frequent service. The analysis 
should look at what capacity the network has to 
accommodate more growth. 

Methodology to 
populate the hierarchy 
(Stage 3: Data analysis, 
sustainable transport) 

Cycle routes are not always feasible in towns and are 
dependent on council funding so should not be included 
in the criteria. 

Page 390



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 268 

Section Summary of the main issues raised 

Methodology to 
populate the hierarchy 
(Stage 3: Data analysis, 
population size 

If the population is large, there may not be the capacity 
for services to accommodate more demand. 

Methodology to 
populate the hierarchy 
(Stage 3: Data analysis, 
retail) 

Retail is no longer important due to internet shopping. 

Methodology to 
populate the hierarchy 
(Stage 3: Data analysis, 
spatial form) 

The analysis of spatial form should consider the proximity 
to services. 

Methodology to 
populate the hierarchy 
(Stage 4: Populate the 
hierarchy) 

There is a lack of clarity over how the element of 
professional judgement and consideration of the 
proximity to and links with other settlements will be 
carried out, potentially undermining the methodology. 
Stage 4 should respect the results of the Stage 3 
assessments and only depart from the scoring system in 
particular circumstances. Weighting should be applied to 
certain factors where the results are unclear. 

Methodology to 
populate the hierarchy 
(Stage 4: Populate the 
hierarchy) 

The term “professional judgement” means there will be 
political manoeuvring to set the final numbers. 

Methodology to 
populate the hierarchy 
(Stage 4: Populate the 
hierarchy) 

The updated hierarchy should be accompanied by a topic 
paper explaining instances where professional judgement 
has been applied. 

Methodology to 
populate the hierarchy 
(Stage 4: Populate the 
hierarchy) 

An overall balanced and holistic assessment should be 
undertaken to support the decision on where a settlement 
sits in the hierarchy, recognising the overall role and 
contribution of settlements. 

Methodology to 
populate the hierarchy 
(Stage 4: Populate the 
hierarchy) 

When defining the boundaries of settlements, account 
should be taken of the importance of certain facilities in 
meeting other needs, including sustainable growth and 
environmental requirements. 

Page 391



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 269 

Section Summary of the main issues raised 

Methodology to 
populate the hierarchy 
(Stage 4: Populate the 
hierarchy) 

Access to green spaces should be given more 
consideration. 

Methodology to 
populate the hierarchy 
(Stage 4: Populate the 
hierarchy) 

Views submitted that particular settlements should be in 
particular tiers of the settlement hierarchy: 

• Adlington should be identified as an infill village. 

• Adlington should be identified as a higher order 
settlement. 

• Alderley Edge should be identified as a local service 
centre. 

• Alderley Edge should be identified as a local service 
centre as a minimum. 

• Alderley Edge should be identified as a separate 
higher tier of local service centres to be a greater 
focus of development. 

• Alderley Edge should be identified as a key service 
centre. 

• Alsager should be identified as a key service centre. 

• Alsager could be identified as a key service centre, 
but acknowledgement of its superior location and 
characteristics may allow it to take on a more 
prominent role than other key service centres. 

• Alsager should be identified as a key service centre 
as a minimum. 

• Bollington should be identified as a focus for growth 
in the hierarchy. 

• Broomedge should be identified as a sustainable/infill 
village. 

• Congleton should be identified as a principal town. 

• Crewe should be identified as a principal town. 

• Gawsworth (centre) should be identified as an infill 
village, with the area outside the centre identified as 
a rural area. 

• Goostrey should not be identified as a local service 
centre. 

• Goostrey should be identified as a local service 
centre. 

• Goostrey should be identified as a local service 
centre as a minimum. 

• Handforth should be identified as a key service 
centre. 

• Handforth should be identified, at least as a key 
service centre. 

Page 392



 

 
 

New local plan for Cheshire East | Issues paper report of consultation 270 

Section Summary of the main issues raised 

• Holmes Chapel should be identified as a local 
service centre. 

• Holmes Chapel should be identified as a separate 
higher tier of local service centres to be a greater 
focus of development. 

• Holmes Chapel should be identified as a local 
service centre as a minimum. 

• Holmes Chapel should be identified as a key service 
centre. 

• Knutsford should be identified as a key service 
centre. 

• Macclesfield should be identified as a principal town. 

• Nantwich should be identified as a key service 
centre. 

• Nantwich should be identified as a key service centre 
as a minimum. 

• Prestbury should be identified as a local service 
centre. 

• Poynton should be identified as a local service 
centre. 

• Poynton should be identified as a key location for 
growth. 

• Sandbach should be identified as a key service 
centre. 

• Shavington should be identified as a local service 
centre. 

• Wardle and Barbridge should be identified as a 
sustainable/infill village. 

• Wilmslow should be identified as a key service 
centre. 

• Wybunbury should be identified as a local service 
centre. 

 

Page 393



This page is intentionally left blank



New local plan for Cheshire East 

Local development scheme 
2025-2028 
March 2025

Page 395



2 New local plan for Cheshire East | Local development scheme 2024-2028 

Front cover images (clockwise from top-left): 

Crewe Market Hall and Municipal Buildings 

Arclid north plant site and lake (image supplied by Bathgate Silica Sand Ltd) 

Jodrell Bank Observatory 

Lamberts Lane Bridge, Congleton 

Tabley Park, Northwich Road, Knutsford 

Page 396



New local plan for Cheshire East | Local development scheme 2024-2028 3 

Contents 

1 Introduction _________________________________________________________ 4 

2 The Cheshire East Local Plan 2010-2030 (adopted) _____________________ 4 

3 The Cheshire East Minerals and Waste Plan 2021-2041 (in preparation) __ 4 

4 New local plan ______________________________________________________ 5 

5 Policies map ________________________________________________________ 5 

6 Supplementary planning documents __________________________________ 5 

7 Schedule of development plan documents ____________________________ 6 

8 Glossary of terms ___________________________________________________ 7 

Page 397



4 New local plan for Cheshire East | Local development scheme 2024-2028 

1 Introduction 

1.1 The Cheshire East Local Development Scheme (“LDS”) sets out a programme for 

the preparation of documents by Cheshire East Council, up to 2028, that are intended to 

form part of the statutory development plan within the borough1. 

1.2  In November 2023 the Council committed to prepare a ‘new style’ Local Plan 
under provision yet to be laid down by the Levelling-up and Regeneration Act 2023. 
Published guidance on how plans should be prepared under this Act is limited and 
associated regulations are not yet available. It is expected that guidance and regulations 
will be made available later in 2025. Until such provisions are made, this LDS represents 
an estimated timetable and will be updated periodically in response to new guidance, as 
and when published.

1.3 The LDS was updated on 30th January 2025 in response to a government 
request for all local planning authorities to update their plan making timetables and 
provide a copy of them to the Secretary of State by 6th March 2025. 

1.4 This LDS represents a change in approach since the January 25 update, and 
clarifies that the Minerals and Waste Plan will be incorporated into the programme for 
preparation of the councils’ new Local Plan.

2 The Cheshire East Local Plan 2010-2030 
(adopted) 

2.1 The Cheshire East Local Plan2 consists of two documents. These are: 

The Local Plan Strategy (“LPS”) (adopted in July 2017). Sometimes referred to 

as 'Part 1' of the local plan, it includes overarching strategic objectives policies, 

sites and locations for development. 

The Site Allocations and Development Policies Document (“SADPD”) 

(adopted in December 2022). Sometimes referred to as ‘Part 2’ of the local plan, 

its purpose is to set non-strategic policies to guide planning decisions and allocate 

additional sites for development to assist in meeting the overall development 

requirements set out in the Local Plan Strategy. 

3 The Cheshire East Minerals and Waste 
Plan 2021-2041 (in preparation) 

3.1 The council is currently preparing a Minerals and Waste Plan3 that would set out 

policies for dealing with minerals and waste including the identification of specific sites 

and areas with a plan period of 2021 to 2041. It would contain strategic and non- 

strategic policies and, upon adoption, replace Local Plan Strategy policies SE 10 

'Sustainable Provision of Minerals' and SE 11 'Sustainable Management of Waste' along 

with the saved policies in the separate Cheshire County Council Minerals and Waste 

Local Plans, adopted in 1999 and 2007 respectively. Following consultations on the 
‘Issues Paper’, and consideration of feedback on this, it has been decided that the 
Minerals and Waste Plan will now be prepared alongside the Local Plan process.

1 The statutory development plan comprises both the local plan documents adopted by 

Page 398



New local plan for Cheshire East | Local development scheme 2024-2028 5 

Cheshire East Council and any neighbourhood development plans that are 'made'. Further 

information about neighbourhood development plans in Cheshire East can be obtained at: https:// 

www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/neighbourhood-plans/neighbourhood-planning.aspx 
2 The portion of Cheshire East located within the Peak District National Park is subject to the Park 

Authority's planning policies. 
3 Further information about the Minerals and Waste Plan can be obtained 

at: https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial-planning/cheshire_east_local_plan/minerals- 

and-waste-plan.aspx 

Page 399

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/neighbourhood-plans/neighbourhood-planning.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/neighbourhood-plans/neighbourhood-planning.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial-planning/cheshire_east_local_plan/minerals-and-waste-plan.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial-planning/cheshire_east_local_plan/minerals-and-waste-plan.aspx


6 New local plan for Cheshire East | Local development scheme 2024-2028 

4 New local plan 

4.1 The council has resolved to update the Local Plan Strategy which, once adopted, 

is expected to replace both the LPS and SADPD. The update will be in the form of a 

new-style local plan prepared under the government’s proposed reforms to the plan- 

making system. Please note that the milestone dates for the new local plan provided in 

Chapter 7 ‘Schedule of Development Plan Documents’, are indicative only and should 

be treated with caution. This reflects ongoing uncertainty about the implementation of 

the national reforms, including when individual councils may be permitted to formally 

commence the preparation of a 'new-style' local plan. It is the government’s stated 

intention that guidance on implementation of ‘new-style plans’ will be available from the 

autumn of 2025. 

5 Policies map 

5.1 Local plans must be accompanied by a policies map to illustrate geographically 

the application of policies within them. The policies map for Cheshire East will be 

updated when each plan is adopted. 

6 Supplementary planning documents 

6.1 Supplementary planning documents may also be prepared to provide guidance on 

the implementation of key local plan policies4. 

4 Further information about Cheshire East’s supplementary planning documents can be 

obtained at: https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial-planning/cheshire_east_local_plan/ 

supplementary_plan_documents/supplementary_plan_documents.aspx 

Page 400

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial-planning/cheshire_east_local_plan/supplementary_plan_documents/supplementary_plan_documents.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial-planning/cheshire_east_local_plan/supplementary_plan_documents/supplementary_plan_documents.aspx


New local plan for Cheshire East | Local development scheme 2024-2028 7 

 

 

7 Schedule of development plan 
documents 

Table 7.1 Schedule of development plan documents 
 

 Minerals and Waste Plan New Local Plan 

Title Minerals and Waste Plan New Local Plan 

Description Policies and proposals for minerals 
and waste development covering 

the period 2021 to 2041 

A new-style local plan setting 
a long- term framework for 

sustainable development. Plan 

period to be decided. 

Area covered Cheshire East outside the Peak 
District National Park 

Cheshire East outside the Peak 
District National Park 

Key policy context Local Plan Strategy, NPPF, NPPG, 

National Planning Policy for Waste, 

National Waste Management Plan 

for England 

NPPF, Ministerial Statements, 

National Development Management 

Policies, National Planning Practice 

Guidance 

Local plan 
preparation 

Underway - 

Notice of start of 

plan-making 

- 2nd quarter 2025 

Publication 1st quarter 2025 1st quarter 2027 

Submission 2nd quarter 2025 3rd quarter 2027 

Examination 4th quarter 2025 4th quarter 2027 

Adoption 2nd quarter 2026 3rd quarter 2028 

Page 401



8 New local plan for Cheshire East | Local development scheme 2024-2028 

 

 

8 Glossary of terms 

Adoption The final approval of a local plan by a council after the plan has been 

through all of the stages in its preparation, including independent examination. Once a 

local plan has been adopted it becomes part of the statutory development plan which is 

the starting point for making planning application decisions. 

Development plan This comprises all adopted local plan documents and also 

neighbourhood development plans that have been 'made'. The development plan is, by 

law, the starting point for making planning application decisions. 

Examination This is the process by which a local plan is independently assessed by 

a Planning Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State. The Inspector decides 

whether the plan has met relevant legal requirements and meets the tests of 

‘soundness’ as set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (positively prepared, 

justified, effective and consistent with national policy). 

Local plan A local plan sets out a long-term framework (15 years or so generally) for 

sustainable development. It establishes development needs and proposes how they will 

be met, including through the allocation of sites. It also contains policies to support the 

local economy, achieve good design, improve the environment, and promote good 

health and well-being. It is drawn up by the council, informed by public consultation and 

scrutinised through independent examination. 

Local Development Scheme A programme setting out the local plan documents that 

a council intends to prepare and when. 

National Development Management Policies Under the reformed plan-making 

system (see ‘New style plan’ below) the government is intending to publish, at a national 

level, general planning policies on issues that apply in many or all areas. Such policies 

could include, for example, those preventing inappropriate development on green belt 

land and in areas at high risk of flooding. The aim is to remove the need for such policies 

to be repeated in local plans and therefore make local plans faster to produce and easier 

to navigate. National Development Management Policies will have the same status as 

policies in the statutory development plan, and the former would over-ride the latter in 

the event of any inconsistency between the two. 

National Planning Policy Framework This sets out the government’s planning 

policies and explains how they should be applied when preparing local plans and when 

making planning application decisions. 

New-style local plan This is the term used to describe a local plan prepared under 

the government’s reforms to the planning system which include significant changes to 

the way that local plans are prepared. Through the reforms the government is aiming to 

make local plans shorter, more locally focused, and quicker to prepare. The reforms are 

being brought forward through the Levelling-up and Regeneration Act 2023, follow-on 

regulations and also through changes to national planning policy, with the aim that 

councils will be able to commence the preparation of new style local plans in late 2024. 

Page 402



New local plan for Cheshire East | Local development scheme 2024-2028 9 

 

 

Publication This is the stage at which a council publishes its full, final draft of its local 

plan for six weeks public consultation. It should be the version of the document that it 

intends to submit for examination. 

Submission This follows the publication stage when the local plan is formally 

submitted for independent examination. 

Supplementary Planning Documents These provide further guidance to support the 

implementation of local plan policies - about development on specific sites, or on 

particular issues, such as design. They can be taken into account when making planning 

application decisions but are not part of the statutory development plan. 

Page 403



This page is intentionally left blank



    

 

 

 

             

         

Environment and Communities Committee  

 27 March 2025 

Heritage and Local List Supplementary Planning Document 

 

Report of: Phil Cresswell, Executive Director of Place 

Report Reference No: EC/19/24-25 

Ward(s) Affected: all 

For Decision or Scrutiny: Decision 

 

Purpose of Report 

1 The Cheshire East Local List is a Supplementary Planning Document 
(SPD) that identifies heritage assets of local importance. It was adopted 
in 2010, and this report seeks approval to consult on an update to the 
SPD, including on the proposed selection criteria and methodology for 
designating a locally listed building. 

2 In relation to the Cheshire East Plan 2025-29, the proposals support the 
Council’s commitment to ‘unlocking prosperity for all’ by supporting the 
protection and enhancement of local heritage that is highly valued by 
residents and creates an attractive environment that supports business.  

Executive Summary 

3 The Councils’ current Local List of Historic Buildings SPD was adopted 
in 2010 and there is now a need to review and update the document. 

4 The proposal here is to prepare a local list methodology and other 
heritage advice to adopt within an SPD and alongside this, maintain a 
‘forever green’ local list of assets that align to the adopted methodology. 

5 This approach ensures that the Local List can be updated more 
frequently and can be more responsive to proposals for local listing, 
helping the Council protect its local heritage assets without undertaking 

OPEN 
 

Page 405 Agenda Item 8



  
  

 

 

a lengthy process of preparing a Supplementary Planning Document 
each time the list requires updating. 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
The Environment and Communities Committee is recommended to:  

1. Agree to the publication of the first draft Heritage and Local List SPD 
(appendix 1) for public consultation, for a minimum of four weeks. 

2. Publish the associated Strategic Environmental Assessment and Habitats 
Regulations Assessment Screening Report (“SEA”) (appendix 2). 

3. Publish the associated Equalities Impact Assessment Screening Report 
(“EQIA”) (appendix 3). 

 

Background 

6 Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) are material 
considerations in planning decisions and provide further guidance on 
how planning policies will be applied in practice. Non-designated 
heritage assets (NDHAs) are buildings, monuments, sites, places, areas 
or landscapes identified as having a degree of significance meriting 
consideration in planning decisions because of their heritage interest 
but which do not meet the criteria for designated heritage assets. They 
are defined in the Planning Practice Guidance at Paragraph 0391 and 
can include those identified by a local planning authority such as ‘local 
interest’ buildings. 

7 Once defined as a NDHA, relevant policies of the NPPF2 and Local Plan 
may then be applied in decision making. Designation allows the Site 
Allocations and Development Policies Document (part two of the Local 
Plan) policy HER7 ‘Non-Designated Heritage Assets’ to be applied to 
decision making with clarity3. 

8 Buildings marked on conservation area plans as making a positive 
contribution to conservation areas are also considered to be Non-
Designated Heritage Assets. They add to the unique character of 
Cheshire East, individually and sometimes collectively. The existing 
Cheshire East Local List of Historic Buildings contains a list of Non-
Designated Heritage Assets in Cheshire East. 

9 The adopted SPD is a snapshot in time of buildings that have been 
assessed against relevant criteria in place in at the time of assessment. 

 
1 Planning Practice Guidance Para.039: Historic environment - GOV.UK 
2 NPPF para. 216 
3 Policy HER7: ‘When considering the direct or indirect effects of a development proposal on a non-
designated heritage asset (including locally listed buildings), a balanced judgement will be required, 
having regard to the significance of the heritage asset and the scale of any loss or harm’. 

Page 406

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/conserving-and-enhancing-the-historic-environment#non-designated


  
  

 

 

Continuing this approach means that if candidate local list sites are 
identified outside of the SPD process, they cannot formally be identified 
as NDHAs, often giving rise to dispute in decision making and at 
planning appeals.  Such assets cannot be added to the Local List until 
the formal procedure for updating and adopting an SPD has been 
completed. This can take around 12 months, sometimes longer. 
Therefore, to ensure important protection is given to our local heritage 
assets, we are proposing to move toward an ‘evergreen’ approach 
keeping a live catalogue, via a digital Local List, of local heritage assets 
that meet a newly defined set of criteria as set out in an updated SPD. 

10 It is therefore proposed that the SPD will consist of two elements: 1) the 
Cheshire East Local List criteria, linking to the digital local list which 
identifies the specific heritage assets that form the ‘Local List’, 
alongside evidence of how these assets meet the selection criteria, and 
2) other guidance on heritage matters such as the information required 
to submit as part of a planning application and how to deal with 
improvements that support adaptions to climate change a low carbon 
economy. 

11 This approach means that the Local List can be updated more 
frequently and regularly, capturing assets that may be brought to our 
attention through neighbourhood plan groups, planning applications and 
by other third-party stakeholders. 

Consultation and Engagement 

12 An SPD is not part of the statutory development plan. It is a recognised 
way of putting in place additional planning guidance and can be a 
material consideration in determining planning applications in the 
borough. 

13 Providing clear, detailed guidance about policy expectations should 
enable applicants to better understand policy requirements. The SPD 
should assist applicants when making relevant planning applications, 
and the Council in determining them. 

14 SPDs require two stages of consultation before they can be adopted by 
the Council and brought into effect. This report requests approval to 
initiate a first round of consultation on proposals as set out at Appendix 
1. 

15 The proposals have been developed by professional Planning and 
Heritage Officers, following guidance from Historic England and 
benchmarking against other Planning Authorities’ approaches to this 
matter. 

Page 407



  
  

 

 

16 It is proposed to consult for a period of 4 weeks, aligning to 
requirements set out in the councils’ Statement of Community 
Involvement (SCI), and publicising the draft SPD to relevant 
stakeholders and more widely to the general public. Consultation will be 
undertaken digitally and promoted via direct email, notices and press 
releases.  

17 Following consultation, feedback will be reviewed, summarised and 
changes will be made where appropriate. A second round of 
consultation on the final draft SPD will then be proposed to this 
committee and carried out in due course. Following the second stage of 
consultation, further changes will be made to the document and the 
SPD will be proposed for adoption.  

Reasons for Recommendations 

18 The proposal aligns to the corporate plans’ objective to secure a 
‘thriving and sustainable place’ and is recommended to support this 
objective and for two key reasons: 

19 Firstly, the existing SPD is now some 15 years old and references 
national policies which no longer exist, references local policies which 
no longer form part of the Development Plan, and relies on a selection 
criteria and methodology that, whilst consistent with the updated 
national guidance, needs to be updated4. 

20 Secondly, defining which assets are to be considered as NDHAs within 
an SPD means that the only mechanism to update that list is through a 
full review of the SPD. This is a resource intensive exercise requiring 
multiple stages of publication, consultation and decision making by the 
council (as set out at para.15 above). To ensure the council has the 
ability to update the Local List as and when opportunities arise to 
protect a local heritage asset, it is proposed that the SPD contains the 
selection methodology which clarifies when and how NDHAs will be 
identified, and that the Local List is held separately to the SPD. On this 
basis the Local List will contain only those buildings and assets that 
have met the criteria set out in the SPD. This approach means that 
buildings and other assets can periodically be added when necessary, 
enabling the assets’ status as a NDHA to be clarified quickly for 
decision making and therefore ensuring that relevant heritage policies 
can be applied with certainty when development proposals are 
considered. 

  

 
4 See Historic England advice on Local Heritage Listing: Local Heritage Listing: Identifying and 
Conserving Local Heritage | Historic England 

Page 408

https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/local-heritage-listing-advice-note-7/
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/local-heritage-listing-advice-note-7/


  
  

 

 

Other Options Considered 

21  

Option Impact Risk 

Do not nothing 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepare an SPD 

that specifically 

identifies Locally 

Listed buildings 

within it 

The Heritage and Local 

List SPD could not 

progress through the 

stages required by 

legislation and therefore 

could not be adopted. 

 

 

 

 

Any future additions to 

the Heritage and Local 

List could only be 

included upon a full 

review and update of 

the SPD which could 

take 12-18months to 

complete 

The improved 

outcomes that could 

be achieved through 

additional guidance on 

how developers are 

expected to address 

policies of the local 

plan, would not be 

achieved. 

 

The council is less 

able to respond 

quickly to ensure that 

identified heritage 

assets are specified 

as locally listed and 

therefore may not be 

able to apply relevant 

heritage polices to 

locally important 

assets. 

 

 

Implications and Comments 

Monitoring Officer/Legal 

22 This report is coming before the Environment and Communities 
committee as its responsibilities include development and delivery of the 
Local Development Framework including the Local Plan and 
Supplementary Planning Documents.  

23 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) and the 
Town and Country Planning (Local Development) (England) Regulations 
2012 provide the statutory Framework governing the preparation and 
adoption of SPDs. These include the requirements in Section 19 of the 
2004 Act and various requirements in the 2012 Regulations including in 
Regulations 11 to 16 that apply exclusively to producing SPDs. 

Page 409



  
  

 

 

24 Amongst other things, the 2012 regulations require that an SPD contain 
a reasoned justification of the policies within it and for it not to conflict with 
adopted development plan policies.  

25 The National Planning Policy Framework and the associated Planning 
Practice Guidance also set out national policy about the circumstances 
in which SPDs should be prepared. 

26 SPDs provide more detailed guidance on how adopted local plan policies 
should be applied. They can be used to provide further guidance for 
development on specific sites, or on issues, such as design. SPDs are 
capable of being a material consideration in planning decisions but are 
not part of the development plan.  

27 Any public consultation should comply with the ‘Gunning Principles’: 

(a) proposals are still at a formative stage - A final decision has not yet 
been made, or predetermined, by the decision makers 

(b) there is sufficient information to give ‘intelligent consideration’ - The 
information provided must relate to the consultation and must be 
available, accessible, and easily interpretable for consultees to 
provide an informed response 

(c) there is adequate time for consideration and response - There must 
be sufficient opportunity for consultees to participate in the 
consultation. 

(d) ‘conscientious consideration’ must be given to the consultation 
responses before a decision is made. Decision-makers should be 
able to provide evidence that they took consultation responses into 
account 

Section 151 Officer/Finance 

28 There are no significant direct financial costs arising from consultation on 
the SPD and the proposal has no impact on the council’s MTFS. The 
costs of delivering the proposal will be met through from existing budgets 
and staff resource within the planning service.  

29 The proposal requires no additional budget to be delivered. 

30 Whilst the proposal will not reduce in-year budget requirements, neither 
will it increase them. In the longer-term the clarity that the SPD will afford 
to whether an asset is, or is not, a NDHA will assist the council in 
minimising the risk of appeals on this basis. 

Page 410



  
  

 

 

31 The proposal is unlikely to increase or decrease budgets that will be 
considered in the next business planning cycle and whilst the project will 
be delivered from existing resources we still recognise the importance of 
ensuring value for money in the way those resources are used. 

Policy 

32 The SPD will provide guidance on existing development plan policies 
related to the delivery of biodiversity net gain from development sites. 
The SPD will give additional advice to applicants on how they can 
demonstrate they have complied with relevant policies of the 
development plan related to this matter. 

33  

An open and 
enabling 
organisation  

n/a 

A Council which 
empowers and 
cares about 
people 

n/a 

To reduce our impact on our 
environment. 

To improve preservation of heritage in 
the borough. 

Better guidance on local heritage 
helps the Local Planning Authority 
make decisions on how best to 
preserve and enhance the heritage of 
the borough. 

 

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion 

34 The Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equalities Act to have 
due regard to the need to: eliminate discrimination; advance equality of 
opportunity between persons who share a “relevant protected 
characteristic” and persons who do not share it; foster good relations 
between persons who share a “relevant protected characteristic” and 
persons who do not share it. 

35 The first draft Heritage and Local List SPD provides guidance on how the 
Local Planning Authority will identify Non-Designated Heritage Assets 
and how they will be treated in the development process. The draft SPD 
is consistent with the LPS and SADPD which were themselves the 
subject of an Equalities Impact Assessment (EQiA) as part of an 
integrated Sustainability Appraisal. The draft SPD is supported by an 

Page 411



  
  

 

 

EQiA (appendix 3) and will be published alongside the draft SPD for 
comment. 

Human Resources 

36 The first draft Heritage and Local List SPD does not give rise to any 
particular risk management measures because the process for the 
preparation of an SPD is governed by legislative provisions (as set out in 
the legal section of the report). 

Risk Management 

37 The first draft Heritage and Local List SPD does not give rise for any 
particular risk management measures because the process for the 
preparation of an SPD is governed by legislative provisions (as set out in 
the legal section of the report). 

Rural Communities 

38 The first draft Heritage and Local List SPD seeks to provide further 
guidance on the approach to and management of local heritage assets, 
some of which may be located in rural communities. Overall, a positive 
impact is anticipated as the guidance will better enable the preservation 
and protection of valuable heritage assets. 

Children and Young People including Cared for Children, care leavers and 
Children with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND) 

39 The first draft SPD seeks to provide additional guidance on identifying 
heritage assets that should be subject to heritage policy. Protection and 
preservation of our cultural heritage has a generally positive impact on 
the borough and in a limited way this creates a positive impact on these 
groups. 

Public Health 

40 The first draft SPD will contribute to the protection and preservation of 
heritage assets which can have a positive impact on public health by 
supporting the delivery of high-quality places. A greater positive impact is 
expected in locations where heritage assets may be found, often but not 
limited to more urban areas (where there may be a higher volume of 
assets in a smaller geography), across all age groups. 

Climate Change 

41 The draft SPD sets out and re-iterates national guidance in relation to 
development of heritage assets for the purposes of energy generation 

Page 412



  
  

 

 

and efficiency. The clarity provided will help deliver carbon positive 
improvements (such as solar PV) where appropriate. 

 

 

Access to Information 

Contact Officer: Tom Evans, Strategic and Environmental Planning 
Manager 

Tom.Evans@cheshireeast.gov.uk 

Appendices: Appendix 1: Draft Heritage and Local List SPD 
Appendix 2: SEA / HRA Screening Report 
Appendix 3: Draft Equalities Impact Assessment Screening 
Report 

Background 
Papers: 

NA 

 

 

Page 413



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Page 415



 
 

1 
 
 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN Local List Supplementary Planning Document 

Contents 
1. Introduction .................................................................................................. 3 

2. Draft SPD Consultation .................................................................................. 4 

Submitting your views ....................................................................................... 4 

What happens after the consultation? ................................................................ 4 

3. What Are Heritage Assets? ............................................................................. 5 

4. What is a Local List? ...................................................................................... 6 

5. The Implications of Local Listing ..................................................................... 6 

Requirement for Planning Permission ................................................................. 7 

6. Planning Policy Context .................................................................................. 7 

National Good Practice Advice ........................................................................... 7 

National Policy and Guidance ............................................................................ 8 

Local Policy ...................................................................................................... 8 

Policy Implications ............................................................................................ 9 

Implications for Building Control ........................................................................ 9 

7 Guidance on Works to Locally Listed Buildings ................................................ 9 

Extensions ...................................................................................................... 10 

Roofs ............................................................................................................. 10 

Joinery ............................................................................................................ 10 

Research ........................................................................................................ 10 

Setting ........................................................................................................... 10 

Boundary Details ............................................................................................ 10 

8 Nominating Buildings for the Local List ........................................................ 11 

Emergency Procedure ..................................................................................... 11 

Formal Designation of Local List Buildings ........................................................ 11 

9 Local List Entry Types ................................................................................... 11 

10 Local List Selection Criteria ...................................................................... 12 

Principal Selection Criteria Table ...................................................................... 13 

Secondary Selection Criteria ........................................................................... 14 

Evidence: ....................................................................................................... 15 

Page 416



 
 

2 
 
 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN Local List Supplementary Planning Document 

11 Procedure for Adding to or Removing Entries from The Local List ................. 16 

Identification .................................................................................................. 16 

Local Listing Procedure ................................................................................... 17 

Notification .................................................................................................... 18 

12 Removing Entries from The Local List ......................................................... 19 

13 Review and Monitoring ............................................................................. 19 

14 Viewing the Local List ............................................................................... 19 

15 Currently Adopted Local List ..................................................................... 20 

Glossary ................................................................................................................ 21 

Appendices .................................................................................................... 24 

 

 

  

Page 417



 
 

3 
 
 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN Local List Supplementary Planning Document 

1. Introduction 
1.1 Cheshire East is host to 76 conservation areas, 47 Grade 1 Listed Buildings, 179 

II* Listed Buildings and 2,645 grade II listed buildings. We are proud of our heritage 
and recognise its value in shaping the character and quality of the borough. 

 
1.2 The Cheshire East Local List plays an essential role in building and reinforcing a 

sense of local character and distinctiveness in the historic environment. It 
identifies significant local heritage assets and is a material consideration in the 
determination of planning applications. 

 
1.3 This draft Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) seeks to help identify and give 

appropriate protections to our non-designated heritage assets by providing 
further guidance on how our Local List will be prepared and maintained. 

 
1.4 This SPD provides advice on: 

 
o The Local Listing process 

 
o Proposals for Development Involving a Locally Listed Building 

 
o Guidance on Alterations and extensions 

 
1.5 The current Local List SPD contains a list of Non-Designated Heritage Assets in 

Cheshire East. Buildings marked on conservation area plans as making a positive 
contribution to the conservation area are also considered to be Non-Designated 
Heritage Assets. They add to the unique character of Cheshire East, individually 
and sometimes collectively. 

 
1.6 The adopted Local List is currently being updated, and a new approach is being 

proposed here to enable the council to maintain the list more efficiently. A key 
focus of this draft document is on establishing the process through which 
candidate entries for inclusion on the Local List will be considered. It sets out the 
types of entries that may be identified, the criteria for inclusion and explains how 
the degree of heritage significance is judged.  

 
1.7 This draft SPD does not include the Local List itself. The Local List is hosted 

separately and is in the process of being reviewed and updated. In the future, only 
assets that meet the criteria set out in this SPD will be included on the Local List. 
The proposed approach enables the council to publish a separate Local List 
document and update the Local List efficiently, outside of the SPD process. The 
SPD takes account of established best practice in Local Listing, including Historic 
England’s Advice Note 7 on Local Heritage Listing (2nd edition January 2021)1 and 
the criteria and general principles used in the selection of Listed Buildings as set 

 
1 Local Heritage Listing: Identifying and Conserving Local Heritage | Historic England 

Page 418

https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/local-heritage-listing-advice-note-7/


 
 

4 
 
 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN Local List Supplementary Planning Document 

out in the Department for Culture, Media and Sport, ‘Principles of Selection of 
Listed Buildings’ (January 2025)2. 

2. Draft SPD Consultation 
2.1 Consultation on the draft SPD will take place between 11th April 2025 and 2nd May 

2025. Comments must be received by the Council no later than 5pm on 2nd May 
2025. The consultation documents can be viewed online at: (weblink to be 
updated) 

 
2.2 There is no legal requirement for Supplementary Planning Documents to be 

accompanied by Sustainability Appraisal, and this is reinforced in national 
planning guidance. However, “in exceptional circumstances” there may be a 
requirement for SPDs to be subject to Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) 
where it is considered likely that they may have a significant effect on the 
environment that has not already been assessed within the SEA of the Local Plan. 
A screening assessment has been undertaken and concludes that further such 
assessment is not necessary. 

 
2.3 A screening exercise has been carried out to determine whether the document 

gives rise to the need for Appropriate Assessment (under the Habitats 
Regulations). This similarly concludes that further such assessment is not 
necessary. These screening assessments have been published (Appendix 1) and 
you can give your views on their findings too. 

Submitting your views 

2.4 By e-mail: To planningpolicy@cheshireeast.gov.uk 
 

2.5 By post: Strategic Planning (Westfields), C/O Municipal Buildings, Earle 
Street, Crewe CW1 2BJ 
 

2.6 Please make sure that your comments reach us by 5pm on 2nd May 2025. We are 
not able to accept anonymous comments and you must provide us with your 
name and contact details. Your personal data will be processed in line with our 
Spatial Planning Privacy Notice, which is available on the council's website 
(www.cheshireeast.gov.uk). Your name and comments will be published and 
made available to view on the council’s online consultation portal. 

What happens after the consultation? 

2.7 Following consultation, the council will carefully consider all representations 
received before deciding whether any amendments to the draft SPD are needed. 
The final version of the SPD alongside a Consultation Statement summarising the 
feedback and changes to the SPD will then be published for further comment 
before the SPD is adopted. 

 
2 Principles of selection for listed buildings - GOV.UK 

Page 419

mailto:planningpolicy@cheshireeast.gov.uk
http://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/principles-of-selection-for-listing-buildings


 
 

5 
 
 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN Local List Supplementary Planning Document 

 
2.8 Once adopted the SPD will be formal planning guidance and will be considered as 

a material consideration in the Cheshire East area. 

3. What Are Heritage Assets? 
3.1 The Government’s National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) defines a heritage 

asset as a building, monument, site, place, area or landscape identified as having 
a degree of significance meriting consideration in planning decisions, because of 
its heritage interest. 

 

3.2 Heritage interest may be archaeological, architectural, artistic or historic. The 
value of a heritage asset to this and future generations (because of its heritage 
interest) is referred to as ‘significance’. Significance is one of the guiding principles 
running through the Historic Environment section of the Local Plan and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

3.3 Heritage assets are divided into two types:  
 

o designated heritage assets; and  
 

o non-designated heritage assets.  
 

3.4 Designated heritage assets are mostly identified nationally under the relevant 
legislation (listed buildings, registered historic parks and gardens, scheduled 
monuments and registered battlefields), but also include world heritage sites, 
which are designated by UNESCO, and conservation areas, which are designated 
by the Council under relevant legislation. Designated heritage assets, with the 
exception of conservation areas and World Heritage Sites, are listed in the 
National Heritage List for England (NHLE). 
 

3.5 Designated heritage assets receive a greater degree of protection within the 
planning system than non-designated heritage assets. Works to some assets, 
such as listed buildings and scheduled monuments, are subject to additional 
consent regimes. 
 

3.6 Non-designated heritage assets are locally identified buildings, monuments, 
sites, places, areas or landscapes that do not meet the criteria for designated 
heritage assets (e.g. as listed buildings) but are considered to hold sufficient 
heritage interest at a local level to merit consideration in planning decisions. 
Whilst NDHAs may be identified through the Local List process, they may also be 
identified outside of this mechanism, through the development management 
process for example. 

Page 420



 
 

6 
 
 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN Local List Supplementary Planning Document 

4. What is a Local List? 
4.1 Local Listing is an established way for local councils and communities to jointly 

identify and physically record elements of the historic environment that are valued 
for their local heritage interest, such that they merit special consideration in the 
planning process as non-designated heritage assets. It is widely recognised that 
Local Lists also play a role in building and reinforcing a sense of place within local 
communities, contributing to local pride and well-being. 

 
4.2 Whilst Local Lists are mostly made up of buildings and structures, including those 

within the boundaries of conservation areas, they can also include other features 
such as monuments, sites or designed landscapes. 

 
4.3 The Local List is a register that provides clarity on the location of each entry and 

its special heritage interest and the purpose of the Local List is to identify non 
designated heritage assets so that owners, developers and any organisations or 
infrastructure providers whose work may affect them, are aware of their status 
and value; and to aid the Council in its decision making when considering 
planning applications to ensure that their special heritage interest is given due 
consideration.  

5. The Implications of Local Listing  
5.1 The Local List is a register that provides clarity on the location of each entry and its 

special heritage interest. 
 

5.2 Inclusion on the Local List is not primarily intended to restrict development, but 
will seek to ensure that any proposals take into consideration the local 
significance of the building. 
 

5.3 Consideration to alter or demolish buildings/structures on the Local List can only be 
determined if such proposals require or are associated with an application for 
planning permission. Local List status will be taken into account as a material 
consideration through the planning processes. Permitted development rights are 
not affected by this designation. Inclusion in this list does not afford any additional 
statutory protection or grant aid. 
 

5.4 Cheshire East Council is committed to protecting local heritage and as such will 
always favour the retention of a locally listed building where practicable. 
Imaginative ideas will be sought by Development Management Officers to ensure 
elements of the Locally Listed Building are incorporated into any new design 
proposal. 
 

5.5 Where retention proves impracticable, the council will require that a photographic 
record of the building is made prior to demolition and submitted to the Council for 
record purposes. 

Page 421



 
 

7 
 
 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN Local List Supplementary Planning Document 

Requirement for Planning Permission 

5.6 Inclusion of a heritage asset on the Local List introduces no additional planning 
controls. It does not automatically affect permitted development rights, i.e. the 
rights to make certain changes to a building without the need to apply for planning 
permission.  

 
5.7 Where a heritage asset on the Local List is within a conservation area or subject to 

an Article 4 Direction, there are some additional planning controls already in 
place. 

 
5.8 The Council will monitor the effect of the Local List and, if necessary, consider the 

introduction of Article 4 Directions to remove certain permitted development 
rights that would otherwise allow alterations to be made to the heritage asset, or 
its demolition, without the need for planning permission. 

 
5.9 When submitting a planning application that would affect, or have the potential to 

affect, a building or structure on the Local List, a written Heritage Statement will 
be required. The statement should describe the heritage interest, both as a whole 
and the specific parts, and any particular features of interest affected by the 
proposal. The level of detail should be sufficient to understand the potential 
impact of the proposal on the significance of the asset.  

6. Planning Policy Context 
6.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)3, Planning Practice Guidance 

(PPG) and written ministerial statements set out the national approach to heritage 
in a planning context; and Local Listing is supported and encouraged by 
Government guidance, Historic England’s best practice advice and the Cheshire 
East Local Plan. 

National Good Practice Advice  

6.2 Local Lists provide a consistent and systematic method to establish whether 
elements within the historic environment have sufficient heritage significance to 
be afforded additional protection as ‘non-designated heritage assets’. 

 
6.3 National good practice advice issued by Historic England in its Advice Note 7 

Local Heritage Listing (2nd edition January 2021)4 promotes the important role of 
Local Lists in raising the profile of local heritage, including celebrating heritage 
that is valued by the community, by providing an opportunity for communities to 
have their views on local heritage heard. This includes consulting communities on 
the selection criteria to be used to judge the suitability of candidates for inclusion 

 
3 National Planning Policy Framework 
4 Local Heritage Listing: Identifying and Conserving Local Heritage | Historic England 

Page 422

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/67aafe8f3b41f783cca46251/NPPF_December_2024.pdf
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/local-heritage-listing-advice-note-7/


 
 

8 
 
 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN Local List Supplementary Planning Document 

on the Local List, along with a role in nomination. The advice note also advocates 
the proper recording and public access to Local Lists. 

National Policy and Guidance 

6.4 At para.202, the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (December 2024) 
sets out that plans should set out a positive strategy for the conservation and 
enjoyment of the historic environment. Emphasis is placed on sustaining and 
enhancing the significance of heritage assets and recognising that heritage assets 
are an irreplaceable resource which should be conserved in a manner appropriate 
to their significance. 

 
6.5 The NPPF defines heritage assets as including those identified by the Council, for 

example through Local Listing. Entries on the Local List are recognised in local and 
national planning policy as Non-Designated Heritage Assets. The NPPF advises 
that the effect of development proposals on the significance (special interest) of 
all heritage assets should be taken into account in determining planning 
applications. In weighing applications that directly or indirectly affect non-
designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required having regard 
to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the asset. 

 
6.6 The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) gives further guidance on non-

designated heritage assets (paragraphs: 039-041). In particular, it advocates the 
production of Local Lists and underlines the need for the selection of Local List 
entries to be based on sound evidence and up-to date information and for lists to 
be accessible to the public in order to provide greater clarity and certainty for 
developers and decision-makers. 

Local Policy 

6.7 Cheshire East’s Local Plan gives significant weight to the preservation and 
enhancement of non-designated heritage assets in planning decision making. 

 
6.8 Cheshire East contains a much valued, varied and unique built heritage. This is a 

key contributor to the quality of life and economic attractiveness of the borough 
and has a positive and important role to play in achieving a sustainable 
community in Cheshire East. The council will expect new developments to 
respect and promote the distinctive local heritage of the area, including the 
historic silk industry in Macclesfield, the importance of the rail industry in Crewe 
and the distinctive qualities of towns and villages across the borough. 

 
6.9 Local Plan Strategy policy SE7 ‘The Historic Environment’ sets out the broad 

approach the council will take toward achieving this. Policies HER1 to HER9 of the 
Site Allocations and Development Policies Document provide further detail on 
identifying heritage assets within Cheshire East; managing Heritage at Risk; 
managing development in conservation areas, managing development that 
affects listed buildings, parks and gardens and historic battlefields; the approach 

Page 423



 
 

9 
 
 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN Local List Supplementary Planning Document 

to non-designated heritage assets; archaeology and Jodrell /bank Observatory 
Worl Heritage Site. 

Policy Implications 

6.10 Where assets are included on the Local List this means they are formally 
recognised as ‘non-designated heritage assets’ which gives greater emphasis to 
protecting the special heritage interest of the asset when any changes are 
proposed. 

 
6.11 Where planning permission is required, the special heritage interest (significance) 

of the Local List entry will be a ‘material consideration’ in determining the planning 
application. This means that account will be taken of the impact of the proposal 
on the special interest of the asset including its setting when making a decision 
on development proposals. For those assets located within conservation areas, 
other heritage related planning policies are also relevant.  

Implications for Building Control 

6.12 Buildings on the Local List are given special consideration in relation to Approved 
Documents L1B and L2B of the Building Regulations. This effectively means that 
heritage interest can be taken into account when considering the requirements 
under the building regulations in relation to the conservation of fuel and power in 
existing homes and other buildings to ensure that the significance of the heritage 
asset is better safeguarded. 

7 Guidance on Works to Locally Listed Buildings 
7.1 It is hoped that the unique qualities of Locally Important Buildings recognised 

through inclusion in the Local List will encourage owners to take pride in their care 
and conservation. Alterations and extensions which respect the character of a 
property can also add to its value. 

 
7.2 Cheshire East Council nevertheless recognises that buildings often need to be 

altered or adapted for changing needs. Where alterations are proposed, 
understanding of the buildings architectural or historic interest can help inform 
the most appropriate approach. 

 
7.3 Guidance on policy requirements are set out in the LPS at Policy SE7 Historic 

Environment and Polices HER1-9 of the SADPD. The Cheshire East Design Guide 
SPD5 should also be consulted and the following guidance will also be used as 
appropriate in the assessment of alterations to a building on the Local List where 
planning permission is required. 

 
5 Design guide supplementary planning document 

Page 424

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial-planning/cheshire_east_local_plan/supplementary_plan_documents/design-guide-supplementary-planning-document.aspx


 
 

10 
 
 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN Local List Supplementary Planning Document 

Extensions 

7.4 Extensions should be designed to conserve or enhance the appearance, scale and 
character of the building. They should normally be subservient to the host building 
in height and massing. If traditional approach is adopted then attention to historic 
detailing, materials and workmanship is important. If a contemporary style is 
adopted the materials, quality, detailing and design should complement the 
existing building. 

Roofs 

7.5 Roofing materials and chimneys all contribute to the character and local 
distinctiveness of an area. Concrete tiles and slates have different weathering 
properties and are often heavier, requiring additional strengthening of the roof 
timbers which may be harmful to the character of the Locally Important Building. 

 
7.6 Roof lights and dormer windows can affect the character of the building and may 

not be appropriate. Roof lights should be kept to a minimum and located on the rear 
elevation where possible. Special conservation roof lights fitted flush to the roof 
can reduce the visual impact. 

Joinery 

7.7 Original joinery details such as windows and doors contribute to the character of 
the building and the street scene and should be retained wherever possible. 
Modern details such as UPVC windows and doors with integral glazed fanlights 
and stained or varnished joinery is not normally appropriate. 

Research 

7.8 Proposals for alterations should seek to conserve the architectural or historic 
character of the building, so it is important to identify features which contribute to 
the character of the building or site. Specialist historic building consultants can 
help inform future changes and offer sensitive solutions. The Heritage Statement 
accompanying any application needs to clearly show there is an understanding of the 
important elements of the building or site, and evidence of how the scheme has been 
conceived, justifying how the proposals will respect the historic fabric or setting. 

Setting 

7.9 Consideration should be given to the location and design of new buildings within 
the grounds of Locally Listed Buildings. The setting of a Locally Listed Building may 
include land outside the buildings curtilage and could include adjacent land, 
important views or the wider street scene. 

Boundary Details 

7.10 Walls, fences and railings can contribute to a building’s character and new 
boundary features should be of an appropriate design. Original features should be 
retained where possible. 

Page 425



 
 

11 
 
 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN Local List Supplementary Planning Document 

8 Nominating Buildings for the Local List 

8.1 Anyone can nominate a building for inclusion on the Local List, Parish and Town 
Councils, amenity societies, local history groups, local residents and members of 
the public. A full review of the Local List will take place every five years. An internal 
emergency procedure is in place for Officers to include buildings on an ad hoc 
basis. 

 
8.2 Nominations are welcome before the review process is carried out. These will be kept 

on record. 

Emergency Procedure 

8.3 In circumstances where a heritage building (or building that could be a potential 
heritage asset) is at risk of damage or demolition the Local Planning Authority may 
seek to apply an Article 4 direction to remove permitted development rights and 
prevent loss or damage to the building.  
 

8.4 Alongside this process, a building may be considered of high enough significance 
for spot listing for statutory protection under the standard process carried out by 
Historic England6. 

Formal Designation of Local List Buildings 

8.5 Buildings nominated for Local Listing are assessed against the agreed criteria by 
the Conservation team in the first instance. 

 
8.6 All reasonable effort will be made to notify owners when their building has been 

added to the Local List with an explanation of what this means and how it affects 
them. 

 
8.7 Requests for a building to be removed from the Local List must be supported by 

evidence to show that the building or structure is no longer of special interest and 
therefore no longer merits inclusion on the list. A building can only be removed 
from the list with the agreement of Cheshire East Council. 

9 Local List Entry Types  
9.1 Whilst Local Lists are usually made up of buildings, they may also include other 

structures and features of the historic environment that give local areas their 
distinctive character. 

 
9.2 Local Listing may apply across a wide range types of heritage building/asset, 

including, but not limited to the following: 

 
6 Apply for Listing | Historic England 

Page 426

https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/protect-historic-places/apply-for-listing/


 
 

12 
 
 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN Local List Supplementary Planning Document 

Agriculture Traditional farm buildings including amongst others well-
preserved barns, dairies, stables, piggeries, dovecotes and 
cart sheds. 

Public Art and 
Commemorative 

Monuments that show a high level of craftsmanship or 
artistry, especially if associated with a known artist or local 
manufacturer. This asset type includes amongst others, 
public art and sculpture, grave markers, civic monuments, 
commemorative plaques and war memorials 

Commercial Banks and offices, shops and shopfronts, public houses, 
inns and hotels. 

Cultural and 
Entertainment 

Libraries and reading rooms, museums, assembly rooms 
and music venues, theatres and cinemas, dance halls, 
village halls and institutes. 

Residential Examples of vernacular and more contemporary dwellings 
and ancillary buildings. 

Places of Worship or 
religious sites 

Places of worship of all different denominations and faiths 
including other buildings that have been reused as faith 
buildings. 

Law and Civic, 
(including Education 
and Health) 

Town halls and government buildings, law courts, police 
stations and prisons, fire stations, reading rooms, political 
clubs and institutions, hospitals, schools and technical 
colleges 

Trade and Industry Assets relating to textiles manufacturing, engineering and 
machinemaking, coal mining and quarrying amongst others 

Utilities and 
Communication 

Power generation or distribution sites, waterworks, 
pumping stations, water towers and reservoirs, post boxes, 
telephone boxes and telegraph exchanges. 

Leisure, Sports and 
Recreation 

Indoor and outdoor sporting venues including swimming 
baths, pavilions, and sports grounds. 

Public Realm and 
Street Furniture 

Street surfaces, lampposts, boundary markers, street 
nameplates, signposts, drinking fountains, street furniture, 
railings. 

Transport Canal and rail infrastructure, bridges, bus and tram depots 
and sheds, historic trackways and way markers. 

Historic designed 
landscape 

Public gardens and parks, cemeteries, recreation grounds, 
public squares, woodland, deer parks, private gardens. 

Archaeological sites 
and monuments 

Buried archaeological remains and upstanding remains or 
earthworks 

 

10 Local List Selection Criteria  
10.1 To ensure locally listing is applied only to those assets with genuine heritage 

interest, the it is important that the listing criteria is robust, and based on sound 
evidence. The table below sets out the heritage significance that must be achieved 

Page 427



 
 

13 
 
 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN Local List Supplementary Planning Document 

in order for assets to be considered for local listing.  
 
10.2 Advice within Historic England’s Local Heritage Listing: Historic England Advice 

Note 7 (2nd edition January 2021) the Department for Culture, Media and Sport, 
‘Principles of Selection of Listed Buildings’ (January 2025)7 sets out best practice 
approaches to the criteria and general principles used in the selection of Listed 
Buildings and has formed the basis of the approach here. 

 
10.3 Elevating local buildings to be considered formally as ‘Heritage Assets’ requires 

that the candidate asset must have architectural, artistic, historic or 
archaeological interest. This interest underpins the Principal Selection Criteria set 
out below; entries should meet one or more of these criteria.  Entries should also 
meet one or more of the Secondary Selection Criteria which include authenticity 
(age, rarity or intactness), social and community interest, group value and 
townscape/landscape interest.  

 
10.4 The criteria are to be used as both a guide for those making a nomination and to 

inform the selection process. They are intended to set an appropriate standard 
which can be consistently applied to the assessment of candidates for local 
listing and to be sufficiently broad in the range of heritage values captured. At the 
same time, the criteria should ensure the standard is not too low so as to risk 
including assets of more limited quality which might devalue the status of the 
Local List. 

Principal Selection Criteria Table 

Architectural or 
Artistic Interest 

 

Architectural interest is an interest in the art or science of the design, 
construction, materials, craftsmanship and decoration of buildings 
and structures of all types. Artistic interest is an interest in other 
creative skills such as sculpture and decoration. This criteria 
includes:  

Well preserved examples of particular local building 
styles/traditions, techniques and materials that are part of the local 
architectural style (local vernacular) and/or which illustrates local or 
regional architectural history or design.  
 
Good examples of a distinctive architectural style or fashion; or that 
demonstrates high quality design, including form, proportions, 
materials, attention to detail and articulation. These assets should 
be well preserved or affected only by minor reversible alterations.  
 
Works of a notable local or national architect, designer or artist.  
 

 
7 Principles of selection for listed buildings - GOV.UK 

Page 428

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/principles-of-selection-for-listing-buildings


 
 

14 
 
 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN Local List Supplementary Planning Document 

Assets with a high degree of creative skill/craftsmanship in their 
construction and/or detailing for example stone carving, joinery, 
metalwork, stained glass. Decorative elements such as finials, roof 
bosses, door surrounds or signage may also hold a degree of artistic 
interest.  
 
This criteria also covers assets that are important local examples of 
technological innovation or engineering.  

Assets nominated under this category for their architectural or 
artistic interest must meet the secondary criteria for Authenticity 
(Age, Rarity, Intactness). 

Historic 
Interest 

 

Historic interest is an interest in past lives and events and includes 
assets that exhibit evidence of an association with an 
important/valued aspect of local or national history, notable 
people/families, groups or events, or relate to a key period of building 
development. This criteria includes:  

Assets that have well-authenticated historical associations with an 
individual; company; organisation; groups/movement; or event of 
local or national importance. For example a birthplace of a notable 
figure, the meeting place of a notable group or the site of a significant 
event. 

Assets that have an important association with key periods of 
economic development such as agricultural, industrial, 
commercial, communications or transport. 

Archaeological 
Interest 

 

There will be archaeological interest in a heritage asset if it holds, or 
potentially holds, evidence of past human activity worthy of expert 
investigation at some point. Assets can take the form of structural 
remains, earthwork monuments, archaeological features or 
deposits. These may date from very early prehistory through to 
relatively recent sites, for example the remains of structures 
associated with World War Two. 

Secondary Selection Criteria 

Authenticity (Age, 
Rarity, Intactness) 

 

The older a heritage asset is, and the fewer surviving example 
of its type, the more likely it is to have heritage significance. 
Generally, assets will be a good example of their type and 
survive in or closely to their original form as follows:  

Pre 1845: Assets that retain a significant proportion of their 
original fabric, and where the style, form and construction 
are easily identifiable. Early origins, if not now clearly 
expressed in the character of the building, would not in 

Page 429



 
 

15 
 
 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN Local List Supplementary Planning Document 

themselves justify inclusion. Superficial alterations which 
may be reversed in the future will not preclude inclusion.  

1845 to 1945: Assets that are substantially unaltered and 
retain the majority of their original features, fabric and plan 
form, having a quality and character that distinguish them 
from other buildings/structures of the same period locally. 
Superficial alterations which may be reversed in the future 
will not preclude inclusion. 

Post 1945: Assets that are outstanding examples of 
important architectural styles of their period and unaffected 
by inappropriate alterations and extensions.  

Assets nominated for their architectural or artistic interest 
must meet this secondary criteria. 

Social and Communal 
Interest 

 

Social and communal interest is closely related to historic 
interest and comprises assets that represent key social or 
cultural roles in the historical development of the area 
including associations with activities, events, or traditions 
that give an area and/or community a sense of local identity 
or that contributes to the “collective memory” of the area. 

Group Values In addition to the individual qualities of an asset, they may 
also have special interest through their visual, design or 
historic functional relationship with other buildings, 
structures and spaces. Examples include farm groupings, 
mill complexes, residential terraces or retail parades. 

Townscape/Landscape 
Interest including 
Landmarks 

This criteria includes: 

Assets or groups of assets which, due to their form, scale, 
location or appearance, stand out positively in the 
townscape; landscape; roofscape; or key views. 
 
Designed landscapes that make a positive visual 
contribution to the local distinctiveness of an area, for 
example public squares, cemeteries, parks and gardens. 
 
Assets that make a valued contribution to a distinctive 
streetscene including boundary treatments (e.g. walls, 
fences and railings); street surfaces (e.g. cobbles, flags and 
setts); and street furniture (e.g. signposts, streetlights, 
benches, post boxes and telephone boxes). 

Evidence: 

10.5 Local listing must be underpinned by an appropriate level of evidence which 
establishes the heritage value of the asset and demonstrates its significance. 

Page 430



 
 

16 
 
 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN Local List Supplementary Planning Document 

Evidence may be derived from a number of different sources and include historic 
mapping; documentary sources such as local history books, archived newspaper 
articles, historic building plans and images where they exist; and site surveys. 
Such data is necessary to describe the location and significance of the asset and 
will be used to evaluate whether a candidate asset should be included on the 
Local List. 

11 Procedure for Adding to or Removing Entries from The Local List  
11.1 The criteria are to be used as both a guide for those making a nomination and to 

inform the selection process. They are intended to set an appropriate standard 
which can be consistently applied to the assessment of candidates for local listing 
and to be sufficiently broad in the range of heritage values captured. At the same 
time, the criteria should ensure the standard is not too low so as to risk including 
assets of more limited quality which might devalue the status of the Local List. 

 
11.2 Local Listing requires thorough research and robust assessment to ensure that 

potential candidates have sufficient heritage significance to be considered as 
being material considerations in a planning context. 

Identification 

11.3 The Local List is a dynamic document and assets are likely to be identified in the 
following ways: 

 
11.4 Nomination: Members of the public are encouraged to nominate assets that they 

consider meet the criteria for inclusion on the Local List by using the nomination 
form on the Council’s website and included in Appendix Three of this SPD. A 
completed nomination form will include as a minimum:  

 
o Street address including postcode and/or a site location plan;  
 
o Written description of significance identifying which of the Local List 

criteria are met; and  
 
o Clear digital photographs taken from public viewpoints giving an overall 

impression of the asset; the original design intention; any important 
decorative or structural features; and any dates or inscriptions that 
contribute to an understanding of the significance of the asset.  

 
11.5 Local Character Appraisals: The most common type of appraisal undertaken by 

the Council are Conservation Area Appraisals. During the course of these 
appraisals, individual assets that meet the selection criteria will be taken through 
the assessment process.  

 
11.6 Historic Environment Record (HER): The HER identifies both designated and 

non-designated heritage assets. Those non-designated heritage assets that meet 

Page 431



 
 

17 
 
 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN Local List Supplementary Planning Document 

the selection criteria will be considered for inclusion on the Local List.  
 
11.7 Development Control Process: During the determination of planning 

applications, it may emerge that the proposal relates to a building or structure that 
meets the selection criteria and will be considered for inclusion on the Local List.  

Local Listing Procedure  

11.8 The process of Local Listing identifies, assesses and describes a heritage asset 
against the criteria. The objective is to do so in a robust and consistent manner 
across the whole borough, distinguishing only those assets which are of the 
greatest merit or local interest. Once identified, assessed, and described, the 
proposed listing is consulted on and the asset is recommended for Local Listing. 
The final decision is taken by the Head of Planning in consultation with the Chair 
of the Councils Environment and Communities Committee. 

 
11.9 The procedure will be overseen by the Environmental Planning Team. Proposed 

additions to the Local List may be processed in periodic batches or individually 
and will include the following stages: 

 
11.10 Stage One: Initial Assessment: 
 
11.11 An evaluation of the information submitted will be undertaken to further 

understand the significance of the asset, and whether the asset is likely to meet 
the selection criteria. If an asset is not considered to meet the selection criteria, 
re-assessment will only take place if further information that reveals more about 
its heritage significance becomes available. 

 
11.12 Stage Two: Further Investigation 
 
11.13 If the asset is considered likely to meet the criteria, further research and evaluation 

will be carried out including a site visit. 
 
11.14 Stage Three: Consultation 
 
11.15 If the nomination passes stages 1 and 2 above, a draft report outlining the reasons 

for consideration will be prepared for consultation. At this stage, there is a 
presumption in favour of including the asset on the Local List. 
 

11.16 In some instances candidate assets will be identified through the planning 
application process, where this occurs the Local Listing process will be instigated 
alongside the determination of the application. 

 
11.17 The owner (where known) will be invited to comment within a 28-day period. The 

consultation will be undertaken in accordance with the Councils Statement of 
Community involvement and the local ward member, parish council and relevant 

Page 432



 
 

18 
 
 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN Local List Supplementary Planning Document 

special interest groups will also be invited to make representations for 
consideration. 

 
11.18 It is important to note that the Council can only consider comments about the 

asset’s heritage interest and cannot consider personal circumstances or current 
or future development proposals. Any request for an asset not to be added to the 
list will need to be based on evidence that it fails to meet the requirements of the 
selection criteria. 

 
11.19 Stage Four: Final Assessment and Selection Review: 
 
11.20 Consultation responses will be assessed and summarised as part of the final 

assessment. Where assets are considered suitable for inclusion on the Local List 
a final draft report will be prepared. The report will comprise the following 
information: address and location plan; photographs; the known or believed date 
of construction; the present use (if relevant); a description of the asset; and the 
criterion under which it qualifies.  

 
11.21 Reports of this nature would normally be taken to the Councils Environment and 

Communities committee for final decision. However, consideration is being given 
to whether final decisions could be delegated to the Head of Planning and the 
Chair of the Environment and Communities Committee. 

 
11.22 Stage Five: Local List Update 
 
11.23 If the asset is agreed for inclusion on the Local List, it will be assigned an 

identification number and the Local List updated accordingly.  
 
11.24 The Council will refer assets that have strong potential for inclusion on the 

National List to Historic England so that consideration can be given to whether 
they should be statutorily listed. 

Notification  

11.25 Once a decision has been made by the Council to include an asset on the Local 
List, or remove it, the owner, where known or identified, will be notified in writing 
with an explanation of what this means and how it affects them.  

 
11.26 Owners will have the opportunity to challenge the decision to include (or not 

include) their property on the Local List. Such appeals should be made in writing 
no later than 28 days from the date of the notification and should demonstrate why 
the asset does not (or does) meet each of the selection criteria. 

 
11.27 Such appeal cases will be considered by the councils Principal Heritage Officer 

and a report will be written to summarise the key matters. It is envisaged that 
appeals will be considered by the Head of Planning in consultation with the Chair 

Page 433



 
 

19 
 
 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN Local List Supplementary Planning Document 

of the Environment and Communities Committee. 
 
11.28 Reasons for removal would be that upon further investigation the significance of 

the asset was found to be less important than was originally thought. Reasons for 
addition following a decision not to include, would be that further evidence has 
been discovered or revealed that proves the asset has greater significance than 
was originally thought such that it would meet the selection criteria. Future plans 
for alterations will not be accepted as justification for removal from the Local List.  

 
11.29 Assets added to the Local List will be plotted onto an electronic geographical 

information system and used for development control purposes.  
 
11.30 The Council will share appropriate information gathered through the assessment 

and selection process with the Cheshire Historic Environment Record (HER) in 
accordance with data protection requirements. 

12 Removing Entries from The Local List  
12.1 Requests for an asset to be removed from the Local List must be supported by 

evidence to show that the asset no longer meets the selection criteria and 
therefore no longer merits inclusion on the List.  

 
12.2 Where removal from the Local List is recommended, a report will prepared and 

considered by the Head of Planning in consultation with the Chair of the 
Environment and Communities Committee. 

13 Review and Monitoring  
13.1 The Local List will be monitored and updated on an on-going basis to take account 

of new information that is available about specific assets that would justify its 
inclusion or removal. This would include information that comes to light when 
preparing or updating Conservation Area Appraisals and information received 
through the development control process. 

14 Viewing the Local List  
14.1 The Local List is available to view on the Council’s website. 
 
14.2 A brief description of each entry and a summary of the reasons for inclusion on 

the Local List will be available for every new and updated entry; accompanied by 
an image of the entry taken from the public highway, where possible. 
 

14.3 The description for each entry may not be exhaustive, and further research may 
reveal a greater understanding of the site which would meet other selection 
criteria 

Page 434



 
 

20 
 
 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN Local List Supplementary Planning Document 

15 Currently Adopted Local List  
15.1 The currently adopted local list remains as an SPD and therefore also a material 

consideration in decision making. Assets currently identified in the Local List will 
be carried over into the new local list, their status will not change unless reviewed 
as part of the process outlined above. 
 
 
 

  

Page 435



 
 

21 
 
 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN Local List Supplementary Planning Document 

Glossary 
  
  
Amenity A positive element or elements that contribute to the overall 

character or enjoyment of an area. For example, open land, 
trees, historic buildings and the inter-relationship between 
them.   

  
Approved Documents Approved Documents are official guidance documents 

published by the UK government to help ensure compliance 
with building regulations. They provide detailed advice on the 
performance expected of materials and building work, along 
with practical examples and solutions for common building 
situation 

  
Article 4 A tool used by local planning authorities in the UK to control 

certain types of development that would otherwise be allowed 
without planning permission. This is particularly important in 
heritage and conservation areas to preserve their character 
and appearance. 

  
Conservation Area A designated region that is protected due to its natural, 

historical, or cultural significance. These areas are managed 
to preserve their unique features and biodiversity, often 
restricting certain activities to maintain their ecological 
integrity. Conservation areas can include national parks, 
wildlife reserves, and heritage sites. 

  
Designated Asset A site, building, or area that has been given legal protection 

due to its historical, architectural, or cultural significance. 
This designation ensures that the asset's character and 
importance are preserved through the planning system. 

  
Development  Defined by the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as “the 

carrying out of building, engineering, mining or other operation 
in, on, over or under land, or the making of any material change 
of use of any building or other land.” Most forms of 
development require planning permission, unless expressly 
granted planning permission via a development order.  

  
Development Plan This includes adopted Local Plans and Neighbourhood Plans 

and is defined in Section 38 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Planning Act 2004 

 

Habitats Regulations 
Assessment  

The process that competent authorities must undertake to 
consider whether a proposed development plan or 
programme is likely to have significant effects on a European 
site designated for its nature conservation interest. 

Page 436



 
 

22 
 
 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN Local List Supplementary Planning Document 

  

Listing Listing is a process used to identify and protect buildings of 
special architectural or historic interest, carried out by English 
Heritage 

  

Listed Building A structure recognized for its special architectural or historic 
interest and given legal protection to preserve its character. 

  

Local List A list of buildings, structures, or sites that are recognized by a 
local planning authority for their special architectural or 
historic interest. Unlike nationally designated heritage assets, 
such as listed buildings, local list entries do not have statutory 
protection. However, they are considered in the planning 
process to ensure their significance is taken into account 
when development proposals are made. 

  
Local Plan The plan for the development of the local area, drawn up by 

the local planning authority in consultation with the 
community.  
 
In law this is described as the Development Plan Documents 
adopted under the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004.  
 
Current core strategies or other planning policies, which 
under the regulations would be considered to be Development 
Plan Documents, form part of the Local Plan. This term 
includes old policies which have been saved under the 2004 
Act.  

 

Local Plan Strategy Development Plan Document setting out the spatial vision and 
strategic objectives of the planning framework for an area, 
having regard to the Community Strategy.  

 

Local Planning Authority The local authority or council that is empowered by law to 
exercise planning functions. In the case of this SPD, the Local 
Planning Authority is Cheshire East Council.   

 

Noin Designated Heritage 
Asset 

A building, monument, site, place, area, or landscape 
identified as having heritage significance but does not meet 
the criteria for formal designation as a listed building, 
scheduled monument, or other protected status 

  
Site Allocations and 
Development Policies 
Document 

Part of the Local Plan which will contain land allocations and 
detailed policies and proposals to deliver and guide the future 
use of that land.  

Page 437



 
 

23 
 
 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN Local List Supplementary Planning Document 

 

Supplementary Planning 
Document 

A Local Development Document that may cover a range of 
issues, thematic or site specific, and provides further detail of 
policies and proposals in a ‘parent’ Development Plan 
Documents. 

 

Sustainability Appraisal An appraisal of the economic, environmental and social 
effects of a plan from the outset of the preparation process to 
allow decisions to be made that accord with sustainable 
development. 

 

Strategic Environmental 
Appraisal  

SEA is a process and a tool for evaluating the effects of 
proposed policies, plans and programmes on natural 
resources, social, cultural and economic conditions and the 
institutional environment in which decisions are made. 

 

  
 

  

Page 438



 
 

24 
 
 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN Local List Supplementary Planning Document 

Appendices 

15.2 Please see separate web links to HRA and SEA screenings. 

 

 

 

  

Page 439



 
 

25 
 
 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN Local List Supplementary Planning Document 

 

Page 440



1 

Draft Heritage and Local List 
Supplementary Planning Document  

Strategic Environmental Assessment and Habitats Regulations Assessment 

Screening Report 

Introduction and Purpose 

1. Cheshire East Council has produced a first draft Heritage and Local List 

Supplementary Planning Document (“SPD”). The purpose of the SPD is to provide 

guidance on heritage matters and define the council’s methodology for the assessment 

of Non-Designated Heritage Assets and candidates for Local Listing. 

2. The Development Plan for Cheshire East consists of the Local Plan Strategy (“LPS”) 

and the Site Allocations and Development Policies Document (“SADPD”). In addition, 

made Neighbourhood Plans also form part of the Development Plan.  

3. The policy framework for the SPD is contained both in the LPS and SADPD, alongside 

the National Planning Policy Framework (“NPPF”). This SPD has a focus on delivering 

the objectives of LPS policy SE7 and the heritage policies HER1 to HER7 of the 

SADPD. 

4. This screening report is designed to determine whether or not the contents of the first 

draft Heritage and Local List SPD require a Strategic Environmental Assessment 

(“SEA”) in accordance with the European Directive 2001/42/EC and associated 

Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004. The report 

also addresses whether the first draft Heritage and Local List SPD has a significant 

adverse effect upon any internationally designated site(s) of nature conservation 

importance and thereby subject to the requirements of the Habitats Regulations. The 

report contains separate sections that set out the findings of the screening assessment 

for these two issues.  

5. The draft SEA / HRA statement, alongside the draft Heritage and Local List SPD, will 

be the subject of consultation in accordance with the relevant regulations and the 

Council’s Statement of Community Involvement.  This consultation will include 

consultation with the relevant statutory bodies (Natural England, Environment Agency 

and Historic England).   

Page 441



2 

Legislative Background 

6. The objective of SEA is to provide for a high level of protection of the environment with 

a view to promoting the achievement of sustainable development. It is a requirement 

of European Directive 2001/42/EC on the assessment of the effects of certain plans 

and programmes on the environment (also known as the SEA Directive). The Directive 

was transposed in UK law by the Environmental Assessment of Plans and 

Programmes Regulations 2004, often known as the SEA Regulations. 

7. Article 3(3) and 3(4) of the regulations make clear that SEA is only required for plans 

and programmes when they have significant environmental effects. The 2008 Planning 

Act removed the requirement to undertake a full Sustainability Appraisal for a SPD 

although consideration remains as to whether the SPD requires SEA, in exceptional 

circumstances, when likely to have a significant environmental effect(s) that has not 

already been assessed during the preparation of a Local Plan. In addition, planning 

practice guidance (PPG – ref Paragraph: 008 Reference ID: 11-008-20140306) states 

that a SEA is unlikely to be required where an SPD deals only with a small area at 

local level, unless it is considered that there are likely to be significant environmental 

effects. 

8. It should also be noted that the SEA will ultimately be replaced a new form of 

assessment called ‘Environmental Outcome Reports’, until then the approach set out 

here will be undertaken. 

Overview of Heritage and Local List SPD 

9. The purpose of the Heritage and Local List SPD is to provide further guidance on the 

implementation of the Heritage policies in the LPS and SADPD.  

10. It is important to note that Heritage policies in the LPS and SADPD were the subject 

of Sustainability Appraisal, which incorporated the requirements of the SEA regulations 

(as part of an Integrated Sustainability Appraisal). The likely significant environmental 

effects have already been identified and addressed – the SPD merely provides 

guidance on existing policies. The LPS and SADPD Integrated Sustainability Appraisal 

has informed this SPD screening assessment.  For the purposes of compliance with 

the UK SEA Regulations and the EU SEA directive, the following reports comprised 

the SA “Environmental Report”: 

• SD 003 – LPS Submission Sustainability (Integrated) Appraisal (May 2014); 

Page 442



3 

• PS E042 – LPS Sustainability (Integrated) Appraisal of Planning for Growth 

Suggested Revisions (August 2015); 

• RE B006 – LPS Sustainability (Integrated) Appraisal Suggested Revisions to 

LPS Chapters 9-14 (September 2015); 

• RE F004 – Sustainability (Integrated) Appraisal – Proposed Changes (March 

2016); 

• PC B029 – Sustainability (Integrated) Appraisal - Proposed Changes to 

Strategic and Development Management Policies (July 2016); 

• PC B030 – Sustainability (Integrated) Appraisal - Proposed Changes to Sites 

and Strategic Locations (July 2016); 

• MM 002 - Sustainability (Integrated) Appraisal - Main Modifications Further 

Addendum Report. 

11. In addition, an SA adoption statement was prepared in July 2017 to support the 

adoption of the LPS.  

SEA Screening Process 

12. The council is required to undertake a SEA screening to assess whether the draft 

Heritage and Local List SPD is likely to have significant environmental effects. If the 

final draft Heritage and Local List SPD is considered unlikely to have significant 

environmental effects through the screening process, then the conclusion will be that 

SEA is not necessary. This is considered in Table 1 below: - 

Table 1: Establishing the need for a SEA 

Stage Decision Rationale 

1. Is the SPD subject to preparation 
and/or adoption by a national, 
regional or local authority OR 
prepared through a legislative 
procedure by Parliament or 
Government? (Art. 2 (a)). 

Yes The SPD will be prepared and adopted by 
Cheshire East Borough Council.   

2. Is the SPD required by legislation, 
regulatory or administrative 
provisions? (Article. 2 (a)). 

No The Council’s Local Development Scheme 
(2025) does not specifically identify the need 

to produce a Heritage and Local List SPD.  

3. Is the SPD prepared for agricultural, 
forestry, fisheries, energy, industry, 
transport, waste management, 
telecommunications, tourism, town 

No The SPD is being prepared for town and 
country planning use. It does not set a 
framework for future development consent of 
projects in Annexes I and II to the EIA 

Page 443



4 

and country planning or land use, 
AND does it set a framework for 
future development consent of 
projects in Annexes I and II to the 
EIA Directive? (Article 3.2 (a)). 

Directive (Article 3.2 (a)). Whilst some 
developments to which the guidance in the 
SPD applies would fall within Annex II of the 
EIA Directive at a local level, the SPD does 
not specifically plan for or allow it.  

4. Will the SPD, in view of its likely 
effect on sites, require an 
assessment under Article 6 or 7 of 
the Habitats Directive? Art 3.2 (b)). 

No A Habitats Regulations Assessment has 
been undertaken for the LPS and SADPD. 
The SPD does not introduce new policy or 
allocate sites for development. Therefore, it is 
not considered necessary to undertake a 
HRA assessment for the SPD. This 
conclusion has been supported by an HRA 
screening assessment as documented 
through this report.  

5 Does the SPD determine the use of 
small areas at local level, OR is it a 
minor modification of a PP subject 
to Art. 3.2? (Art 3.3) 

No The SPD will not determine the use of small 
areas at a local level. The SPD provides 
guidance on the identification of Non 
Designated Heritage Assets and Locally 
Listed Buildings, but it does not specifically 
determine the use of small areas at a local 
level. The SPD will be a material 
consideration in decision taking.  

6. Does the SPD set the framework for 
future development consent of 
projects (not just projects in 
Annexes to the EIA Directive)? (Art. 
3.4) 

No The LPS and SADPD provide the framework 
for the future consent of projects. The SPD 
elaborates upon approved and emerging 
policies and does not introduce new policy or 
allocate sites for development. 

 

13. The SPD is considered to not have a significant effect on the environment and 

therefore SEA is not required. However, for completeness, Table 2 assesses whether 

the draft SPD will have any significant environmental effects using the criteria set out 

in Annex II of SEA Directive 2001/42/EC1 and Schedule 1 of the Environmental 

Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 20042. 

Table 2: assessment of likely significance of effects on the environment 

SEA Directive Criteria 
Schedule 1 of 
Environmental Assessment 
of Plans and Programmes 
Regulations 2004 

Summary of significant effects, 
scope and influence of the 
document 

Is the Plan likely 
to have a 
significant 
environmental 
effect (Yes / No) 

1.Characteristics of the SPD having particular regard to: 

 
1 https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32001L0042&from=EN 
 
2 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2004/1633/pdfs/uksi_20041633_en.pdf 
 

Page 444

https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32001L0042&from=EN
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2004/1633/pdfs/uksi_20041633_en.pdf


5 

SEA Directive Criteria 
Schedule 1 of 
Environmental Assessment 
of Plans and Programmes 
Regulations 2004 

Summary of significant effects, 
scope and influence of the 
document 

Is the Plan likely 
to have a 
significant 
environmental 
effect (Yes / No) 

(a) The degree to which the 
SPD sets out a framework for 
projects and other activities, 
either with regard to the 
location, nature, size or 
operating conditions or by 
allocating resources. 

Guidance is supplementary to polices 
contained in the LPS / SADPD and has 
been the subject of SA / SEA. The 
policies provide an overarching 
framework for development in Cheshire 
East.  

The draft Heritage and Local List SPD 
provides further clarity and certainty to 
form the basis for the submission and 
determination of planning applications, 
consistent with policies in the LPS. 

Final decisions will be determined 
through the development management 
process.  

No resources are allocated.  

No 

(b)The degree to which the 
SPD influences other plans 
and programmes including 
those in a hierarchy. 

The draft SPD is in general conformity 
with the LPS and SADPD which have 
been subject to a full Sustainability 
Appraisal (incorporating SEA). It is 
adding more detail to the adopted LPS 
and SADPD, which has itself been the 
subject of Sustainability Appraisal. 
Therefore, it is not considered to have 
an influence on any other plans and 
programmes.  

No 

(c)The relevance of the SPD 
for the integration of 
environmental considerations 
in particular with a view to 
promoting sustainable 
development. 

The draft SPD promotes sustainable 
development, in accordance with the 
NPPF (2024) and LPS/SADPD policies. 
The LPS has been the subject of a full 
Sustainability Appraisal (incorporating 
SEA). The draft SPD has limited 
relevance for the integration of 
environmental considerations but 
promotes the ‘social’ objective of 
sustainable development by providing 
guidance on identification of heritage 
assets in the borough.  

No 

(d) Environmental problems 
relevant to the SPD. 

There are no significant environmental 
problems relevant to the SPD. 

No 

(e) The relevance of the SPD 
for the implementation of 
Community legislation on the 
environment (for example 

The draft SPD will not impact on the 
implementation of community 
legislation on the environment. 

No 

Page 445



6 

SEA Directive Criteria 
Schedule 1 of 
Environmental Assessment 
of Plans and Programmes 
Regulations 2004 

Summary of significant effects, 
scope and influence of the 
document 

Is the Plan likely 
to have a 
significant 
environmental 
effect (Yes / No) 

plans and programmes 
related to waste management 
or water protection). 

 

2.Characteristics of the effects and area likely to be affected having particular regard 
to: 

(a)The probability, duration, 
frequency and reversibility of 
the effects. 

The draft SPD adds detail to adopted 
LPS and SADPD policy; itself the 
subject of SA. 

No 

(b) The cumulative nature of 
the effects of the SPD. 

The draft SPD adds detail to adopted 
LPS and SADPD policy, itself the 
subject of SA. The SA associated with 
the LPS and SADPD have considered 
relevant plans and programmes. No 
other plans or programmes have 
emerged that alter this position. 

No 

(c) The trans-boundary nature 
of the effects of the SPD. 

Trans-boundary effects will not be 
significant. The draft SPD will not lead 
to any transboundary effects as it just 
providing additional detail regarding the 
implementation of Heritage policies in 
the local plan and does not, in itself, 
influence the location of development.   

No 

(d)The risks to human health 
or the environment (e.g. due 
to accident). 

The draft SPD will not cause risks to 
human health or the environment as it 
is adding detail to Heritage policies in 
the Local Plan. 

No 

(e)The magnitude and spatial 
extent of the effects 
(geographic area and size of 
the population likely to be 
affected) by the SPD. 

The draft SPD covers the Cheshire 
East administrative area. The draft SPD 
will assist those making planning 
applications in the borough.  

No 

(f)The value and vulnerability 
of the area likely to be 
affected by the SPD due to: 

• Special natural 
characteristics of cultural 
heritage 

• Exceeded environmental 
quality standards or limit 
values 

The draft SPD will not lead to significant 
effects on the value or vulnerability of 
the area. It is adding detail regarding 
the implementation of Heritage policies 
in the LPS, and does not, in itself, 
influence the location of development.  

No 

Page 446



7 

SEA Directive Criteria 
Schedule 1 of 
Environmental Assessment 
of Plans and Programmes 
Regulations 2004 

Summary of significant effects, 
scope and influence of the 
document 

Is the Plan likely 
to have a 
significant 
environmental 
effect (Yes / No) 

• Intensive land use.  

(g)The effects of the SPD on 
areas or landscapes which 
have recognised national 
Community or international 
protected status. 

The SPD does not influence the 
location of development, so will not 
cause effects on protected landscape 
sites.  

No 

 

Conclusion and SEA screening outcome  

14. Consultation on the initial draft of the Heritage and Local List SPD will take place during 

April and May 2025 during which the three statutory consultees (the Environment 

Agency, Historic England and Natural England) will be asked to comment on the 

document and it’s implications. The SPD is not setting new policy; it is supplementing 

and providing further guidance on existing LPS and SADPD policies. Therefore, it is 

considered that an SEA is not required on the first draft Heritage and Local List SPD.  

This conclusion will be kept under review until after consultation, when the conclusion 

will be reviewed and updated accordingly.

Page 447



8 

Habitats Regulations Assessment Statement 

15. The Council has considered whether its planning documents would have a significant adverse effect 

upon the integrity of internationally designated sites of nature conservation importance.  European 

Directive 92/43/EEC on the Conservation of Natural Habitats and Wild Flora and Fauna (Habitats 

Directive) provides legal protection to habitats and species of European importance. The principal 

aim of this directive is to maintain at, and where necessary restore to, favourable conservation status 

of flora, fauna and habitats found at these designated sites. 

16. The Directive is transposed into English legislation through the Conservation of Habitats and Species 

Regulations 2017 (a consolidation of the amended Conservation of Habitats and Species 

Regulations, 2010) published in November 2017.  

17. European sites provide important habitats for rare, endangered or vulnerable natural habitats and 

species of exceptional importance in the European Union. These sites consist of Special Areas of 

Conservation (SACs, designated under the EU Directive 92/43/EEC on the conservation of natural 

habitats and of fauna and flora (Habitats Directive)), and Special Protection Areas (SPAs, designated 

under EU Directive 2009/147/EC on the conservation of wild birds (the Birds Directive)). Government 

policy requires that Ramsar sites (designated under the International Wetlands Convention, 

UNESCO, 1971) are treated as if they are fully designated European sites for the purposes of 

considering development proposals that may affect them. 

18. Spatial planning documents may be required to undergo Habitats Regulations Screening if they are 

not directly connected with or necessary to the management of a European site. As the draft Heritage 

and Local List SPD is not connected with, or necessary to, the management of European sites, the 

HRA implications of the SPD have been considered. 

19. A judgement, published on the 13 April 2018 (People Over Wind and Sweetman v Coillte Teoranta 

(C-323/17) clarified that measures intended to avoid or reduce the harmful effects of a proposed 

project on a European site may no longer be taken into account by competent authorities at the Habitat 

Regulations Assessment “screening stage” when judging whether a proposed plan or project is likely 

to have a significant effect on the integrity of a European designated site. 

20. The LPS and SADPD has been subject to HRA. 

21. The Heritage and Local List SPD does not introduce new policy; it provides further detail to those 

policies contained within the LPS and SADPD. The HRA concluded that policies Heritage policies of 

the LPS and SADPD could not have a likely significant effect on a European Site. The same applies 

to the draft Heritage and Local List SPD. The draft Heritage and Local List SPD in itself, does not 

allocate sites and is a material consideration in decision taking, once adopted. 

Page 448



9 

22. The draft Heritage and Local List SPD either alone or in combination with other plans and 

programmes, is not likely to have a significant effect on any European site. Therefore, a full 

Appropriate Assessment under the requirements of the Habitats Regulations is not required.  

Conclusion and HRA screening outcome  

 

23.  Consultation on the initial draft of the Heritage and Local List SPD will take place between during 

April and May 2025. Subject to views of the three statutory consultees (the Environment Agency, 

Historic England and Natural England) during this consultation, this screening report indicates that an 

Appropriate Assessment under the Habitats Regulations is not required. This conclusion will be 

reviewed post-consultation and updated accordingly. 

Page 449



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

OFFICIAL 

Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) and our equality duty   

The Equality Duty helps public bodies to deliver their overall objectives for public services, 

and as such should be approached as a positive opportunity to support good decision-

making.   

It encourages public bodies to understand how different people will be affected by their 

activities so that policies and services are appropriate and accessible to all and meet 

different people’s needs. By understanding the effect of their activities on different people, 

and how inclusive public services can support and open up people’s opportunities, public 

bodies are better placed to deliver policies and services that are efficient and effective.    

Complying with the Equality Duty may involve treating some people better than others, as 

far as this is allowed by discrimination law. For example, it may involve providing a service in 

a way which is appropriate for people who share a protected characteristic, such as 

providing computer training to all people to help them access information and services.   

Whilst the Gunning Principles set out the rules for consulting with ‘everyone’, additional 

requirements are in place to avoid discrimination and inequality.   

Cheshire East Council is required to comply with the Equality Act 2010 and the Public Sector 

Equality Duty. The Equality Act 2010 simplified previous anti-discrimination laws with a 

single piece of legislation. Within the Act, the Public Sector Equality Duty (Section 149) has 

three aims. It requires public bodies to have due regard to the need to:  

• eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct 

prohibited by the Act, by consciously thinking about equality when making decisions 

(such as in developing policy, delivering services and commissioning from others)   

• advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 

characteristic and people who do not share it, by removing disadvantages, meeting 

their specific needs, and encouraging their participation in public life   

• foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 

people who do not   

 

The Equality Act identifies nine ‘protected characteristics’ and makes it a legal requirement 

to make sure that people with these characteristics are protected from discrimination:   

• Age 

• Disability 

• Gender reassignment 

• Marriage and civil partnerships 

• Pregnancy and maternity 

• Race 

• Religion or belief 

• Sex 

• Sexual orientation 

 

 

 

 

Page 451

https://www.consultationinstitute.org/the-gunning-principles-implications/
https://www.consultationinstitute.org/the-gunning-principles-implications/


 

 

OFFICIAL 

Applying the equality duty to engagement   

If you are developing a new policy, strategy or programme you may need to carry out an 

Equality Impact Assessment. You may be able to ascertain the impact of your proposal on 

different characteristics through desk-based research and learning from similar programmes, 

but you also need to carry out some primary research and engagement.  

People with protected characteristics are often described as ‘hard to reach’ but you will find 

everyone can be reached – you just need to tailor your approach, so it is accessible for them.  

Please feel free to contact the Equality and Diversity mailbox who will try to help you to 

assess the impacts of your proposals and will ensure that you help the Council to comply 

with the Equality Act 2010 and the Public Sector Equality Duty.  

Section 1 – Details of the service, service change, decommissioning of a 

service, strategy, function or procedure  

 
Proposal Title  Heritage and Local List SPD 

Date of Assessment  06/03/2025 

Assessment Lead Officer 

Name and other officers 

involved    

Tom Evans 

Directorate/ Service   Place/Planning/Environmental Planning 

Details of the service, 

service change, 

decommissioning of the 

service, strategy, function 

or procedure.   

The Heritage and Conservation Team provides heritage 

advice in regard to planning applications, revises and 

updates conservation areas, manages the councils ‘local list’ 

of heritage assets and has a responsibility around heritage 

buildings at risk. The team also provides heritage advice to 

the council on it’s own corporate projects and policy 

development related to the historic environment. 

This project is to prepare a Supplementary Planning 

Document to provide planning advice on heritage matters 

and update the council’s ‘local list’. The ‘local list’ is a 

designation the identifies ‘non-designated heritage assets’ 

which are buildings and structures with heritage significance 

but which do not reach the threshold for national 

designation as listed buildings.  

 

The strategy is being updated as the current Local List was 

last updated in 2010 and it is necessary to review the 

buildings on the list and consider whether to remove any, 

and to consider other candidates for local listing. Candidate 

buildings are compiled through a ‘call for sites’ exercise that 

Page 452

mailto:EqualityandInclusion@cheshireeast.gov.uk


 

 

OFFICIAL 

has no closing date and is publicised across the borough for 

individuals (whether they have a financial interest in the 

asset or not) to put forward buildings to be considered for 

local listing. Buildings submitted for consideration will be 

assessed against the methodology set out in the SPD. 

Who is impacted?  

 

The SPD will affect those who manage/own buildings with 

heritage local heritage value / potential heritage value. 

Therefore, it is unknown whether this will affect any 

protected group more than another. 

It is not expected that adding or removing a building from 

the local list would directly impact residents who shared one 

or more protected characteristic.  

 

Links and impact on other 

services, strategies, 

functions or procedures.  

The work links to the council’s local plan heritage and 

conservation policies. 

The work also potentially links to work undertaken by the 

council’s estates team on buildings that have heritage value 

and may eventually be included in the Local List (subject to 

assessment).  

The proposal links to the Councils new Corporate Plan, the 

Cheshire East Plan, and support the Council’s commitment to 

‘unlocking prosperity for all’ by supporting the protection and 

enhancement of local heritage that is highly valued by 

residents and creates an attractive environment that supports 

business. 

How does the service, 

service change, strategy, 

function or procedure 

help the Council meet the 

requirements of the 

Public Sector Equality 

Duty?  

The proposal will not directly address unlawful discrimination, 

harassment and victimisation. However, it will set out a 

transparent methodology against which candidate heritage 

buildings will be assessed ensuring that no implicit bias is 

exerted in the designation of such assets. 

In relation to advancing equality of opportunity between 

people who share a protected characteristic and those that do 

not, the project will not address this issue directly but will 

establish a transparent and clear framework within which to 

assess heritage buildings and therefore will focus assessment 

on the buildings rather than the characteristics of those with 

and interest in them. 

The project will not directly foster good relations between 

people with a protected characteristic and those without. 

However, as above, establishing a transparent methodology to 

assess heritage assets ensures that all stakeholders will be 

Page 453

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty


 

 

OFFICIAL 

treated equally in this context. 

 

Section 2 - Information – What do you know?   

What do you know? The project is required as the current policy was adopted in 

2010 and the area of work has been subject to multiple 

national policy changes since, therefore the adopted position 

is out of date and to be effective, needs to be refreshed. 

The project will be subject to public consultation. 

Information you used to 

arrive at the decision 

As set out, this project is focused on heritage buildings and 
therefore the characteristics of those with an interest in 
such buildings (financial or otherwise) are secondary to the 
purpose of identifying and protecting locally important 
heritage assets. 
 
In arriving at a decision to update the Local List, the relevant 
factors are focused on heritage policy rather than 
individuals. 
 

Gaps in your Information At this stage it is not believed that there are any gaps.  

 

Section 3 - Information - What did people tell you?  
 

What did people tell you 

about your proposals? 

No consultation and engagement has been carried out to 

date, this is the first stage of engagement. 

Details and dates of the 
consultation/s and/or  
engagement activities 

Consultation will take place in accordance with the Council’s’ 

adopted ‘Statement of Community Involvement’ 2022, itself 

subject to EQiA prior to adoption. This means the document 

will be promoted digitally via the Councils’ website, using 

contact details from the Local Plan Stakeholders Database 

which includes representatives of groups with protected 

characteristics. Press releases and social media will be used to 

promote the consultation. Consultation will be carried out on 

line and over a minimum 4 week period. 

Are there any gaps in 

consultation and 

engagement feedback? 

There are no current gaps in knowledge however this may 
change once consultation has been carried out and feedback 
received. 

 

 

Page 454



 

 

OFFICIAL 

Section 4 - Review of information, consultation feedback and equality 

analysis   
 

Protected 

characteristics  

groups from 

the Equality 

Act 2010  

What do you 

know?  

Summary of 

information used to 

inform the proposal  

 
Refer to Section 2 

What did people tell 

you?  

Summary of 

customer and/or 

staff feedback  

 
Refer to section 3 

What does this mean?  

Impacts identified from the 

information and feedback 

(actual and potential).  

 

These can be either 

positive, negative or have 

no impact.   

Age  The adopted 

policies to which 

this guidance 

relates, have 

previously been 

subject to EIA and 

found that no 

significant impact 

on protected 

characteristics was 

likely to arise from 

their 

implementation. 

Consultation has yet 

to be undertaken, if 

any new information 

is captured during 

this stage, a review 

of the feedback will 

be undertaken, and 

any needed 

amendments will be 

made. 

It is anticipated that there 

will be no impact. 

Disability   As above  As above It is anticipated that there 

will be no impact. 

Gender 

reassignment  

 As above  As above It is anticipated that there 

will be no impact. 

Pregnancy and 

maternity  

 As above  As above It is anticipated that there 

will be no impact. 

Race/ethnicity  

  

 As above  As above It is anticipated that there 

will be no impact. 

Religion or 

belief  

 As above  As above It is anticipated that there 

will be no impact. 

Page 455

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/equality-act/protected-characteristics
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/equality-act/protected-characteristics
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/equality-act/protected-characteristics


 

 

OFFICIAL 

Sex   As above  As above It is anticipated that there 

will be no impact. 

Sexual 

orientation  

 As above  As above It is anticipated that there 

will be no impact. 

Marriage and 

civil 

partnership  

 As above  As above It is anticipated that there 

will be no impact. 

 

Section 5 - Review of information, consultation feedback and equality 

analysis   
 

Mitigation  What can you do to mitigate any negative impacts or further 

enhance positive impacts?  

 

Please summarise 

the impacts listed in 

section 4 and what 

will be done to 

mitigate these 

impacts 

 No impacts have been identified at this stage. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 456



 

 

OFFICIAL 

Section 6 – Monitoring and review    
 

Details of monitoring 

activities 

Monitoring of this type of document is usually focused on its 

performance against policy requirements. However, 

monitoring of complaints against the document/process will 

be undertaken. 

 

Date and responsible 

officer for the review of 

the EIA 

EIA to be review six months after adoption of SPD, anticipated 

to be in early 2025. Review to be undertaken by T. Evans and 

signed off by David Malcom (head of service). 

 

Section 7 – Sign off  

 
When you have completed your draft EIA, it should be sent to the Equality, Diversity and 

Inclusion Mailbox for review. 

If your EIA is approved, it must then be signed off by a senior manager within your 

Department (Head of Service or above).   

Name David Malcolm 

Date 18/03/25 

Signature  

 

Once the EIA has been signed off, please forward a copy to the Equality, Diversity and Inclusion 

mailbox for it to be published on the website.  

For Transparency, we are committed to publishing all Equality Impact Assessments relating to 

public engagement. 

Help and support - For support and advice please contact the Equality, Diversity and 

Inclusion mailbox 

 

 

 

Page 457

mailto:EqualityandInclusion@cheshireeast.gov.uk
mailto:EqualityandInclusion@cheshireeast.gov.uk
mailto:EqualityandInclusion@cheshireeast.gov.uk
mailto:EqualityandInclusion@cheshireeast.gov.uk
mailto:EqualityandInclusion@cheshireeast.gov.uk
mailto:EqualityandInclusion@cheshireeast.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Environment and Communities Committee 
Work Programme 2025-26 

 

 

OFFICIAL 

Report 
Reference 

Environment 
& 
Communities 
Committee Title Purpose of Report Lead Officer Consultation 

Equality 
Impact 
Assessment 

Part of 
Budget and 
Policy 
Framework 

Cheshire East 
Plan 
Commitment 

Exempt 
Item 

Is the report for 
decision or scrutiny? 

June 2025 

EC/16/24-25 05/06/25 
Strategic Leisure Review - 
Implementation Update 

To provide an update to Committee in relation to the 
implementation of the initiatives brought forward under the 
Strategic Leisure Review and where appropriate set out 
any additional savings proposals. 

Director of 
Planning and 
Environment Yes Yes No Open No Decision/Scrutiny 

EC/01/25-26 05/06/25 Final Outturn 2024/25 

This report outlines how the Council managed its resources 
to achieve both positive outcomes and value for money in 
the delivery of services during the 2024/25 Financial Year. 
The purpose of the report is to note and comment on the 
final financial and performance outturn position and (if 
necessary) to approve Supplementary Estimates and 
Virements 

Executive Director 
of Resources, 
Section 151 
Officer No No Yes 

Effective and 
enabling council No Scrutiny 

EC/02/25-26 05/06/25 

Macclesfield Town Centre 
Public Spaces Protection  
Order (PSPO) Renewal 

To consider the renewal of the Public Spaces Protection 
Order (PSPO) for Macclesfield Town Centre that originally 
came into force in July 2022. 

Director of 
Planning and 
Environment Yes TBC TBC Green No Decision 

EC/03/25-26 05/06/25 
Review of CCTV Service - 
update 

For the Committee to scrutinise various elements of the 
ongoing review including external funding matters. 

Director of 
Planning and 
Environment Yes Yes Yes Open No Scrutiny 

EC/04/25-26 05/06/25 
Cleaner Crewe - Project 
Update 

For the Committee to consider an update on the initial 
implementation phase of the project. 

Director of 
Planning and 
Environment No No Yes Open No Scrutiny 

September 2025 

EC/05/25-26 25/09/25 
First Financial Review of 
2025/26 

To note and comment on the First Financial Review and 
Performance Position of 2025/26, including progress on 
policy proposals and material variances from the MTFS 
and (if necessary) approve Supplementary Estimates and 
Virements 

Executive Director 
of Resources, 
Section 151 
Officer No No Yes 

Effective and 
enabling council No Scrutiny 

EC/06/25-26 25/09/25 Local Plan Update 
To provide an update to members on the progress in 
delivering the new Local Plan. 

Director of 
Planning and 
Environment Yes Yes No Open No Decision 

November 2025 

EC/07/25-26 13/11/25 
Second Financial Review 
of 2025/26 

To note and comment on the Second Financial Review and 
Performance position of 2025/26, including progress on 
policy proposals and material variances from the MTFS 
and (if necessary) approve Supplementary Estimates and 
Virements 

Executive Director 
of Resources, 
Section 151 
Officer No No Yes 

Effective and 
enabling council No Scrutiny 

EC/08/25-26 13/11/25 

Medium Term Financial 
Strategy Consultation 
2026/27 - 2029/30 

All committees are being asked to provide feedback in 
relation to their financial responsibilities as identified within 
the Constitution and linked to the budgets approved by the 
Finance Sub-Committee in 2025.  Responses to the 
consultation would be reported to the Corporate Policy 
Committee to support that Committee in making 
recommendation to Council on changes to the current 
financial strategy 

Executive Director 
of Resources, 
Section 151 
Officer No No Yes 

Effective and 
enabling council No Scrutiny 

EC/09/25-26 13/11/25 
Statement of Gambling 
Principles 

To approve the Statement of Gambling Principles 2026-
2029. 

Director of 
Planning and 
Environment Yes No Yes Open No Decision 

EC/10/25-26 13/11/25 
Corporate Enforcement 
Policy  To approve the Corporate Enforcement Policy 

Director of 
Planning and 
Environment No No No Open No Decision 

EC/11/25-26 
 
 
 
 
 
  13/11/25 

Regulatory Services and 
Health Enforcement Policy 

To approve the Regulatory Services and Health 
Enforcement Policy 

Director of 
Planning and 
Environment No No No Open No Decision 

P
age 459

A
genda Item

 9



Environment and Communities Committee 
Work Programme 2025-26 

 

 

OFFICIAL 

January 2026 

EC/12/25-26 29/01/26 
Third Financial Review of 
2025/26  

To note and comment on the Third Financial Review and 
Performance position of 2025/26, including progress on 
policy proposals and material variances from the MTFS 
and (if necessary) approve Supplementary Estimates and 
Virements 

Executive Director 
of Resources, 
Section 151 
Officer No No Yes 

Effective and 
enabling council No Scrutiny 

EC/13/25-26 29/01/26 

Medium Term Financial 
Strategy Consultation 
2026/27 - 2029/30 
Provisional Settlement 
Update 

All Committees are being asked to provide feedback in 
relation to their financial responsibilities as identified in the 
Constitution and linked to the budgets approved by the 
Finance Sub Committee in 2025. Responses to the 
consultation would be reported to the Corporate Policy 
Committee in making recommendations to Council on 
changes to the current financial strategy. 
Finance Sub Committee will also receive an update on the 
Local Government Financial Provisional Settlement 

Executive Director 
of Resources, 
Section 151 
Officer Yes No Yes 

Effective and 
enabling council No Scrutiny 

EC/14/25-26 29/01/26 
Carbon Neutral 
Programme update 

To update on the Council's carbon neutral plan target of 
2030 and the annual 2045 Action Plan summary. 

Director of 
Planning and 
Environment No No No Green No Scrutiny 

EC/15/25-26 29/01/26 Local Plan Update 
To provide an update to members on the progress in 
delivering the new Local Plan. 

Director of 
Planning and 
Environment Yes Yes No Open No Decision 

March 2026 

EC/16/25-26 26/03/26 
Service Budgets 
2026/2027 

The purpose of the report is to set out the allocation of 
budgets for 2026/27, for all Committees, following Council's 
approval of the Medium Term Financial Strategy in 
February 2024, as determined by Finance Sub 

Executive Director 
of Resources, 
Section 151 
Officer No No Yes 

Effective and 
enabling council No Scrutiny 

EC/17/25-26 26/03/26 
Animal Welfare Licensing 
Policy 

To approve a reviewed and updated Animal Welfare 
Licensing Policy 2026-2029 

Director of 
Planning and 
Environment TBC No No Open Yes Decision 

 

P
age 460


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	5 Service Budgets 2025/26 (Environment & Communities Committee)
	Annex A for Service Budgets 2025/26 (Environment & Communities Committee)
	Annex B for Service Budgets 2025/26 (Environment & Communities Committee)

	6 Cemeteries Investment Programme
	Appendix A Cemeteries Design Guide
	Appendix B Example Site Man Plan
	Appendix C Cemeteries Investment Programme
	Background document EIA

	7 Local Plan Next Steps: Local Development Scheme Update and feedback from the Issues Consultation (2024)
	Appendix 1 for Local Plan Update - Report of Consultation
	Appendix 2 for Local Plan Update

	8 Heritage and Local List Supplementary Planning Document
	Appendix 1 for Local Listed Buildings SPD Update
	Appendix 2 for Local Listed Buildings SPD Update
	Appendix 3 for Local Listed Buildings SPD Update

	9 Work Programme



